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Preface 
 
Purpose of publication  
 
This publication has been prepared by the Technical Services Department of Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP) at the directions of the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). 
 
It contains illustrative financial statements of a fictitious public interest company, PIC Pakistan 
Limited, prepared in accordance with the: 
 
 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs / IFRS Standards); and  

 

 the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.  
 
The objectives of this publication are to facilitate ICAP members, assist the preparers of financial 
statements and provide guidance to all other stakeholders with regard to the preparation and 
presentation of statutory financial statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan to the public interest companies.   

 
Scope  

 
In the illustrative financial statements, the PIC Pakistan Limited is a listed public company 
incorporated in Pakistan under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. This hypothetical company is 
engaged in manufacturing and trading activities and has interest in subsidiaries, associates and jointly 
controlled entities. It has been preparing statutory financial statements in accordance with the 
financial reporting framework applicable to public interest companies in Pakistan for last many years.  

 
This publication aims to formulate a comprehensive source and provide maximum benefit and guidance 
to all the stakeholders, accordingly following important factors considered and included in this 
publication require readers’ / users’ attention: 

 

 These illustrative financial statements are designed to capture a wide set of circumstances and 
transactions, and in enhancing the relevance of the illustrative financial statements, all minimum 
disclosure requirements of IFRSs are complied with, generally without considering materiality 
thresholds. 

 

 Most of the usual disclosures typically found in the financial statements of public interest 
companies whose activities include manufacturing and trading have been captured in this 
illustrative publication. 

 

 Following notes/ information has also been included: 
 

- Presentation of discount on issue of shares 
- Disclosure of change in accounting policy 
- Disclosure of correction of error  
- Disclosure of change in estimate  
- Disclosure of reclassification of corresponding figures 
- Disclosure and presentation of government grants 
- Disclosure of interest -free loan 
- Alternate disclosures for various items 
- Detailed disclosures for biological assets  

 

 Further, the original texts of the presentation and disclosure requirements (as contained in the 
IFRSs and fourth schedule to the Companies Act, 2017) have been produced before the component 
/ items of financial statements and the respective disclosures. 

 

As the presentation and disclosures contained in this publication cover wide range of items and 
transactions, therefore it is important to highlight that the illustrative presentation and 
disclosures should be considered in context of the company specific materiality, events, 
transactions and circumstances and user needs. Accordingly, all the illustrative presentation and 
disclosures may not be relevant and required.  Further, there could be a requirement to include a 
disclosure in the financial statements in consideration of specific information as the disclosures 
in these illustrative financial statements are not meant to be exhaustive. 
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Preface Continued… 

Accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan  
 

The Companies Act, 2017 has been enacted on May 30, 2017.  The third schedule to the Companies Act, 
2017 outlines the classification of companies and also prescribes the financial reporting frameworks 
for such classes of companies. The requirements of Companies Act, 2017 related to the preparation of 
annual statutory financial statements are applicable for the periods ended after December 31, 2017.  

 
A public interest company categorized in the third schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 is required to 
comply with the requirements of the IFRSs and the fourth schedule of the Companies Act, 2017.   

 
Under the third schedule to the Companies Act, 2017, a public interest company could be a: 

 
a) Listed company 
 

b) Non-listed Company which is: 
 
(i) a public sector company as defined in the Act; or;  

 
(ii) registered and/or licensed under the Administered Legislation or Rules, or regulations made 

thereunder, as follows, -  
 
a) Non-banking Finance Companies which are Asset Management Companies, Pension Fund 

Managers, REIT Management Companies or Deposit Taking NBFCs;  
 

b) Modaraba Company  
 

c) Insurer  
 

d) Securities Exchange  
 

e) Commodity Exchange 
 

f) Central Depository 
 

g) Clearing House; or  
 

(iii) Registered, notified and/or licensed under the Banking Companies Ordinance, 1962 (LVII of 
1962) or Microfinance Institutions Ordinance, 2001 (LV of 2001), as follows:  
 
a. Banking Company including Foreign Banking Company 

 
b. Microfinance Bank c) Development Finance Institution (DFI)” 
 

It is important to highlight that a public interest company which is a non-listed company as mentioned 
in (b) above has to follow the requirements of fifth schedule instead of fourth schedule. However, as 
the fourth schedule already covers all the disclosure requirements in the fifth schedule, this 
illustrative can be equally useful for public interest companies which are non-listed.   Further, where 
a public interest company is involved in transactions covered with in the scope of Islamic Financial 
Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by ICAP, it is also required to comply with the requirements of IFAS.  

   
IFRSs 

 

These illustrative financial statements have been prepared on the basis of IFRSs which have been 
notified for adoption by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) as of June 30, 
2020. 
 
The SECP and the SBP have also granted certain general or specific waivers and exemptions from IFRS 
requirements to companies in different sectors. These exemptions and waivers are briefly outlined 
below: 
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Preface Continued… 

 

Relevant IFRS Details of waiver/exemption 
 

IFRS 2 Share Based Payments 
 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 587 (I)/2011 dated 7 June 2011 has 
deferred the applicability of IFRS 2 requirements to the extent 
of accounting of the BESOS. 
 

 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures 

 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 411(1)/2008 dated April 28, 2008, has 
deferred the applicability of IFRS 7 to the Banks and DFIs. 
 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 985 (I)/2019 dated September 02, 2019, 
has deferred the application of expected credit losses method 
of IFRS 9, till June 30, 2021, to all companies that are holding 
financial assets from Government of Pakistan. 
 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 986 (I)/2019 dated September 02, 2019 
has granted exemption to all companies which have entered 
into power purchase arrangements before January 1, 2019, 
from the derivative accounting of IFRS 9. 
 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 273(I)/2020, dated March 20, 2020, 
modified the effective date of IFRS 9 for the non-banking 
finance companies and making it effective for the year ending 
June 30, 2021.  
 

 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

 

- SECP, through S.R.O 56(I)/2016 dated January 28, 2016, has 
directed that the requirement of consolidation under IFRS 10 
is not applicable in the case of investments by companies in 
mutual funds managed under the trust structure. 
 

 

IFRS 16 Leases 
 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 986 (I)/2019 dated September 02, 2019 
has granted exemption from IFRS 16 to all companies to the 
extent of the power purchase arrangements executed before 
January 1, 2019. 

 

 

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in 
Foreign Currency 

 

- SECP, through S.R.O. 986 (I)/2019 dated September 02, 2019 
has granted all companies which have entered into power 
purchase arrangements before January 1, 2019, to capitalize 
foreign exchange losses. 

 

 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition & Measurement 

 

- SECP through Circular 19 Ref. No. SECP/ICAP/EM/34/2003/474 
dated August 13, 2003 granted relaxation from IAS 39 and IAS 
40 to the NBFC’s providing Investment Finance Services, 
Discounting Services and Housing Finance Services with the 
direction that such companies shall continue observing the SBP 
BSD Circular No. 11 dated September 11, 2002 regarding the 
application of said IAS till further decision. 
 

 

IAS 40 Investment Property 
 

- Please see IAS 39 above. 
 

- SBP, vide its BSD circular letter no. 10 dated August 26, 2002, 
has deferred applicability of IAS 40 to banks and DFIs. 
 

 

IFRIC 12 Service Concession 
Arrangements 
 

 

- SECP, vides its S.R.O. No. 24(I)/2012 has deferred applicability 
of IFRIC 12 to all companies. 

 
Further, the presentation and disclosure requirements of IAS 29 ‘Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies’ have not been covered as Pakistan is not considered to be a 
hyperinflationary economy. 
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Preface Continued… 

 
Layout of illustrative financial statements 

 

Source references for presentation and disclosure requirements have been included in the right hand 
margin of the financial statements. The source reference of IFRSs provides reference to the standard 
and paragraph e.g. IAS 16.10 refers to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 16 – Property, plant 
and equipment and 10 refers to paragraph 10 of IAS 16. Similarly, the reference to the Companies Act 
has been provided as CA 2017 225 (1), where CA 2017 means the Companies Act 2017, 225 is the 
reference to the section and (1) refers to the subsection. 
 
The illustrative statement of financial position presents non-current assets followed by current assets, 
and presents equity followed by non-current liabilities (i.e. most liquid items presented last). The 
sequencing may also be reversed (i.e. most liquid items first), and that is also permitted by the IFRSs. 
 
Important notes 

 
This publication is intended as an illustrative guide rather than a definitive statement. Reference 
should be made to the relevant section of IFRSs and Companies Act for specific disclosure requirements.  

 
It is neither a substitute for reference to the IFRSs, related interpretations and provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2017, nor does it constitute accounting or other professional advice. Accordingly, this 
publication should not be relied upon as a substitute for seeking professional advice concerning the 
appropriate accounting treatment for specific individual situations or ensuring compliance with the 
IFRSs and/or Companies Act, 2017.  
 
While care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of information, this publication may contain errors 
or omissions that may be relevant to any particular reader.  ICAP, its staff and ASB accepts no 
responsibility for losses incurred by any party acting or not acting as a result of this material. 
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General 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS & the Companies Act, 2017 
  
 This section explains fair presentation of the financial statements, what 

compliance with the IFRSs and requirements of Companies Act, 2017 requires and 
what a complete set of financial statements is. 

  
 Financial statements 
  
CA 2017 Sec 2(33)   The financial statements in relation to a company, includes—  
  

 (a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period; 
  

 (b) a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the case 
of a company carrying on any activity not for profit, an income and 
expenditure statement for the period;  

  

 (c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;   
  

 (d) a statement of cash flows for the period;   
  

 (e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information;  

  

 (f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period; and  
  

 (g) any other statement as may be prescribed. 
  
IAS 1.7 
 

General purpose financial statements (referred to as ‘financial statements’) are 
those intended to meet the needs of users who are not in a position to require an 
entity to prepare reports tailored to their particular information needs. 

  
IAS 1.10 A complete set of financial statements comprises: 
  

 (a) a statement of financial position as at the end of the period; 
  

 (b) a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period; 
  

 (c) a statement of changes in equity for the period; 
  

 (d) a statement of cash flows for the period; 
  

 (e) notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information; 

  

 (ea) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in 
paragraphs 38 and 38A; and 

  

 (f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period 
when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a 
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 
40A–40D. 

  

 
 
 

An entity may use titles for the statements other than those used in this Standard. 
For example, an entity may use the title ‘statement of comprehensive income’ 
instead of ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. 

  
IAS 1.10A An entity may present a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, with profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented in two 
sections. The sections shall be presented together, with the profit or loss section 
presented first followed directly by the other comprehensive income section. An 
entity may present the profit or loss section in a separate statement of profit or 
loss. If so, the separate statement of profit or loss shall immediately precede the 
statement presenting comprehensive income, which shall begin with profit or loss. 

  
IAS 1.11 An entity shall present with equal prominence all of the financial statements in a 

complete set of financial statements. 
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General Continued… 

 Fair presentation 
  
IAS 1.15  Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful 
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in 
accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses set out in the Framework. The application of IFRSs, with 
additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in financial statements 
that achieve a fair presentation. 

 
CA 2017 225(1) The financial statements shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 

the company, comply with the financial reporting standards notified by the 
Commission and shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements contained 
in the Third Schedule for different class or classes of companies. 

  
 Going concern 
  
IAS 1.25 When preparing financial statements, management shall make an assessment of 

an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. An entity shall prepare financial 
statements on a going concern basis unless management either intends to 
liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material 
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon 
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the entity shall disclose those 
uncertainties. When an entity does not prepare financial statements on a going 
concern basis, it shall disclose that fact, together with the basis on which it 
prepared the financial statements and the reason why the entity is not regarded 
as a going concern. 

  
 Accrual basis of accounting 
  
IAS 1.27   An entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, 

using the accrual basis of accounting. 
  
 Materiality and aggregation 
  
IAS 1.29   An entity shall present separately each material class of similar items. An entity 

shall present separately items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are 
immaterial. 

  
IAS 1.30A     When applying this and other IFRSs an entity shall decide, taking into consideration 

all relevant facts and circumstances, how it aggregates information in the financial 
statements, which include the notes. An entity shall not reduce the 
understandability of its financial statements by obscuring material information 
with immaterial information or by aggregating material items that have different 
natures or functions. 

  
IAS 1.31 Some IFRSs specify information that is required to be included in the financial 

statements, which include the notes. An entity need not provide a specific 
disclosure required by an IFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is 
not material. This is the case even if the IFRS contains a list of specific 
requirements or describes them as minimum requirements. An entity shall also 
consider whether to provide additional disclosures when compliance with the 
specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users of financial statements 
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions 
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance. 

  
 Offsetting 
  
IAS 1.32   An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless 

required or permitted by an IFRS. 
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General Continued… 

 Frequency of reporting 
  
IAS 1.36   An entity shall present a complete set of financial statements (including 

comparative information) at least annually. When an entity changes the end of its 
reporting period and presents financial statements for a period longer or shorter 
than one year, an entity shall disclose, in addition to the period covered by the 
financial statements: 
 

(a) the reason for using a longer or shorter period, and 
 
(b) the fact that amounts presented in the financial statements are not entirely comparable. 

  
CA 2017 223(1)  The board of every company must lay before the company in annual general 

meeting its financial statements for the period, in the case of first such statements 
since the incorporation of the company and in any other case since the preceding 
financial statements, made up to the date of close of financial year adopted by 
the company. 

  
CA 2017 223(3)  Subject to the provision of sub-section (2), the first financial statement must be 

laid at some date not later than sixteen months after the date of incorporation of 
the company and subsequently once at least in every calendar year. 

  
CA 2017 223(4)  The period to which the statements aforesaid relate, not being the first, shall not 

exceed one year except where special permission of the registrar has been 
obtained. 

  
 Comparative Information 
  
IAS 1.38   Except when IFRSs permit or require otherwise, an entity shall present 

comparative information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts 
reported in the current period’s financial statements. An entity shall include 
comparative information for narrative and descriptive information if it is relevant 
to understanding the current period’s financial statements. 

  
IAS 1.38A  An entity shall present, as a minimum, two statements of financial position, two 

statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, two separate 
statements of profit or loss (if presented), two statements of cash flows and two 
statements of changes in equity, and related notes. 

  
IAS 1.40A  An entity shall present a third statement of financial position as at the beginning 

of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial 
statements required in paragraph 38A if: 
 

(a) it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements or reclassifies items in its 
financial statements; and 
 

(b) the retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the 
reclassification has a material effect on the information in the statement of 
financial position at the beginning of the preceding period. 

  
IAS 1.41  If an entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial 

statements, it shall reclassify comparative amounts unless reclassification is 
impracticable. When an entity reclassifies comparative amounts, it shall disclose 
(including as at the beginning of the preceding period): 
 

(a) the nature of the reclassification; 
 
(b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 
 
(c) the reason for the reclassification. 
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General Continued… 

IAS 1.42 When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity shall disclose: 
 
(a) the reason for not reclassifying the amounts, and 
 
(b) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had 

been reclassified. 
  
 Consistency of presentation 
  
IAS 1.45               An entity shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the financial 

statements from one period to the next unless: 
 
(a) it is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity’s 

operations or a review of its financial statements, that another presentation 
or classification would be more appropriate having regard to the criteria for 
the selection and application of accounting policies in IAS 8; or 

 
(b) an IFRS requires a change in presentation. 

  
 Identification of the financial statements 
  
IAS 1.49   An entity shall clearly identify the financial statements and distinguish them from 

other information in the same published document. 
  
IAS 1.51   An entity shall clearly identify each financial statement and the notes. In addition, 

an entity shall display the following information prominently, and repeat it when 
necessary for the information presented to be understandable: 
 

(a) the name of the reporting entity or other means of identification, and any 
change in that information from the end of the preceding reporting period; 
 

(b) whether the financial statements are of an individual entity or a group of 
entities; 
 

(c) the date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the set 
of financial statements or notes; 
 

(d) the presentation currency, as defined in IAS 21; and 
 

(e) the level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
 This section sets out the information that is to be presented in a statement of 

financial position and how to present it. The statement of financial position 
(sometimes called the balance sheet) presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and 
equity as of a specific date—the end of the reporting period. 

  
 Information to be presented in the statement of financial position 
  
IAS 1.54        The statement of financial position shall include line items that present the 

following amounts: 
 

(a) property, plant and equipment; 
 
(b) investment property; 
 
(c) intangible assets; 
 
(d) financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (i)); 
 
(e) investments accounted for using the equity method; 
 
(f) biological assets within the scope of IAS 41 ‘Agriculture’; 
 
(g) inventories; 
 
(h) trade and other receivables; 
 
(i) cash and cash equivalents; 
 
(j) the total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal 

groups classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations; 

 
(k) trade and other payables; 
 
(l) provisions; 
 
(m) financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (k) and (l)); 
 
(n)  liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’; 
 
(o)  deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in IAS 12; 
 
(p)  liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance 

with IFRS 5; 
 
(q) non-controlling interests, presented within equity; and 
 
(r) issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent. 

  
IAS 1.55 An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line 

items listed in paragraph 54), headings and subtotals in the statement of financial 
position when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s 
financial position. 

  
IAS 1.55A        When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 55, those 

subtotals shall: 
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Statement of Financial Position Continued… 

 (a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in 
accordance with IFRS; 
 

(b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that 
constitute the subtotal clear and understandable; 
 

(c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 
 

(d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required 
in IFRS for the statement of financial position. 

  
  
IAS 1.56 When an entity presents current and non-current assets, and current and non-

current liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position, 
it shall not classify deferred tax assets (liabilities) as current assets (liabilities). 

  
IAS 1.57           This Standard does not prescribe the order or format in which an entity presents 

items. Paragraph 54 simply lists items that are sufficiently different in nature or 
function to warrant separate presentation in the statement of financial position. 
In addition: 

 
(a) line items are included when the size, nature or function of an item or 

aggregation of similar items is such that separate presentation is relevant to 
an understanding of the entity’s financial position; and 
 

(b) the descriptions used and the ordering of items or aggregation of similar items 
may be amended according to the nature of the entity and its transactions, to 
provide information that is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s 
financial position. For example, a financial institution may amend the above 
descriptions to provide information that is relevant to the operations of a 
financial institution. 

  
 Additional items 
  
IAS 1.58 
 
 
 
 
 

An entity makes the judgement about whether to present additional items 
separately on the basis of an assessment of: 
 
(a) the nature and liquidity of assets; 
 
(b) the function of assets within the entity; and 
 
(c) the amounts, nature and timing of liabilities. 

  
 Current/non-current distinction 
  
IAS 1.60         An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and non-

current liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position 
in accordance with paragraphs 66–76 except when a presentation based on 
liquidity provides information that is reliable and more relevant. When that 
exception applies, an entity shall present all assets and liabilities in order of 
liquidity. 

  
IAS 1.61         Whichever method of presentation is adopted, an entity shall disclose the amount 

expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months for each asset 
and liability line item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled: 
 
(a) no more than twelve months after the reporting period, and 
 
(b) more than twelve months after the reporting period. 

  
  
  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

From the Desk of Technical Services | 15 

Statement of Financial Position Continued… 

IAS 1.62 When an entity supplies goods or services within a clearly identifiable operating 
cycle, separate classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities in 
the statement of financial position provides useful information by distinguishing 
the net assets that are continuously circulating as working capital from those used 
in the entity’s long-term operations. It also highlights assets that are expected to 
be realised within the current operating cycle, and liabilities that are due for 
settlement within the same period. 

  
IAS 1.63 
 

For some entities, such as financial institutions, a presentation of assets and 
liabilities in increasing or decreasing order of liquidity provides information that 
is reliable and more relevant [than a current/non-current presentation because 
the entity does not supply goods or services within a clearly identifiable operating 
cycle. 

  
IAS 1.68 The operating cycle of an entity is the time between the acquisition of assets for 

processing and their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. When the entity’s 
normal operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, it is assumed to be twelve 
months. Current assets include assets (such as inventories and trade receivables) 
that are sold, consumed or realised as part of the normal operating cycle even 
when they are not expected to be realised within twelve months after the 
reporting period. Current assets also include assets held primarily for the purpose 
of trading (examples include some financial assets that meet the definition of held 
for trading in IFRS 9) and the current portion of non-current financial assets. 

  
 Current assets 
  
IAS 1.66     An entity shall classify an asset as current when: 

 
(a) it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in the entity’s 

normal operating cycle; 
 
(b) it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; 
 
(c) it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting date; or 
 
(d) the asset is cash or a cash equivalent, unless it is restricted from being 

exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting date. 

 
An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current. 

  
 Current liabilities 
  
IAS 1.69     An entity shall classify a liability as current when: 

 
(a) it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; 
 
(b) it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; 
 
(c) the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting 

period; or 
 
(d) it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 

at least twelve months after the reporting period (see paragraph 73). Terms 
of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its 
settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification. 

 
An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-current. 
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Statement of Financial Position Continued… 

 Information to be presented either in the statement of financial position or in the notes 
  
IAS 1.77     An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the 

notes, further subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner 
appropriate to the entity’s operations.  

  
IAS 1.79     An entity shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position 

or the statement of changes in equity, or in the notes: 
 

(a) for each class of share capital: 
 
(i) the number of shares authorised; 
 
(ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid; 
 
(iii) par value per share, or that the shares have no par value; 
 
(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and 

at the end of the period; 
 
(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including 

restrictions on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital; 
 
(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates; 

and 
 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of 

shares, including terms and amounts; and 
 
(b) a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. 

  
IAS 1.80     An entity without share capital, such as a partnership or trust, shall disclose 

information equivalent to that required by paragraph 79(a), showing changes 
during the period in each category of equity interest, and the rights, preferences 
and restrictions attaching to each category of equity interest.  

  
IAS 1.80A    If an entity has reclassified 

 

(a) a puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument, or 
 
(b) an instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to another 

party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and is 
classified as an equity instrument between financial liabilities and equity, it 
shall disclose the amount reclassified into and out of each category (financial 
liabilities or equity), and the timing and reason for that reclassification.  

  
 Third Statement of Financial Position 
  
IAS 1.10(f)     A complete set of financial statements comprises: 

 
(f) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an 

entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective 
restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 40A–40D. 

  
IAS 1.40A     An entity shall present a third statement of financial position as at the beginning 

of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial 
statements required in paragraph 38A if: 

  
 (a) it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective 

restatement of items in its financial statements or reclassifies items in its financial 
statements; and 
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Statement of Financial Position Continued… 

(b) the retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the reclassification 
has a material effect on the information in the statement of financial position at 
the beginning of the preceding period. 

  
IAS 1.40B     In the circumstances described in paragraph 40A, an entity shall present three 

statements of financial position as at: 
 

(a) the end of the current period; 
 
(b) the end of the preceding period; and 
 
(c) the beginning of the preceding period. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosures for the statement of financial position 
  
CA 2017  
4th Schd VI (11) 

Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items on the face of the 
statement of financial position; 
 
(i) Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment; 
 
(ii) Long term deposits and prepayments; 
 
(iii) Unpaid dividend; 
 
(iv) Unclaimed dividend; and 
 
(v) Cash and bank balances. 

  
CA 2017  
4th Schd VI (23)   

Capital and revenue reserves shall be clearly distinguished. Any reserve required 
to be maintained under the Act shall be separately disclosed. Any legal or other 
restrictions on the ability of the company to distribute or otherwise apply its 
reserves shall also be disclosed for all kind of reserves maintained by the 
company;  

  
CA 2017  
4th Schd VI (24) 

Discount on issue of shares shall be shown separately as a deduction from share 
capital in the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in 
equity; 

  
CA 2017 (232)   The financial statements, including consolidated financial statement, if any, must 

be approved by the board of the company and signed on behalf of the board by 
the chief executive and at least one director of the company, and in case of a 
listed company also by the chief financial officer:  
 
Provided that when the chief executive is for the time being not available in 
Pakistan, then the financial statements may be signed by at least two directors:  

  
Provided further that in case of a private company having a paid up capital not 
exceeding one million rupees, the financial statements shall also be accompanied 
by an affidavit executed by the chief executive if the accounts are signed by him 
or by any of the directors if the accounts has been signed by two directors, as the 
case may be, that the financial statements have been approved by the board. 
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   Reference 
PIC Pakistan Limited         IAS 1.51(a) 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position        IAS 1.10(a)(f), CA 2017 [2.33(a)] 

as at December 31, 20X9         IAS 1.51(c) 

     Restated  Restated  IAS 1.40A 

 Note 

 

20X9 

 

20X8 

 As at 1 
January 

20X8 

 

IAS 1.51(c) 

Assets   (Rupees)  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  IAS 1.51(d) 

Non-current assets         IAS 1.60, IAS1.66 

Property, plant and equipment 5  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(a) 

Right-of-use assets 6  xxx  xxx  xxx  IFRS 16.47 

Intangible assets 7  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(c) 

Investment property 8  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(b) 

Biological assets 9  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(f) 

Investment in associate 10  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(e), IAS 28.15 

Investment in jointly controlled entity 11  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(e), IAS 28.15 

Financial assets other than cash and bank 12  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(d), IFRS 7.8 

Long term deposits and prepayments 13  xxx  xxx  xxx  4th Schd VI(11)(Ii) 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Current assets         IAS 1.60, IAS 1.66 

Inventories 14  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(g) 

Trade and other receivables  15  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(h) 

Contract assets 16  xxx  xxx  xxx  IFRS 15.105 

Right of return assets 32.4  xxx  -  xxx  IFRS 15.B21 

Prepayments, deposits and advances  17  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.55 

Financial assets other than cash and bank 12  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(d), IFRS 7.8 

Cash and bank balances 18  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(i), 4th Schd 
VI(11)(v) 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Assets classified as held for sale 19  -  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(j), IFRS 5.38 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Share capital and reserves          

Share capital 20        IAS 1.54(r), IAS 1.78(e) 

Issued, subscribed and paid up capital    xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(r) 

Discount on issue of shares   (xxx)  (xxx)  (xxx)  4th Schd VI(24A) 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Capital reserves          IAS 1.54(r) 

    Surplus on revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment 21 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 IAS 1.54(r), 4th Schd 
VI(11)(i) 

    Other reserves 22  xxx  xxx  xxx   

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Revenue reserves   xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(r), 4th Schd VI(23) 

Equity attributable to owners   xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(r) 

Non-controlling interests   xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(q) 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Non-current liabilities         IAS 1.60, IAS1.69 

Financial liabilities 23  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(m), IFRS 7.8 

Deferred tax liability 24  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(o), IAS 1.56 

Employee benefit obligations 25  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.55, IAS 1.78(d) 

Provisions 26  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(l) 

Deferred income – Government grant 27  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.55, IAS 20.24 

Contract liabilities 29  xxx  xxx  xxx  IFRS 15.105 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Current liabilities         IAS 1.60, IAS1.69 

Trade and other payables 28  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(k) 

Contract liabilities 29  xxx  xxx  xxx  IFRS 15.105 

Refund liabilities 32.4  xxx  xxx  xxx  IFRS 15.B21 

Financial liabilities 23  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(m), IFRS 7.8 

Provisions 26  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(l) 

Unpaid dividend   xxx  xxx  xxx  4th Schd VI 11(iii) 

Unclaimed dividend   xxx  xxx  xxx  4th Schd VI 11(iv) 

Current tax liability 30  xxx  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(n) 

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

Liabilities classified as held for sale 19  -  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.54(p), IFRS 5.38 

Contingencies and commitments 31         

   xxx  xxx  xxx   

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 54, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
Chief Executive Director Chief Financial Officer 
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
 This section requires an entity to present its total comprehensive income for a 

period—i.e., its financial performance for the period—in one or two financial 
statements. It sets out the information that is to be presented in those statements 
and how to present it. 

  
 Presentation of total comprehensive income 
  
IAS 1.10A           An entity may present a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, with profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented in two 
sections. The sections shall be presented together, with the profit or loss section 
presented first followed directly by the other comprehensive income section. An 
entity may present the profit or loss section in a separate statement of profit or 
loss. If so, the separate statement of profit or loss shall immediately precede the 
statement presenting comprehensive income, which shall begin with profit or loss. 

  
 Materiality and aggregation 
  
IAS 1.29 An entity shall present separately each material class of similar items. An entity 

shall present separately items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are 
immaterial. 

  
 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
  
IAS 1.81A             The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (statement of 

comprehensive income) shall present, in addition to the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income sections: 

 
(a) profit or loss; 
 
(b) total other comprehensive income; 
 
(c) comprehensive income for the period, being the total of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. 
 
If an entity presents a separate statement of profit or loss it does not present the 
profit or loss section in the statement presenting comprehensive income. 

  
IAS 1.81B                  An entity shall present the following items, in addition to the profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income sections, as allocation of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the period: 
 
(a) profit or loss for the period attributable to: 
 

(i) non-controlling interests, and 
(ii) owners of the parent. 

 
(b) comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 
 

(i) non-controlling interests, and 
(ii) owners of the parent. 

 
If an entity presents profit or loss in a separate statement it shall present (a) in 
that statement. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Continued… 

 Information to be presented in the profit or loss section or the statement of 
profit or loss 

  
IAS 1.82                In addition to items required by other IFRSs, the profit or loss section or the 

statement of profit or loss shall include line items that present the following 
amounts for the period: 
 
(a) revenue, presenting separately interest revenue calculated using the effective 

interest method; 
 
(aa) gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured 

at amortised cost; 
 
(a)  finance costs; 
 
(ba) impairment losses (including reversals of impairment losses or impairment 

gains) determined   in accordance with Section 5.5 of IFRS 9; 
 
(c)   share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method; 
 
(ca) if a financial asset is reclassified out of the amortised cost measurement 

category so that it is measured at fair value through profit or loss, any gain 
or loss arising from a difference between the previous amortised cost of the 
financial asset and its fair value at the reclassification date (as defined in 
IFRS 9); 

 
(cb) if a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other 

comprehensive income measurement category so that it is measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income that is reclassified to profit or loss; 

 
(b)   tax expense; 
 
(ea) a single amount for the total of discontinued operations (see IFRS 5). 

  
 Information to be presented in the other comprehensive income section 
  
IAS 1.82A The other comprehensive income section shall present line items for the amounts 

for the period of: 
 

(a) items of other comprehensive income (excluding amounts in paragraph (b)), 
classified by nature and grouped into those that, in accordance with other 
IFRSs: 

 
(i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and 
 
(ii) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions 

are met. 
 

(b) the share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method, separated into the share of items that, 
in accordance with other IFRSs: 

 
(i) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and 
 
(ii) will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions 

are met. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Continued… 

 Additional line items, headings and subtotals 
  
IAS 1.85         An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line 

items listed in paragraph 82), headings and subtotals in the statement(s) 
presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income when such presentation 
is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance. 

  
IAS 1.85A           When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 85, those 

subtotals shall: 
 

(a)  be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in 
accordance with IFRS; 

 
(b)  be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that 

constitute the subtotal clear and understandable; 
 
(c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and 
 
(d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in 

IFRS for the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
  
IAS 1.85B An entity shall present the line items in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income that reconcile any subtotals presented in accordance with 
paragraph 85 with the subtotals or totals required in IFRS for such statement(s). 

  
 Extraordinary items 
  
IAS 1.87             An entity shall recognise all items of income and expense in a period in profit or 

loss unless an IFRS requires or permits otherwise. 
  
 Income tax pertaining to other comprehensive income  
  
IAS 1.90             An entity shall disclose the amount of income tax relating to each item of other 

comprehensive income, including reclassification adjustments, either in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes. 

  
 Information to be presented in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income or in notes 
  
IAS 1.97          When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature 

and amount separately. 
  
IAS 1.99               An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a 

classification based on either their nature or their function within the entity, 
whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 

  
IAS 1.104        An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on 

the nature of expenses, including depreciation and amortisation expense and 
employee benefits expense. 

  
IAS 1.105           The choice between the function of expense method and the nature of expense 

method depends on historical and industry factors and the nature of the entity. 
Both methods provide an indication of those costs that might vary, directly or 
indirectly, with the level of sales or production of the entity. Because each method 
of presentation has merit for different types of entities, this Standard requires 
management to select the presentation that is reliable and more relevant. 
However, because information on the nature of expenses is useful in predicting 
future cash flows, additional disclosure is required when the function of expense 
classification is used. In paragraph 104, ‘employee benefits’ has the same meaning 
as in IAS 19. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Continued… 

 Information to be presented in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income or in notes 

  
IFRS 5.33(a) An entity shall disclose: 

 
(a) a single amount in the statement of comprehensive income comprising the total of: 
 

(i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and 
 
(ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less 

costs to sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) 
constituting the discontinued operation. 

  
 Offsetting  
  
IAS 1.32 An entity shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless 

required or permitted by an IFRS. 
  
IAS 1.33            An entity reports separately both assets and liabilities, and income and expenses. 

Offsetting in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or 
financial position, except when offsetting reflects the substance of the transaction 
or other event, detracts from the ability of users both to understand the 
transactions, other events and conditions that have occurred and to assess the 
entity’s future cash flows. Measuring assets net of valuation allowances—for 
example, obsolescence allowances on inventories and doubtful debts allowances 
on receivables—is not offsetting. 

  
IAS 1.34               IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers requires an entity to measure 

revenue from contracts with customers at the amount of consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or 
services. For example, the amount of revenue recognised reflects any trade 
discounts and volume rebates the entity allows. An entity undertakes, in the 
course of its ordinary activities, other transactions that do not generate revenue 
but are incidental to the main revenue-generating activities. An entity presents 
the results of such transactions, when this presentation reflects the substance of 
the transaction or other event, by netting any income with related expenses 
arising on the same transaction. For example: 
 
(a) an entity presents gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets, 

including investments and operating assets, by deducting from the proceeds 
on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses; and 

 
(b)  an entity may net expenditure related to a provision that is recognised in accordance 

with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and reimbursed 
under a contractual arrangement with a third party (for example, a supplier’s 
warranty agreement) against the related reimbursement. 

  
IAS 1.35           In addition, an entity presents on a net basis gains and losses arising from a group 

of similar transactions, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains 
and losses arising on financial instruments held for trading. However, an entity 
presents such gains and losses separately if they are material. 

  
 Disclosure and presentation of earning per share  
  
IAS 33.66               An entity shall present in the statement of comprehensive income basic and 

diluted earnings per share for profit or loss from continuing operations attributable 
to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and for profit or loss 
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity for the period for 
each class of ordinary shares that has a different right to share in profit for the 
period. An entity shall present basic and diluted earnings per share with equal 
prominence for all periods presented. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Continued… 

  
IAS 33.68              An entity that reports a discontinued operation shall disclose the basic and diluted 

amounts per share for the discontinued operation either in the statement of 
comprehensive income or in the notes. 

  
IAS 33.69               An entity shall present basic and diluted earnings per share, even if the amounts 

are negative (ie a loss per share). 
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          Reference 
PIC Pakistan Limited      IAS 1.51(a) 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss      IAS 1.10(b), CA 2017 [2.33(b)] 
For the year ended December 31, 20X9      IAS 1.51(c) 
    Restated   
  20X9  20X8  IAS 1.51(c) 
 Note Rupees  Rupees  IAS 1.51(d) 

       
Continuing operations:       

Revenue from contracts with customers 32 xxx  xxx 
 IAS 1.82(a), IFRS 

15.113(a) 

Cost of sales  33 (xxx)  (xxx) 
 IAS 1.99, IAS 1.103 ,IAS 

2.36(d) 

Gross profit  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.85 

Administrative and general expenses 34 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.99, IAS 1.103 

Net impairment loss on financial assets  46 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.82 (ba) 

Marketing and distribution expenses 35 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.99, IAS 1.103 

Other operating expenses 36 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.99, IAS 1.103 

Operating profit  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.85 

Other income 37 xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.85 

Finance costs 38 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.82(b) 

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 

accounted for under equity method  xxx  xxx 

 

IAS 1.82(c) 

Profit before tax  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.85 

Income tax expense 39 (xxx)  (xxx)  
IAS 1.82(d),IAS12.77 

Profit from continuing operations  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.85 

Discontinued operations:      
 

Profit from discontinued operations – net of tax 40 xxx  xxx  IFRS 5.33(a),IAS 1.82(ea) 

Profit for the year   xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.81A(a) 

Profit is attributable to:      
IAS 1.81B(a) 

Owners of the PIC Pakistan Limited  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.81B(a)(ii) 

Non-controlling interests  xxx  xxx  
IAS 1.81B(a)(i) 

  xxx  xxx  
 

Earnings per share – profit attributable to 
owners of PIC Pakistan Limited: 

41 
   

 
IAS 33.66 

Basic earnings per share  xxx  xxx  
 

Diluted earnings per share  xxx  xxx  
 

      
 

Earnings per share – profit from continuing 
operations attributable to owners of PIC 
Pakistan Limited: 

41 

   

 

IAS 33.66 
Basic earnings per share  xxx  xxx  

 
Diluted earnings per share  xxx  xxx  

 

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 54, form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive Director Chief Financial Officer 
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       Reference 
PIC Pakistan Limited       IAS 1.51(a) 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income   

   

 IAS 1.10(b), CA 2017 

[2.33(b)] 

For the year ended December 31, 20X9       IAS 1.51(c) 

     Restated    

   20X9  20X8  IAS 1.51(c) 

 Note  Rupees  Rupees  IAS 1.51(d) 

Profit for the year 
  

xxx  xxx 
 

IAS 1.81A(a) 

Other comprehensive income: 
  

   
 

IAS 1.10A 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified in profit or 

loss (net of tax): 

  

   

 

IAS 1.82A(ii) 

Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges  45  (xxx)  xxx  IFRS 7.23(c) 

Net change in costs of hedging 45  (xxx)  -   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations 

  

(xxx)  (xxx) 

 

IAS 21.32, IAS 21.52(b) 

Net loss on debt instruments at fair value through OCI    (xxx)  (xxx)  IFRS 7.20(a)(viii) 

Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate   (xxx)  -  IAS 1.82A(b) 

   xxx  xxx   

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified in profit 

or loss (net of tax): 

  

   

 

 IAS 1.82A(i) 

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment  

21  

xxx  xxx 

 

IAS 16.39 

Net gain/(loss) on equity instruments designated at 

fair value through other comprehensive income 

 

 

 

xxx  xxx 

 

IFRS 7.20(a)(vii) 

Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans 25  xxx  xxx  IAS 19.120(c), IAS 19.122 

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 

and joint ventures accounted for using equity method  

10 & 11  

xxx  xxx 

 

   IAS 1.82A(b) 

   xxx  xxx   

Other comprehensive income for the year   xxx  xxx      IAS 1.81 A(b) 

Total comprehensive income for the year1   xxx  xxx   IAS 1.81 A(c) 

        

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:   
   

 
   IAS 1.81B(b) 

Owners of the PIC Pakistan Limited   
xxx  xxx 

 
    IAS 1.81B(b)(ii) 

Non-controlling interests   
xxx  xxx 

 
   IAS 1.81B(b)(i) 

   xxx  xxx   

 
  

   
 

 

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 54, form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive Director Chief Financial Officer 
 
 

                                                           
1 In case of total comprehensive loss for the year, the term “income” will be replaced with loss. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
 This section sets out requirements for presenting the changes in an entity’s equity 

for a period,  
  
 Information to be presented in the statement of financial position, statement 

of changes in equity or in notes 
  
IAS 1.79   An entity shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial 

position or the statement of changes in equity, or in the notes: 
 

(a) for each class of share capital: 
 

(i) the number of shares authorised; 
 
(ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid; 
 
(iii) par value per share, or that the shares have no par value; 
 
(iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and 

at the end of the period; 
 
(v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including 

restrictions on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital; 
 
(vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates; 

and 
 
(vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of 

shares, including terms and amounts; and 
 

(b) a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity  
  
IAS 1.80   An entity without share capital, such as a partnership or trust, shall disclose 

information equivalent to that required by paragraph 79(a), showing changes 
during the period in each category of equity interest, and the rights, preferences 
and restrictions attaching to each category of equity interest 

  
 Information to be presented in the statement of changes in equity 
  
IAS 1.106   An entity shall present a statement of changes in equity as required by paragraph 

10. The statement of changes in equity includes the following information: 
 

(a) total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total 
amounts attributable to owners of the parent and to non-controlling interests; 

 
(b) for each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or 

retrospective restatement recognised in accordance with IAS 8; and 
 

(d) for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount 
at the beginning and the end of the period, separately (as a minimum) 
disclosing changes resulting from: 

 
(i) profit or loss; 
 
(ii) other comprehensive income; and  
 
(iii) transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately 

contributions by and distributions to owners and changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity Continued… 

  
 Information to be presented in the statement of changes in equity or in notes 
  
IAS 1.106A For each component of equity an entity shall present, either in the statement of 

changes in equity or in the notes, an analysis of other comprehensive income by 
item (see paragraph 106(d)(ii)). 

  
IAS 1.107 An entity shall present, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the 

notes, the amount of dividends recognised as distributions to owners during the 
period, and the related amount of dividends per share. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosures for the statement of changes in equity 
  
CA 2017  
4th Schd VI (23) 

Capital and revenue reserves shall be clearly distinguished. Any reserve required 
to be maintained under the Act shall be separately disclosed. Any legal or other 
restrictions on the ability of the company to distribute or otherwise apply its 
reserves shall also be disclosed for all kind of reserves maintained by the company;  

  
CA 2017  
4th Schd VI (24) 

Discount on issue of shares shall be shown separately as a deduction from share 
capital in the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in 
equity; 
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                   Reference 
PIC Pakistan Limited                   IAS 1.51(a) 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

  

 

        

 

 IAS 1.10(c),           
IAS 1. 51(b),          

CA 2017 [2.33(c)] 
For the year ended December 31, 20X9              IAS 1.51(c) 

  Attributable to equity holders of parent Non-
controlling 

interest 

 

Total 

Equity 

  

  Share capital Capital Reserve 
Revenue 
reserve 

  

  
Issued, subscribed 
and paid up capital 

Treasur
y shares 
reserve 

Discount on 
issue of 
shares 

 
 
 
 

Employee 
share 

options 
reserve 

Revaluation 
surplus 

Available for 
sale (AFS) 

Investments 
reserve 

Fair 
value 

reserve 
of 

financial 
assets at 

FVOCI 

Actuarial 
gains/(loss) 

Reserve 

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve 

Cost of 
hedging 
reserve 

Reserve 
of 

disposal 
group 

held for 
sale 

Unappropr
iated 
profit 

 

IAS 1.106,IAS 1.108, 
4th Schd VI(23) 

  
Ordinary 

shares 
Preferen
ce shares 

 

 
Note 20 20.20 20   21  22  22 22  

 
  

 

 
   ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..Rupees…………………………………………………………………………………………… IAS 1.51(d) 
Balance at January 1, 20X8 xxx xxx (xxx) (xxx)  xxx - xxx - xxx xxx - - xxx xxx xxx  IAS 1.106(d) 
Changes in accounting 

policies (net of tax) – 

Revaluation Surplus 3.26.1 - - - -  
 
- xxx 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- - (xxx) 

 
- (xxx) 

 

IAS 1.106(b) 
Changes in accounting 

policies (net of tax) – 

Adoption of new standards  3.26.2 

 

- 
 
- 

 
- 

 
-  

 
- 

 
- 

 
(xxx) 

 
xxx 

 
- 

 
- - - (xxx) 

 
(xxx) (xxx) 

 

IAS 1.106(b) 
Adjustment on correction 

of error (net of tax) 3.27 - - 
 
- -  

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- - (xxx) 

 
- (xxx) 

 

IAS 1.106(b) 
  xxx xxx (xxx) (xxx)  xxx xxx - xxx xxx xxx - - xxx xxx xxx   
Profit for the year – 

restated  - - - -  - - -    - - xxx  xxx 

 

IAS 1.106(d)(i) 
Other comprehensive 

income (net of tax)  - - - -  - xxx 
 
- 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
- 

 
- 

 
xxx 

 
xxx xxx 

 IAS 1.106(d)(ii), 
IAS 1.106 A 

Transfer on account of 

incremental depreciation 

(net of tax) 21 - - -   - (xxx) 
 
-    - - 

 
xxx  - 

 

 
Profit from discontinued 

operations 40 - - - -  - - (xxx) - - - - xxx - - - 

 

IFRS 5.38 

Transactions with owners             
 
- -    

 
IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 

Issue of ordinary shares 20 xxx               xxx  IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 
Acquisition of treasury 

shares  - - (xxx) -  - - - - - - - - - - xxx) 

 

IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 

  xxx - (xxx) - - - - - - - - - - - - xxx   

Balance at December 31, 20X8 xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  xxx xxx 
 
- xxx xxx xxx 

 
- - xxx xxx xxx 

 
IAS 1.106(d) 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity………. Continued 

Balance at January 1, 

20X9  xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  xxx xxx 
 
- xxx xxx xxx 

 
- - xxx xxx xxx 

 

IAS 1.106(d) 
Profit for the year  - - - -  - - - - - - - - xxx - xxx  IAS 1.106(d)(i) 
Other comprehensive 

income (net of tax)  - - - -  - xxx 
 
- xxx xxx xxx (xxx) - xxx xxx xxx 

 IAS 1.106(d)(ii), 
IAS 1.106A 

Transfer on account of 

incremental depreciation 

(net of tax) 21 - - - -  - (xxx) 
 
- - - - 

 
- - 

 
xxx - - 

 

 
Employee share option 

expense 42 - - - -  xxx - - - - - - - - - xxx 

 

IFRS 2.50 
Transfer of fair value 

reserve of equity 

instrument designated as 

FVOCI 12.4 - - - -  - - - (xxx) - - - - xxx - - 

 

 
NCI recognized on 

acquisition  - - - -  - - - - - - - - - xxx xxx 

 

IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 
NCI derecognized on 

disposal  - - - -  - - - - - - - - - (xxx) (xxx) 

 

 

Transactions with owners  - - - -  - - - - - - - - - - - 
 

IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 

Issue of ordinary shares 20 xxx - - -  - - - - - - - - - - xxx  IAS 1.106(d)(iii) 

Dividends declared  - - - -  - - - - - - - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 

  
IAS 1.106(d)(iii),  

IAS 1.107 

  xxx - - -   - - - - - - - (xxx) (xxx) xxx   

Balance as at December 31, 20X9 xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  xxx xxx - xxx xxx xxx (xxx) xxx xxx xxx xxx  IAS 1.106(d) 

                    

 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 54, form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 
 
 
 

Chief Executive                                                                                                                    Director                                                    Chief Financial Officer 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
 This section sets out the information that is to be presented in a statement of cash 

flows and how to present it. The statement of cash flows provides information 
about the changes in cash and cash equivalents of an entity for a reporting period, 
showing separately changes from operating activities, investing activities and 
financing activities.  

  
 Presentation of a statement of cash flows 
  
IAS 7.10  The statement of cash flows shall report cash flows during the period classified by 

operating, investing and financing activities. 
  
IAS 7.11  An entity presents its cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities 

in a manner which is most appropriate to its business. Classification by activity 
provides information that allows users to assess the impact of those activities on 
the financial position of the entity and the amount of its cash and cash equivalents. 
This information may also be used to evaluate the relationships among those 
activities. 

  
 Operating activities 
  

IAS 7.14  Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal 
revenue-producing activities of the entity. Therefore, they generally result from 
the transactions and other events that enter into the determination of profit or 
loss. Examples of cash flows from operating activities are: 

  
 (a) cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services; 
  
 (b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue; 
  
 (c) cash payments to suppliers for goods and services; 
  
 (d) cash payments to and on behalf of employees; 
  
 (e) cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums and 

claims, annuities and other policy benefits; 
  
 (f) cash payments or refunds of income taxes unless they can be specifically 

identified with financing and investing activities; and 
  
 (g) cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or trading purposes. 
  
 Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a gain or 

loss that is included in recognised profit or loss. The cash flows relating to such 
transactions are cash flows from investing activities. However, cash payments to 
manufacture or acquire assets held for rental to others and subsequently held for 
sale as described in paragraph 68A of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment are 
cash flows from operating activities. The cash receipts from rents and subsequent 
sales of such assets are also cash flows from operating activities. 

  
 Investing activities 
  

IAS 7.16  The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities is important 
because the cash flows represent the extent to which expenditures have been made 
for resources intended to generate future income and cash flows. Only 
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position 
are eligible for classification as investing activities. Examples of cash flows arising 
from investing activities are: 
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Statement of Cash Flows Continued… 

 (a) cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment, intangibles and other 
long-term assets. These payments include those relating to capitalised 
development costs and self-constructed property, plant and equipment; 

  
 (b) cash receipts from sales of property, plant and equipment, intangibles and other 

long-term assets; 
  
 (c) cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other entities and 

interests in joint ventures (other than payments for those instruments 
considered to be cash equivalents or those held for dealing or trading purposes); 

  
 (d) cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other entities and 

interests in joint ventures (other than receipts for those instruments considered 
to be cash equivalents and those held for dealing or trading purposes); 

  
 (e) cash advances and loans made to other parties (other than advances and loans 

made by a financial institution); 
  
 (f) cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to other parties 

(other than advances and loans of a financial institution); 
  
 (g) cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and 

swap contracts except when the contracts are held for dealing or trading 
purposes, or the payments are classified as financing activities; and 

  
 (h) cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option contracts and 

swap contracts except when the contracts are held for dealing or trading 
purposes, or the receipts are classified as financing activities. 

  
 When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position the cash 

flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash flows of the 
position being hedged. 

  
 Financing activities 
  
IAS 7.17  The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities is important 

because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
to the entity. Examples of cash flows arising from financing activities are: 

  
 (a) cash proceeds from issuing shares or other equity instruments; 
  
 (b) cash payments to owners to acquire or redeem the entity’s shares; 
  
 (c) cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, mortgages and 

other short-term or long-term borrowings; 
  
 (d) cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and 
  
 (e) cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding liability relating 

to a lease. 
  
 Reporting cash flows from operating activities 
  
IAS 7.18  An entity shall report cash flows from operating activities using either: 
  
 (a) the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash 

payments are disclosed; or 
  
 (b) the indirect method, whereby profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of 

transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future 
operating cash receipts or payments, and items of income or expense associated 
with investing or financing cash flows 
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Statement of Cash Flows Continued… 

IAS 7.19 Entities are encouraged to report cash flows from operating activities using the 
direct method. The direct method provides information which may be useful in 
estimating future cash flows and which is not available under the indirect method. 
Under the direct method, information about major classes of gross cash receipts 
and gross cash payments may be obtained either: 

  
 (a) from the accounting records of the entity; or 
  
 (b) by adjusting sales, cost of sales (interest and similar income and interest 

expense and similar charges for a financial institution) and other items in the 
statement of comprehensive income for: 

  
 (i) changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and 

payables; 
  
 (ii) other non-cash items; and 
  
 (iii) other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows. 
  
IAS 7.20 Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is 

determined by adjusting profit or loss for the effects of: 
  
 (a) changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and 

payables; 
  
 (b) non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealised 

foreign currency gains and losses, and undistributed profits of associates; and 
  
 (c) all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows. 
  
 (d) Alternatively, the net cash flow from operating activities may be presented 

under the indirect method by showing the revenues and expenses disclosed in 
the statement of comprehensive income and the changes during the period in 
inventories and operating receivables and payables. 

  
 Reporting cash flows from investing and financing activities 
  
IAS 7.21 An entity shall report separately major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash 

payments arising from investing and financing activities, except to the extent that 
cash flows described in paragraphs 22 and 24 are reported on a net basis. 

  
 Reporting cash flows on a net basis 
  
IAS 7.22  Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing or financing activities 

may be reported on a net basis: 
  
 (a) cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the cash flows reflect 

the activities of the customer rather than those of the entity; and 
 (b) cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is quick, the 

amounts are large, and the maturities are short. 
  
IAS 7.24  Cash flows arising from each of the following activities of a financial institution 

may be reported on a net basis: 
  
 (a) cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and repayment of deposits with 

a fixed maturity date; 
 (b) the placement of deposits with and withdrawal of deposits from other financial 

institutions; and 
 (c) cash advances and loans made to customers and the repayment of those 

advances and loans. 
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Statement of Cash Flows Continued… 

 Foreign currency cash flows 
  
IAS 7.25  Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency shall be recorded in an 

entity’s functional currency by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the 
date of the cash flow. 

  
IAS 7.26  The cash flows of a foreign subsidiary shall be translated at the exchange rates 

between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash 
flows. 

  
 Interest and dividends 
  
IAS 7.31  Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid shall each be disclosed 

separately. Each shall be classified in a consistent manner from period to period as 
either operating, investing or financing activities. 

  
IAS 7.32  The total amount of interest paid during a period is disclosed in the statement of 

cash flows whether it has been recognised as an expense in profit or loss or 
capitalised in accordance with IAS 23 Borrowing Costs. 

  
IAS 7.33  Interest paid and interest and dividends received are usually classified as operating 

cash flows for a financial institution. However, there is no consensus on the 
classification of these cash flows for other entities. Interest paid and interest and 
dividends received may be classified as operating cash flows because they enter 
into the determination of profit or loss. Alternatively, interest paid and interest 
and dividends received may be classified as financing cash flows and investing cash 
flows respectively, because they are costs of obtaining financial resources or 
returns on investments. 

  
IAS 7.34  Dividends paid may be classified as a financing cash flow because they are a cost 

of obtaining financial resources. Alternatively, dividends paid may be classified as 
a component of cash flows from operating activities in order to assist users to 
determine the ability of an entity to pay dividends out of operating cash flows. 

  
 Taxes on income 
  
IAS 7.35  Cash flows arising from taxes on income shall be separately disclosed and shall be 

classified as cash flows from operating activities unless they can be specifically 
identified with financing and investing activities. 

  
 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
  
IAS 7.37  When accounting for an investment in an associate, a joint venture or a subsidiary 

accounted for by use of the equity or cost method, an investor restricts its reporting 
in the statement of cash flows to the cash flows between itself and the investee, 
for example, to dividends and advances. 

  
IAS 7.38  An entity that reports its interest in an associate or a joint venture using the equity 

method includes in its statement of cash flows the cash flows in respect of its 
investments in the associate or joint venture, and distributions and other payments 
or receipts between it and the associate or joint venture. 

  
 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries and other businesses 
  
IAS 7.39  The aggregate cash flows arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or 

other businesses shall be presented separately and classified as investing activities. 
  
IAS 7.40  An entity shall disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both obtaining and losing control 

of subsidiaries or other businesses during the period each of the following: 
  
 (a) the total consideration paid or received; 
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 (b) the portion of the consideration consisting of cash and cash equivalents; 
  
 (c) the amount of cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiaries or other businesses 

over which control is obtained or lost; and 
  
 (d) the amount of the assets and liabilities other than cash or cash equivalents in 

the subsidiaries or other businesses over which control is obtained or lost, 
summarised by each major category. 

  
 Non-cash transactions 
  
IAS 7.43  Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash or cash 

equivalents shall be excluded from a statement of cash flows. Such transactions 
shall be disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements in a way that provides all 
the relevant information about these investing and financing activities. 
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      Reference 
PIC Pakistan Limited      IAS 1.51(a) 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows     
 IAS 1.10(d), CA 2017 

[2.33(d)] 
for the year ended December 31, 20X9      IAS 1.51(c) 
    Restated   
  20X9  20X8  IAS 1.51(c) 
 Note Rupees  Rupees  IAS 1.51(d) 

Cash flows from operating activities      IAS 7.10, IAS 7.18(b)  

Profit for the year  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.18(b), IAS 7.20 
Adjustments for non-cash income and 
expenses:     

 
 

Income tax expense 39 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(b) 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment  5 xxx  xxx 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Depreciation of right of use assets 6 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(b) 
Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment  xxx  xxx 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Reversal of impairment of property, plant 
and equipment  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Amortization of intangible assets 7 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(b) 
Change in fair value of investment 
property 37 (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Fair value loss/(gain) on investments 
carried at fair value 37 (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Change in fair value of biological assets 9,37 (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.20(b) 
Hedge ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges 37 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(b) 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 37 (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.20(c) 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of intangible assets 37 (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.20(c) 
Share of profit of associates and jointly 
controlled entity  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiary 4.2 (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.20(c) 
Impairment of trade receivables, advances 
and deposits 15.3 xxx  xxx 

 
IAS 7.20(b) 

Changes in provisions 33&34 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(b) 
Government grant recognized in income 37 (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.20(b) 
Finance  costs   38 xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(c) 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses/(gains)  37 (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.20(b) 
Finance income  37 (xxx)  (xxx)   IAS 7.20(c) 
Dividend income on investments 37 (xxx)  (xxx)                IAS 7.20(c) 
Loss recognized on remeasurement of non-
current assets classified held for sale 40 xxx  xxx 

 
 IAS 7.20(b) 

Workers Welfare Fund and Workers Profit 
Participation Fund 36 xxx  xxx 

 
 IAS 7.20(b) 

Expense recognized for equity settled 
share based payments 34.1 xxx  xxx 

 
 IAS 7.20(b) 

Expense recognized for employee defined 
benefit obligation 33.1&34.1 xxx  xxx 

 
 IAS 7.20(b) 

  xxx  xxx   
       
Changes in working capital:       

Inventories  xxx  xxx 
 

IAS 7.20(a) 

Contract assets  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(a) 

Right of return assets  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(a) 
Trade and other receivables  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(a) 
Contract liabilities  xxx  xxx   IAS 7.20(a) 
Refund liabilities  xxx  xxx   IAS 7.20(a) 
Trade and other payables  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.20(a) 

Cash generated from operations  xxx  xxx   

Employee defined benefits paid  (xxx)  (xxx)   
Income taxes paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.14(f), IAS 7.35 
Payments to workers' profit participation 
fund  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

Net cash from operating activities  xxx  xxx   
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows – Continued    Reference 

Cash flows from investing activities     
 

IAS 7.10, IAS 7.16 

Payment for acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
    IAS 7.16(a) 

Payment for acquisition of investment 
property  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.16(a) 

Payment for acquisition of intangible assets (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.16(a) 
Proceeds from disposal of investment property xxx  xxx  IAS 7.16(b) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  
and intangible assets xxx  xxx 

 

IAS 7.16(b) 
Increase in long term deposits and 
prepayments  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
IAS 7.16 

Payment against loans and advances made  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.16(e) 
Receipts against repayment of loans and 
advances  xxx  xxx 

 
IAS 7.16(f) 

Purchase of  investments  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.16(c) 
Proceeds of disposal of   investments  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.16(d) 
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.39 
Net cash flow arising on losing control of 
subsidiary  xxx  xxx 

 
IAS 7.39 

Interest received  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.31 
Dividend received  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.31 
Receipt of government grants  xxx  xxx      IAS 7.16 

Net cash used in investing activities  (xxx)  (xxx)   
       

Cash flows from financing activities      IAS 7.10, IAS 7.17 

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.17(a) 
Payment for transaction cost for issuance of 
ordinary shares  (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

Payment for acquisition of treasury shares  -  (xxx)  IAS 7.17(b) 
Proceeds from borrowings  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.17(c) 
Repayments of borrowings  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.17(d) 
Proceeds from exercise of share options  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.17(a) 
Proceeds from settlement of derivatives  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.16(g) 
Payments against  lease liabilities  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.17(e) 
Interest paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.31 
Dividends paid  (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 7.31 

Net cash (used in) / generated from 
financing activities  (xxx)  xxx 

 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents   xxx  (xxx) 

 
 

Net foreign exchange difference  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.28 

Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning 
of year  xxx  xxx 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 18.1 xxx  xxx   

       
 
The annexed notes, from 1 to 54, form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
Chief Executive Director Chief Financial Officer 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
 This section sets out the principles underlying information that is to be presented 

in the notes to the financial statements and how to present it.  
  
 Structure 
  
IAS 1.112  The notes shall: 
  

 (a) present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements 
and the specific accounting policies used in accordance with paragraphs 117–
124; 

  
 (b) disclose the information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere in 

the financial statements; and 
  
 (c) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 

statements, but is relevant to an understanding of any of them. 
  
IAS 1.113  An entity shall, as far as practicable, present notes in a systematic manner. In 

determining a systematic manner, the entity shall consider the effect on the 
understandability and comparability of its financial statements. An entity shall 
cross-reference each item in the statements of financial position and in the 
statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and in the 
statements of changes in equity and of cash flows to any related information in 
the notes. 

  
IAS 1.114  Examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes include: 
  

 (a) giving prominence to the areas of its activities that the entity considers to be 
most relevant to an understanding of its financial performance and financial 
position, such as grouping together information about particular operating 
activities; 

  
 (b) grouping together information about items measured similarly such as assets 

measured at fair value; or 
  
 (c) following the order of the line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income and the statement of financial position, such as: 
  

 (i)   statement of compliance with IFRSs (see paragraph 16); 
  
 (ii)  significant accounting policies applied (see paragraph 117); 
  
 (iii) supporting information for items presented in the statements of financial 

position and in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, and in the statements of changes in equity and of cash flows, in 
the order in which each statement and each line item is presented; and 

  
 (iv) other disclosures, including: 
  

 (1) contingent liabilities (see IAS 37) and unrecognised contractual 
commitments; and 

  
 (2) non-financial disclosures, eg the entity’s financial risk management 

objectives and policies (see IFRS 7) 
  
IAS 1.116  An entity may present notes providing information about the basis of preparation 

of the financial statements and specific accounting policies as a separate section 
of the financial statements. 
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 Disclosure of accounting policies 
  

IAS 1.117  An entity shall disclose its significant accounting policies comprising: 
  

 (a) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements; and 
  
 (b) the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the 

financial statements. 
  

IAS 1.122  An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other 
notes, the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 
125), that management has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 

  
 Specific disclosure of accounting policies and measurement basis required by 

IFRS 
  
 Measurement of inventories 
  
IAS 2.36(a)  The financial statements shall disclose the accounting policies adopted in 

measuring inventories, including the cost formula used. 
  
 Measurement of property, plant and equipment 
  
IAS 16.73(a)  The financial statements shall disclose, for each class of property, plant and 

equipment the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying 
amount; 

  
 Government grants 
  
IAS 20.39(a)  The following matters shall be disclosed: 
  
 (a) the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods 

of presentation adopted in the financial statements; 
  
 Accounting for investments in subsidiary in separate financial statements 
  
IAS 27.16(b)(c)    When a parent, in accordance with paragraph 4(a) of IFRS 10, elects not to prepare 

consolidated financial statements and instead prepares separate financial 
statements, it shall disclose in those separate financial statements: 

  
 (b) a list of significant investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, 

including: 
  
 (i) the name of those investees. 
  
 (ii) the principal place of business (and country of incorporation, if different) 

of those investees. 
  
 (iii) its proportion of the ownership interest (and its proportion of the voting 

rights, if different) held in those investees. 
  
 (c) a description of the method used to account for the investments listed under (b). 
  
IAS 27.17(b)(c)    When a parent (other than a parent covered by paragraphs 16–16A) or an investor 

with joint control of, or significant influence over, an investee prepares separate 
financial statements, the parent or investor shall identify the financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS 10, IFRS 11 or IAS 28 (as amended in 2011) to 
which they relate. The parent or investor shall also disclose in its separate 
financial statements: 
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(b) a list of significant investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, 

including: 
  
 (i) the name of those investees. 
  
 (ii) the principal place of business (and country of incorporation, if different) 

of those investees. 
  
 (iii) its proportion of the ownership interest (and its proportion of the voting 

rights, if different) held in those investees. 
  
 (c) a description of the method used to account for the investments listed under (b). 
  
 Measurement model for investment properties 
  
IAS 40.75(a)         An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) whether it applies the fair value model or the cost model. 
  
 Measurement basis for share based payment transactions 
  
IFRS 2.46             An entity shall disclose information that enables users of the financial statements 

to understand how the fair value of the goods or services received, or the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted, during the period was determined. 

  
 Segment information 
  
IFRS 8.27            An entity shall provide an explanation of the measurements of segment profit or 

loss, segment assets and segment liabilities for each reportable segment. At a 
minimum, an entity shall disclose the following: 

  
 (a) the basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments. 
  
 (b) the nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable 

segments’ profits or losses and the entity’s profit or loss before income tax 
expense or income and discontinued operations (if not apparent from the 
reconciliations described in paragraph 28). Those differences could include 
accounting policies and policies for allocation of centrally incurred costs that 
are necessary for an understanding of the reported segment information. 

  
 (c) the nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable 

segments’ assets and the entity’s assets (if not apparent from the 
reconciliations described in paragraph 28). Those differences could include 
accounting policies and policies for allocation of jointly used assets that are 
necessary for an understanding of the reported segment information. 

  
 (d) the nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable 

segments’ liabilities and the entity’s liabilities (if not apparent from the 
reconciliations described in paragraph 28). Those differences could include 
accounting policies and policies for allocation of jointly utilised liabilities that 
are necessary for an understanding of the reported segment information. 

  
 (e) the nature of any changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used 

to determine reported segment profit or loss and the effect, if any, of those 
changes on the measure of segment profit or loss. 

  
 (f) the nature and effect of any asymmetrical allocations to reportable segments. 

For example, an entity might allocate depreciation expense to a segment 
without allocating the related depreciable assets to that segment. 
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 Fair value measurements 
  
IFRS 13.91(a)         An entity shall disclose information that helps users of its financial statements 

assess both of the following: 
  
 (a) for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or non-

recurring basis in the statement of financial position after initial recognition, 
the valuation techniques and inputs used to develop those measurements. 

  
 Disclosure of judgements apart from those involving estimations 
  
IAS 1.122  An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other 

notes, the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 
125), that management has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 

  
 Sources of estimation uncertainty 
  
IAS 1.125  An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the 

future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. In 
respect of those assets and liabilities, the notes shall include details of: 

  
 (a) their nature, and 
  
 (b) their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 
  
 Other disclosures 
  
IAS 1.137  An entity shall disclose in the notes: 
  
 (a)  the amount of dividends proposed or declared before the financial statements 

were authorised for issue but not recognised as a distribution to owners during 
the period, and the related amount per share; and 

  
 (b)  the amount of any cumulative preference dividends not recognised. 
  
IAS 1.138  An entity shall disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in information 

published with the financial statements: 
  
 (a)  the domicile and legal form of the entity, its country of incorporation and the 

address of its registered office (or principal place of business, if different from 
the registered office); 

  
 (b) a description of the nature of the entity’s operations and its principal 

activities; 
  
 (c) the name of the parent and the ultimate parent of the group; and 
  
 (d)  if it is a limited life entity, information regarding the length of its life. 
  
 Functional and presentation currency 
  
IAS 21.52  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a)  the amount of exchange differences recognised in profit or loss except for 

those arising on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or 
loss in accordance with IFRS 9; and 
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 (b) net exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in a separate component of equity, and a reconciliation of the 
amount of such exchange differences at the beginning and end of the period. 

  
IAS 21.53  When the presentation currency is different from the functional currency, that 

fact shall be stated, together with disclosure of the functional currency and the 
reason for using a different presentation currency. 

  
IAS 21.54  When there is a change in the functional currency of either the reporting entity or 

a significant foreign operation, that fact and the reason for the change in 
functional currency shall be disclosed. 

  
IAS 21.55  When an entity presents its financial statements in a currency that is different 

from its functional currency, it shall describe the financial statements as 
complying with IFRSs only if they comply with all the requirements of IFRSs 
including the translation method set out in paragraphs 39 and 42. 

  
IAS 21.57  When an entity displays its financial statements or other financial information in 

a currency that is different from either its functional currency or its presentation 
currency and the requirements of paragraph 55 are not met, it shall: 

  
 (a) clearly identify the information as supplementary information to distinguish it 

from the information that complies with IFRSs; 
  
 (b) disclose the currency in which the supplementary information is displayed; and 
  
 (c) disclose the entity’s functional currency and the method of translation used to 

determine the supplementary information. 
  
 Disclosure of a change in accounting policy 
  
IAS 8.28  When initial application of an IFRS has an effect on the current period or any prior 

period, would have such an effect except that it is impracticable to determine the 
amount of the adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods, an entity 
shall disclose: 

  
 (a) the title of the IFRS; 
  
 (b) when applicable, that the change in accounting policy is made in accordance 

with its transitional provisions; 
  
 (c)  the nature of the change in accounting policy; 
  
 (d)  when applicable, a description of the transitional provisions; 
  
 (e)  when applicable, the transitional provisions that might have an effect on 

future periods; 
  
 (f) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent 

practicable, the amount of the adjustment: 
  
 (i) for each financial statement line item affected; and 
  
 (ii) if IAS 33 Earnings per Share applies to the entity, for basic and diluted 

earnings per share; 
  
 (g)  the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to 

the extent practicable; and 
  
 (h)  if retrospective application required by paragraph 19(a) or (b) is impracticable 

for a particular prior period, or for periods before those presented, the 
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circumstances that led to the existence of that condition and a description of 
how and from when the change in accounting policy has been applied. 

  
 Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 
  
IAS 8.29  When a voluntary change in accounting policy has an effect on the current period 

or any prior period, would have an effect on that period except that it is 
impracticable to determine the amount of the adjustment, or might have an effect 
on future periods, an entity shall disclose: 

  
 (a) the nature of the change in accounting policy; 
  
 (b) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more 

relevant information; 
  
 (c) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent 

practicable, the amount of the adjustment: 
  
 (i) for each financial statement line item affected; and 
  
 (ii) if IAS 33 applies to the entity, for basic and diluted earnings per share; 
  
 (d) the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to 

the extent practicable; and 
  
 (e) if retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior period, or for 

periods before those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence 
of that condition and a description of how and from when the change in 
accounting policy has been applied. 

  
 Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 
  
 Disclosure of IFRS issued but not yet effective 
  
IAS 8.30  When an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet 

effective, the entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) this fact; and 
  
 (b) known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing the possible 

impact that application of the new IFRS will have on the entity’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application. 

  
IAS 8.31 In complying with paragraph 30, an entity considers disclosing: 
  
 (a) the title of the new IFRS; 
  
 (b) the nature of the impending change or changes in accounting policy; 
  
 (c) the date by which application of the IFRS is required; 
  
 (d) the date as at which it plans to apply the IFRS initially; and 
  
 (e) either: 
  

 (i) a discussion of the impact that initial application of the IFRS is expected 
to have on the entity’s financial statements; or 

  
 (ii) if that impact is not known or reasonably estimable, a statement to that 

effect. 
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 Note: To comply with the requirements in IAS 8.30 and 31 above, the 

illustrative disclosure 3.3 ‘Initial application of a Standard, Amendment or an 
Interpretation effective in 20X9’ has been framed with reference to a financial 
reporting year beginning on January 1, 2019. Therefore, a preparer using these 
illustrative financial statements for a financial reporting year ended on June 
30, 2020 will need to consider any further developments at IASB level which 
warrant coverage in this disclosure.   
 
We note that no new IFRSs or IFRICs have been issued subsequent to December 
31, 2019. However, a preparer should be alert for and consider any 
amendments to IFRSs and IFRICs issued after December 31, 2019 which may 
need to be disclosed in compliance of requirements in IAS 8.30 and 31.  

  
 Disclosure of a change in estimate 
  

IAS 8.31  The effect of a change in an accounting estimate, other than a change to which 
paragraph 37 applies, shall be recognised prospectively by including it in profit or 
loss in: 

  

 (a) the period of the change, if the change affects that period only; or 
  
 (b) the period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both. 
  
IAS 8.39  An entity shall disclose the nature and amount of a change in an accounting 

estimate that has an effect in the current period or is expected to have an effect 
in future periods, except for the disclosure of the effect on future periods when it 
is impracticable to estimate that effect.  

  
IAS 8.40 If the amount of the effect in future periods is not disclosed because estimating it 

is impracticable, an entity shall disclose that fact. 
    
 Disclosure of correction of prior period errors 
  

IAS 8.49 In applying paragraph 42, an entity shall disclose the following: 
  

 (a) the nature of the prior period error; 
  
 (b) for each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the 

correction: 
  

 (i) for each financial statement line item affected; and 
 (ii) if IAS 33 applies to the entity, for basic and diluted earnings per share; 
  

 (c) the amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period 
presented; and 

  

 (d) if retrospective restatement is impracticable for a particular prior period, the 
circumstances that led to the existence of that condition and a description of 
how and from when the error has been corrected. 

  

 Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures. 
  
 Disclosure of parent subsidiary relationship 
  

IAS 24.13  Relationships between a parent and its subsidiaries shall be disclosed irrespective 
of whether there have been transactions between them. An entity shall disclose 
the name of its parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party. If neither 
the entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party produces consolidated 
financial statements available for public use, the name of the next most senior 
parent that does so shall also be disclosed. 
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Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(1)(i) 

The following shall be disclosed in the financial statements, namely: __ 

 1. General information about the company comprising the following:  
  

 (i) Geographical location and address of all business units including Mills/plant;  
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(5) 

Summary of significant transactions and events that have affected the company's 
financial position and performance during the year; 
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PIC Pakistan Limited IAS 1.51(a) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
IAS 1.10(e), CA 
2017[2(33)(e)] 

for the year ended December 31, 20X9 IAS 1.51(c) 

   

1. Corporate and general information   

   

1.1 Legal status and operations   

   

 

PIC Pakistan Limited (the Company) is a public limited company incorporated in Pakistan on 
March 23, 20X1 under the Companies Ordinance, 1984 (Repealed with the enactment of the 
Companies Act, 2017).  The shares of the Company are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited. 
 
The principal activities of the Company are to manufacture, sale and install ceramics, PVC pipes 
and fittings. The Company also manages investments in subsidiary companies, associated 
companies and joint ventures engaged in PVC manufacturing, cement manufacturing and food 
businesses. The group structure and principal activities of subsidiary companies are described in 
note 4. 
 
The Company is a subsidiary of Heavenly Company Limited (the parent company), an unlisted 
public company incorporated in Pakistan. 
 
The geographical location and address of Company’s and its subsidiaries business units, including 
mills/plant is as under: 
 

Business unit Geographical location 

Head / Registered offices  

   -The PIC Pakistan Limited PIC tower, 5th avenue, Green city 

   -The PVC King Limited ABC Building, 123 Road , Washington 

   -The Dairy Queen Limited XYZ Building, 125 Road, Karachi 

Plant and Distribution Warehouse  

   -The PIC Pakistan Limited Best Location, Industrial Zone, Beautiful 
city 

   -The PVC King Limited 123 KM Road, Washington 

   -The Dairy Queen Limited 986 GM Road, Rohri 
 

IAS 1.138(a) 
 
 
 
 

IAS 1.138(b) 
 
 
 
 

IAS 1.138(c), 
IAS 24.13 

 
IAS 1.138(a),  

4th Schd VI(1)(i) 

   

1.2 Consolidated financial statements  

   

 
These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of the PIC Pakistan Limited 
and its subsidiaries (The Group).  

IAS 1.51(b) 

   

2. Basis of preparation IAS 1.112(a) 
   
2.1 Statement of compliance IAS 1.16 
   

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in 
Pakistan comprise of: 
 
− International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; 
 

− Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan as are notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and 
 

− Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.  
 
Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS 
Standards, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been 
followed.  
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2.2 Basis of measurement IAS 1.117(a) 
   

 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
certain items as disclosed in the relevant accounting policies below.  
 
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous 
period. In addition, the Group presents an additional statement of financial position at the 
beginning of the preceding period when there is a retrospective application of an accounting 
policy, a retrospective restatement, or a reclassification of items in financial statements. An 
additional statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018 is presented in these consolidated 
financial statements due to the retrospective application of accounting policies as a result of the 
adoption of new accounting standards. See Note 3.26.2. 

 
 
 

IAS 1.40A, IAS 
1.10(f) 

 
 
 

IAS 1.38A 

   
2.3 Functional and presentation currency  

   

 

These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupee (Rs. / Rupees) which is the 
Company’s functional currency. Amounts presented in the financial statements have been 
rounded off to the nearest of Rs. / Rupees, unless otherwise stated. 

IAS 1.51(d)(e) 
 

   
2.4 Key judgements and estimates  

   

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting 
standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. In 
addition, it requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are 
documented in the following accounting policies and notes, and relate primarily to: 
 
- Useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment – 

Note 3.4 & 5 

- Useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of investment property measured at 

cost – Note 3.6 & 8 

- Fair value of investment property - Note 3.6 & 8  

- Fair value of employee share options - Note 3.21 & 42.2 

- Fair value of biological assets - Note 3.5 & 9 

- Revenue from contracts with customers – Note 3.14 & 32  

- Useful lives, residual values and amortization method of intangible assets – Note 3.7 & 7  

- Provision for impairment of inventories - Note 3.12 & 14 

- Impairment loss of non-financial assets other than inventories – Note 3.13 & 5 

- Provision for expected credit losses – Note 3.9 & 12, 15, 16, 17 

- Obligation of defined benefit obligation - Note 3.20 & 25  

- Estimation of provisions - Note 3.22 & 26 

- Estimation of contingent liabilities - Note 3.23 & 31 

- Current income tax expense, provision for current tax and recognition of deferred tax asset 

(for carried forward tax losses) - Note 3.19, 30 & 39  

IAS 1.122, IAS 
1.125 

   

3. Summary of significant accounting policies   
   

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these financial statements, except for the changes as indicated below in note 3.26. 

IAS 1.117 

   
3.1 Basis of consolidation  

   

 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. The Group ceases consolidation from the date when control is lost.  
 

 
IFRS 10.5-7, IFRS 
10.20, IFRS 10.25 
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The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group 
(refer to note 3.8). 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively. 
 
Transactions with non-controlling interest that do not result in loss of control 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control 
as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an 
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to 
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in 
a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company. 
 
Disposal of subsidiaries 
When the Group ceases to consolidate an investment in subsidiary because of a loss of control, 
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying 
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the 
purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

IFRS 3.4 
 
 

IFRS 10.19 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 10.22 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 10.23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 10.25 

   
3.2 Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities  

   

 

Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 
control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting 
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after 
initially being recognised at cost.   
 
Joint ventures 
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being 
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of financial position.   
 
Equity method 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of 
the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive 
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from 
associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the 
investment. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its 
interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
investee company. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy described in note 3.13. 
   

 
IAS 28.5, IAS 

28.16 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 11.24, IAS 
28.10 

 
 

IAS 28.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 28.38, IAS 
28.39 

 
 
 

IAS 28.28 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 28.42 
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Changes in ownership interests 
When the Group ceases to equity account for an investment because of a loss of joint control 
or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with 
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest as a 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or 
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 

 
 IAS 28.22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 28.25 
 

   
3.3 Initial application of a Standard, Amendment or an Interpretation to an existing standard    
   
 Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations effective in 20X9   
   

 
The following amendments to published standards are mandatory for the financial year 
beginning on January 1, 20X9 and are relevant to the Group. 

IAS 8.28 

   

 

- IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (effective for annual periods ending on or after June 30, 2019). 
IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement 
model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised 
cost, fair value through OCI and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss with irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in 
OCI with no recycling in future. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces 
the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial liabilities there were no changes 
to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in 
other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 
9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge 
effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be same as the one management actually use for risk 
management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that 
currently prepared under IAS 39.  
 
The key changes to the accounting policies of the Group on account of adoption of IFRS 9 have 
been summarised in note 3.26.2.  

   

 

- IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after July 1, 2018). The standard deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for 
reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. 
Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the 
ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces 
IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11’Construction contracts’ and related interpretations.  
 
The key changes to the accounting policies of the Group on account of adoption of IFRS 15 have 
been summarised in note 3.26.2. 
  

 

-IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effective from annual period on or after January 1, 2019). The standard sets 
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 
‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating 
Leases-Incentives’ and SIC-27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form 
of a Lease’. 
 
The key changes to the accounting policies of the Group on account of adoption of IFRS 16 have 
been summarised in note 3.26.2.  
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- IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ (effective from accounting period beginning 
on or after January 1, 2019). This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax 
treatments. The IFRS interpretations committee had clarified previously that IAS 12, not IAS 37 
‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for uncertain 
income tax treatments. An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity 
where there is uncertainty over whether that treatment will be accepted by the tax authority. 
IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding 
the treatment of an item, including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
tax losses and credits and tax rates. The Interpretation is not expected have a significant impact 
on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
-Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the 
instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The 
amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of an 
event or circumstance that causes the early termination of the contract and irrespective of 
which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract. 
These amendments had no impact on the Group financial statements. 
 
-Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is 
required to determine the current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan 
assets after that event. An entity is also required to determine the net interest for the remainder 
of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after that 
event, and the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit liability (asset). 
 
The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it did 
not have any plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements during the period. 
 
-Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 
The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or 
joint venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the 
net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is 
relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-
term interests. 
 
The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any 
losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, 
recognised as adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise 
from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
 
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as the Group does 
not have longterm interests in its associate and joint venture.  

 

 
- Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint 
operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including 
remeasuring previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair 
value. In doing so, the acquiree remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint 
operation. 
 
An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is 
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, with early application permitted. 
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These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as 
there is no transaction where joint control is obtained. 
 
-  Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
An entity that participates in, but does not have joint control of a joint operation might obtain 
joint control of the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a 
business as defined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that 
joint operation are not remeasured. 
 
An entity applies those amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after 
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with 
early application permitted. 
 
These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as 
there is no transaction where a joint control is obtained. 
 
- Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes 
The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly 
to past transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to 
owners. Therefore, an entity recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or 
loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where it originally recognised those 
past transactions or events.  
 
An entity applies the amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, with early application permitted. When the entity first applies those amendments, it 
applies them to the income tax consequences of dividends recognised on or after the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period.  
 
Since the Group’s current practice is in line with these amendments, they had no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
- Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 
The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing 
originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary 
to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 
 
The entity applies the amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the 
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity applies 
those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with 
early application permitted. 
 
Since the Group’s current practice is in line with these amendments, they had no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 

 
Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are not yet 
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group 

IAS 8.30, 31 

   

 

The following new standards and interpretations are not effective for the financial year 
beginning on January 1, 20X9 and have not been early adopted by the Group. 
 
 Effective date 
-Definition of a Business - Amendments to IFRS 3 January 1, 2020 
-Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 January 1, 2020 
-Definition of Material - Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 January 1, 2020 
-IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2022 
  

 

 
   

 

The above standards and interpretations are not expected to have any material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application. 
  

 

There are a number of other standards, amendments and interpretations to the published 
standards that are not yet effective and are also not relevant to the Group and therefore, have 
not been presented.  
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3.4 Property, plant and equipment    

   

 
 
 

Measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment other than land, buildings, leasehold improvements and 
capital work in progress are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
loss (if any).  
 
Land, buildings and leasehold improvements are measured at the revalued amount less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss (if any).   
 
Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment loss (if any).   
 
Revaluation  
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land, buildings and leasehold 
improvements is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a separate 
component of equity as “Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment”, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. Any decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of land, buildings 
and leasehold improvements is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the 
balance, if any, held in the Revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment relating to a 
previous revaluation of that asset. The surplus on revaluation buildings and leasehold 
improvements to the extent of incremental depreciation charged (net of deferred tax) is 
transferred to unappropriated profit. 
 
During the year the Group changed its accounting policy in respect of the accounting and 
presentation of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment. Previously, the Group’s 
accounting policy was in accordance with those provisions repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. 
Those provisions and resultant previous policy of the group was not in alignment with the 
accounting treatment and presentation of revaluation surplus as prescribed in the IFRSs. 
However, the Companies Act, 2017 has not specified any accounting treatment for revaluation 
surplus, accordingly the Group has changed the accounting policy and is now following the IFRS 
prescribed accounting treatment and presentation of revaluation surplus. The detailed 
information and impact of this change in policy is provided in note 3.26 below. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of assets (other than land 
and capital work in progress) over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method 
at rates specified in note 5 to the financial statements.  
 
 
Disposal 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. The gain or loss arising on derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
asset and is recognised in as other income in the statement of profit or loss. In case of the 
derecognition of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the 
surplus on revaluation is transferred directly to the unappropriated profit.  
 
Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis. Further, the key 
assumptions used to determine the fair value of property, plant and equipment are provided in 
Note 5. 
 
Impairment 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Change in estimate 
During the year, the Group after review of useful lives and residual values of property, plant 
and equipment, increased the useful life of office equipment from four to six years. The 
revisions were accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimates and as a result, 

 
IAS 16.73(a) 

 
 
 

IAS 16.73(a) 
 
 

IAS 16.73(a) 
 
 

IAS 16.39, IAS 
16.40 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 16.50, IAS 
16.73(b)(c) 

 
   

 
 

IAS 16.68, IAS 
16.71, IAS 16.41 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 1.125 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 36.59 
 
 
 

IAS 8.39 
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the depreciation charges of the group for 20X9 decreased by Rs. xxx and carrying amount of 
office equipment increased by Rs. xxx. The current and deferred tax liabilities have increased 
by Rs. xxx. The resultant after-tax effect is an increase in profit for the year of Rs. xxx.  

   
3.5 Biological assets   
   

 

Livestock are measured at their fair value less costs to sell. Fair value of livestock is determined 
by an independent valuer on the basis of best available estimate for livestock of similar 
attributes. Milk is initially measured at its fair value less costs to sell at the time of milking. The 
fair value of milk is determined based on market prices in the local area.             
   
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of livestock and milk are 
recognized in the profit and loss account.                       

IAS 41.12, IAS 
41.13 

 
 
 

IAS 41.26 

   
3.6 Investment property   

   

 

Recognition and Measurement 
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, 
including property under construction for such purposes, is measured initially at its cost, 
including transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property measured at fair value. The changes in 
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Any other investment property (whose 
fair value cannot be measured reliably) is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment loss.  
 
The fair value of investment property is determined at the end of each year using current market 
prices for comparable real estate, adjusted for any differences in nature, location and 
condition. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
effect of any changes in estimate is accounted for on a prospective basis. Further, determining 
adjustments for any differences in nature, location and condition of the investment property 
involves significant judgment.  
 
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of investment properties are provided in 
Note 8. 

 
IAS 40.20 

 
 
 

IAS 40.75(a), IAS 
40.33, IAS 40.35, 

IAS 40.53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 1.125 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

3.7 Intangible assets – other than goodwill   

   

 

Acquired 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. After initial recognition, 
these are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
Costs associated with routine maintenance of intangible assets are recognized as an expense 
when incurred. However, costs that are directly attributable to identifiable intangible assets 
and which enhance or extend the performance of intangible assets beyond the original 
specification and useful life is recognized as capital improvement and added to the original cost 
of the software.  

 
IAS 38.74 

   

 
Amortization is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method at the rates specified in note 7 to the financial statements.  

IAS 38.118(b) 
 

   

 

Internally generated 
The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs 
necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by the management. After initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. 

 
IAS 38.65, IAS 

38.66 
 

   

 
Amortization is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method at the rates specified in note 7 to the financial statements. 
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Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable, 
controlled development project of an intangible asset are recognised as intangible assets when 
the following criteria are met:   
 
-   it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use  
-   management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
-   there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;  
-   it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic 

benefits   adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the intangible asset are available; and  

-   the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably   
measured. 

IAS 38.57 

   

 
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point 
at which the asset is ready for use.  

   

 

Research and development expenditure 
Research and development expenditure that do not meet the criteria mentioned above are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense 
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Such expenses are charged to 
'administrative and general expenses' in the statement of profit or loss, as and when incurred. 

 
IAS 38.54 

 

   

 

Judgment and estimates 
The useful lives, residual values and amortization method are reviewed on a regular basis. The 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

 
IAS 1.125 

   
3.8 Business combinations and Goodwill   
  

Acquisition method of accounting 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: 
 
- fair values of the assets transferred;  
- liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business; 
- equity interests issued by the Group; 
- fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and 
- fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.   
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net 
identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Goodwill 
The excess of the   
- consideration transferred,   
- amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and   
- acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less 
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
 
Deferred or contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration transferred by the acquirer are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an 
asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the 
scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

 
 

IFRS 3.4, IFRS 
3.5, IFRS 3.37, 
IFRS 3.39, IFRS 

3.42 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 3.18, IFRS 
3.19, IFRS 3.53 

 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 3.32, IFRS 
3.34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 3.39, IFRS 
3.40, IFRS 3.58 
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Business combination achieved in stages 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 
IFRS 3.42 

 

   
3.9 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement  
   

 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With 
the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial 
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price 
determined under IFRS 15. 
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ 
on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is 
performed at an instrument level. 
 
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 
 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised 
on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories: 
•  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
•  Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments) 
•  Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and 

losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) 
•  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at 
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
•  The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets 

in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate 
(EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 
 
The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and other receivables, 
short term advances, long term loans and advances and Term Deposit Receipts (TDRs). 

IAS 32.11 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.21, IFRS 
7.B5 IFRS 9.4.1.1 

 
IFRS 9.4.1.1 
IFRS 15.108 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2(b) 
IFRS 9.4.1.2A (b) 

 
 
 

IFRS 9.B4.1.1 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.3.1.2 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.5.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2(a) 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2(b) 
 
 

IFRS 9.5.4 
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Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions 
are met: 
 
•  The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling; and 
 
•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation 
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed 
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value 
changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised 
in OCI is recycled to profit or loss. 
 
The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI includes investments in quoted 
government and corporate bonds included under other non-current financial assets. 
 
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) 
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as 
equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity 
under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification 
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. 
 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are 
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been 
established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the 
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. 
 
The Group elected to classify irrevocably its non-listed equity investments under this category. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial 
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Group had 
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity 
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right 
of payment has been established. 
 
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is 
separated from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic 
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same 
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid 
contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if 
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows 
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value 
through profit or loss category. 

 
Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated 
statement of financial position) when: 

 
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired 
 
Or 
 
 

 
IFRS 9.4.1.2A 

 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2A(a) 
 
 

IFRS 9.4.1.2A(b) 
 
 

IFRS 9.5.7.10 
IFRS 9.5.7.11 
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IFRS 9.B5.7.1 
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IFRS 9.5.7.1 
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• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset 

 
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and 
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 
 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The 
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit 
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result 
from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those 
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 
 
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating 
ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

 
For debt instruments at amortised cost (other than trade receivables and contract assets) and  
fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting 
date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk 
using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. 
In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. 
In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Group’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI comprise solely of quoted bonds that are 
graded in the top investment category (Very Good and Good) by the Good Credit Rating Agency 
and, therefore, are considered to be low credit risk investments. It is the Group’s policy to 
measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime 
ECL. The Group uses the ratings from the Good Credit Rating Agency both to determine whether 
the debt instrument has significantly increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past 
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default 
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held 
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows. 
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Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, and financial liabilities at amortised cost, as appropriate. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships 
as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are 
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The 
Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings) 
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 
the EIR amortisation process. 
 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance 
costs in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
 
Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Offsetting of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
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3.10 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting  
   

 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, interest 
rate swaps and forward commodity contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risks, interest rate 
risks and commodity price risks, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair 
value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
 
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 
 
• Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset 
or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment 
 
• Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment 
 
• Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 

 
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the 
hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.  
 
Before 1 January 20X9, the documentation included identification of the hedging instrument, 
the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will 
assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the 
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged 
risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair 
value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have 
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 
 
Beginning 1 January 20X9, the documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, 
the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess whether 
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of 
sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship 
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness requirements: 
 
• There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. 
 
• The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic 
relationship. 
 
• The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of 
the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that 
the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 
 
Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described 
below: 
 
Fair value hedges 
 
The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss as other expense. The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk 
hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss as other expense. 
 
For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to carrying 
value is amortised through profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the EIR 
method. The EIR amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later than when 
the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being 
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hedged. 
 
If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 
 
When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent 
cumulative change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is 
recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 
Cash flow hedges 
 
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the 
cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
statement of profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the 
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of 
the hedged item. 
 
The Group uses forward currency contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk in 
forecast transactions and firm commitments, as well as forward commodity contracts for its 
exposure to volatility in the commodity prices. The ineffective portion relating to foreign 
currency contracts is recognised as other expense and the ineffective portion relating to 
commodity contracts is recognised in other operating income or expenses. 
 
Before 1 January 20X9, the Group designated all of the forward contracts as hedging instrument. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives were taken directly to 
profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which were recognised in 
OCI and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss. 
 
Beginning 1 January 20X9, the Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as 
a hedging instrument. The forward element is recognised in OCI and accumulated in a separate 
component of equity under cost of hedging reserve. 
 
The amounts accumulated in OCI are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying 
hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-
financial item, the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of 
equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. 
This is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in OCI for the period. This 
also applies where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial 
liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is 
applied. 
 
For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss 
as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash 
flows affect profit or loss. 
 
If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI 
must remain in accumulated OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. 
Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment. After discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in 
accumulated OCI must be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying transaction 
as described above. 
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3.11 Dividend income  
   

 

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as other income when: 
 

 the Company’s right to receive payment have been established;  

 is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the company; and  

 the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. 
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3.12 Inventories   
   

 

Recognition and measurement 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis 
of normal operating capacity. Cost includes the reclassification from equity of any gains or losses 
on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to purchases of raw material but excludes borrowing 
costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. 
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.  
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Judgments and estimates 
Inventory write-down is made based on the current market conditions, historical experience and 
selling goods of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in market 
conditions. A review is made on each reporting date on inventories for excess inventories, 
obsolescence and declines in net realisable value and an allowance is recorded against the 
inventory balances for any such declines. 
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3.13 Impairment of non-financial assets  

 

 
Non-financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non‑financial assets (other 
than biological assets, investment property, inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 
 
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or Cash Generating Units (CGUs). Goodwill arising from a business combination is 
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre‑tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. A reversal of impairment loss for a cash generating unit is allocated 
to the assets of the unit, except for goodwill, pro rata with the carrying amounts of those assets. 
The increase in the carrying amounts shall be treated as reversals of impairment losses for 
individual assets and recognized in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount. Any reversal of impairment loss of a revalued asset shall be treated as a revaluation 
increase. 
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3.14 Revenue from contracts with customers  
   

 

The Group is in the business of providing ceramics, PVC equipment and installation, cement and dairy 
products. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services 
are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has generally concluded that 
it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, except for the agency services below, because it 
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typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer. 
 
Sale of Goods 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The normal credit term is 30 to 
90 days upon delivery. 
 
The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate 
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g. 
warranties, customer loyalty points). In determining the transaction price for the sale of goods, 
the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant financing 
components, noncash consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). 
 
Variable Consideration 
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount 
of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the 
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until 
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. Some contracts for the sale of PVC equipment provide customers with 
a right of return and volume rebates. The rights of return and volume rebates give rise to 
variable consideration. 
 
Right of return 
Certain contracts provide a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period. 
The Group uses the expected value method to estimate the goods that will not be returned 
because this method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group 
will be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration 
are also applied in order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be 
included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of 
revenue, the Group recognises a refund liability. A right of return asset (and corresponding 
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from a customer. 
 
Volume rebates 
The Group provides retrospective volume rebates to certain customers once the quantity of 
products purchased during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates 
are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for 
the expected future rebates, the Group applies the most likely amount method for contracts 
with a single-volume threshold and the expected value method for contracts with more than 
one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable 
consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. 
The Group then applies the requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration 
and recognises a refund liability for the expected future rebates. 
 
Significant financing component 
Generally, the Group receives short-term advances from its customers. Using the practical 
expedient in IFRS 15, the Group does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the 
effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period 
between the transfer of the promised good or service to the customer and when the customer 
pays for that good or service will be one year or less. 
 
The Group also receives long-term advances from customers for the sale of customised PVC 
equipment. The transaction price for such contracts is discounted, using the rate that would 
be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and its customers at 
contract inception, to take into consideration the significant financing component. 
 
Non-cash consideration 
The Group received moulds and other tools from certain customers to be used in manufacturing PVC 
equipment to be sold to them. The fair value of such non-cash consideration received from the customer 
is included in the transaction price and measured when the Group obtains control of the equipment. 
 
The Group applies the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement in measuring the fair value of 
the non-cash consideration. If the fair value cannot be reasonably estimated, the non-cash consideration 
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is measured indirectly by reference to the stand-alone selling price of the PVC equipment. 
 
Warranty obligations 
The Group typically provides warranties for general repairs of defects that existed at the time 
of sale, as required by law. These assurance-type warranties are accounted for under IAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
 
The Group also provides a one-year warranty beyond fixing defects that existed at the time of 
sale. These service-type warranties are sold either separately or bundled together with the sale 
of PVC equipment. Contracts for bundled sales of equipment and a service-type warranty 
comprise two performance obligations because the promises to transfer the equipment and to 
provide the service-type warranty are capable of being distinct. Using the relative stand-alone 
selling price method, a portion of the transaction price is allocated to the service-type warranty 
and recognised as a contract liability. Revenue is recognised over the period in which the 
service-type warranty is provided based on the time elapsed. 
 
Loyalty points program 
The Group has a loyalty points programme, GoodPoints, which allows customers to accumulate 
points that can be redeemed for free products. The loyalty points give rise to a separate 
performance obligation as they provide a material right to the customer. A portion of the 
transaction price is allocated to the loyalty points awarded to customers based on relative 
stand-alone selling price and recognised as a contract liability until the points are redeemed. 
Revenue is recognised upon redemption of products by the customer. 
 
When estimating the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points, the Group considers the 
likelihood that the customer will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates of the 
points that will be redeemed on a quarterly basis and any adjustments to the contract liability 
balance are charged against revenue. 
 
Installation services 
The Group provides installation services that are either sold separately or bundled together 
with the sale of PVC equipment to a customer. The installation services can be obtained from 
other providers and do not significantly customize or modify the PVC equipment. 
 
Contracts for bundled sales of PVC equipment and installation services are comprised of two 
performance obligations because the promises to transfer equipment and provide installation 
services are capable of being distinct and separately identifiable. Accordingly, the Group 
allocates the transaction price based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the equipment 
and installation services. 
 
The Group recognises revenue from installation services over time, using an input method to measure 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the customer simultaneously receives and 
consumes the benefits provided by the Group. Revenue from the sale of the PVC equipment are 
recognised at a point in time, generally upon delivery of the equipment. 
 
Procurement services 
The Group has contracts with customers to acquire, on their behalf, special PVC equipment 
produced by foreign suppliers. The Group is acting as an agent in these arrangements. 
 
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to its customer, the Group determines 
whether it is a principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its promise to the 
customer. The Group is a principal and records revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods 
or services before transferring them to the customer. However, if the Group’s role is only to arrange for 
another entity to provide the goods or services, then the Group is an agent and will need to record 
revenue at the net amount that it retains for its agency services. 
 
Contract balances 
 
Contract assets 
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the 
customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the 
earned consideration that is conditional. 
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Trade receivables 
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional 
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). 
 
Contract liabilities 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is 
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities 
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. 
 
Assets and liabilities arising from rights of return 
 
Right of return assets 
Right of return asset represents the Group’s right to recover the goods expected to be returned 
by customers. The asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory, less any 
expected costs to recover the goods, including any potential decreases in the value of the 
returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset recorded for any revisions to 
its expected level of returns, as well as any additional decreases in the value of the returned 
products. 
 
Refund liabilities 
A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or 
receivable) from the customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it 
will have to return to the customer. The Group’s refund liabilities that arise from customers’ 
right of return and volume rebates. The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and 
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period. Refer 
to above accounting policy on variable consideration. 
 
Cost to obtain a contract 
The Group pays sales commission to its employees for each contract that they obtain for 
bundled sales of equipment and installation services. The Group has elected to apply the 
optional practical expedient for costs to obtain a contract which allows the Group to 
immediately expense sales commissions (included under employee benefits and part of cost of 
sales) because the amortisation period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have used 
is one year or less. 
 
Judgments and estimates 
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the 
amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers: 
 
Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale of equipment and installation services 
The Group provides installation services that are either sold separately or bundled together 
with the sale of equipment to a customer. The installation services are a promise to transfer 
services in the future and are part of the negotiated exchange between the Group and the 
customer. 
The Group determined that both the goods and installation are capable of being distinct. The 
fact that the Group regularly sells both goods and installation on a stand-alone basis indicates 
that the customer can benefit from both products on their own. The Group also determined 
that the promises to transfer the goods and to provide installation are distinct within the 
context of the contract. The equipment and installation are not inputs to a combined item in 
the contract. The goods and installation are not highly interdependent or highly interrelated, 
because the Group would be able to transfer the goods even if the customer declined 
installation and would be able to provide installation in relation to products sold by other 
distributors. Consequently, the Group allocated a portion of the transaction price to the 
equipment and the installation services based on relative stand-alone selling prices. 
 
Determining the timing of satisfaction of installation services 
The Group concluded that revenue for installation services is to be recognised over time 
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
Group. The fact that another entity would not need to re-perform the installation that the 
Group has provided to date demonstrates that the customer simultaneously receives and 
consumes the benefits of the Group’s performance as it performs. 
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The Group determined that the input method is the best method in measuring progress of the 
installation services because there is a direct relationship between the Group’s effort (i.e., 
labour hours incurred) and the transfer of service to the customer. The Group recognises 
revenue on the basis of the labour hours expended relative to the total expected labour hours 
to complete the service. 
 
Principal versus agent considerations 
The Group enters into contracts with its customers to acquire, on their behalf, special PVC 
equipment produced by foreign suppliers. Under these contracts, the Group provides 
procurement services (i.e., coordinating the selection of suitable suppliers and managing the 
ordering and delivery of the imported equipment). The Group determined that it does not 
control the goods before they are transferred to customers, and it does not have the ability to 
direct the use of the equipment or obtain benefits from the equipment. The following factors 
indicate that the Group does not control the goods before they are being transferred to 
customers. Therefore, the Group determined that it is an agent in these contracts. 
 
• The Group is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified 
equipment. 
 
• The Group does not have inventory risk before or after the specified equipment has been 
transferred to the customer as it purchases equipment only upon approval of the customer and 
the foreign supplier ships equipment directly to the customers. 
 
• The Group has no discretion in establishing the price for the specified equipment. The Group’s 
consideration in these contracts is only based on the difference between the maximum purchase 
price quoted by the customer and the final price negotiated by the Group with the foreign 
supplier. 
 
In addition, the Group concluded that it transfers control over its services (i.e., arranging for 
the provision of the equipment from a foreign supplier), at a point in time, upon receipt by the 
customer of the equipment, because this is when the customer benefits from the Group’s 
agency service. 
 
Estimating variable consideration for returns and volume rebates 
The Group estimates variable considerations to be included in the transaction price for the sale 
of PVC equipment with rights of return and volume rebates. 
 
The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting sales returns. The model used the 
historical return data of each product to come up with expected return percentages. These 
percentages are applied to determine the expected value of the variable consideration. Any 
significant changes in experience as compared to historical return pattern will impact the 
expected return percentages estimated by the Group. 
 
The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per customer basis for contracts that 
are subject to a single volume threshold. Determining whether a customer will be likely entitled 
to rebate will depend on the customer’s historical rebates entitlement and accumulated 
purchases to date. 
 
The Group applied a statistical model for estimating expected volume rebates for contracts 
with more than one volume threshold. The model uses the historical purchasing patterns and 
rebates entitlement of customers to determine the expected rebate percentages and the 
expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes in experience as 
compared to historical purchasing patterns and rebate entitlements of customers will impact 
the expected rebate percentages estimated by the Group. 
 
The Group updates its assessment of expected returns and volume rebates quarterly and the 
refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected returns and volume rebates 
are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past experience regarding returns 
and rebate entitlements may not be representative of customers’ actual returns and rebate 
entitlements in the future. As at December 31, 20X9, the amount recognised as refund liabilities 
for the expected returns and volume rebates was Rs. xxx (20X8 Rs. xxx). 
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Determining method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint 
Certain contracts for the sale of PVC equipment include a right of return and volume rebates 
that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the Group is 
required to use either the expected value method or the most likely amount method based on 
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled. 
 
The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate method to use in 
estimating the variable consideration for the sale of PVC equipment with rights of return, given 
the large number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics. In estimating the 
variable consideration for the sale of PVC with volume rebates, the Group determined that 
using a combination of the most likely amount method and expected value method is 
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts the amount of variable consideration 
was primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The most 
likely amount method is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold, while the 
expected value method is used for contracts with more than one volume threshold. 
 
Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the Group 
considers whether the amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined 
that the estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its historical 
experience, business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the uncertainty 
on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short time frame. 
 
Consideration of significant financing component in a contract 
The Group sells customised PVC equipment for which the manufacturing lead time after signing 
the contract is two years. This type of contract includes two alternative payment options for 
the customer, i.e., payment of the transaction price equal to the cash selling price upon 
delivery of the equipment or payment of a lower transaction price when the contract is signed. 
The Group concluded that there is a significant financing component for those contracts where 
the customer elects to pay in advance considering the length of time between the customer’s 
payment and the transfer of equipment to the customer, as well as the prevailing interest rates 
in the market. 
 
In determining the interest to be applied to the amount of consideration, the Group concluded 
that the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e., the interest rate that discounts the cash 
selling price of the equipment to the amount paid in advance) is appropriate because this is 
commensurate with the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 
between the entity and its customer at contract inception. 
 
Determining whether the loyalty points provide material rights to customers 
The Group’s PVC and dairy products segments operate a loyalty points programme, GoodPoints, 
which allows customers to accumulate points when they purchase products in the Group’s retail 
stores. The points can be redeemed for free products, subject to a minimum number of points 
obtained. The Group assessed whether the loyalty points provide a material right to the 
customer that needs to be accounted for as a separate performance obligation. 
 
The Group determined that the loyalty points provide a material right that the customer would 
not receive without entering into the contract. The free products the customer would receive 
by exercising the loyalty points do not reflect the stand-alone selling price that a customer 
without an existing relationship with the Group would pay for those products. The customers 
right also accumulate as they purchase additional products. 
 
Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. 
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that 
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating, and 
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance). 
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The 
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) 
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of 
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every 
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
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looking estimates are analysed. 
 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss 
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s 
actual default in the future. 
 
Estimating stand-alone selling price – GoodPoints loyalty programme 
The Group estimates the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points awarded under the 
GoodPoints programme. The stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points issued is calculated 
by multiplying the estimated redemption rate and the monetary value assigned to the loyalty 
points. In estimating the redemption rate, the Group considers breakage which represents the 
portion of the points issued that will never be redeemed. The Group applies statistical 
projection methods in its estimation using customers’ historical redemption patterns as the 
main input. The redemption rate is updated quarterly and the liability for the unredeemed 
points is adjusted accordingly. In estimating the value of the points issued, the Group considers 
the mix of products that will be available in the future in exchange for loyalty points and 
customers’ preferences. The Group ensures that the value assigned to the loyalty points is 
commensurate to the stand-alone selling price of the products eligible for redemption (i.e., 
the value of each point is equivalent to the stand-alone selling price of any products eligible 
for redemption divided by number of points required). 
 
As points issued under the programme do not expire, estimates of the stand-alone selling price 
are subject to significant uncertainty. Any significant changes in customers’ redemption 
patterns will impact the estimated redemption rate. As at December 31, 20X9, the estimated 
liability for unredeemed points was Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). If the estimated redemption rate 
used had been higher by 1% than management’s estimate, the carrying amount of the estimated 
liability for unredeemed points as at December 31, 20X9 would have been higher by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 15.126 

   
3.15 Borrowing costs  
   

 

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred except 
where such costs are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset in which such costs are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Borrowing 
costs includes exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent 
these are regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs and net gain / loss on the settlement 
of derivatives hedging instruments. 

IAS 23.8 

  - 
3.16  Leases  

 

 
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. 
 
Group as a lessee 
 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make 
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
 
i) Right-of-use assets 
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows: 
 
• Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years 
• Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 to 5 years 
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If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful 
life of the asset.  
 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. 
 
ii) Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments 
include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price 
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties 
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 
terminate. 
 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses 
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers the payment occurs. 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group’s lease liabilities 
are included in Interest-bearing loans. 
 
iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to 
be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
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 Group as a lessor 

 
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted 
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of 
profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
 
Judgments and estimates 
 
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee. 
 
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any 
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
 
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The 
Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to 
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors 
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After 
the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or 
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to 
exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold 
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improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset). 
 
The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of plant and 
machinery with shorter non-cancellable period (i.e., three to five years). The Group typically 
exercises its option to renew for these leases because there will be a significant negative effect 
on production if a replacement asset is not readily available. The renewal periods for leases of 
plant and machinery with longer non-cancellable periods (i.e., 5 to 10 years) are not included 
as part of the lease term as these are not reasonably certain to be exercised. In addition, the 
renewal options for leases of motor vehicles are not included as part of the lease term because 
the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not more than five years and, hence, is not 
exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are 
included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain not to be exercised. 
 
Refer to Note 23.8.5 for information on potential future rental payments relating to periods 
following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the 
lease term. 
 
Property lease classification – Group as lessor 
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. 
The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the 
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the 
commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to 
substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts 
as operating leases. 

 
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate  
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses 
its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest 
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which 
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not 
enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional 
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) 
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the 
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating). 
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3.16.a Ijarah contracts  

 

 
The Group has entered in to Ijarah contracts under which it obtains usufruct of an asset for an 
agreed period for an agreed consideration. The Ijarah contracts are undertaken in compliance 
with the Shariah essentials for such contracts prescribed by the State Bank of Pakistan.   

 
IFAS 2.5 

 

 
Group accounts for its Ijarah contracts in accordance with the requirements of IFAS 2 ‘Ijarah’. 
Accordingly, Group as a Mustaj’ir (lessee) in the Ijarah contract recognises the Ujrah (lease) 
payments as an expense in the profit and loss on straight line basis over the Ijarah term. 

 
IFAS 2.7 

   
3.17 Government grants  
   
 Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 

assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached 
conditions. 
 
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.  
 
Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in 
noncurrent liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.  
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20.39(a) 
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3.18 Trade and other payables  
   
 These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the 

end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 
30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless 
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially 
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.   

IFRS 7.21, IAS 
39.43, IAS 1.69 

   
3.19 Income tax  
   
 The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s 

taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses. 
 
Current tax 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

IAS 12.5, IAS 
12.58 

 
 
 
 

IAS 12.12, IAS 
12.46 

 

   
 Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if 
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit 
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses 
and credits only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and unused tax losses and credits. 
 
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is 
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
Significant judgment is required in determining the income tax expenses and corresponding 
provision for tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain as these matters are being contested at various legal forums. The 
Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred 
tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.  
 
Further, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and is 
adjusted to reflect the current assessment of future taxable profits. If required, carrying 
amount of deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits to allow the benefit of part or all of that recognised deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available. 
 
Off-setting 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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3.20 Employee benefits - retirement benefits  
   
 Defined contribution plan  

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contribution into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as 
an employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction 
in future payments is available. 
 
The Company operates a defined contribution plan in the form of recognized provident fund 
scheme for the permanent employees. Contributions to fund are made monthly by the Company 
and employee at the of x% of the basic salary. The Company's contributions are recognised as 
employee benefit expense when they are due. If contribution payments exceed the contribution 
due for service, the excess is recognised as an asset.  
 
Defined benefit plan 
Defined benefit plans provide an amount of pension or gratuity that an employee will receive 
on or after retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. A defined benefit plan is a plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The 
liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the end of the reporting period less the 
fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligations are calculated annually by 
independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a 
potential asset for the Company, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of 
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in 
future contributions to the plans. 
 
The present values of the defined benefit obligations are determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds or the 
market rates on government bond. These are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
obligation. 
 
Remeasurement gains / losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.    
 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the 
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee 
benefit expense in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Judgment and estimates 
In determining the liability for long-service payments management must make an estimate of 
salary increases over the following five years, the discount rate for the next five years to use 
in the present value calculation, and the number of employees expected to leave before they 
receive the benefits.  

 
IAS 19.51 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 19.57, IAS 
19.64, IAS 19.67, 

IIFRIC 14.23 
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IAS 19.57(d) 
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3.21 Employee benefits – share based payments  

 

 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of 
share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 
instruments (equity-settled transactions). Employees working in the business development 
group are granted share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash (cash-settled 
transactions). 
 
Equity-settled transactions 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant 
is made using an appropriate valuation model, further details of which are given in Note 42. 
  
That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense (Note 34), together with a corresponding 
increase in equity (other capital reserves), over the period in which the service and, where 
applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of 
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the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the 
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 
 
Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining 
the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed 
as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other 
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are 
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value 
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service 
and/or performance conditions. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market 
performance and/or service conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or 
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vested irrespective of whether the 
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service 
conditions are satisfied. 
 
When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is 
the grant date fair value of the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the 
award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date of modification, is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, 
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the 
counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately 
through profit or loss. 
 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share (further details are given in Note 41). 

 
 
 
 

IFRS 2.21 
 
 
 

IFRS 2.21 A, 
IFRS 2.27 

 
 
 

IFRS 2.28, 
IFRS2. B42-B44 

IAS 33.45 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
3.22 Provisions  
   

 

Recognition and measurement 
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when 
the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required 
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The 
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in 
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

 
IAS 37.14, IAS 

37.24, IAS 37.63 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 37.36, IAS 
37.45, IAS 37.47, 

IAS 37.60 

   
 Judgement and estimates 

As the actual outflows can differ from estimates made for provisions due to changes in laws, 
regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many 
years in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to take account of such changes. Any adjustments to the amount of previously 
recognised provision is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the provision was 
originally recognised as part of cost of an asset. 

 
IAS 1.125 

 

   
 Provision for warranty obligations   
 The Group provides warranties for general repairs of defects that existed at the time of sale, 

as required by law. Provisions related to these assurance-type warranties are recognised when 
the product is sold or the service is provided to the customer. Initial recognition is based on 
historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is revised annually. 
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3.23 Contingent liabilities  
   
 A contingent liability is disclosed when the Group has a possible obligation as a result of past 

events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence, of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or the Group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation that arises from past events, but it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.  

IAS 37.26, IAS 
37.27, IAS 37.28 

   
3.24 Foreign currency transactions and translations  

 

 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in rupees, which is also the parent 
company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency 
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a 
foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that 
arises from using this method. 

 

 
IAS 1.51 (d) 

 
IAS 21.9 

 
 
 
 

 i) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit 
or loss. They are deferred in OCI if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying 
net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of 
profit or loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other expenses. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on 
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For 
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or 
loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities measured at fair value 
through OCI are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
IAS 21.21, IAS 

21.28, IAS 21.32 
IAS 39.95(a), IAS 

39.102(a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 21.23(c) 

  
In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense 
or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 
relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which the Group 
initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines 
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. 

 
ii) Group companies 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into rupees at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the 
reporting date. 
 

 
IFRIC 22.8, IFRIC 

22.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IAS 21.39  
IAS21.48 

3.25 Dividend distribution  
   
 Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period in 

which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders. 
IAS 10.12, IAS 

10.13 
  

 
 

 



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

From the Desk of Technical Services | 73 

 Reference 
3.25(a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
   
 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand 

and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash and short-term bank deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as 
they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash management. 

IAS 7.6 
IAS 7.7 

 
 

IAS 7.46 

   
3.26 Change in accounting policies  
   
3.26.1 Revaluation Surplus 

 
Previously, the Group’s accounting policy for surplus on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment was in accordance with the provisions of section 235 of the repealed Companies 
Ordinance 1984. Further, the revaluation of property, plant and equipment was shown as a 
separate item below equity, in accordance with the presentation requirement of the repealed 
Companies Ordinance 1984. 
 
However, in the Companies Act 2017 the above mentioned specific accounting and presentation 
requirements of surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment have not been carried 
forward. This change has impacted the accounting policy of the Group related to surplus on 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, and now the Group is following the accounting 
treatment and presentation of surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
prescribed in IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”. The accounting policy is explained under 
note 3.4 above. Further, the surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment is now 
shown in the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity as a capital 
reserve i.e. part of equity. 
 
In these financial statements the above explained change in accounting policy has been accounted for 
retrospectively, with the restatement of the comparative information for 20X8.  
 
The effect of the change is recognition of Rs.xxx for surplus on revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment as a separate component of equity and derecognition of surplus on revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment of Rs. xxx, previously presented below equity in the 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9. Further, there is a reduction in the 
profit of Rs. xxx and increase in the other comprehensive income of Rs. xxx, with a net increase 
to total comprehensive income of Rs. xxx for the year ended December 31, 20X9.  

 
 

IAS 8.29 
 

 

 

 

   
 Statement of profit or loss  
 

        

     For the year ended 20X9  

 

    

20X9 Profit 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 
     Rupees Rupees Rupees  

   Depreciation  xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit before income tax    xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Income tax expense    xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Profit for the year    xxx (xxx) xxx  

   

 Statement of comprehensive income  
         

     For the year ended 20X9  

 

    

20X9 Profit 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 
     Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Other comprehensive income (net of tax)   xxx xxx  

 Total comprehensive income (net of tax)  xxx (xxx) xxx  
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 Statement of financial position  
  As at January 1, 20X9 As at December 31, 20X9  
  December 

31, 20X8 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 
1 January 

20X9 
(Restated) 

December 
31, 20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X9 

(Restated)  
  Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Surplus on revaluation of 

property plant and equipment 
(outside equity) xxx (xxx) - xxx (xxx) -  

 Surplus on revaluation of 
property plant and 
equipment(with in equity) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx  

 Unappropriated profit xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Net impact on equity xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

         
   

3.26.2 Adoption of new standards 
 
The Group applied IFRS 15, IFRS 9 and IFRS 16 for the first time. The nature and effect of the 
changes as a result of adoption of these new accounting standards are described below.  
 
Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 20X9, but do not have 
an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has not early 
adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet 
effective. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations and it 
applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with its customers. IFRS 15 
establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and 
requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. 
 
IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant 
facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their 
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires 
extensive disclosures. 
 
The Group adopted IFRS 15 using the full retrospective method of adoption. The effect of the transition 
on the current period has not been disclosed as the standard provides an optional practical expedient. 
The Group did not apply any of the other available optional practical expedients. 

 
The effect of adopting IFRS 15 is, as follows: 

IAS 8.29 
 
 
 

 

 

 

   
 Statement of profit or loss  
    Adjustments For the year ended 20X9  
 

    

20X9 Profit 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 
     Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 
Revenue from contracts with customers 

(a), (b), (c), 
(d), (f), (g) xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Cost of sales  (a), (b), (g) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Gross profit   xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Operating profit  (f) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Finance cost  xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit before tax  xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Income tax expense   (h) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit for the year    xxx (xxx) xxx  
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 Basic and diluted earnings per share  
 

Earnings per share – profit attributable to owner of 
PIC Limited  

20X9 
Profit 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated)  

     Rs./Share  
 Basic earnings per share    xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Diluted earnings per share    xxx (xxx) xxx  
         
 Earnings per share – profit from continuing operation 

attributable to owner of PIC Limited      
 Basic earnings per share    xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Diluted earnings per share    xxx (xxx) xxx  

         
 Statement of financial position  
  As at January 1, 20X9 As at December 31, 20X9  

 

 Adjustment 
December 
31, 20X8 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

1 January 
20X9 

(Restated) 

December 
31, 20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X9 

(Restated) 

 
  

  
  

  Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Assets         
 Current Assets         
 Inventories (a) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Right of return 
assets (a) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx 

 

 Trade and other 
receivables (d) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Contract assets (d) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx  

 Total assets  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

         
 Equity        
 Unappropriated 
profit 

(a),(b),(c)
,(d),(f),(h xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Non-controlling 
interest (h) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Total equity  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

         
 Liabilities         

 Non-current 
Liabilities        

 

 Contract 
liabilities (c),(e),(f) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx 

 

 Deferred revenue (c),(e),(f) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Deferred tax 
liabilities (h) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Total Non-current 
liabilities  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

         
 Current Liabilities         

 Trade and other 
payables (a) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 
Contract liabilities 

(b),(c),(d),
(e),(f) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx 

 

 Refund liabilities (a) - xxx xxx - xxx xxx  
 
Deferred revenue 

(c),(d),(e),
(f) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Provisions (b) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Total current 
liabilities  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 

 Total liabilities  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

         

 The change did not have a material impact on OCI for the period. The impact on the statement 
of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20X9 only relates to the changes in profit before 
tax from continuing operations, certain adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash 
flows from operating activities, and working capital adjustments. However, there was no impact 
on the net cash flows from operating activities. The cash flows from investing and financing 
activities were not affected. 
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The nature of adjustments on the adoption of IFRS 15 are described below: 
 
(a) Sale of goods with variable consideration 
 
Some contracts for the sale of equipment provide customers with a right of return and volume 
rebates. Before adopting IFRS 15, the Group recognised revenue from the sale of goods 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
volume rebates. If revenue could not be reliably measured, the Group deferred recognition of 
revenue until the uncertainty was resolved. Under IFRS 15, rights of return and volume rebates 
give rise to variable consideration. 
 
Right of return 
When a contract provides a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period, 
the Group previously estimated expected returns using a probability-weighted average amount 
approach similar to the expected value method under IFRS 15. Before the adoption of IFRS 15, 
the amount of revenue related to the expected returns was deferred and recognised in the 
statement of financial position within Trade and other payables with a corresponding 
adjustment to Cost of sales. The initial carrying amount of goods expected to be returned was 
included in Inventories. 
 
Under IFRS 15, the consideration received from the customer is variable because the contract 
allows the customer to return the products. The Group used the expected value method to 
estimate the goods that will not be returned. For goods expected to be returned, the Group 
presented a refund liability and an asset for the right to recover products from a customer 
separately in the statement of financial position. Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group 
reclassified Trade and other payables of Rs. xxx to Refund liabilities and Inventories of Rs. xxx 
to Right of return assets as at January 1, 20X9. In addition, the remeasurement resulted in 
additional Refund liabilities of Rs. xxx and Right of return assets of Rs. xxx in the statement of 
financial position as at January 1, 20X9. As a result of these adjustments, Unappropriated profit 
as at January 1, 20X9 decreased by Rs. xxx. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in 
recognition of Right of return assets and Refund liabilities of Rs. xxx and Rs.xxx, respectively 
and decreases in Trade and other payables, Inventories and Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx, 
Rs. xxx, and Rs. xxx, respectively. The statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 
31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in decreases in Revenue from contracts with customers 
and Cost of sales of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. 
 
Volume rebates 
Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group estimated the expected volume rebates using the 
probability-weighted average amount of rebates approach and included an allowance for 
rebates in Trade and other payables. 
 
Under IFRS 15, retrospective volume rebates give rise to variable consideration. To estimate 
the variable consideration to which it will be entitled, the Group applied the ‘most likely 
amount method’ for contracts with a single volume threshold and the ‘expected value method’ 
for contracts with more than one volume threshold. Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group 
recognised Refund liabilities of Rs. xxx for the expected future rebates as at January 1, 20X9. 
The Group also derecognised the provision included in Trade and other payables of Rs. xxx, and 
reduced the Unappropriated profit for the difference of Rs. xxx as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in 
recognition of Refund liabilities of Rs. xxx and decreases in Trade and other payables and 
Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx, and Rs. xxx, respectively. The statement of profit or loss for 
the year ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in a decrease in Revenue from 
contracts with customers of Rs. xxx. 
 
(b) Service-type warranties 
 
In certain non-standard contracts, the Group provides one-year warranties beyond fixing 
defects that existed at the time of sale which were previously accounted for under IAS 37. 
Under IFRS 15, such warranties are accounted for as service-type warranties and as separate 
performance obligations to which the Group allocates a portion of the transaction price. Upon 
adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised Contract liabilities (current) of Rs. xxx related to 
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  Reference 
unfulfilled extended warranties as at January 1, 20X9. The short-term Provisions of Rs. xxx 
previously recognised under IAS 37 were derecognised and the difference of Rs. xxx was 
recognised as a decrease in Unappropriated profit as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in the 
recognition of Contract liabilities (current) of Rs.xxx and decreases in Provisions (current) and 
Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. The statement of profit or loss for 
the year ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in decreases in Revenue from 
contracts with customers and Cost of sales of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. 
 
c)  Loyalty points programme 
 
Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the loyalty programme offered by the Group resulted in the 
allocation of a portion of the transaction price to the loyalty programme using the fair value of 
points issued and recognition of deferred revenue in relation to points issued but not yet 
redeemed or expired. The Group concluded that under IFRS 15, the loyalty points give rise to a 
separate performance obligation because they provide a material right to the customer and a 
portion of the transaction price was allocated to the loyalty points awarded to customers. The 
Group determined that, considering the relative stand-alone selling prices, the amount 
allocated to the loyalty points was lower compared to the previous accounting policy. 
Therefore, upon the adoption of IFRS 15, the excess of the current and non-current portions of 
Deferred revenue of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively was transferred to Unappropriated profit 
as at January 1, 20X9. In addition, Deferred revenue (current) of Rs. xxx was reclassified to 
Contract liabilities (current) and Deferred revenue (noncurrent) of Rs. xxx was reclassified to 
Contract liabilities (noncurrent) as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in:  
-recognition of current and non-current Contract liabilities of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively;   
 
-decreases in current and non-current Deferred revenue of Rs. xxx, and Rs. xxx, respectively; 
and  
 
-an increase in Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx. The statement of profit or loss for the year 
ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in an increase in Revenue from contracts 
with customers of Rs. xxx. 
 
(d) Bundled sales of equipment and installation services 
 
Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group accounted for the equipment and installation service 
as separate deliverables within bundled sales and allocated consideration to each deliverable 
using the relative fair value approach. 
 
Under IFRS 15, the Group assessed that there were two performance obligations in a contract 
for bundled sales of equipment and installation services and performed a re-allocation of the 
transaction price based on their relative stand-alone selling prices, which decreased the amount 
allocated to installation services. 
 
Therefore, Deferred revenue (current) decreased by Rs. xxx with a corresponding increase in 
Unappropriated profit by the same amount as at January 1, 20X9. In addition, the Group 
reclassified Rs. xxx from Deferred revenue (current) to Contract liabilities (current) as at 
January 1, 20X9. 
 
Before adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised trade receivables, even if the receipt of the 
total consideration was conditional on successful completion of installation services. Under IFRS 
15, any earned consideration that is conditional should be recognised as a contract asset rather 
than a receivable. Therefore, upon the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group reclassified Rs. xxx from 
Trade receivables to Contract assets as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in: the 
recognition of Contract assets of Rs. xxx; a decrease in Trade receivables of Rs. xxx; increase 
in Contract liabilities (current) of Rs. xxx; a decrease in Deferred revenue (current) of Rs. xxx; 
and an increase in Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx. The statement of profit or loss for the year 
ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in an increase in Revenue from contracts 
with customers of Rs. xxx and finance cost of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. 
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  (e) Equipment received from customers 
 

Before adoption of IFRS 15, equipment received from customers was recognised at fair value as 
property, plant and equipment upon receipt, with a corresponding increase in Deferred revenue. 
Under IFRS 15, the fair value of such non-cash consideration is also included in the transaction price. 
The Group concluded that this did not have a significant effect on the accounting as the equipment 
received from customers is still measured at fair value upon receipt, which is generally the date when 
the Group obtains control of the equipment, and it is included in the transaction price. However, 
amounts that were presented previously as Deferred revenue are now presented under IFRS 15 as 
Contract liabilities. This resulted in reclassification of Rs. xxx from Deferred revenue (current) to 
Contract liabilities (current) and Rs. xxx from Deferred revenue (non-current) to Contract liabilities 
(non-current) as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in the 
recognition of current and non-current Contract liabilities of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively 
and decreases in current and non-current Deferred revenue of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. 
 
(f) Long-term advances received from customers 
 
The Group sells customised PVC equipment for which the manufacturing lead time after signing 
the contract is two years. Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group presented these advances 
as Deferred revenue in the statement of financial position and no interest was accrued on the 
long-term advances received. Under IFRS 15, the Group concluded that there was a significant 
financing component for those contracts where the customer elected to pay the transaction 
price when the contract was signed. The amount received for such contracts was considered 
the discounted transaction price that take into consideration the significant financing 
component. Upon the adoption of IFRS 15, adjustments were made such that current and non-
current Contract liabilities increased by Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively, reflecting the 
adjustment on the promised amount of consideration by the interest, with a related decrease 
in Unappropriated profit of the same amount as at January 1, 20X9. In addition, the Group 
reclassified Rs. xxx from Deferred revenue (current) to Contract liabilities (current) and Rs. xxx 
from Deferred revenue (non-current) to Contract liabilities (non-current) as at January 1, 20X9. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in: 
increases in current and non-current Contract liabilities of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively; 
decreases in current and non-current Deferred revenue of Rs. xxx, and Rs. xxx, respectively; 
and a decrease in Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx. The statement of profit or loss for the year 
ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting in increases in Revenue from contracts 
with customers and Finance cost of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively. 
 
(g) Principal versus agent consideration 
 
The Group has certain contracts with customers to acquire, on their behalf, special PVC 
equipment produced by foreign suppliers. Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group concluded 
that based on the existence of credit risk and the nature of the consideration in the contract, 
it has an exposure to the significant risks and rewards associated with the sale of equipment to 
its customers, and accounted for the contracts as if it is a principal. Upon the adoption of IFRS 
15, the Group determined that it does not control the goods before they are transferred to 
customers. Hence, it is an agent in these contracts because it does not have the ability to direct 
the use of the equipment or obtain benefits from the equipment. This change resulted in 
decreases in revenue from the sale of goods and cost of sales and an increase in revenue from 
rendering of services by the difference. 
 
There is no impact in the statement of financial position as at January 1, 20X9 and December 
31, 20X9. The statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 20X8 was restated, 
resulting in decreases in both Revenue from contracts with customers and Cost of sales of Rs. 
xxx. 
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(h) Other adjustments 
 
In addition to the adjustments described above, upon the adoption of IFRS 15, other items of 
the primary financial statements such as deferred taxes, income tax expense, non-controlling 
interests and unappropriated profit, were adjusted as necessary. Revenue from the sale of 
goods and the rendering of services previously presented separately in the statement of profit 
or loss is now presented as a single line item under revenue from contracts with customers. 

   
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement for annual periods ending on or after July 1, 20X9, bringing together all three 
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement; 
impairment; and hedge accounting. 
 
With the exception of hedge accounting, which the Group applied prospectively, the Group has 
applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, with the initial application date of January 1, 20X9 and adjusting 
the comparative information for the period beginning January 1, 20X8. 
 
The effect of adopting IFRS 9 is, as follows: 

IAS 8.28 
 

IFRS 7.42K 
IFRS 9.7.1.1 

IFRS 9.7.2.21 
 
 

IFRS 9.7.2.1 
IFRS 9.7.2.22 

   
 Statement of profit or loss  
 

        
     For the year ended 20X9  

    Adjustment 20X9 
Profit 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 

     Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Administrative expense   xxx (xxx) -  
 Impairment losses on financial asset (b) - xxx xxx  
 Operating profit  (a), (b) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Other income   xxx xxx xxx  
 Share of profit of an  associate and   

joint venture  (d) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit before income tax   xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Income tax expense   (d) xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit for the year    xxx (xxx) xxx  

         
 Statement of comprehensive income  
 

        
     For the year ended 20X9  

    Adjustment 20X9 
Profit 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 

     Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Profit for the year   xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets (a), (b) xxx (xxx) -  
 Net loss on debt instruments at fair value 

through OCI 
(b) 

- xxx xxx  
 Net gain on equity instrument designated at fair 

value through OCI 
 

- xxx xxx  
 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  xxx (xxx) xxx  
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 Statement of financial position  
   
  As at January 1, 20X9 As at December 31, 20X8  

 

 

Adjustment 
December 
31, 20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

1 January 
20X9 

(Restated) 

December 
31, 20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X9 

(Restated) 

 
  

  
  

   Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Assets         
 Investment in 
associate and 
joint venture (d) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Total non-
current assets  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Current Assets         
 Trade and other 
receivables (b) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Other financial 
assets  xxx (xxx) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx 

 

 Total assets  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

         
 Equity         
 Unappropriated 
profit (a),(b),(d) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Other 
components of 
equity (a) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Non-controlling 
interest (d) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Total equity  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

         
 Liabilities         
 Non-current 
Liabilities        

 

 Deferred tax 
liabilities (d) xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx 

 

 Total liabilities  xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

         

 The change did not have material impact on the Group’s operating, investing and financing cash 
flows and the basic and diluted EPS. 
 
The nature of these adjustments are described below: 

 
(a) Classification and measurement 
Under IFRS 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
amortised cost, or fair value through OCI. The classification is based on two criteria: the Group’s 
business model for managing the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows 
represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
The assessment of the Group’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 
January 1, 20X9, and then applied retrospectively to those financial assets that were not 
derecognised before January 1, 20X9. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt 
instruments are solely comprised of principal and interest was made based on the facts and 
circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets. 

 
The classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on 
the Group. The Group continued measuring at fair value all financial assets previously held at 
fair value under IAS 39. The following are the changes in the classification of the Group’s financial 
assets: 

 

 Trade receivables and Other non-current financial assets (i.e., Loan to an associate and Loan 
to a director) previously classified as Loans and receivables are held to collect contractual 
cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. 
These are now classified and measured as Debt instruments at amortised cost. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

IFRS7.42.J 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.7.2.1 
IFRS 9.7.2.15 

 
 
 
 

IFRS 9.7.2.1 
IFRS 9.7.2.15 
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 Quoted debt instruments previously classified as Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets are 
now classified and measured as Debt instruments at fair value through OCI. The Group 
expects not only to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows, but also to sell a 
significant amount on a relatively frequent basis. The Group’s quoted debt instruments are 
regular government and corporate bonds that passed the SPPI test. 

 

 Equity investments in non-listed companies previously classified as AFS financial assets are 
now classified and measured as Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI. The 
Group elected to classify irrevocably its non-listed equity investments under this category as 
it intends to hold these investments for the foreseeable future. There were no impairment 
losses recognised in profit or loss for these investments in prior periods. 

 

 Listed equity investments previously classified as AFS financial assets are now classified and 
measured as Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
As a result of the change in classification of the Group’s listed equity investments, the AFS reserve 
of Rs. xxx related to those investments that were previously presented under accumulated OCI, 
was reclassified to Unappropriated profit as at January 1, 20X9. 

 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in a decrease 
in Other components of equity and an increase in Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx. The statement 
of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 
20X9 were also restated relating to the fair value gain of the listed equity investments, and 
resulted in an increase in Other income of Rs. xxx and a decrease in Net gain on available-for-
sale financial assets of Rs. xxx (net of tax). 

 
The Group has not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss. There 
are no changes in classification and measurement for the Group’s financial liabilities. 

 
In summary, upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group had the following required or elected 
reclassifications : 

 
        

 
As at December 31, 20X9        

     IFRS 9 Measurement Category IFRS 7.42I 

    
Carrying 

amount before 
reclassification 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss 
Amortised cost 

Fair value 
through OCI 

 

 IAS 39 Measurement Category  Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Loans and receivables      
 Trade receivables xxx - xxx -  
 Loans and advances xxx - xxx -  
 Available for sale      
 Listed equity investments xxx xxx - -  
 Non-listed equity investments xxx - - xxx  
 Quoted debt instrument xxx - - xxx  
   xxx xxx xxx  

         
 

As at January 1, 20X9        
     IFRS 9 Measurement Category IFRS 7.42I 
 

   

Carrying 
amount before 
reclassification 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss 

Amortised cost Fair value 
through OCI 

 
 IAS 39 Measurement Category  Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Loans and receivables      
 Trade receivables xxx - xxx -  
 Available for sale      
 Listed equity investments xxx xxx - -  
 Non-listed equity investments xxx - - xxx  
 Quoted debt instrument xxx - - xxx  
   xxx (xxx) xxx  
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  Reference 
 (b) Impairment 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Group’s accounting for impairment losses 
for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all 
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and contract assets. 
 
Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group recognised additional impairment on the Group’s Trade 
receivables and Debt instruments at fair value through OCI of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively, 
which resulted in a decrease in Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx as at January 1, 20X9. 
Impairment losses do not reduce the carrying amount of debt instruments at fair value through 
OCI in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. An amount equal to the 
impairment allowance of Rs. xxx (net of tax) was included in Other components of equity under 
Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X9 was restated, resulting in 
decreases in Trade receivables and Unappropriated profit of Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx, respectively, 
and an increase in Other components of equity of Rs. xxx. The statement of profit or loss for 
the year ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated for the increase in impairment losses 
which were recognised as increase in impairment losses on financial assets of Rs. xxx and 
decrease in Other income of Rs. xxx. In addition, the statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended December 31, 20X9 was also restated, resulting a decrease in Net loss on debt 
instruments at fair value through OCI of Rs. xxx (net of tax). 
 
Set out below is the reconciliation of the ending impairment allowances in accordance with IAS 
39 to the opening loss allowances determined in accordance with IFRS 9: 

 
IFRS 9.5.5.1 

       
       
       

     

Allowance for 
impairment 

under IAS 39 as 
at December 

31, 20X8 

Remeasurement 

ECL under 
IFRS 9 as at 
January 1, 

20X9 

 

    Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Loans and receivables under IAS 39/Financial assets at 

amortised cost under IFRS 9 and contract assets xxx xxx xxx  
      
 AFS financial asset under IAS 39/Debt instruments at 

fair value through OCI under IFRS 9 - xxx xxx  
   xxx xxx xxx  

         

     

Allowance for 
impairment 

under IAS 39 as 
at December 

31, 20X9 

Remeasurement 

ECL under 
IFRS 9 as at  

December31, 
20X9 

 

    Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Loans and receivables under IAS 39/Financial assets at 

amortised cost under IFRS 9 and contract assets xxx xxx xxx  
      
 AFS financial asset under IAS 39/Debt instruments at 

fair value through OCI under IFRS 9 - xxx xxx  
   xxx xxx xxx  

         
 (c) Hedge accounting 

The Group applied hedge accounting prospectively. At the date of initial application, all of the 
Group’s existing hedging relationships were eligible to be treated as continuing hedging 
relationships. Before the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group designated the change in fair value of the 
entire forward contracts in its cash flow hedge relationships. Upon adoption of the hedge 
accounting requirements of IFRS 9, the Group designates only the spot element of forward 
contracts as hedging instrument. The forward element is recognised in OCI and accumulated as 
a separate component of equity under Cost of hedging reserve. This change only applies 
prospectively from the date of initial application of IFRS 9 and has no impact on the presentation 
of comparative figures. 

 

 
IFRS 9.6.5.16 
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  Reference 
Under IAS 39, all gains and losses arising from the Group’s cash flow hedging relationships were 
eligible to be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. However, under IFRS 9, gains and losses 
arising on cash flow hedges of forecast purchases of non-financial assets need to be 
incorporated into the initial carrying amounts of the non-financial assets. This change only 
applies prospectively from the date of initial application of IFRS 9 and has no impact on the 
presentation of comparative figures. 
 
(d) Other adjustments 
In addition to the adjustments described above, upon adoption of IFRS 9, other items of the 
primary financial statements such as deferred taxes, investment in an associate and a joint 
venture (arising from the financial instruments held by these entities), income tax expense, 
non-controlling interests and retained earnings were adjusted as necessary. 

IAS 1.96 
IFRS9.6.5.11(d)(i) 

   

 

IFRS 16 – Leases 
The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a 
result of adoption of this new accounting standard is described below. 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most 
leases on the balance sheet. 
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue 
to classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. 
Therefore, IFRS 16 does not have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor. 
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the full retrospective method of adoption, with the date of 
initial application of 1 January 2019. The Group elected to use the transition practical 
expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 January 20X9. Instead, 
the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. The Group also elected to use the 
recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date, have a lease term 
of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (short-term leases), and lease 
contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (low-value assets). 

 
IAS 8.28 

 
IFRS 16.C21 

IFRS 16.1 
 
 
 

IFRS 16.62 
 
 

IFRS 16.C5(a) 
IFRS 16.C3 

IFRS 16.5 

   
 The effect of adopting IFRS 16 is, as follows:  
   
 Statement of Profit or loss  
    For the year ended 20X9  

 

   
20X9 

Profit 
Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 

    Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Cost of sales   xxx xxx xxx  
 Administrative expenses   xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Operating profit   xxx xxx xxx  
 Finance cost   xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Income tax expense   xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Profit for the period   xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Attributable to:       
      Equity holders of the parent   xxx xxx xxx  
      Non-controlling interest   xxx xxx xxx  
        
 Statement of financial position       

     

  As at January 1, 20X9 As at December 31, 20X9  

 

 December 
31, 20X8 

Increase/ 
(Decreas

e) 

1 January 
20X9 

(Restate
d) 

Decemb
er 
31, 

20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X9 

(Restated) 

 

  (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees)  
 Assets        
 Right-of-use assets xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
 Property, plant and equipment (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  
 Prepayments (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

 Total assets xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
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 Equity        
 Retained earnings (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  
 Non-controlling interests (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

 Total equity (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  
 Liabilities        

 
Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Deffered tax liabilities (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  
 Trade and other payables (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

 Total liabilities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
         
   

 
There is no material impact on other comprehensive income or the basic and diluted earnings 
per share. 

 

   

 

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach 
for all leases for which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets. The Group recognised lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets. In accordance with the full retrospective 
method of adoption, the Group applied IFRS 16 at the date of initial application as if it had 
already been effective at the commencement date of existing lease contracts. 

 

 

As at 1 January 20X8, 31 December 20X8 and 31 December 20X9: 
 
•  ‘Right-of-use assets’ were recognised and presented separately in the statement of 

financial position. 
 Lease assets recognised previously under finance leases, which were included under 

‘Property, plant and equipment’, were derecognised. 
•  Additional lease liabilities were recognised and included under ‘Interest bearing loans and 

borrowings’. 
•  ‘Prepayments’ and ‘Trade and other payables’ related to previous operating leases were 

derecognised. 
•  ‘Deferred tax liabilities’ decreased because of the deferred tax impact of the changes in 

recognised lease related assets and liabilities. 
•  ‘Retained earnings’ and ‘Non-controlling interests’ decreased due to the net impact of 

these adjustments. 
 
For the year ended 31 December 20X9: 
•  Depreciation expense increased because of the depreciation of additional assets recognised 

(i.e., increase in right-of-use assets, net of the decrease in ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’). This resulted in increases in ‘Cost of sales’ and ‘Administrative expenses’ of 
Rs xxx (20X8: Rs xxx) and Rs xxx (20X8: xxx), respectively. 

•  Rent expense included in ‘Cost of sales’ and ‘Administrative expenses’, relating to previous 
operating leases, decreased by xxx (20X8: Rs xxx) and xxx (20X8: Rs xxx), respectively. 

•  ‘Finance costs’ increased by Rs xxx (20X8: Rs xxx) relating to the interest expense on 
additional lease liabilities recognised. 

•  ‘Income tax expense’ decreased by Rs xxx (20X8: Rs xxx) relating to the tax effect of these 
changes in expenses. 

•  Cash outflows from operating activities decreased by Rs xxx (20X8: Rs xxx) and cash 
outflows from financing activities increased by the same amount, relating to decrease in 
operating lease payments and increases in principal and interest payments of lease 
liabilities. 

 

   
3.27 Correction of prior period error  
   

 In January 20X9, the Group conducted a detailed review of the terms and conditions of its sales 
contracts and discovered the error in relation to the revenue recognition. In July 20X5, the 
Group entered into a sales contract with a new customer to sell special PVC pipes. As part of 
the negotiations, in July 20X6 a modification was made to the standard terms and conditions to 
sell the PVC pipes to this customer on consignment basis. However, the Group continued to 
recognise revenue at the point of delivery to the customer instead of deferring the revenue 
recognition until the customer has sold the goods. As a consequence, revenue was overstated. 

 
 

IAS 8.49 
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  Reference 
The correction of the error is accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative information 
for 20X8 has been restated. The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected 
financial statement line items for the prior periods, as follows: 

   

 Statement of profit or loss  

     For the year ended 20X9  

     20X9 
Profit 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

20X9 
(Restated) 

 

     Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Revenue    xxx xxx xxx  
 Profit before income tax   xxx xxx xxx  
 Income tax expense    xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Profit for the year    xxx xxx xxx  

         
 Statement of financial position  

  As at January 1, 20X9 As at December 31, 20X9  

 

 
December 
31, 20X8 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

1 January 
20X9 

(Restated) 

December 
31, 20X9 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

December 31, 
20X9 

(Restated) 

 
  

  
  

  Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Trade receivables xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  
 Income tax payable xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Net impact on equity xxx (xxx) xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  
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4. Group information 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 24.13  Relationships between a parent and its subsidiaries shall be disclosed irrespective 

of whether there have been transactions between them. An entity shall disclose 
the name of its parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party. If neither 
the entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party produces consolidated 
financial statements available for public use, the name of the next most senior 
parent that does so shall also be disclosed. 

  
IFRS 12.7  An entity shall disclose information about significant judgements and assumptions 

it has made (and changes to those judgements and assumptions) in determining: 
  
 (a) that it has control of another entity, i.e. an investee as described in paragraphs 

5 and 6 of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; 
  
 (b) that it has joint control of an arrangement or significant influence over another 

entity; and 
  
 (c) the type of joint arrangement (i.e. joint operation or joint venture) when the 

arrangement has been structured through a separate vehicle. 
  
IFRS 12.10  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its consolidated financial 

statements 
  
 (a) to understand: 
  
 (i) the composition of the group; and 
  
 (ii) the interest that non-controlling interests have in the group’s activities and 

cash flows (paragraph 12); and 
  
 (b) to evaluate: 
  
 (i) the nature and extent of significant restrictions on its ability to access or 

use assets, and settle liabilities, of the group (paragraph 13); 
  
 (ii) the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with its interests in 

consolidated structured entities (paragraphs 14–17); 
  
 (iii) the consequences of changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that 

do not result in a loss of control (paragraph 18); and 
  
 (iv) the consequences of losing control of a subsidiary during the reporting 

period (paragraph 19). 
  
IFRS 12.12  An entity shall disclose for each of its subsidiaries that have non-controlling 

interests that are material to the reporting entity: 
  
 (a) the name of the subsidiary. 
  
 (b) the principal place of business (and country of incorporation if different from 

the principal place of business) of the subsidiary. 
  
 (c) the proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests. 
  
 (d) the proportion of voting rights held by non-controlling interests, if different 

from the proportion of ownership interests held. 
  
 (e) the profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interests of the subsidiary during 

the reporting period. 
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4. Group information Continued… 

 (f) accumulated non-controlling interests of the subsidiary at the end of the 
reporting period. 

  
 (g) summarised financial information about the subsidiary (see paragraph B10). 
  
IFRS 12.13  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) significant restrictions (e.g. statutory, contractual and regulatory restrictions) 

on its ability to access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the group, 
such as: 

  
 (i) those that restrict the ability of a parent or its subsidiaries to transfer cash 

or other assets to (or from) other entities within the group. 
  
 (ii) guarantees or other requirements that may restrict dividends and other 

capital distributions being paid, or loans and advances being made or 
repaid, to (or from) other entities within the group. 

  
 (b) the nature and extent to which protective rights of non-controlling interests 

can significantly restrict the entity’s ability to access or use the assets and 
settle the liabilities of the group (such as when a parent is obliged to settle 
liabilities of a subsidiary before settling its own liabilities, or approval of non-
controlling interests is required either to access the assets or to settle the 
liabilities of a subsidiary). 

  
 (c) the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the assets and 

liabilities to which those restrictions apply. 
  
IFRS 12.14  An entity shall disclose the terms of any contractual arrangements that could 

require the parent or its subsidiaries to provide financial support to a consolidated 
structured entity, including events or circumstances that could expose the 
reporting entity to a loss (e.g. liquidity arrangements or credit rating triggers 
associated with obligations to purchase assets of the structured entity or provide 
financial support). 

  
IFRS 3.59  The acquirer shall disclose information that enables users of its financial 

statements to evaluate the nature and financial effect of a business combination 
that occurs either: 

  

 (a) during the current reporting period; or 

  

 (b) after the end of the reporting period but before the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

  

IFRS 3.61         The acquirer shall disclose information that enables users of its financial 

statements to evaluate the financial effects of adjustments recognised in the 

current reporting period that relate to business combinations that occurred in the 

period or previous reporting periods. 

  
IFRS 3.B64       To meet the objective in paragraph 59, the acquirer shall disclose the following 

information for each business combination that occurs during the reporting period: 

  

 (a) the name and a description of the acquiree. 

  

 (b) the acquisition date. 

  

 (c) the percentage of voting equity interests acquired. 

  

 (d) the primary reasons for the business combination and a description of how the 
acquirer obtained control of the acquiree. 
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4. Group information Continued… 

 (e)  a qualitative description of the factors that make up the goodwill recognised, 
such as expected synergies from combining operations of the acquiree and the 
acquirer, intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition or other 
factors. 

  

 (f)  the acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred and the 
acquisition-date fair value of each major class of consideration, such as: 

  
 (i) cash; 
 (ii)  other tangible or intangible assets, including a business or subsidiary of the 

acquirer; 
 (iii) liabilities incurred, for example, a liability for contingent consideration; 

and 
 (iv)  equity interests of the acquirer, including the number of instruments or 

interests issued or issuable and the method of measuring the fair value of 
those instruments or interests. 

  
 (g) for contingent consideration arrangements and indemnification assets: 
  
 (i)  the amount recognised as of the acquisition date; 
 (ii)  a description of the arrangement and the basis for determining the amount 

of the payment; and 
 (iii) an estimate of the range of outcomes (undiscounted) or, if a range cannot 

be estimated, that fact and the reasons why a range cannot be estimated. 
If the maximum amount of the payment is unlimited, the acquirer shall 
disclose that fact. 

  
 (h) for acquired receivables: 
  
 (i)  the fair value of the receivables; 
 (ii) the gross contractual amounts receivable; and 
 (iii) the best estimate at the acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not 

expected to be collected. 
  
 The disclosures shall be provided by major class of receivable, such as loans, direct 

finance leases and any other class of receivables. 
  
 (i) the amounts recognised as of the acquisition date for each major class of assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. 
  
 (j) for each contingent liability recognised in accordance with paragraph 23, the 

information required in paragraph 85 of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. If a contingent liability is not recognised 
because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the acquirer shall disclose: 

  
 (i) the information required by paragraph 86 of IAS 37; and 
 (ii) the reasons why the liability cannot be measured reliably. 
  
 (k) the total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
  
 (l) for transactions that are recognised separately from the acquisition of assets 

and assumption of liabilities in the business combination in accordance with 
paragraph 51: 

  
 (i) a description of each transaction; 
 (ii) how the acquirer accounted for each transaction; 
 (iii) the amounts recognised for each transaction and the line item in the 

financial statements in which each amount is recognised; and 
 (iv) if the transaction is the effective settlement of a pre-existing 

relationship, the method used to determine the settlement amount. 
  
 (m) the disclosure of separately recognised transactions required by (l) shall 

include the amount of acquisition-related costs and, separately, the amount 
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4. Group information Continued… 

of those costs recognised as an expense and the line item or items in the 
statement of comprehensive income in which those expenses are recognised. 
The amount of any issue costs not recognised as an expense and how they 
were recognised shall also be disclosed. 

  
 (n) in a bargain purchase (see paragraphs 34–36): 
  
 (i) the amount of any gain recognised in accordance with paragraph 34 and the 

line item in the statement of comprehensive income in which the gain is 
recognised; and 

 (ii) a description of the reasons why the transaction resulted in a gain. 
  
 (o) for each business combination in which the acquirer holds less than 100 per 

cent of the equity interests in the acquiree at the acquisition date: 
  
 (i) the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree recognised at 

the acquisition date and the measurement basis for that amount; and 
 (ii) for each non-controlling interest in an acquiree measured at fair value, the 

valuation technique(s) and significant inputs used to measure that value. 
  
 (p) in a business combination achieved in stages: 
  
 (i) the acquisition-date fair value of the equity interest in the acquiree held 

by the acquirer immediately before the acquisition date; and 
 (ii) the amount of any gain or loss recognised as a result of remeasuring to fair 

value the equity interest in the acquiree held by the acquirer before the 
business combination (see paragraph 42) and the line item in the statement 
of comprehensive income in which that gain or loss is recognised. 

  
 (q) the following information: 
  

 (i) the amounts of revenue and profit or loss of the acquiree since the 
acquisition date included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the reporting period; and 

 (ii) the revenue and profit or loss of the combined entity for the current 
reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business 
combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning 
of the annual reporting period. 

  
 If disclosure of any of the information required by this subparagraph is 

impracticable, the acquirer shall disclose that fact and explain why the disclosure 
is impracticable. This IFRS uses the term ‘impracticable’ with the same meaning 
as in IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
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  Reference 

4. Group information   
   

4.1 Group composition and details of subsidiaries IFRS 12.10(a) 
   

 
The information about composition of the group and subsidiaries as at December 31, 20X9 is as 
follows: 

 

   

 

Name of subsidiary %age of ownership 
and voting rights of 

the Company 

%age of 
ownership and 
voting rights of 
non-controlling 

interest 

Profit/(loss) 
allocated to non-

controlling 
interest  

(Rs.) 

Accumulated non-
controlling interest  

(Rs.) 

IFRS 12.12(a),  
IFRS 12.12(c) 

to (f)   
 

  20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8  

 
The PVC King Limited 
(note 4.1.1) 65 - 65 - 

 
xxx 

 
- 

 
xxx 

 
- 

 

 
The Dairy Queen Limited 
(note 4.1.2) 46 46 46 46 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 

      xxx xxx xxx xxx  

           

 

Associate 
The Group has a 25% interest in Foreign Land Company Limited (20X8: 25%). For more details, refer 
to Note 10. 

 

   

 

Joint arrangement in which the Group is a joint venturer 
The Group has a 50% interest in JCE (Private) Limited (20X8: 50%). For more details, refer to Note 11. 

 

   

4.1.1 The PVC King Limited  
   

 

The PVC King Limited is a public unlisted company incorporated in United States of America (USA) 
engaged in the manufacture and sale of PVC. Its registered office, manufacturing plant and 
distribution warehouse is situated in Washington, USA.   
 
The PVC King Limited has obtained a long term financing facility from a financial institution and 
under the terms of the facility, it cannot declare any dividends until the outstanding principal of 
the loan has been fully repaid. Therefore, it cannot remit/transfer any funds to the Group in the 
form of dividends till the said facility is paid off. 

IFRS 12.12(b) 
 
 
 

IFRS 
12.10(b)(i) 

 

           
4.1.2 The Dairy Queen Limited  
           

 

The Dairy Queen Limited is a public unlisted company incorporated in Pakistan engaged in the 
manufacturing, processing and sale of dairy products. It also owns and operates a dairy farm. Its 
registered office is situated in Karachi and the manufacturing plant, dairy farm and distribution 
warehouse is situated at 986 GM Road, Rohri. 
 
The Group owns 46 percent equity shares of the Dairy Queen Limited. However, based on a contract 
signed between the Group and other shareholders, the Group has power to appoint and remove the 
majority of the board of directors of the Dairy Queen Limited. Therefore, the directors of the Group 
have concluded that the Group has control over the Dairy Queen Limited. 

IFRS 12.12(b) 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 12.9(b) 
IFRS 12.7 (a) 

   
4.1.3 Summarised financial information about subsidiaries IFRS 12.12(g) 

          

  
  The Dairy 

Queen Limited 
The PVC King 

Limited 
 

     20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8  

     Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.  

 Summarised Balance Sheet        

 Current assets    xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Current liabilities    xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Net current assets    xxx xxx xxx xxx  
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  Reference 

          

  
 The Dairy 

Queen Limited 
The PVC King 

Limited 
 

    20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8  

    Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.  

         

 Non-current assets   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Non-current liabilities   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Net non-current assets   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Net assets    xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Non-controlling interest   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

          

 Summarised Statement of Comprehensive Income      

  
  The Dairy 

Queen Limited 
The PVC King 

Limited 
 

     20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8  

     Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.  

 Revenue    xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Profit for the period    xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Other comprehensive income   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Total comprehensive income   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Profit allocated to NCI   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Dividend paid to NCI   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

       

 Summarised Cash Flows      

       

 Cash flows from operating activities   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Cash flows from investing activities   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Cash flows from financing activities   xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 

  
xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 

       

4.2 Disposal of subsidiary  
IFRS 

12.10(b)(iv) 

       

 

On September 6, 20X9, the Group disposed of the Cement Master Limited which carried out the 
group’s entire cement manufacturing and sale operations. The details about disposal of subsidiary 
are set out below: 

 

     Rs.  

 Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents   xxx IAS 7.40(a)(b) 

       

 Analysis of assets and liabilities as at September 6, 20X9 over which control was lost is as follows: IAS 7.40(d) 

       

 Current assets    Rs.  

 Cash and cash equivalents    xxx  

 Trade receivables    xxx  

 inventories    xxx  

       

 Non-current assets      

 Property, plant and equipment    xxx  

 Goodwill    xxx  

       

 Current liabilities      

 Payables    xxx  
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      Reference 

     Rs.  

 Non-current liabilities      

 Borrowings    xxx  

 Deferred tax liabilities    xxx  

 Net assets disposed off    xxx  

       

 The gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiary is determined as follows:  IFRS 12.19 

     Rs.  

 Consideration received    xxx  

 Net assets disposed of    (xxx)  

 Non-controlling interest    xxx  

 Cumulative gain on FVOCI financial assets reclassified from equity  xxx  

 Gain on disposal xxx IFRS 12.19 

    

 The gain on disposal of subsidiary is included in the profit for the year from discontinued operations. IFRS 12.19(b) 

  Rs.  

 Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary is detailed below:   

 Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents xxx  

 Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed off xxx  

 Net cash inflow xxx  

    

4.3 Acquisition of subsidiary    

    

 
On 23 March 20X9, the Group acquired 65% of the shares and voting interests in PVC King Limited and 
as a result the Group obtained control of PVC King Limited. 

IFRS 3.B64(a)-
(c) 

   

 

Taking control of PVC King Limited will enable the Group to vertically integrate its production process 
through access to supply of PVC from PVC King Limited. The Group also expects to reduce costs 
through economies of scale. 

IFRS 3.B64(d) 

   

 

For the nine months ended 31 December 20X9, PVC King contributed revenue of Rs.xxx and profit of 
Rs.xxx thousand to the Group’s results. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 20X9, 
management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been Rs. xxx, and consolidated profit 
for the year would have been Rs.xxx. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that 
the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would 
have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 20X9. 

IFRS 3.B64(q) 

   

4.3.1 Consideration transferred  

   

 
The Group has transferred a cash consideration of Rs. xxx for purchase of xxx no. of shares of PVC 
King Limited. 

IFRS 3.B64(f) 

   

4.3.2 Acquisition related costs  

   

 
The Group incurred acquisition‑related costs of Rs. xxx on legal fees and due diligence costs. These 
costs have been included in ‘administrative and general expenses’. 

IFRS 3.B64(l), 
B64(m) 

   

4.3.3 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed  

   

 
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of major classes of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

IFRS 3.B64(i), 
IAS 7.40(a)–(d) 

  Rs.  

 Property, plant and equipment    

 Intangible assets xxx  

 Right of use assets xxx  

 Inventories xxx  

 Trade and other receivables xxx  

 Cash and cash equivalents xxx  

 Loans and borrowings (xxx)  
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      Reference 

 Deferred tax liabilities (xxx)  

 Contingent liabilities (xxx)  

 Contract liabilities (xxx)  

 Lease liabilities (xxx)  

 Trade and other payables (xxx)  

  xxx  

4.3.4 Measurement of fair values  

   

 
The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as 
follows. 

IFRS 3.61 

    

 Assets acquired Valuation technique  

 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model 
considers quoted market prices for similar items when they are 
available, and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. 
Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical 
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence. 

 

 

Intangible assets Relief-from-royalty method and multi-period excess earnings method: 
The relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted estimated 
royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the 
patents or trademarks being owned. The multi-period excess earnings 
method considers the present value of net cash flows expected to be 
generated by the customer relationships, by excluding any cash flows 
related to contributory assets. 

 

 

Inventories Market comparison technique: The fair value is determined based on 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin 
based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories. 

 

    

 
The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of Rs.xxx, of which Rs. xxx was 
expected to be uncollectible at the date of acquisition. 

IFRS 
3.B64(h)(ii)–(iii) 

   

4.3.5 Goodwill  

   

 Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows.  

   

  Rs.  

 Consideration transferred xxx  

 
NCI, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised amounts of the assets 
and liabilities of PVC King Limited 

xxx IFRS 
3.B64(o)(i) 

  xxx  

 Fair value of identifiable net assets (xxx)  

 Goodwill xxx  

    

 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of PVC King Limited’s work force 
and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company into the Group’s existing 
Standard PVC business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

IFRS 3.B64(e), 
IFRS 3.B64(k) 
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5. Property, plant and equipment 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 16.73  The financial statements shall disclose, for each class of property, plant and 

equipment: 
  
 (a) the measurement bases used for determining the gross carrying amount; 
  
 (b) the depreciation methods used; 
  
 (c) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used; 
  
 (d) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with 

accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period; and 
  
 (e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period 

showing: 
  
 (i) additions; 
  
 (ii) assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified 

as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and other disposals; 
  
 (iii) acquisitions through business combinations; 
  
 (iv) increases or decreases resulting from revaluations under paragraphs 31, 

39 and 40 and from impairment losses recognised or reversed in other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IAS 36; 

  
 (v) impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 36; 
  
 (vi) impairment losses reversed in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 36; 
  
 (vii) depreciation; 
  
 (viii) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial 

statements from the functional currency into a different presentation 
currency, including the translation of a foreign operation into the 
presentation currency of the reporting entity; and 

  
 (ix) other changes. 
  
IAS 16.74  The financial statements shall also disclose: 
  
 (a) the existence and amounts of restrictions on title, and property, plant and 

equipment pledged as security for liabilities; 
  
 (b) the amount of expenditures recognised in the carrying amount of an item of 

property, plant and equipment in the course of its construction; 
  
 (c) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment; and 
  
 (d) if it is not disclosed separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the 

amount of compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and 
equipment that were impaired, lost or given up that is included in profit or 
loss. 
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5. Property, plant and equipment Continued… 

IAS 16.77  If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, the 
following shall be disclosed in addition to the disclosures required by IFRS 13: 

  
 (a) the effective date of the revaluation; 
  
 (b) whether an independent valuer was involved; 
  
 (c)–(d) [deleted] 
  
 (e) for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount 

that would have been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost 
model; and 

  
 (f) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any 

restrictions on the distribution of the balance to shareholders. 
  
IAS 36.126  An entity shall disclose the following for each class of assets: 
  
 (a) the amount of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period 

and the line item(s) of the statement of comprehensive income in which those 
impairment losses are included. 

  
 (b) the amount of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during 

the period and the line item(s) of the statement of comprehensive income in 
which those impairment losses are reversed. 

  
 (c) the amount of impairment losses on revalued assets recognised in other 

comprehensive income during the period. 
  
 (d) the amount of reversals of impairment losses on revalued assets recognised in 

other comprehensive income during the period.  
  
IAS 17.31(a)  Lessees shall, in addition to meeting the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures, make the following disclosures for finance leases: 
  
 (a) for each class of asset, the net carrying amount at the end of the reporting 

period. 
  
IAS 36.130 An entity shall disclose the following for an individual asset (including goodwill) or 

a cash-generating unit, for which an impairment loss has been recognised or 
reversed during the period: 

  
 (a) the events and circumstances that led to the recognition or reversal of the 

impairment loss. 
  
 (b) the amount of the impairment loss recognised or reversed. 
  
 (c) for an individual asset: 
  
 (i) the nature of the asset; and 
  
 (ii) if the entity reports segment information in accordance with IFRS 8, the 

reportable segment to which the asset belongs. 
  
 (d) for a cash-generating unit: 
  
 (i) a description of the cash-generating unit (such as whether it is a product 

line, a plant, a business operation, a geographical area, or a reportable 
segment as defined in IFRS 8); 

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

From the Desk of Technical Services | 96 

5. Property, plant and equipment Continued… 

 (ii) the amount of the impairment loss recognised or reversed by class of assets 
and, if the entity reports segment information in accordance with IFRS 8, 
by reportable segment; and 

  
 (iii) if the aggregation of assets for identifying the cash-generating unit has 

changed since the previous estimate of the cash-generating unit’s 
recoverable amount (if any), a description of the current and former way 
of aggregating assets and the reasons for changing the way the cash-
generating unit is identified. 

  
 (e) the recoverable amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) and whether the 

recoverable amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is its fair value less 
costs of disposal or its value in use. 

  
 (f) if the recoverable amount is fair value less costs of disposal, the entity shall 

disclose the following information: 
  
 (i)  the level of the fair value hierarchy (see IFRS 13) within which the fair 

value measurement of the asset (cash-generating unit) is categorised in 
its entirety (without taking into account whether the ‘costs of disposal’ 
are observable); 

  
 (ii) for fair value measurements categorised within Level 2 and Level 3 of the 

fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation technique(s) used to 
measure fair value less costs of disposal. If there has been a change in 
valuation technique, the entity shall disclose that change and the 
reason(s) for making it; and 

  
 (iii) for fair value measurements categorised within Level 2 and Level 3 of the 

fair value hierarchy, each key assumption on which management has 
based its determination of fair value less costs of disposal. Key 
assumptions are those to which the asset’s (cash-generating unit’s) 
recoverable amount is most sensitive. The entity shall also disclose the 
discount rate(s) used in the current measurement and previous 
measurement if fair value less costs of disposal is measured using a present 
value technique. 

  
 (g) if recoverable amount is value in use, the discount rate(s) used in the current 

estimate and previous estimate (if any) of value in use. 
  

Disclosure requirements specified by 4th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(1)(ii) 

The following shall be disclosed in the financial statements, namely:  

  1. General information about the company comprising the following:  
  
  (ii) Particulars of company’s immovable fixed assets, including location and area 

of land; 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(12)   

Where any property or asset acquired with the funds of the company and is not 
held in the name of the company or is not in the possession and control of the 
company, this fact along with reasons for the property or asset not being in the 
name of or possession or control of the company shall be stated; and the 
description and value of the property or asset, the person in whose name and 
possession or control it is held shall be disclosed; 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI (13)       

Land and buildings shall be distinguished between free-hold and leasehold; 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(14)   

Forced sale value shall be disclosed separately in case of revaluation of Property, 
Plant and Equipment or investment property. 
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5. Property, plant and equipment Continued… 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(15)   

In the case of sale of fixed assets, if the aggregate book value of assets exceeds 
five million  rupees, following particulars of each asset shall be disclosed ,__ 

  
  
 (i) cost or revalued amount, as the case may be; 
  
 (ii) the book value; 
  
 (iii) the sale price and the mode of disposal (e.g. by tender or negotiation); 
  
 (iv) the particulars of the purchaser; 
  
 (v) gain or loss; and 
  
 (vi) relationship, if any of purchaser with Company or any of its directors. 
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  Reference 

5. Property, plant and equipment  

   

 

Freehold 
Land 

Building on 
freehold 

land 

Plant and 
Machinery 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 

Office 
Equipment 

Furniture and 
fixtures 

Computers 
Motor 

vehicles 

Capital Work 
in progress 
(Note 5.12) 

Total 
CA 2017 4th 

Schd VI (13), 
IAS 1.78(a) 

 ……………………………………………………………………………………………………...…..  Rupees ..…………………...…………………………………………………………………………  

 
           

As at January 1, 20X8 
           

Cost / Revalued amount 
xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(d) 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
- 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
- 

 
(xxx) IAS 16.73(d) 

Carrying amount  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

            
Year ended December 31, 20X8 

           
Opening carrying amount 

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e) 
Additions 

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx - - xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e)(i) 
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) 

xxx xxx - (xxx) - - - - - xxx IAS 16.73(e)(iv) 
Assets classified as held for sale 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(ii), 
 

          IFRS 5.38 
Disposals - carrying amount 

- - - - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(ii) 
Depreciation 

- (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(vii) 
Exchange differences 

-  (xxx)   (xxx)    (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(vii) 

Closing carrying amount 
xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e) 

 
           

Rate of depreciation per annum (%) - x x x x x x x - - IAS 16.73(c) 
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Freehold 

Land 

Building on 
freehold 

land 

Plant and 
Machinery 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 

Office 
Equipment 

Furniture 
and fixtures 

Computers 
Motor 

vehicles 

Capital Work 
in progress 
(Note 5.12) 

Total 
CA 2017 4th Schd 

VI (13), IAS 
1.78(a) 

 ……………………………………………………………………………………………………...…..  Rupees ..…………………...…………………………………………………………………………  

            

As at January 1, 20X9            

Cost / Revalued amount xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(d) 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
- 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
(xxx) 

 
- 

 
(xxx) 

 
IAS 16.73(d) 

Carrying amount  
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
xxx 

 
IAS 16.73(e) 

            

Year ended December 31, 20X9            

Opening carrying amount xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e) 

Additions xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx - - xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e)(i) 

Acquisition of subsidiary xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx - - xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e)(iii) 
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) xxx xxx - (xxx) - - - - - xxx IAS 16.73(e)(iv) 
Disposals - carrying amount - - - - - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(ii) 
Transfer (to)/from investment property xxx xxx - - - - - - - xxx IAS 16.73(e)(ix) 
Depreciation charge for the year - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(vii) 
Asset impairments - - (xxx) - - - - - - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(v) 
Reversal of asset impairments - - xxx - - - -  - xxx IAS 16.73(e)(vi) 

Closing carrying amount xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e) 

            
As at December 31, 20X9            
Cost / Revalued amount xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx IAS 16.73(d) 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx) IAS 16.73(d) 

 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 16.73(e) 

            

            

     Rate of depreciation per annum (%)             - x x x x x x x      -      - IAS 16.73(c) 
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  Reference 
   

5.1 In November 20X9, the Group purchased freehold land measuring 200 acres in City B, with the intention of constructing a new factory on the site. The Group has made the 
payment for acquisition of land and has also obtained the possession of land. However, the Group is in the process of transferring the legal title of the land to its name. At the 
reporting date the legal title in the name of seller, Mr. LMN. Subsequent to the year on January 20X9, the legal title has been transferred to the Group. 

4th Schd VI(12) 

   

5.2 Particulars of immovable fixed assets  
   

 The particulars of the Group’s immovable fixed assets are as follows: 4th Schd VI(1)(ii) 
 

 Description Location Area of Land   

 PIC Limited:     

 Head Office PIC Tower, 5th Avenue, Green City xxx   

 Manufacturing Plant Best Location, Industrial Zone, Beautiful City xxx   

 Distribution Warehouse 1 Mountain Road, Light City xxx   

 Distribution Warehouse 2 River Road, Saint City xxx   

 PVC King Limited:     

 Head Office Mc Donald Road, Washington, United States  xxx   

 Manufacturing Plant 123 KM Road, Washington xxx   

 Distribution Warehouse 123 KM Road, Washington xxx   

 Dairy Queen Limited:     

 Head Office Buffon Road, Karachi xxx   

 Manufacturing Plant 986 GM Road, Rohri xxx   

 Dairy Farm 986 GM Road, Rohri xxx   

 Distribution Warehouse 986 GM Road, Rohri xxx   

   

5.3 Revalued land, building and leasehold improvements  

 
On January 1, 20X5, the Group elected to measure land, buildings and leasehold improvements (classified as property, plant and equipment) using the revaluation model. The 
fair value of the Group’s land, buildings and leasehold improvements are determined on periodic, but at least triennial, by an independent professionally qualified valuer. 

 

   

 The carrying values of the land, buildings and leasehold improvements would have been Rs. xxx, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx under the cost model. IAS 16.77(e) 

 The forced sale value of the revalued of land, building and leasehold improvements has been assessed at Rs. xxx, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx respectively. 
 

4th Schd VI(14) 

   

5.4 Fair value measurements under revaluation model for property, plant and equipment  

 

The fair value measurements of the Group’s land, buildings and leasehold improvements as at December 31, 20X9 and December 31, 20X8 were performed by Messrs. Honest 
Valuers, who are independent valuers not related to the Group. Messrs. Honest Valuers are members of Institute of Valuers of the Foreign Land and they have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant locations. 
 
The fair value of the land was determined based on the market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties. 
The fair value of the buildings and leasehold improvements was determined using the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of 
comparable utility and age, adjusted for obsolescence. The significant inputs include the estimated construction costs and other ancillary expenditure of approximately Rs. 
xxx million (20X8: Rs. xxx million approximately) and a depreciation factor applied to the estimated construction cost of approximately 22% (20X8: 23%). A slight increase in 
the depreciation factor would result in a significant decrease in the fair values of buildings and leasehold improvements, and a slight increase in the estimated construction 
costs would result in a significant increase in the fair value of the buildings and vice versa. 
There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.  

 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 13.91(a),  
IFRS 13.93(d), 
IFRS 3.93(h)(i) 
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  Reference 
5.5 Fair value hierarchy 

Details of the Group’s land, buildings and leasehold improvements and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

IFRS 13.93(a)(b) 

          

 
  Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as at 

31/12/20X9 
Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as at 31/12/20X8  

   ………………………..Rs……………………….. …………………………………………..Rs…………………………………………..  

 Land xxx - xxx xxx - xxx  

 Building - xxx xxx - xxx xxx  

 Leasehold improvement - xxx xxx - xxx xxx  

          

5.6 Impairment loss  

  
In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and its detrimental effect on the construction industry caused by lockdown measures, travel restrictions and border controls, the 
Group’s significant reduction in its operations has led to a deterioration to its profits and cash flows. Management has determined that this event is an indicator that the 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets may be impaired. Further, on October 15, 20X9 an incident of fire occurred in Red plant resulting is damage to the 
plant.  

 
The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of that manufacturing plant and the related equipment. These assets are used in the Groups PVC manufacturing 
and trading reportable segment. The impairment testing led to the recognition of an impairment loss of Rs. xxx, which has been recognized in profit or loss. The Group 
also estimated the fair value less costs of disposal of the manufacturing plant and related equipment, which is based on the recent market prices of assets with similar 
age and obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is less than the value in use and hence the recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on 
the basis of their value in use, which amounted to Rs. xxx as at December 31, 20X9. 

 
The key assumptions in the value in use calculations are the growth rates of sales and gross profit margins, changes in the operating cost base, long-term growth rates 
and the risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate. The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using 
the capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include a country risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size premium and a risk adjustment (beta). The discount 
rate used in measuring value in use was x% per annum. Further, cash flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using the Group’s current view of achievable 
long-term growth of 2%, adjusted to 0% where management believes the current trading performance and future expectations of the store do not support the growth 
rate of 2%. 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
The calculations of value-in-use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 Yield – The forecast yield is set with regards to the CGU’s historical performance, operation plans and expected economic and market conditions. The forecast 
yield does not exceed historical yield achieved. 

 Growth rate – The forecast long-term growth rate is based on published industry research and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the 
industry. 

 

A reduction in sales of 5% from the three-year plan in years 2 and 3 to reflect a potential recession would result in an increase in the impairment charge of Rs. xxx and 
a 10% reduction in gross profit margin throughout the plan period would increase the impairment charge by Rs. xxx. In combination, a 2% fall in sales and a 7% fall in 
gross profit margin would increase the impairment charge by Rs. xxx. Reasonably possible changes of the other key assumptions, including 1% increase in the discount 
rate or reducing the long-term growth rate to 0%, would not result in a significant increase to the impairment charge, either individually or in combination. 

IAS 36.130 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

5.6.1 An amount of Rs. xxx was received by the Group from an insurance company as compensation for damage to in Red Plant. This amount has been included in ‘Other 
Income’ in the statement of profit or loss.  

 

IAS 16.74(d) 
 

  Reference 



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

   From the Desk of Technical Services | 102 

5.6.2 Other than above, the additional impairment losses recognized in respect of property, plant and equipment in the year amounted to Rs. xxx. These losses are attributable 
to greater than anticipated wear and tear. Those assets have been impaired in full and they also belonged to Group’s PVC manufacturing and trading reportable segment.  
The impairment losses have been included in 'administrative and other expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss. 

IAS 36.131 
IAS 36.126(a) 

   

5.7 Reversal of impairment loss  

 During the year, the Group reversed impairment loss of Rs.xxx, recognised in prior years on frozen food IQF plant. The IQF plant is used in the Group’s frozen food 
reportable segment. In the year 20X7, the IQF was impaired due to some operational defects. During the year, the Group repaired the IQF plant and has started using it. 
The impairment loss recognized in 20X7 has been reversed during the year, and included in 'other income’' in the statement of profit or loss. 

IAS 36.131 

   

5.8 Security 
 
Freehold land and buildings with aggregate carrying amount of Rs. xxx are subject to a first charge against the loan of Rs. xxx obtained from ABC Bank. This charge 
existed at December 31, 20X8. The Group is not allowed to pledge these assets as security for other borrowings or to sell them to another entity. 

IAS 16.74(a) 

   

5.9 At December 31, 20X9 the Group had contracted Contractor A to construct an office block for the Group on the new acquired land (Please also refer to note 5.1). A fixed 
price contract of Rs. xxx requires construction to begin by March 01, 2020 and to be completed by October 15, 2020.  

IAS 16.74(c) 

5.10 Detail of disposals of property, plant and equipment 4th Schd VI(15) 

   

 The details of property, plant and equipment disposed of during the year having individual book value exceeding Rs. 500,000 or more are as follows:   
   

 

Asset 
 

20X9   

 
Cost 

 
Carrying amount Sale price Gain / (Loss) 

Particulars of 
the buyer 

Mode of 
disposal 

Relationship 
with the 

purchaser 
  

  ……………..…………….. Rs. ..………… ..……………   

 Laptop xxx xxx xxx xxx Mr. JKL Group policy Employee   
 Motor vehicle xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Safe Insurer 

Limited 
 

Insurance None   

 Furniture xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Mr. CVB Tender Related party, 
Spouse of Director 

  

  xxx xxx xxx (xxx)      
    

 

Asset 
 

20X9   

 
Cost 

 
Carrying amount Sale price Gain / (Loss) 

Particulars of 
the buyer 

Mode of 
disposal 

Relationship 
with the 

purchaser 
  

  ……………..…………….. Rs. ..………… ..……………   

 Laptop xxx xxx xxx xxx Mr. EFG Negotiation None   
 Motor vehicle xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Best Motors 

Limited 
Tender  None   

 Furniture xxx xxx xxx (xxx) Mr. UFO Negotiation  None   

  xxx xxx xxx (xxx)      
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  Reference 
5.11 Transfer to investment property  

  
During the year, land and building of its old office was transferred to investment property measured at fair value as the Group decided to rent it to third parties. 
Immediately, before transfer it was remeasured to fair value and a gain of Rs. xxx was recognised as revaluation surplus in other comprehensive income. The valuation 
techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in measuring the fair value of the land and building at the date of transfer were the same as those applied to 
investment property at the reporting date (see note 8.2.1).  

IAS 36.131 

    
5.12 Capital Work in Progress   

 
 Note 

20X9 
Rupees 

20X8 
Rupees 

 
 

 Construction work on Head office building 5.11.1 xxx xxx   

   

5.12.1 Construction work is financed by a third party under common arrangement. The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 20X9 was Rs. 
xxx (20X8: xxx). The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was xx%, which is the EIR of the specific borrowing. 

IAS 23.26 

    

5.13 Depreciation for the year has been allocated as follows:   
  

Note 
20X9 

Rupees 
20X8 
Rupees 

  

 Cost of sales 32 xxx xxx   
 Administrative and general expenses 33 xxx xxx   
 Marketing and distribution expenses 34 xxx xxx   

   xxx xxx   
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6. Right-of-use assets 

 
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
  

IFRS 16.47(a) A lessee shall either present in the statement of financial position, or disclose 
in the notes: 
 
(a) right-of-use assets separately from other assets. If a lessee does not present right-of-

use assets separately in the statement of financial position, the lessee shall: 
 
(i) include right-of-use assets within the same line item as that within which the     

corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned; and 
 
(ii) disclose which line items in the statement of financial position include those right-

of-use assets. 
  

IFRS 16.52      A lessee shall disclose information about its leases for which it is a lessee in a single note or 
separate section in its financial statements. However, a lessee need not duplicate 
information that is already presented elsewhere in the financial statements, provided that 
the information is incorporated by cross reference in the single note or separate section 
about leases. 

  

IFRS 
16.53(a)(e)(h)(j)        

A lessee shall disclose the following amounts for the reporting period: 

  

 (a) depreciation charge for right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset; 
  

 (e) the expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities; 

  

 (h) additions to right-of-use assets; 
  

 (j) the carrying amount of right-of-use assets at the end of the reporting period by class of 
underlying asset. 

  

IFRS 16.59(a)(c)      In addition to the disclosures required in paragraphs 53–58, a lessee shall disclose additional 
qualitative and quantitative information about its leasing activities necessary to meet the 
disclosure objective in paragraph 51 (as described in paragraph B48). This additional 
information may include, but is not limited to, information that helps users of financial 
statements to assess: 

  

 (a) the nature of the lessee’s leasing activities; 
 (b)  

 (c) restrictions or covenants imposed by leases; and 
  

IFRS 16.60      A lessee that accounts for short-term leases or leases of low-value assets applying paragraph 
6 shall disclose that fact. 
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 References 

6. Right-of-use assets  
   
 Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the 

movements during the period: 

IFRS 16.54 

   

  Land and 
Building 

Plant and 
machinery 

Motor 
vehicles 

Other 
equipment 

Total 
 

  ………..………………. (Rupees) …………………………  

        

 As at 1 January 20X8 (restated) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Additions - xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 16.53(h) 

 Transfers  - - - - -  

 Depreciation charge  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IFRS 16.53(a) 

 As at 31 December 20X8 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 16.53 (j) 

 Additions - xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 16.53(h) 

 Depreciation charge  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IFRS 16.53(a) 

 Impairments - (xxx) - - (xxx) IAS 16.73(e)(v) 

 As at 31 December 20X9 xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 16.53 (j) 

        

 The Group has lease contracts for land and building, and various items of plant, 
machinery, vehicles and other equipment used in its operations. Leases of plant and 
machinery generally have lease terms between 3 and 15 years, while motor vehicles 
and other equipment generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 years. Lease of land 
and building is for 30 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by 
the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning 
and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts require the Group to maintain 
certain financial ratios. There are several lease contracts that include extension and 
termination options and variable lease payments , which are further discussed below. 

IFRS 16.52. IFRS 
16.59(a),(c) 

   

 The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less 
and leases of office equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term 
lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases. 

IFRS 16.60 

   

 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss   

  Restated  

  20X9 20X8  

  Rupees Rupees  

 Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets xxx xxx IFRS 16.53(a) 

 Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in 
lease liabilities (included in cost of sales) xxx xxx 

IFRS 16.53(e) 

 Total amount recognised in profit or loss xxx xxx  
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7. Intangible assets 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 38.118  An entity shall disclose the following for each class of intangible assets, distinguishing 

between internally generated intangible assets and other intangible assets: 
  
 (a) whether the useful lives are indefinite or finite and, if finite, the useful lives or the 

amortisation rates used; 
  
 (b) the amortisation methods used for intangible assets with finite useful lives; 
  
 (c) the gross carrying amount and any accumulated amortisation (aggregated with 

accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period; 
  
 (d) the line item(s) of the statement of comprehensive income in which any amortisation of 

intangible assets is included; 
  
 (e) a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period showing: 
  
 (i)  additions, indicating separately those from internal development, those acquired 

separately, and those acquired through business combinations; 
  
 (ii)  assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held for 

sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and other disposals; 
  
 (iii) increases or decreases during the period resulting from revaluations under 

paragraphs 75, 85 and 86 and from impairment losses recognised or reversed in other 
comprehensive income in accordance with IAS 36 (if any); 

  
 (iv) impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period in accordance with 

IAS 36 (if any); 
  
 (v)  impairment losses reversed in profit or loss during the period in accordance with IAS 

36 (if any); 
  
 (vi) any amortisation recognised during the period; 
  
 (vii) net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements into 

the presentation currency, and on the translation of a foreign operation into the 
presentation currency of the entity; and 

  
 (viii) other changes in the carrying amount during the period. 
  
IAS 38.122  An entity shall also disclose: 
  

 (a) for an intangible asset assessed as having an indefinite useful life, the carrying amount 
of that asset and the reasons supporting the assessment of an indefinite useful life. In 
giving these reasons, the entity shall describe the factor(s) that played a significant role 
in determining that the asset has an indefinite useful life. 

  
 (b) a description, the carrying amount and remaining amortisation period of any individual 

intangible asset that is material to the entity’s financial statements. 
  
 (c) for intangible assets acquired by way of a government grant and initially recognised at 

fair value (see paragraph 44): 
  

 (i) the fair value initially recognised for these assets; 
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7. Intangible assets Continued… 

 (ii) their carrying amount; and 
  
 (iii) whether they are measured after recognition under the cost model or the 

revaluation model 
  
 (d) the existence and carrying amounts of intangible assets whose title is restricted and the 

carrying amounts of intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities. 
  
 (e) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 
  
IAS 38.124  If intangible assets are accounted for at revalued amounts, an entity shall disclose the 

following: 
  

 (a) by class of intangible assets: 
  

 (i) the effective date of the revaluation; 
  
 (ii) the carrying amount of revalued intangible assets; and 
  
 (iii) the carrying amount that would have been recognised had the revalued class of 

intangible assets been measured after recognition using the cost model in paragraph 
74; and 

  

 (b) the amount of the revaluation surplus that relates to intangible assets at the beginning 
and end of the period, indicating the changes during the period and any restrictions on 
the distribution of the balance to shareholders. 

  
 (c) [deleted] 
  
IAS 38.126 An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount of research and development expenditure 

recognised as an expense during the period. 
  

IAS 38.128 An entity is encouraged, but not required, to disclose the following information: 
  

 (a) a description of any fully amortised intangible asset that is still in use; and 
  
 (b) a brief description of significant intangible assets controlled by the entity but not 

recognised as assets because they did not meet the recognition criteria in this Standard 
or because they were acquired or generated before the version of IAS 38 Intangible 
Assets issued in 1998 was effective. 
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7. Intangible assets       Reference 

       Goodwill 
Computer 
Software 

Trademarks Total  

       ……………Rupees……………  

 Cost xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 
 Accumulated amortization - xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 

 Carrying amount at January 1, 20X8 xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 
            
 Additions – internal development (note 7.1) - xxx - xxx IAS 38.118(e)(i) 
 Amortisation - xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(e)(vi) 
 Reclassified as assets held for disposal (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IAS 38.118(e)(ii) 
 Disposals  - (xxx) (xxx) IAS 38.118(e)(ii) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X8 xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 
         

 
Additions – internal development (note 
7.1) - xxx - xxx 

IAS 38.118(e)(i) 

 
Goodwill recognized on acquisition of 
subsidiary xxx - - - 

IAS 38.118(e)(i) 

 
Goodwill de-recognized on disposal of 
subsidiary (xxx) - - - 

IAS 38.118(e)(ii) 

 Impairment (note 7.6) (xxx) - - - IAS 38.118(e)(iv) 
 Amortisation (note 7.5) - (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IAS 38.118(e)(vi) 
 Disposal - - (xxx) (xxx) IAS 38.118(e)(ii) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X9 xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 

       
 Cost xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 
 Accumulated amortization - xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 

 Carrying amount as at December 31, 20X9 xxx xxx xxx xxx IAS 38.118(c) 

 Amortization rate per annum (%)  x x x IAS 38.118(a) 

   
7.1 The goodwill is considered to have an indefinite useful life, whereas computer software 

and trademarks have finite useful life.  
IAS 38.118(a) 

   

7.2 Computer software relate to the inventory system purchased in 20X2 and internally 
developed human resource management system which was developed in 20X4 and is 
upgraded periodically. The cost of periodic upgradation is capitalized as an internally 
generated intangible asset.  The remaining useful life is x and x years for inventory and 
human resource management system respectively.  

IAS 38.122(b) 

             

7.3 At December 31, 20X8 the Group’s software was pledged as security for a Rs. xxx loan 
from the parent company obtained during the year. 

IAS 38.122(d) 

 

            

7.4 In December 20X9 the Group signed an agreement to acquire a patent from entity A on 
May 15, 2X20 for Rs. xxx. The Group had no contractual commitments for the acquisition 
of intangible assets at December 31, 20X8. 

IAS 38.122(e) 

 

            
7.5 Amortization for the year is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the following 

line items: IAS 38.118(d) 
         20X9  20X8  
       Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Cost of sales  33  xxx  xxx  
 Administrative and general expenses  34  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
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  Reference 

7.6 The carrying amount of the Ceramics manufacturing and trading cash generating unit 
has been reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment loss 
against goodwill. This loss is included in the ‘administrative and general expenses’. 

IAS 36.126(a) 

   

7.7 Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units  

 Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-
generating units. 
- PVC manufacturing and sale 
- Ceramics manufacturing and sale 
- Dairy products manufacturing and sale 
Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill was allocated 
to cash generating units as follows: 

IAS 36.134, 135 

         20X9  20X8  
       Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Ceramics manufacturing and sale  7.7.1  xxx  xxx  
 PVC manufacturing and sale  7.7.2  xxx  xxx  
 Dairy products and frozen food 

manufacturing and sale  7.7.3  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

7.7.1 Ceramics manufacturing and sale      
 The goodwill relating to Ceramics manufacturing and sale arose in 20X4 upon acquisition 

of PVC King Limited. On October 15, 20X9 an incident of fire occurred in Red Plant 
resulting in considerable damage plant and equipment. Consequently, the Group was 
not able to meet the requisite demand of various customers which switched to other 
suppliers upon the Groups failure to fulfill the orders. The recoverable amount of the 
Ceramics manufacturing and sale unit was determined based on the value in use 
calculation using cash flow projections after accounting for loss of revenue from shifting 
of few major customers to other suppliers. The projections were approved by the board 
of the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of x % per annum (20X8: 
x% per annum). Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using 
a steady x% per annum (20X8: x% per annum) growth rate. This growth rate does not 
exceed the long-term average growth rate of Ceramics sector in Pakistan. The directors 
believe that any reasonably possible further change in the key assumptions on which 
recoverable amount is based would not cause the PVC manufacturing and sale cash 
generating unit carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. As result of the 
impairment test, the recoverable amount was determined to be Rs.xxx and goodwill 
amounting to Rs. xxx relating to Ceramics manufacturing and sale cash generating unit 
has been written off. The impairment loss for other assets of this cash generating unit 
was also determined and recorded as explained in note 5.  
The impairment loss is included in ‘administrative and general expenses’ in the 
statement of profit or loss.    

IAS 36.134(d) 

       

7.7.2 PVC manufacturing and sale  

 

The recoverable amount of this cash generating unit is determined based on value in 
use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved 
by the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of x% per annum (20X8: 
x% per annum). 
 
The cashflow projections during the budget period are based on the same expected 
gross margin and raw materials price inflation throughout the budget period. The 
cashflows beyond that five- year period have been extrapolated using a steady x% 
(20X8:x%) per annum growth rate which is projected long-term average growth rate for 
the PVC products in the global market. The recoverable amount determined as a result 
of impairment test exceeds the carrying amount of this cash generating unit. The 
directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which 
recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed 
the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit. 

 
 
 
 
 

IAS 36.134(d) 
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      Reference 

7.7.3 Dairy products manufacturing and sale      
 The recoverable amount of this cash generating unit is determined based on value in 

use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved 
by the directors covering a five-year period, and a discount rate of x% per annum (20X8: 
x% per annum) 
 
The cashflow projections during the budget period are based on the same expected 
gross margin and raw materials price inflation throughout the budget period. The 
cashflows beyond that five- year period have been extrapolated using a steady x% 
(20X8:x%) per annum growth rate which is projected long-term average growth rate for 
the dairy products in the global market. The recoverable amount determined as a result 
of impairment test exceeds the carrying amount of this cash generating unit. The 
directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which 
recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed 
the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.  

IAS 36.134(d) 
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8. Investment property 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 40.75 An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) whether it applies the fair value model or the cost model. 
  
 (b) [deleted] 
  
 (c) when classification is difficult (see paragraph 14), the criteria it uses to distinguish 

investment property from owner-occupied property and from property held for sale in the 
ordinary course of business. 

  
 (d) [deleted] 
  
 (e) the extent to which the fair value of investment property (as measured or disclosed in the 

financial statements) is based on a valuation by an independent valuer who holds a 
recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location 
and category of the investment property being valued. If there has been no such valuation, 
that fact shall be disclosed. 

  
 (f) the amounts recognised in profit or loss for: 
  
 (i) rental income from investment property; 
  
 (ii) direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from investment 

property that generated rental income during the period; 
  
 (iii) direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from investment property 

that did not generate rental income during the period; and 
  
 (iv) the cumulative change in fair value recognised in profit or loss on a sale of investment 

property from a pool of assets in which the cost model is used into a pool in which the 
fair value model is used (see paragraph 32C). 

  
 (g) the existence and amounts of restrictions on the realisability of investment property or the 

remittance of income and proceeds of disposal. 
  
 (h) contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, 

maintenance or enhancements.  
  
IAS 40.76
  

In addition to the disclosures required by paragraph 75, an entity that applies the fair value 
model in paragraphs 33–55 shall disclose a reconciliation between the carrying amounts of 
investment property at the beginning and end of the period, showing the following: 

  

 (a) additions, disclosing separately those additions resulting from acquisitions and those 
resulting from subsequent expenditure recognised in the carrying amount of an asset; 

  
 (b) additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations; 
  
 (c) assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale in 

accordance with IFRS 5 and other disposals; 
  
 (d) net gains or losses from fair value adjustments; 
  
 (e) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements into a 

different presentation currency, and on translation of a foreign operation into the 
presentation currency of the reporting entity; 

  
 (f) transfers to and from inventories and owner-occupied property; and 
  
 (g) other changes. 
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8. Investment property Continued… 

IAS 40.78  In the exceptional cases referred to in paragraph 53, when an entity measures investment 
property using the cost model in IAS 16 or in accordance with IFRS 16, the reconciliation 
required by paragraph 76 shall disclose amounts relating to that investment property 
separately from amounts relating to other investment property. In addition, an entity shall 
disclose: 

  
 (a) a description of the investment property; 
  
 (b) an explanation of why fair value cannot be measured reliably; 
  
 (c) if possible, the range of estimates within which fair value is highly likely to lie; and 

  
 (d) on disposal of investment property not carried at fair value: 
  
 (i) the fact that the entity has disposed of investment property not carried at fair value; 
  
 (ii) the carrying amount of that investment property at the time of sale; and 
  
 (iii) the amount of gain or loss recognised. 
  
IAS 40.79  In addition to the disclosures required by paragraph 75, an entity that applies the cost model 

in paragraph 56 shall disclose:   
  
 (a) the depreciation methods used; 
  
 (b) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used; 
  
 (c) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with 

accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period; 
  
 (d) a reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment property at the beginning and end 

of the period, showing the following: 
  
 (i) additions, disclosing separately those additions resulting from acquisitions and those 

resulting from subsequent expenditure recognised as an asset; 
  
 (ii) additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations; 
  
 (iii) assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held for 

sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and other disposals; 
  
 (iv) depreciation; 
  
 (v) the amount of impairment losses recognised, and the amount of impairment losses 

reversed, during the period in accordance with IAS 36; 
  
 (vi) the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements 

into a different presentation currency, and on translation of a foreign operation into 
the presentation currency of the reporting entity; 

  
 (vii) transfers to and from inventories and owner-occupied property; and 
  
 (viii) other changes. 
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(14)   

Forced sale value shall be disclosed separately in case of revaluation of Property, Plant and 
Equipment or investment property. 
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       Reference  
    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

8. Investment property       
        
 Investment property - at cost 8.1  xxx  xxx 

IAS 40.75(a) 
 Investment property - at fair value 8.2  xxx  xxx 

    xxx  xxx  

8.1 Investment property - at cost       
 Cost    xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(c) 
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(c) 

    Carrying amount as at 1 January   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d) 
  

  
 

 
  

 Additions through new purchases   -  - IAS 40.79(d)(i) 
 Additions through subsequent expenditure   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d)(i) 
 Additions through business combinations   -  - IAS 40.79(d)(ii) 
 Disposals - carrying amount   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d)(iii) 
 Depreciation charge for the year   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d)(iv) 
 Transfer (to)/from property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d)(vii) 

 Carrying amount as at 31 December    xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d) 

 Cost    xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(c) 
 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(c) 

    Carrying amount as at 31 December    xxx  xxx IAS 40.79(d) 

 Rate of depreciation (%)   x  x IAS 40.79(b) 

        
8.1.1 This represents freehold land and building adjacent to PVC manufacturing plant owned 

by the Group. This property is not occupied by the Group and is held for capital 
appreciation and earning rental income. The Group carries this investment property 
under cost model as its fair value cannot be reliably determined as there is no active 
market for this property and a recent comparable transaction for identical property is 
also not available. Further, the application of valuation techniques is not supposed to 
provide a reliable measure of fair value. The possible range of estimates with in which 
the fair value is highly likely to lie is Rs. xxx to Rs.xxx. 

IAS 40.78(a)(b)(c) 

    
8.1.2 Forced sale value 

Forced sale value of the investment property is assessed at Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) 
 

4th Sch VI(14) 
    
8.1.3 Amounts recognised in profit or loss   
 Rental income 

The rental income in respect of this property amounting to Rs. xxx has been recognized 
in profit or loss and included in ‘other income’. The direct operating expenses 
pertaining to this property comprising maintenance and utility costs amounting to Rs. 
xxx is recognized in profit or loss and included in ‘administrative and general expenses’. 

IAS 40.75(f)(i)(ii) 

    
 Depreciation  

Depreciation on this property is calculated using straight line method to allocate the cost less 
its residual value over its estimated useful life of xx years. The depreciation on investment 
property measured at cost is charged to administrative and general expenses. 

IAS 40.79(a)(b) 

        20X9  20X8  

      Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

8.2 Investment property - at fair value 
     

 
 

IAS 40.76, 
IFRS 13.93 

 Carrying amount as at 1 January      xxx  xxx IAS 40.76 

 Additions – Purchases     
 

xxx  xxx 
IAS 40.76(a). 

IFRS 13.93(e)(iii) 

 Additions - Subsequent expenditure     xxx  xxx IAS 40.76(a) 

 Classified as held for sale or disposal     -  (xxx) IAS 40.76(c),  

 
Net gain/(loss) from fair value 
adjustment     xxx  xxx 

IAS 40.76(d) 

 Transfer (to)/from owner-occupied property  -  - IAS 40.76(f) 

 Carrying amount as at 31 December     xxx  xxx IAS 40.76 
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Fair value hierarchy 
The details of the Group’s investment properties and information about their fair value 
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

IFRS 
13.93(a)(b) 

        

    Level 2 Level 3 
Fair value as at 

31/12/X9 
 

    ……………Rs.……………  

 Office units located PIC Tower, Green City - xxx xxx  

        

    Level 2 Level 3 
Fair value as at 

31/12/X8 
 

    ……………Rs.……………  

 Office units located PIC Tower, Green City - xxx xxx  

        

 

For the investment properties categorized into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the 
following information is relevant: 
 

 

 

Valuation 
Technique 

Significant unobservable 
inputs 

Sensitivity IFRS 
13.93(d)(h) 

 

Discounted cash flows: 
The valuation model 
considers the present 
value of net cash flows to 
be generated from the 
property, taking into 
account the expected 
rental growth rate, void 
periods, occupancy rate, 
lease incentive costs such 
as rent-free periods and 
other costs not paid by 
tenants. The expected net 
cash flows are discounted 
using risk adjusted 
discount rates. Among 
other factors, the 
discount rate estimation 
considers the quality of a 

Monthly market rent, taking 
into account the differences 
in location, and individual 
factors, such as frontage and 
size, between the 
comparable property and the 
property, at an average of 
Rs. xx (20X8: Rs. xx) per 
square foot per month.  
 
Vacant periods (20X9 and 
20X8: average 3 months after 
the end of each lease). 
 
Occupancy rate (20X9: 80–
85%, weighted average 
82.5%; 20X8: 90–94%, 
weighted average 92%). 
 

The estimated fair value would 
increase decrease) if:  

 expected market rental growth 
were higher (lower);   

 

 vacant periods were shorter 
(longer); 

 

 the occupancy rate were higher 
(lower); or 

 

 the risk‑adjusted discount rate 
were lower (higher). 

 

 The investment property comprises freehold office buildings which are not occupied by 
the Group. These are held to earn rental income and for long term appreciation in the 
value. 

 

   

8.2.1 Measuring investment property at fair value 
 
The fair value of investment property is determined at the end of each year by 
independent suitably qualified valuer. The fair value of the Group’s investment property 
as at December 31, 20X9 and December 31, 20X8 were performed by Messrs. Honest 
Valuers, who are independent valuers not related to the Group. Messrs. Honest Valuers 
are members of Institute of Valuers of the Foreign Land and they have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the 
relevant locations. 
 
The fair value was determined based on the market comparable approach that reflects 
recent transaction prices for similar properties/capitalization of net income method, 
where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed by reference 
to the rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar properties 
in the neighborhood. The capitalization rate adopted is made by reference to the yield 
rates observed by the valuers for similar properties in the locality and adjusted based on 
the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the respective properties. 
 
There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year. In estimating the 
fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current 
use. 

 
 

IAS 40.75(e), 
IAS 40.78(a), 
IFRS 13.93(d) 

 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 13.91(a) 
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building and its location 
(prime vs secondary), 
tenant credit quality and 
lease terms. 

Risk‑adjusted discount rates 
(20X9: 7–7.5%, weighted 
average 7.2%; 2018: 8–9.5%, 
weighted average 8.8%). 

   

8.2.2 Forced sale value 
Forced sale value of the investment property is assessed at Rs. xxx (20X8: Rx. xxx). 

 
4th Sch VI(14) 

   

8.2.3 Security 
Investment property comprising two office units at 89th floor of PIC tower with a carrying 
amount of Rs. xxx are subject to first charge against loan of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxxx) from 
Urumqi Bank Limited. This charge existed as at December 31, 20X8.  

 
IAS 40.75(g)  

    

8.2.4 Contractual obligations 
On December 20, 20X9, the Group planned refurbishment and expansion of some office 
units located in PIC Tower. The Group has contracted the Samsung Contractors for this 
project. The Rs. xxxx fixed price contract requires construction to commence by March 
31, 2X10 and to be completed by September 30, 20XX. There were no contractual 
commitments at 31 December 20X8 (end of comparative reporting period). 

 
IAS 40.75(h) 

  

  

 
 

          
 
 

 There is no restriction on the realisability of its investment properties and no other 
contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for 
repairs, maintenance and enhancements. 

IAS 40.75(g) 

  

            

8.2.5 Leasing arrangement 
The Group as a lessor has entered into operating leases on its investment property 
portfolio consisting of certain office and manufacturing buildings. These leases have 
terms of between five and 20 years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision 
of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market conditions. 
 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 
December are as follows 

IFRS 16.90 
IFRS 16.91 
IFRS 16.92 

  

       20X9 20X8  

 

 
 

Within one year  xxx xxx 

IFRS 16.97 After one year but not more than five years  xxx xxx 

More than five years  xxx xxx 

  xxx xxx  
   

8.2.6 Amount recognised in profit or loss  
The changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of other income.    
 

The rental income in respect of this property amounting to Rs. xxx has been recognized 
in profit or loss and included in ‘other income’.  
 

The direct operating expenses pertaining to this property comprising maintenance and 
utility costs amounting to Rs. xxx is recognized in profit or loss and included in 
‘administrative and general expenses’. 

 
IAS 

40.75(f)(i)(ii) 
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9. Biological assets 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 41.40  An entity shall disclose the aggregate gain or loss arising during the current period on initial 

recognition of biological assets and agricultural produce and from the change in fair value 
less costs to sell of biological assets. 

  
IAS 41.41  An entity shall provide a description of each group of biological assets. 
  
IAS 41.46  If not disclosed elsewhere in information published with the financial statements, an entity 

shall describe: 
  

 (a) the nature of its activities involving each group of biological assets; and 
  

 (b) non-financial measures or estimates of the physical quantities of: 
  
 (i) each group of the entity’s biological assets at the end of the period; and 
  

 (ii) output of agricultural produce during the period. 
  
IAS 41.49  An entity shall disclose: 
  

 (a) the existence and carrying amounts of biological assets whose title is restricted, and the 
carrying amounts of biological assets pledged as security for liabilities; 

  
 (b) the amount of commitments for the development or acquisition of biological assets; and 
  
 (c) financial risk management strategies related to agricultural activity. 
  
IAS 41.50  An entity shall present a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of biological assets 

between the beginning and the end of the current period. The reconciliation shall include: 
  

 (a) the gain or loss arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell; 
  

 (b) increases due to purchases; 
  

 (c) decreases attributable to sales and biological assets classified as held for sale (or 
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) in accordance with IFRS 
5; 

  
 (d) decreases due to harvest; 
  
 (e) increases resulting from business combinations; 
  
 (f) net exchange differences arising on the translation of financial statements into a 

different presentation currency, and on the translation of a foreign operation into the 
presentation currency of the reporting entity; and 

  

 (g) other changes. 
  
IAS 41.54  If an entity measures biological assets at their cost less any accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses (see paragraph 30) at the end of the period, the entity 
shall disclose for such biological assets: 

  

 (a) a description of the biological assets; 
  

 (b) an explanation of why fair value cannot be measured reliably; 
  

 (c) if possible, the range of estimates within which fair value is highly likely to lie; 
  

 (d) the depreciation method used; 
  

 (e) the useful lives or the depreciation rates used; and 
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9. Biological assets Continued… 

 (f) the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (aggregated with 
accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning and end of the period. 

  
IAS 41.56  If the fair value of biological assets previously measured at their cost less any accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses becomes reliably measurable during 
the current period, an entity shall disclose for those biological assets: 

  
 (a) a description of the biological assets; 
  
 (b) an explanation of why fair value has become reliably measurable; and 
  
 (c) the effect of the change. 
  
IAS 41.57  An entity shall disclose the following related to agricultural activity covered by this 

Standard: 
  
 (a) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements; 
  
 (b) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government grants; and 
  
 (c) significant decreases expected in the level of government grants. 
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  Reference 

9. Biological assets  

 

At December 31, 20X9, livestock comprised 2,051 cattle (20X8: 1,660 
cattle) including 51 immature cattle (20X8: 36). During 20X9, the Group 
sold 313 cattle. 

IAS 41.41, 43,  46(b)(i) 

   

9.1 Reconciliation of changes in carrying amount   IAS 41.50 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

        

 Carrying amount as at 1 January    xxx  xxx IAS 41.50 

 Increase due to purchases   xxx  xxx IAS 41.50(b)  

 
Changes in fair value less cost to sell:      IAS 40.40, 

 IAS 41.50(a) 

 Due to price changes   xxx  xxx IAS 41.51 

 Due to physical changes   xxx  xxx IAS 41.51 

 Decrease due to sale of livestock   (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 41.50(c) 

 Carrying amount as at 31 December    xxx  xxx IAS 41.50 

   

9.2 Measurement of fair value of biological assets IFRS 13.91(a) 

   

 
The fair value measurements of livestock have been categorised as Level 2 
fair values based on observable market sales data. 

 13.93(b) 

   

 

The fair value of cattle is determined using market comparison technique 
under which market price is based on the market price of livestock of 
similar age weight and market values. 

IFRS 13.91(a) 

   

9.3 Risk management strategy related to agricultural activities IAS 41.49(c) 

   

 The Group is exposed to the following risks relating to its dairy products 
business. 

 

   

 Regulatory risks  

 The Group is subject to laws and regulations for standards of food quality 
promulgated by the food authorities of the country. The group has 
established policies and procedures with necessary resources to ensure 
compliance with these laws and regulations. 

 

   

 Supply and demand risk  

 The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and 
sales volume of milk. When possible, the Group manages this risk by 
aligning its harvest volume to market supply and demand. Management 
performs regular industry trend analyses for projected harvest volumes and 
pricing. 
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10. Investments in associates and jointly controlled entity 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 12.20  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to 

evaluate: 
  
 (a) the nature, extent and financial effects of its interests in joint arrangements and 

associates, including the nature and effects of its contractual relationship with the other 
investors with joint control of, or significant influence over, joint arrangements and 
associates; and 

  
 (b) the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with its interests in joint ventures 

and associates. 
  
IFRS 12.21  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) for each joint arrangement and associate that is material to the reporting entity: 
  
 (i) the name of the joint arrangement or associate. 
  
 (ii) the nature of the entity’s relationship with the joint arrangement or associate (by, 

for example, describing the nature of the activities of the joint arrangement or 
associate and whether they are strategic to the entity’s activities). 

  
 (iii) the principal place of business (and country of incorporation, if applicable and 

different from the principal place of business) of the joint arrangement or associate. 
  
 (iv) the proportion of ownership interest or participating share held by the entity and, if 

different, the proportion of voting rights held (if applicable). 
  
 (b) for each joint venture and associate that is material to the reporting entity: 
  
 (i) whether the investment in the joint venture or associate is measured using the equity 

method or at fair value. 
  
 (ii) summarised financial information about the joint venture or associate as specified 

in paragraphs B12 and B13. 
  
 (iii) if the joint venture or associate is accounted for using the equity method, the fair 

value of its investment in the joint venture or associate, if there is a quoted market 
price for the investment. 

  
 (c) financial information as specified in paragraph B16 about the entity’s investments in 

joint ventures and associates that are not individually material: 
  
 (i) in aggregate for all individually immaterial joint ventures and, separately, 
  
 (ii) in aggregate for all individually immaterial associates. 
  
IFRS 12.22  An entity shall also disclose: 
  
 (a) the nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g. resulting from borrowing 

arrangements, regulatory requirements or contractual arrangements between investors 
with joint control of or significant influence over a joint venture or an associate) on the 
ability of joint ventures or associates to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash 
dividends, or to repay loans or advances made by the entity. 

  
 (b) when the financial statements of a joint venture or associate used in applying the equity 

method are as of a date or for a period that is different from that of the entity: 
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10. Investments in associates and jointly controlled entity Continued… 

  
 (i)  the date of the end of the reporting period of the financial statements of that joint 

venture or associate; and 
  
 (ii) the reason for using a different date or period. 
  
 (c)  the unrecognised share of losses of a joint venture or associate, both for the reporting 

period and cumulatively, if the entity has stopped recognising its share of losses of the 
joint venture or associate when applying the equity method. 

  
IFRS 12.23  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) commitments that it has relating to its joint ventures separately from the amount of 

other commitments as specified in paragraphs B18–B20. 
  
 (b)  in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 

unless the probability of loss is remote, contingent liabilities incurred relating to its 
interests in joint ventures or associates (including its share of contingent liabilities 
incurred jointly with other investors with joint control of, or significant influence over, 
the joint ventures or associates), separately from the amount of other contingent 
liabilities. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(2)   

In respect of associated companies, subsidiaries, joint ventures or holding companies 
incorporated outside Pakistan, with whom the company had entered into transactions or 
had agreements and / or arrangements in place during the financial year, following shall be 
separately disclosed;  

  
 (i) Name of undertaking, registered address and country of incorporation;  
  
 (ii) Basis of association;  
  
 (iii) Aggregate Percentage of shareholding, including shareholding through other 

companies or entities 
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       Reference 
        

10. Investment in associates       

        
10.1 This represents investment in associate, the Foreign Land Company Limited which 

is incorporated in Foreign Land and listed on Bullish Stock Exchange. Its registered 
office is situated at 123, ABC Road, Foreign Land. The principal activity of the 
associate is to manufacture and sale of steel sheets.  
 
The Group owns 25% (20X8:25%) share capital of the Foreign Land Company 
Limited. However, pursuant to a shareholder agreement, the Group has right to 
cast 28% of the votes at shareholder meetings of the Foreign Land Company. The 
associate is accounted for using equity method in these financial statements. 

IFRS 12.20 
IFRS 12.21(a), 

IFRS 12.21(b)(i),   
4th Schd VI (2) 

 
 

        

 

The financial year end of the Foreign Land Company Limited is October 31. This 
was the reporting date established when that company was incorporated and a 
change of reporting date is currently not possible. For the purposes of applying the 
equity method of accounting, the financial statements of Foreign Land Limited for 
the year ended October 31, 20X9 have been used, and appropriate adjustments 
have been made for the effects of significant transactions between that date and 
December 31, 20X9. As at December 31, 20X9, the fair value of the Group’s interest 
in Foreign Land Company Limited was Rs.xxx (20X8: Rs.xxx) based on the quoted 
market price available on the Bullish Stock Exchange, which is a level 1 input in 
terms of IFRS 13. 

IFRS 12.22(b), 
IFRS 2.21(b)(iii), 

IFRS 13.97 

        
10.2 The summarized financial information in respect the Foreign Land Company Limited 

is set out below. The summarized financial information represents the amounts 
shown in the associate’s financial statements for the respective year. 

IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) 

        
    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Current assets   xxx  xxx  

 Non-current assets   xxx  xxx  

 Current liabilities   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Non-current liabilities   (xxx)  (xxx)  

        
 Revenue   xxx  xxx  

 Profit or loss from continuing operations   xxx  xxx  

 
Post-tax profit/(loss) from discontinued 
operation   

 
-  -  

 Profit/(loss) for the year   xxx  xxx  

 Other comprehensive income for the year   xxx  xxx  

 Total comprehensive income for the year   xxx  xxx  

 
Dividends received from the associate 
during the year   

xxx 
 

xxx 
 

        

 

Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying 
amount of the interest in the Foreign Land Company Limited recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements:  

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

        
 Net assets of the associate   xxx  xxx  

 
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 
interest   

x% 
 

x% 
 

 Goodwill   -  -  
 Other adjustments   -  -  

 
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 
Foreign Land Company Limited   

xxx 
 xxx  

 
The short term running finance facility of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) obtained from 
Bank B is secured against the shares of Foreign Land Company Limited.  
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  Reference 
   
11. Investment in jointly controlled entity  
   
11.1 This represents investment in JCE (Private) Limited, which was formed under the 

Joint Venture Agreement between the Group and the Strong Limited on January 1, 
20X5. The Group and the Strong Limited each own 50%(20X8: 50%) of its share capital 
and have joint control under the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement. The JCE 
(Private) Limited is incorporated in Pakistan and engaged in manufacture and sale 
of industrial paints. The JCE (Private) Limited is accounted for using equity method 
in these consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 12.20 
IFRS 12.21(a), 

IFRS 12.21(b)(i) 
4th Schd VI (v) 

   
11.2 Summarized financial information in respect of JCE (Private) Limited is set out 

below. The summarized financial information below represents amounts shown in 
the financial statements of JCE (Private) Limited prepared in accordance with IFRSs. 

IFRS 12.21(b)(ii) 
IFRS 12.B12 

        

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Current assets   xxx  xxx  

 Non-current assets   xxx  xxx  

 Current liabilities   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Non-current liabilities   (xxx)  (xxx)  

        
 The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:   
        
 Cash and cash equivalents   xxx  xxx  

 Current financial liabilities (excluding trade 
and other payables and provisions) 

 
 xxx  xxx 

 

 Non-current financial liabilities (excluding 
trade and other payables and provisions) 

 
 (xxx)  (xxx) 

 

        
    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Revenue   xxx  xxx  

 Profit/(loss) from continuing operations   xxx  xxx  

 Post-tax profit/(loss) from discontinued 
operations 

 
 -  - 

 

 Profit/(loss) for the year   xxx  xxx  

 Other comprehensive income for the year   -  -  

 Total comprehensive income for the year   -  -  

 Dividends received from the joint ventures 
during the year 

 
 -  - 

 

        
 The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:  
 Depreciation and amortization   xxx  xxx  

 Interest income   xxx  xxx  

 Interest expense   xxx  xxx  

 Income tax expense (income)   xxx  xxx  

        
 Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying 

amount of the interest in the joint venture recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements: 

IFRS 12.B14(b)  
 

  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Net assets of the JCE (Private) Limited   xxx  xxx  
 Proportion of the Group’s ownership 

interest  
 

 x%  x% 
 

 Goodwill   -  -  
 Other adjustments   -  -  

 Carrying amount of the Group’s interest    xxx  xxx  
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12. Financial assets other than cash and bank 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.6 When this IFRS requires disclosures by class of financial instrument, an entity shall group 

financial instruments into classes that are appropriate to the nature of the information 
disclosed and that take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. An 
entity shall provide sufficient information to permit reconciliation to the line items 
presented in the statement of financial position. 

  
IFRS 7.7  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the significance of financial instruments for its financial position and performance. 
  
IFRS 7.8  The carrying amounts of each of the following categories, as specified in IFRS 9, shall be 

disclosed either in the statement of financial position or in the notes: 
  
 (a) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, showing separately (i) those 

designated as such upon initial recognition or subsequently in accordance with 
paragraph 6.7.1 of IFRS 9 and (ii) those mandatorily measured at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9; 

  
 (f) instruments that are required to be classified as equity instruments in accordance with 

paragraphs 16A and 16B or paragraphs 16C and 16D of IAS 32. 
  
IFRS 7.11A  If an entity has designated investments in equity instruments to be measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income, as permitted by paragraph 5.7.5 of IFRS 9, it shall 
disclose: 

  
 (a) which investments in equity instruments have been designated to be measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income. 
  
 (b) the reasons for using this presentation alternative. 
  
 (c) the fair value of each such investment at the end of the reporting period. 
  
 (d) dividends recognised during the period, showing separately those related to investments 

derecognised during the reporting period and those related to investments held at the 
end of the reporting period. 

  
 any transfers of the cumulative gain or loss within equity during the period including the 

reason for such transfers.  
  
IFRS 7.11B  If an entity derecognised investments in equity instruments measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income during the reporting period, it shall disclose: 
  
 (a) the reasons for disposing of the investments.  
  
 (b) the fair value of the investments at the date of derecognition.  
  
 (c) the cumulative gain or loss on disposal. 
  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(8) 

In cases where company has given loans or advances or has made investments (both short 
term and long term) in foreign companies or undertakings following disclosures are required 
to be made:  

  
 (i) Name of the company or undertaking along with jurisdiction where it is located;  
  
 (ii) Name and address of beneficial owner of investee company, if any;  
  
 (iii) Amount of loan/investment (both in local and foreign currency);   
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12. Financial assets other than cash and bank Continued… 

  
 (iv) Terms and conditions and period for which loans or advances or investments has been 

made;    
  
 (v) Amount of return received;  
  
 (vi) Details of all litigations against the Investee company in the foreign jurisdictions;  
  
 (vii) Any default/breach relating to foreign loan or investment; and  
  
 (viii) Gain or loss in case of disposals of foreign investments.; 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(17)   

With regards to loans and advances to directors following shall be disclosed:  

   
 (ii) the purposes for which loans or advances were made; and  
  
 (iii) reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period, showing 

disbursements and repayments;    
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(19) 

In respect of loans and advances to associates and related parties there shall be disclosed,  

  
 (i) the name of each associate and related party;   
  
 (ii) the terms of loans and advances;   
  
 (iii) the particulars of collateral security held, if any;   
  
 (iv) the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated by 

reference to month-end balances;   
  
 (v) provisions for doubtful loans and advances; and  
  
 (vi) loans and advances written off, if any. 
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       Reference 
        
12. Financial assets other than cash and bank      IFRS 7.6, 7.8 
      Restated  
    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  
        

 Derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments 

      

 Foreign exchange forward contracts 12.1  xxx  -  
        

 Derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments 

      

 Foreign exchange forward contracts 12.2  xxx  xxx  
        

 Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 

12.3      

 Listed equity investments   xxx  xxx  
        

 Equity instruments designated at fair 
value through OCI 

12.4     IFRS 7.11A(a) 

 Loyal Limited   xxx  xxx IFRS 7.11A(c) 
 Power Limited   xxx  xxx  
 Hard Rock Limited   xxx  xxx  
 Humble Limited   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
 Debt instruments designated at fair value 

through OCI 
      

 Quoted debt instruments   xxx  xxx  
        

 Debt instruments at amortised cost       

 Long term loans  12.5  xxx  xxx  
 Short term loans and advances  17  xxx  xxx  
 Short term Deposits 17  xxx  xxx  
 Trade and other receivables 15  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
        

 Non-current financial assets    xxx  xxx  
 Current financial assets   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

        

12.1 Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments reflect the positive change in 
fair value of those foreign exchange forward contracts that are not designated in 
hedge relationships, but are, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of foreign 
currency risk for expected sales and purchases. 

IFRS 7.32A 

   

12.2 Derivatives designated as hedging instruments reflect the positive change in fair 
value of foreign exchange forward contracts, designated as cash flow hedges to 
hedge highly probable forecast sales in US dollars (USD). Refer note 45 for details 
on hedging activities and derivatives. 

 

   

12.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include investments in listed 
equity shares. Fair values of these equity shares are determined by reference to 
published price quotations in an active market. 

 

   

12.4 Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI include investments in 
equity shares of non-listed companies. The Group holds non-controlling interests 
(between 2% and 9%) in these companies. These investments were irrevocably 
designated at fair value through OCI as the Group considers these investments to 
be strategic in nature. 
 
In 20X9, the Group sold its equity interest in Hard Rock Limited as this investment 
no longer coincides with the Group’s investment strategy. The fair value on the 
date of sale is Rs. xxx and the accumulated gain recognised in OCI of Rs. xxx was 
transferred to retained earnings. In 20X9, the Group received dividends in the 
amount of Rs. xxx from Power Limited. 

IFRS 7.11A(b) 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.11A(e) 
IFRS 7.11B 
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         Reference 

          

12.5 Long term loans        IFRS.8(c) 
      20X9  20X8  

    Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

          

 Loans to:        
         

 Directors  12.5.1  xxx  xxx  

 Associated companies  12.5.2  xxx  xxx  

 Employees  12.5.3      

 Executives    xxx  xxx  

 Other employees     xxx  xxx  

     xxx  xxx  

 Provision for expected credit losses 12.5.4  (xxx)  (xxx)  

    xxx  xxx  

 Current portion of long term loans and advances       

 Directors   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Associated company   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Employees   (xxx)  (xxx)  

      xxx  xxx  

12.5.1 Long term loans to directors       

 

The Group's Board of Directors has adopted a policy that there should be no loans to 
Directors, except for loans to fund expenditure to defend Directors in legal or regulatory 
proceedings. The loans provided are unsecured and bear interest at six month KIBOR + 
1.5% (20X8: six month KIBOR + 1.5%) per annum. The effective interest rate was 6% 
(20X8: 6.5%) per annum. The reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and 
end of the period is as under: 

4th Schd 
VI(17)(19) 

        

    20X8  20X7  

    (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

        

 As at January 01   xxx  xxx  

 Disbursements   xxx  -  

 Receipts   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 As at December 31   xxx  xxx  

        

 
The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X8: 
Rs. xxx).  

   

12.5.2 Long term loan to associated companies     

    20X8  20X7  

    (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 
The loans to associated companies are as per 
below details:       

 Heavenly Company Limited (a)  xxx  xxx  

 Pak Land Company Limited (b)  xxx  xxx  

 Pak Zameen Company Limited (c)  xxx  -  

 Foreign Land Company Limited (d)  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

        
(a) This represents unsecured loan to the parent company and bears interest at six month 

KIBOR + 1.5% (20X8: six month KIBOR + 1.5%) per annum. The effective interest rate was 
6% (20X8: 6.5%) per annum. The first repayment of Rs. xxxx is due on June 30, 20X9 and 
the remainder is repayable on December 31, 2X21. 

4th Schd 
VI(19) 

        

 
The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X8: 
Rs. XXX).  
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  Reference 

(b) Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx remains outstanding at December 31, 20X9 (20X8: Rs. xxx) 
from Pak Land Company Limited. The loan is unsecured and interest on this loan is 
charged at a fixed rate of 5% per year. The loan is repayable in full on December 31, 
20XX. The maximum amount due as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. 
xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). 

4th Schd VI(19) 

        
(c) Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx remains outstanding at December 31, 20X9 (20X8: Rs. xxx) 

from Pak Zameen Company Limited. The loan carries mark-up @ 6% (20X7: 6%) per 
annum and secured against the land and machinery. The Group has provided the loan 
to Pak Zameen Limited for the procurement and installation of its new plant, at terms 
other than arm’s length basis as Pak Zameen Limited has no revenue generating 
stream. In accordance with the terms of the agreement the loan is repayable in two 
annual installments, due on December 31, 20XX and 20XX. The maximum amount due 
as at the end of any month during the year was Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). 4th Schd VI(19) 

   
(d) Loan amounting to Rs. xxxx (equivalent USD XXXX) remains outstanding at December 

31, 20X9(20X8: Rs. xxx (equivalent USD XXX) from Foreign Land Company Limited 
registered in Foreign Land. 

4th Schd       
VI(8)(i-iii), 

(19)(i) 

   
 The loan is unsecured and repayable in full on December 31, 20XX. The interest is 

charged at a fixed rate of 2% per year, and during the year the Group earned interest 
of Rs. xxxx (20X8: Rs. xxx).  The maximum amount due as at the end of any month 
during the year was Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. XXX).  Interest earned during the year is 
included in finance income. 

4th Schd 
VI(8)(iv-v),  

19(i-iv) 

   

 
The majority beneficial owner of the foreign land company is Mr. Foreigner and his 
address is XFL Building, Haunted Valley, Foreign Land. 

4th Schd 
VI(8)(ii) 

   

 
There is no pending litigation against foreign land company in any jurisdiction. 
Further, there has been no default in respect of this loan till date. 

4th Schd 
VI(8)(vi-vii) 

       

12.5.3 Long term loans to employees  

        

 

The loans are granted to the employees of the Group in accordance with the Group’s 
employment rules for house building and conveyance loans. These loans are for 
maximum period of 10 and 3 years, respectively. These loans are secured against the 
underlying assets. The loans carry an effective interest rate of 5% (20X8: 5.5%) per 
annum and are repayable in cash in accordance with predefined repayment schedule.  

   

12.5.4 Movement of allowance for expected credit loss of long term loans  

   

    Restated  

   20X9 20X8  

  Note (Rupees) (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1  xxx xxx  

 Allowance for impairment for the year  xxx xxx  

 Amount written off  (xxx) (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31  xxx xxx  

       

13. Long term deposits and prepayments       

    20X9  20X8  

    (Rupees)  
(Rup
ees)  

        

 Security deposits   xxx  xxx IAS 1.77 

 Prepayments   xxx  xxx IAS 1.77 

    xxx  xxx  
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14. Inventories 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.77  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, further 

subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the 
entity’s operations. 

  
IAS 1.78(c)  The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements of IFRSs and on the 

size, nature and function of the amounts involved. An entity also uses the factors set out in 
paragraph 58 to decide the basis of subclassification. The disclosures vary for each item, for 
example: 

  
 (c) inventories are disaggregated, in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories, into classifications 

such as merchandise, production supplies, materials, work in progress and finished 
goods; 

  
IAS 1.97  When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature and 

amount separately. 
  
IAS 1.98(a)  Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items of income and 

expense include: 
  
 (a) write-downs of inventories to net realisable value or of property, plant and equipment 

to recoverable amount, as well as reversals of such write-downs. 
  
IAS 2.36(a)  The financial statements shall disclose: 
  
 (a) the accounting policies adopted in measuring inventories, including the cost formula 

used; 
  
 (b) the total carrying amount of inventories and the carrying amount in classifications 

appropriate to the entity; 
  
 (c) the carrying amount of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell; 
  
 (d) the amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period; 
  
 (e) the amount of any write-down of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 

accordance with paragraph 34; 
  
 (f) the amount of any reversal of any write-down that is recognised as a reduction in the 

amount of inventories recognised as expense in the period in accordance with paragraph 
34; 

  
 (g) the circumstances or events that led to the reversal of a write-down of inventories in 

accordance with paragraph 34; and 
  
 (h) the carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities. 
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        Reference 

14. Inventories        

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

          

 Raw materials    xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.78(c),  
IAS 2.36(b) 

 Consumable stores    xxx  xxx 
 IAS 1.78(c),  
IAS 2.36(b) 

 Work in progress    xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.78(c),  
IAS 2.36(b) 

 Finished goods     xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.78(c),  
IAS 2.36(b) 

     xxx  xxx  

 Stock in transit   xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.78(c), 
IAS 2.36(b) 

 Stores, spare parts and loose tools   xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.78(c), 
IAS 2.36(b) 

     xxx  xxx  

 
Provision for slow moving and obsolete 
stock   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 
Provision for slow moving and obsolete 
stores, spares and loose tools    (xxx)  (xxx)  

     xxx  xxx   

          

14.1 Cost of inventories as expenditure  
 The cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted to Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). IAS 2.36(d) 
    

14.2 Provision for slow moving and obsolete stock  
    20X9  20X8  
    (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1 xxx  xxx  
 Provision for the year   xxx  xxx IAS 1.98(a),  

IAS 2.36(e) 
 Reversal during the year   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31   xxx  xxx  

        
 The Group reversed Rs. xxx of a previous inventory write-down in July 20X8. The 

Group has sold all the finished goods that were written down to an independent 
retailer in Saudi Arabia at original cost. 

IAS 2.36(f)(g) 

   
 The write-down and reversals are included in cost of sales.  
    

14.3 Provision for slow moving and obsolete stores, 
spares and loose tools   

 

   20X9  20X8  
   (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1  xxx  xxx  
 Provision for the year  xxx  xxx IAS 1.98(a),  

IAS 2.36(e) 

 Balance as at December 31  xxx  xxx  

       

 The write-down are included in cost of sales.  

   

14.4 Pledged as security  

 At December 31, 20X9 Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) of the Group’s raw material was pledged 
as security for a Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) loan from ABC Bank. 

IAS 2.36(h) 
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15. Trade and other receivables 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
  
IAS 1.77  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, further 

subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the 
entity’s operations. 

  
IAS 1.78(b) The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements of IFRSs and on the 

size, nature and function of the amounts involved. An entity also uses the factors set out in 
paragraph 58 to decide the basis of subclassification. The disclosures vary for each item, for 
example: 

  
 (b) receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from trade customers, 

receivables from related parties, prepayments and other amounts; 
  

IFRS 7.35H       To explain the changes in the loss allowance and the reasons for those changes, an entity 

shall provide, by class of financial instrument, a reconciliation from the opening balance to 

the closing balance of the loss allowance, in a table, showing separately the changes during 

the period for: 

  

 (a) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses; 

  

 (b) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses for: 

  

 (i) financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets; 

  

 (ii) financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 
purchased or originated credit-impaired); and 

  

 (iii) trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables for which the loss allowances 
are measured in accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9. 

  
 (c) financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired. In addition to the 

reconciliation, an entity shall disclose the total amount of undiscounted expected credit 
losses at initial recognition on financial assets initially recognised during the reporting 
period. 

  

Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(9)     

In cases where company has made export sales following disclosures are required to be made 
in respect of outstanding trade debts:  

  
 (i) Amount of export sales made in each foreign jurisdiction along with break up into 

confirmed LC, contract or other significant categories;  
  
 (ii) Name of company or undertaking in case of related party;  
  
 (iii) Name of defaulting parties, relationship if any, and the default amount; and  
  
 (iv) Brief description of any legal action taken against the defaulting parties. 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(20)   

In respect of debts/receivables from associates and related parties there shall be disclosed, 

  
 (i) the name of each associate and related party;   
  
 (ii) the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated by 

reference to month-end balances;  
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15. Trade and other receivables Continued… 

  
 (iii) receivables, that are either past due or impaired, along with age analysis distinguishing 

between trade debts, loans, advances and other receivables;  
  
 (iv) debts written off as irrecoverable, distinguishing between trade debts and other 

receivables;   
  
 (v)  provisions for doubtful or bad debts distinguishing between trade debts, loans, advances 

and other receivables; and  
  
 (vi)  justification for reversal of provisions of doubtful debts, if any; 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(22) 

Provision, if any, made for bad or doubtful loans and advances or for diminution in the 
value  of or loss in respect of any asset shall be shown as a deduction from the gross 
amounts; 
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            Reference  
15. Trade and other receivables  

    
IAS 1.78(b), 

IFRS 7.6 
    Restated  

         20X9  20X8  
       Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

 
Trade receivables from contracts with 
customers 15.1     

IFRS 15.116(a) 

         

 Related parties   15.2, 15.3  xxx  xxx IAS 1.78(b) 

 Other parties    xxx  xxx IAS 1.78(b) 

     xxx  xxx  

 Other receivables  15.5,15.6,15.7  xxx  xxx IAS 1.78(b) 

         xxx  xxx  

 

Allowance for expected credit losses      4th Schd 
VI(22),IAS 

1.77 

 
On trade receivables from contracts 
with customers 15.4  (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Other receivables 15.8  (xxx)  (xxx)  

         (xxx)  (xxx)  

         xxx  xxx   

             

15.1 Trade receivables from contracts with customers       

             

 Local sales       xxx  xxx  

 Export sales     15.1.1  xxx  xxx  

 Allowance for expected credit losses   (xxx)  (xxx) 4th SchdVI(22) 

         xxx  xxx  

   

15.1.1 Details of trade receivables from export sales 4th Schd VI(9) 

           

 
Jurisdiction 

Export 
sales 

during  
the year 

Gross trade receivables at the 
year-end 

Default 
amount 

 

Names of 
defaulting 

parties 

Legal action 
taken 

 

 
Confirmed 

LC 
Contract Total  

                                  ……………………………………………Rupees………………………………………………………  

 
Country A xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx Shady Co. 

Filed case in 
court 

  

          

 
Country B xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx Lazy & Co. 

Filed case 
for 

arbitration 

 

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx    

   
15.2 Trade receivables from contracts with customers – Due from related parties  4th Schd VI(20) 

 

Name of 
related party 

Gross 
amount 

due 

Past 
due 

amount 

Provision 
for 

expected 
credit 
losses 

Reversal of 
provision for 

expected 
credit losses 

Amou
nt due 
writte
n off 

Net 
amount 

due 

Maximum 
amount 

outstand-ing 
at any time 
during the 

year 

 

   

  ………………………………………………Rupees…………………………………………………………  

 
Foreign Land 
Company Ltd xxx xxx (xxx) - - xxx xxx   

 
Pak Land 
Company Ltd xxx xxx - xxx - xxx xxx   

   xxx xxx (xxx) xxx - xxx   

 
 

 

 During the year, provision for doubtful trade receivables due from Pak Land Company 
Limited, amounting to Rs. xxx has been reversed. This provision has been reversed as 
the Group received the due amount of Rs. xxx from Pak Land Company Limited on 
September 30, 20X9.  

4th Schd VI(20) 
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15.3 Ageing analysis of trade receivables from contracts with customers  Reference 

 

         

 

 

         

 

 
  20X9  20X8  

 

 

 

Due 
from 

related 
parties 

Other 
parties 

Total  Due 
from 

related 
parties 

Other 
parties 

Total 

 

 

 
 

…………… Rupees ……………  ……………… Rupees 
………………  

 
         

 
Not overdue xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 
Past due less than 30 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 
Past due less than 60 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 
Past due less than 90 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 

Past due less than 365 
days 

xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 
Past due over 365 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Total trade receivables xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 

Impairment provision for 
trade receivables (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 

 

  xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

          
15.3.1 Ageing analysis of trade receivables due from related parties   

    

  20X9  20X8  

  

Foreign 
Land 

Co. Ltd 

Pak 
Land 

Co. Ltd 

Total  Foreign 
Land 

Co. Ltd 

Pak 
Land 

Co. Ltd 

Total  

 

 
…………… Rupees ………………  

……………… Rupees 
……………… 

 

          

 Not overdue xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Past due less than 30 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Past due less than 60 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Past due less than 90 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Past due less than 365 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Past due over 365 days xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Total trade receivables xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 Impairment provision  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

  xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx xxx  

 
  

15.4 Movement of allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables IFRS 7.35H 

       Restated  

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1    xxx  xxx  

 Impairment charge for the year  46  xxx  xxx  

 Amounts written off    (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Reduction/reversal    (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31    xxx  xxx  
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       Reference 
15.5 Other receivables        

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

         
 Due from related parties    xxx  xxx IAS 1.78(b) 

 

Accrued income on investments and bank 
deposits   xxx  xxx  

 Insurance claim   xxx  xxx IAS 1.78(b) 

         xxx  xxx  

             
15.6 Other receivables – Due from related parties      

       

 

Name of 
related party 

Gross 
amount 

due 

Past due 
receivabl

es / 
loans 

Provision 
for 

doubtful 
receivabl
es/ loans 

Reversal of 
provision of 

doubtful 
receivables 

/ loans 

Amount 
due 

written 
off 

Net 
amount 

due 

Maximum 
amount 

outstanding 
at any time 
during the 

year 

4th Schd 
VI(20) 

  ………………………………………………………………Rupees………………………………………………………  

 

Pak Land 
Company 
Limited xxx xxx - - - xxx xxx   

  xxx xxx xxx xxx  xxx xxx   

   

   

15.7 Age analysis of other receivables from related parties 4th Schd 
VI(20) 

   

   
Not 
past 
due 

  

Past due Total gross 
amount due 

 

 
  Past due 

0-30 days 
Past 
due 

31-60 
days 

Past due 
61-90 
days 

Past due 
91-365 
days 

Past due 
365 days 

  

 

  

  

 
 

……………………………………………………Rupees………………………………………………………………   

 
Pak Land 
Company Limited xxx xxx - - - - xxx   

   

 This represents receivable in respect of various expenses incurred for Pak Land Company 
Limited, a related party, which is repayable on December 31, 2020. There is no security 
for this receivable. 

 

 

   

15.8 Movement of allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables IFRS 7.35H 

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1    xxx  xxx  

 
Allowance for impairment for the 
year  46  xxx  xxx  

 Amounts written off    (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31    xxx  xxx  
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16. Contract assets 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.55 An entity shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line items listed 

in paragraph 54), headings and subtotals in the statement of financial position when such 
presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position. 

  
IFRS 15.105  When either party to a contract has performed, an entity shall present the contract in the 

statement of financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the 
relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. An entity shall 
present any unconditional rights to consideration separately as a receivable. 

  
IFRS 15 BC 320 The boards decided that IFRS 15 should not specify whether an entity is required to present 

its contract assets and contract liabilities as separate line items in the statement of financial 
position. Instead, an entity should apply the general principles for the presentation of 
financial statements to determine whether to present contract assets and contract liabilities 
separately in the statement of financial position. For example, IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements requires an entity to present separately each class of similar items and 
items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are immaterial. 

  
IFRS 7.35H  To explain the changes in the loss allowance and the reasons for those changes, an entity 

shall provide, by class of financial instrument , a reconciliation from the opening balance 
to the closing balance of the loss allowance, in a table, showing separately the changes 
during the period for: 

  
 (a) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to 12‑month expected credit losses; 
  
 (b) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses for: 
  
 (i)  financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition but that are not credit impaired financial assets; 
  
 (ii) financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 

purchased or originated credit-impaired); and 
  
 (iii)  trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables for which the loss allowances 

are measured in accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9. 
  
 (c) financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired. In addition to the 

reconciliation, an entity shall disclose the total amount of undiscounted expected credit 
losses at initial recognition on financial assets initially recognised during the reporting 
period. 
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            Reference 
16. Contract assets       

           Restated  

    20X9  20X8    
       Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

        IFRS15(105) 

         

 Contract assets    xxx  xxx  

 Allowance for expected credit losses 16.1  (xxx)  (xxx) IFRS 15.113(b) 

         xxx  xxx  

             

 

Contract assets relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for work completed but not 
billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to trade debtors when 
the rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group invoices the 
customers. 

 

   

16.1 Movement of allowance for expected credit losses of contract assets IFRS 7.35H 

   

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1    xxx  xxx  

 Impairment charge for the year  46  xxx  xxx  

 Amounts written off    (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31    xxx  xxx  
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17. Prepayment, deposits and advances 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.77 An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, further 

subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the 
entity’s operations. 

  
IAS 1.78(b) The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements of IFRSs and on the 

size, nature and function of the amounts involved. An entity also uses the factors set out in 
paragraph 58 to decide the basis of subclassification. The disclosures vary for each item, for 
example: 

  
 (b) receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from trade customers, 

receivables from related parties, prepayments and other amounts; 
  
IFRS 7.16 When financial assets are impaired by credit losses and the entity records the impairment 

in a separate account (e.g. an allowance account used to record individual impairments or 
a similar account used to record a collective impairment of assets) rather than directly 
reducing the carrying amount of the asset, it shall disclose a reconciliation of changes in 
that account during the period for each class of financial assets. 

  

Disclosure requirements specified by 4th schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 
  
4th Schd VI(20) In respect of debts/receivables from associates and related parties there shall be disclosed, 

 
 (i) the name of each associate and related party;   
  

 (ii) the maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year calculated 
by reference to month-end balances;  

  

 (iii) receivables, that are either past due or impaired, along with age analysis 
distinguishing between trade debts, loans, advances and other receivables;  

  

 (iv) debts written off as irrecoverable, distinguishing between trade debts and other 
receivables;   

  

 (v) provisions for doubtful or bad debts distinguishing between trade debts, loans, 
advances and other receivables; and  

  

 (vi) justification for reversal of provisions of doubtful debts, if any. 
  
4th Schd VI(21) In respect of loans and advances, other than those to the suppliers of goods or services, the 

name of the borrower and terms of repayment if the loan or advance exceeds rupees one 
million, together with the particulars of collateral security, if any, shall be disclosed 
separately. 

  
4th Schd VI(22) Provision, if any, made for bad or doubtful loans and advances or for diminution in the value 

of or loss in respect of any asset shall be shown as a deduction from the gross amounts. 
 

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 138 

      Reference 

17. Prepayments, deposits and advances    

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

 Short-term loans and advances        

 Advance to a related party  17.1  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.78(b) 

 Loans and advances to employees    xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.77, 

1.78(b) 

 Advances to suppliers  17.2  xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.77, 

1.78(b) 

     xxx  xxx   

 Short-term deposits    xxx  xxx 
 IAS 1.77, 

1.78(b) 

 Sort-term prepayments    xxx  xxx  IAS 1.78(b) 

 
Current portion of long term loans and 
advances    xxx  xxx IAS 1.77  

    xxx  xxx  

 
Allowance for expected credit loss – advances to 
suppliers 17.4  (xxx)  (xxx) 4th Schd VI(22)) 

     xxx  xxx  
         

17.1 Advance to a related party 4th Schd VI(20) 

 This represents amount advanced to Jupiter Company Limited, a related party due to 
common directorship. The advanced amount is repayable on December 31, 2020. The 
advance is considered good and secured against the plant of the Jupiter Company Limited. 
The maximum aggregate amount outstanding at any time during the year is same as the 
above carrying amount of advance. 

 

        

17.2 Advances to suppliers  

 Advances to suppliers are non-adjustable and are refundable after the contract with the 
supplier is concluded.   

        

17.3 Loans and advances exceeding Rs. 1 million    4th Schd VI(21) 

    20X9  20X8  

 Category   (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Rs. 1 million to Rs. 2 million      

 Advance to a related party  xxx  xxx  

 Loans and advances to employees  xxx  xxx  

 Advances to suppliers  xxx  xxx  

   xxx  xxx  

 Rs. 2 million upto Rs. 3 million      

 Loans and advances to employees   xxx  xxx  

 Advances to suppliers   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
   

17.4 Movement of allowance for expected credit loss on advances to suppliers  

     20X9  20X8  

   Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Balance as at January 1    xxx  xxx  

 Impairment charge for the year  46  xxx  xxx  

 Amounts written off    (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31    xxx  xxx  
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18. Cash and bank balances 

  

Disclosure requirements of IFRS 
  
IAS 7.45 An entity shall disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents and shall present a 

reconciliation of the amounts in its statement of cash flows with the equivalent items reported 
in the statement of financial position. 

  
IAS 7.48 An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management, the amount of significant 

cash and cash equivalent balances held by the entity that are not available for use by the group. 
  
IFRS 7.7 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the significance of financial instruments for its financial position and performance. 
 

        Reference 
18. Cash and bank balances         

       20X9  20X8   
     Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)    

 With banks on:         

 Savings accounts – Local currency 18.1  xxx  xxx  IAS 7.45 

 Current accounts – Local currency   xxx  xxx  IAS 7.45 

  18.2  xxx  xxx   

 Cash in hand   xxx  xxx  IAS 7.45 

       xxx  xxx   

    

18.1 Rate of return on savings accounts  IFRS 7.7 

 The savings accounts earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit 
rates ranging from x% to x% (20X8: x% to x%) per annum. Short-term deposits are 
made for varying periods of between one day and one year depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective 
short-term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rate for short-
term deposits is x% (20X8: x%) per annum. 

  

    

18.2 Restriction on use   IAS 7.48 

 The bank balances include an amount of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) in respect of cash 
margins on imports kept with commercial banks. The cash margins are subject to 
regulatory restrictions and are therefore not available for general use by the other 
entities within the Group.   

  

    

 Balances with banks also include Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) in respect of security 
deposits received. 

 

 

18.3 Cash and cash equivalents  
IAS 7.45 

    

 The above figures of cash and bank balances reconcile to the amount of cash and 
cash equivalents shown in the statement of cash flows at the end of the financial 
year as follows: 

 

 

        20X9  20X8   

     Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)   

            

 Cash and bank balances       xxx  xxx   

 Short-term running finance    23  (xxx)  (xxx)   

 
Cash and cash equivalents per statement 
of cash flows   xxx  xxx 
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19. Assets held for sale 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 5.38 An entity shall present a non-current asset classified as held for sale and the assets of a 

disposal group classified as held for sale separately from other assets in the statement of 
financial position. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale shall be 
presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Those 
assets and liabilities shall not be offset and presented as a single amount. The major classes 
of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale shall be separately disclosed either in the 
statement of financial position or in the notes, except as permitted by paragraph 39. An 
entity shall present separately any cumulative income or expense recognised in other 
comprehensive income relating to a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held 
for sale. 

  
IFRS 5.39 If the disposal group is a newly acquired subsidiary that meets the criteria to be classified 

as held for sale on acquisition (see paragraph 11), disclosure of the major classes of assets 
and liabilities is not required. 

  
IFRS 5.40 An entity shall not reclassify or re-present amounts presented for non-current assets or for 

the assets and liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale in the statements of 
financial position for prior periods to reflect the classification in the statement of financial 
position for the latest period presented. 

  
 

19. Assets held for sale       Reference 

         

 

As at December 31, 20X8, assets held for sale comprised of following. These 
represent cement manufacturing and trading business segment and have been 
disposed of during the year. 

 IFRS 5.38 

     20X8   
     (Rupees)    

 Assets        

 Property, plant and equipment    xxx   
 Inventories    xxx   
 Investment property    xxx   
 Trade and other receivables    xxx    

     xxx   
 Liabilities       

 Trade and other payables    (xxx)   
 Deferred tax liabilities    (xxx)   

     (xxx)   

     xxx    

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 141 

20. Share capital 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 

  
IAS 1.79  An entity shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or the 

statement of changes in equity, or in the notes: 
  
 (a) for each class of share capital: 
  
 (i) the number of shares authorised; 
  
 (ii) the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid; 
  
 (iii) par value per share, or that the shares have no par value; 
  
 (iv) a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end 

of the period; 
  
 (v) the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that class including restrictions 

on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital; 
  
 (vi) shares in the entity held by the entity or by its subsidiaries or associates; and 
  
 (vii) shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for the sale of shares, including 

terms and amounts; and 
  
 (b) a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. 
  
IAS 32.33  If an entity reacquires its own equity instruments, those instruments (‘treasury shares’) shall 

be deducted from equity.  No gain or loss shall be recognised in profit or loss on the 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of an entity’s own equity instruments.  Such treasury 
shares may be acquired and held by the entity or by other members of the consolidated 
group.  Consideration paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.   

  
IAS 32.34  The amount of treasury shares held is disclosed separately either in the statement of 

financial position or in the notes, in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements.  An entity provides disclosure in accordance with IAS 24 Related Party 
Disclosures if the entity reacquires its own equity instruments from related parties.  

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(24)   

In respect of issued share capital of a company following shall be disclosed separately:  

  
 (i) shares allotted for consideration paid in cash;  
  
 (ii) shares allotted for consideration other than cash, showing separately shares issued 

against property and others (to be specified);   
  
 (iii) shares allotted as bonus shares; and  
  
 (iv) treasury shares; 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(25)   

Shareholder agreements for voting rights, board selection, rights of first refusal, and block 
voting shall be disclosed.  
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  Reference 

20.  Share capital  

   

20.1  Authorised share capital IAS 1.78 (e) 

   

 20X9  20X8    20X9  20X8  

 Numbers  Numbers    Rupees  Rupees  

    Ordinary shares       

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each paid 
in cash    xxx  xxx 

IAS 1.79(a)(i)(iii) 

    Preference shares       

 xxx  xxx 

Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each 
issued at premium of Rs. 2 per 
share, paid in cash    xxx  xxx 

IAS 1.79(a)(i)(iii) 

 xxx  xxx    xxx  xxx  

   

20.2  Issued, subscribed and paid up capital   
 

 
 IAS 

1.79(a)(ii)(iii) 

          

20.2.1 The breakup of ordinary and preference paid up share capital is as follows:     

           

 20X9  20X8    20X9  20X8  

 Numbers  Numbers  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

    Ordinary shares        

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each paid 
in cash    xxx  xxx 

4th Schd VI(24)(i) 

 xxx  xxx 

Ordinary shares issued as fully paid 
for consideration other than cash 
(against property)    xxx  xxx 

4th Schd VI(24)(ii) 

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares allotted as bonus 
shares   xxx  xxx 

4th Schd VI(24)(iii) 

 (xxx)  (xxx) Treasury shares     (xxx)  (xxx) 

IAS 1.79 a(vi),IAS 
32.33,34, 4th Schd 

VI(24)(iv) 

 xxx  xxx    xxx  xxx  

    Preference shares        

 xxx  xxx 
Ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each paid 
in cash    xxx  xxx 

4th Schd VI(24)(i) 

       

20.2.2 Reconciliation of number of shares outstanding      IAS 1.79(a)(iv) 

    20X9  20X8  

    No.  No.   

 Ordinary shares       

 
Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the 
year  xxx  xxx   

 Issued for cash  xxx  xxx   

 Issued for consideration other than cash  xxx  xxx  

 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year  xxx  xxx   

      

 Preference shares  

 
As there is no further issuance of preference shares during the year, the reconciliation 
of number of shares outstanding for preference shares is not provided. 
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  Reference 
 
20.3 Ordinary shares  

20.3.1 All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual assets. Holders of 
these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 
to one vote per share at general meetings of the Group. All rights attached to the 
Group’s shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares are reissued. 
 
Pursuant, to a covenant contained in the long-term loan agreement with ABC Bank, 
the Group is prevented from the distribution of dividends when the Group’s current 
ratio (current assets ÷ current liabilities) is less than 3:1. 

IAS 1.79(a)(v) 

 
  

 
 

 

       
20.3.2 In October 20X9, the general meeting of shareholders approved the issue of 130,000 

ordinary shares at an exercise price of Rs. xx per share. Additionally, 5,000 ordinary 
shares were issued as a result of the exercise of vested options arising from the 20X7 
share option programme granted to key management personnel (20X8: nil). Options 
were exercised at an average price of Rs. xx per option. 

 

       
20.3.3 In pursuance of the agreement between the parent company and shareholder B, xxxx 

ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each were transferred to Shareholder B on June 30, 20X8. 
Consequent to this, Shareholder B has 8% shareholding of the Group. The share transfer 
agreement also entitles shareholder B with first refusal right in which any shares to be 
sold in future by the parent company have to be first offered to shareholder B. 

4th Schd VI(24) 

   

20.4 Preference shares  

 The preference shares are non-redeemable. Preference shareholders participate only 
to the extent of the face value of the shares in the residual value of the Group.  Holders 
of these shares receive a non‑cumulative dividend of Rs.xx per share at the Group’s 
discretion, or whenever dividends to ordinary shareholders are declared. They do not 
have the right to participate in any additional dividends declared for ordinary 
shareholders. These shares do not have voting rights. 

IAS 1.79(a)(v) 
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21. Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 16.41 The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of an item of property, plant and 

equipment may be transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised. 
This may involve transferring the whole of the surplus when the asset is retired or disposed 
of. However, some of the surplus may be transferred as the asset is used by an entity. In 
such a case, the amount of the surplus transferred would be the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on 
the asset’s original cost. Transfers from revaluation surplus to retained earnings are not 
made through profit or loss 

  
IAS 16.42 The effects of taxes on income, if any, resulting from the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment are recognised and disclosed in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. 
  
IAS 16.77 If items of property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts, the following 

shall be disclosed in addition to the disclosures required by IFRS 13: 
  
 (f) the revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on 

the distribution of the balance to shareholders. 
 

      Reference 
   

21. Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  IAS 16.77(f) 
         

 

The revaluation surplus represents net cumulative increase in the carrying amount as 
a result of revaluation of property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amount. 
The surplus revaluation is restated and now presented as a separate capital reserve in 
the financial statements (note 3.26).   

     Restated  

   20X9  20X8  

  Note Rupees  Rupees  
       

 Revaluation surplus as at January 1   xxx  xxx IAS 16.77(f)  

 Surplus/(deficit) arising on revaluation :       

 Land 5.3 xxx  xxx  

 Buildings 5.3 xxx  xxx  

 Leasehold improvements 5.3 (xxx)  (xxx)  

   xxx  xxx  

 

Deferred tax liability on revaluation surplus  (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 12.81)(ab), 
IAS 16.42, 

IAS1.90 

   xxx  xxx  
       

 

Net amount transferred to unappropriated profit on 
account of  

Incremental depreciation  

 

xxx  xxx 

IAS 16.41 

 

Deferred tax on incremental depreciation  (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 12.81)(ab), 
IAS16.42, 

IAS1.90 

   (xxx)  (xxx)  

   xxx  xxx   

       
21.1 Restriction on distribution  IAS 16.77(f) 

 The surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment is not available for 
distribution to the shareholders in accordance with section 241 of the Companies Act, 
2017.  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 145 

22. Other reserves 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.79 (b)  An entity shall disclose the following, either in the statement of financial position or the 

statement of changes in equity, or in the notes: 
  
 (b) a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity. 
  

 

      Reference 

22. Other reserves      IAS 1.79(a)(iv) 

    20X9  20X8  

    No.  No.   

 Revenue reserves comprise of:       

 Hedging reserve 22.1 xxx  xxx   

 Cost of hedging reserve 22.2 xxx  xxx   

 Fair value reserve 22.3 xxx  xxx  

 Share options reserve 22.4 xxx  xxx  

 Foreign currency translation reserve 22.5 xxx  xxx  

 Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year  xxx  xxx   

      
22.1 Hedging reserve  

 The hedging reserve comprises the spot element of forward contract. The amount 
represents effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging 
instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss 
as the hedged cash flows or items affect profit or loss. 

IAS 1.79(b) 
 

   

22.2 Cost of hedging reserve  

 This represents forward element of the forward contracts used for hedging.  The Group 
designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The 
forward element is recognised in OCI and accumulated in a separate component of 
equity under cost of hedging reserve. 

 

   

22.3 Fair value reserve  

 The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of 
financial assets designated at fair value through OCI. 

IAS 1.79(b) 
 

   

22.4 Share options reserve  

 The share option reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based 
payments provided to employees, including key management personnel, as part of 
their remuneration 

 

   

22.5 Foreign currency translation  

 Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve with 
in equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net 
investment is disposed of. 

IAS 1.79(b) 
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23. Financial liabilities  

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.77  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, further 

subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the 
entity’s operations. 

  
IAS 16.74(a)  The financial statements shall also disclose: 
  
 (a) the existence and amounts of restrictions on title, and property, plant and equipment 

pledged as security for liabilities; 
  
IFRS 7.6  When this IFRS requires disclosures by class of financial instrument, an entity shall group 

financial instruments into classes that are appropriate to the nature of the information 
disclosed and that take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. An 
entity shall provide sufficient information to permit reconciliation to the line items 
presented in the statement of financial position. 

  
IFRS 7.7  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the significance of financial instruments for its financial position and performance. 
  
IFRS 7.8  The carrying amounts of each of the following categories, as specified in IFRS 9, shall be 

disclosed either in the statement of financial position or in the notes: 
  
 (a) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, showing separately (i) those 

designated as such upon initial recognition or subsequently in accordance with 
paragraph 6.7.1 of IFRS 9 and (ii) those mandatorily measured at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.; 

  
 (f) instruments that are required to be classified as equity instruments in accordance with 

paragraphs 16A and 16B or paragraphs 16C and 16D of IAS 32. 
  
IFRS 7.14  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) the carrying amount of financial assets it has pledged as collateral for liabilities or 

contingent liabilities, including amounts that have been reclassified in accordance with 
paragraph 3.2.23(a) of IFRS 9; and 

  
 (b) the terms and conditions relating to its pledge. 
  
IFRS 16.47 (b)  A lessee shall either present in the statement of financial position, or disclose 

in the notes: 
  
 (b) lease liabilities separately from other liabilities. If the lessee does not present lease 

liabilities separately in the statement of financial position, the lessee shall disclose 
which line items in the statement of financial position include those liabilities. 

  
IFRS 16.53        A lessee shall disclose the following amounts for the reporting period: 
  
 (b) depreciation charge for right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset; 
  
 (c)  interest expense on lease liabilities; 
  
 (d) the expense relating to short-term leases accounted for applying paragraph 6. This 

expense need not include the expense relating to leases with a lease term of one month 
or less; 

  
 (e) the expense relating to leases of low-value assets accounted for applying paragraph 6. 

This expense shall not include the expense relating to short term leases of low-value 
assets included in paragraph 53(c); 
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23. Financial liabilities Continued… 

 (f) the expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of 
lease liabilities; 

  
 (g) income from subleasing right-of-use assets; 
  
 (h) total cash outflow for leases; 
  
 (i) additions to right-of-use assets; 
  
 (j) gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions; and 
  
 (k) the carrying amount of right-of-use assets at the end of the reporting period by class of 

underlying asset. 
  

IFRS 16.58      A lessee shall disclose a maturity analysis of lease liabilities applying paragraphs 39 and B11 
of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures separately from the maturity analyses of other 
financial liabilities. 

  

IFRS 16.59      In addition to the disclosures required in paragraphs 53–58, a lessee shall disclose additional 
qualitative and quantitative information about its leasing activities necessary to meet the 
disclosure objective in paragraph 51 (as described in paragraph B48). This additional 
information may include, but is not limited to, information that helps users of financial 
statements to assess: 

  
 (a) the nature of the lessee’s leasing activities; 
  
 (b) future cash outflows to which the lessee is potentially exposed that are not reflected 

in the measurement of lease liabilities. This includes exposure arising from: 
  
 (i) variable lease payments (as described in paragraph B49); 
 (ii) extension options and termination options (as described  in paragraph B50);  
 (iii) residual value guarantees (as described in paragraph B51); and 
 (iv) leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is committed. 
  
 (c) restrictions or covenants imposed by leases; and 
  
 (d) sale and leaseback transactions (as described in paragraph B52). 
  
IFRS 16.60      A lessee that accounts for short-term leases or leases of low-value assets applying paragraph 

6 shall disclose that fact. 
  
IFRS 16.97     A lessor shall disclose a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease 

payments to be received on an annual basis for a minimum of each of the first five years 
and a total of the amounts for the remaining years. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(3)   

General nature of any credit facilities available to the company under any contract, other 
than trade credit available in the ordinary course of business, and not availed of at the date 
of the statement of financial position; 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(27)   

Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items:  

 (v) Loans and advances shall be classified as secured and unsecured 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(26)   

Amount due to associated companies and related parties shall be disclosed separately. 
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23. Financial liabilities      Reference 

      Restated  

    20X9  20X8   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees IAS 1.77 

        

 Non-current       

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 23.1  xxx  xxx   

 
Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss – 
Non hedge  23.6  xxx  xxx  

 Derivatives designated as hedging instruments 23.7  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

 Current       

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 23.1  xxx  xxx  

 
Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss – 
Non hedge  23.6  xxx  xxx  

 Derivatives designated as hedging instruments 23.7  xxx  xxx  

 Trade  payables 28  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

23.1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost       

 Non-current loans and borrowings       

 Bank Borrowings        

 
Local currency loan from ABC Bank Limited – 
Secured 23.1.1  xxx  xxx   

 
Foreign currency loan from Urumqi Bank Limited – 
Secured 23.1.2  xxx  xxx  

        

 Loans from related parties       

 Parent company – Secured 23.2  xxx  - 4th Schd V(26) 

 Associated company – Unsecured 23.3  xxx  - 4th Schd V(26) 

    xxx  xxx   

 Lease liabilities 23.4  xxx  xxx   

         

 
Less: Current portion of long term financing shown 
under current liabilities   xxx  xxx   

    xxx  xxx   

 Current loans and borrowings       

 Lease liabilities 23.4  xxx  xxx  

 Short-term running finance facilities from:       
4th Schd 

VI(27)(iii)(v) 

 - Bank A – Secured 23.5.1  xxx  xxx  

 - Bank B – Secured 23.5.2  xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

23.1.1 Loan from bank - ABC Bank Limited       

 

The loan is secured against first charge on freehold land and buildings, and pledge 
against inventory of the Group. It is repayable in 40 installments on quarterly basis 
starting from January 21 20X8 and then on each mark-up payment date at a mark-up 
rate of 8.25% per annum. The mark-up is payable on quarterly basis in arrear. The Group 
may not pay dividend until certain financial requirements under these facilities are 
satisfied. 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.7, IFRS 
7.14(a) 
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23.1.2 Loan from bank - Urumqi Bank Limited Reference 

 

The loan is denominated in US dollars and is secured against first charge on the 
investment property of the Group. The loan carries mark up at LIBOR plus 1 percent 
(20X8: LIBOR plus 1 percent) is repayable in 8 quarterly installments by June 30, 
2021.The markup is payable on quarterly basis in arrear. 

IFRS 7.7 

   

23.2 Loan from a related party  - Parent company   

 During the year, the Group has obtained a loan from the parent company. This loan is 
secured against pledge of computer software and repayable in 4 equal installments 
commencing from June 26, 2020. The mark-up payable on quarterly basis in arrear is 
fixed at 7% per annum. 

IFRS 7.7 

 

  

   

23.3 Loan from a related party  - Associated company IFRS 7.7 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Undiscounted amount received   xxx  xxx  

 Effect of discounting   (xxx)  (xxx)   

 Fair value of interest free loan   xxx  xxx   

 Unwinding of discount 38  xxx  xxx   

 Balance as at December 31   xxx  xxx   

        

        

 

This represents interest-free loan from Blue Land Company Limited, an associated 
company due to common directorship. This loan is unsecured and repayable in full on 
June 22, 2X22. Pursuant to the Group’s accounting policy, this interest-free loan has 
been recognised at fair value being the present value of the future outflow as per the 
agreed-upon loan repayment schedule (due on June 26, 2X22). The present value is 
calculated by applying the discount rate of xx% per annum, being the market interest 
rate prevalent for similar instruments as at date of receipt of loan. The difference 
between the fair value of loan and actual receipt has been recognised as finance income 
(refer to note 36). During the year, the unwinding of discount of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs.xxx) 
has been recognised as part of Finance costs.  

IFRS 7.7 

           
23.4 Lease liabilities  

 Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under financial 
liabilities) and the movements during the period: 

IFRS 16.54 

     Restated  

    20X9 20X8  

    Rupees Rupees  

 As at 1 January   xxx xxx  

 Additions   xxx xxx  

 Interest expense relating to lease liabilities xxx xxx IFRS 16.53(b) 

 Payments   (xxx) (xxx) IFRS 16.53(g) 

 Disposals   (xxx) (xxx)  

 As at 31 December   xxx xxx  

       

 Current    xxx xxx  

 Non-current   xxx xxx  

    xxx xxx  

23.4.1 Maturity analysis of lease liabilities IFRS 16.58 

     Restated  

    20X9 20X8  

    Rupees Rupees  

 Up to one year   xxx xxx  

 After one year   xxx xxx  

 Total lease liabilities   xxx xxx  
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  Reference 

23.4.2 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss   

  Restated  

  20X9 20X8  

  Rupees Rupees  

 Interest expense on lease liabilities xxx xxx IFRS 16.53(b) 

 Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of 
sales) xxx xxx 

IFRS 16.53(c) 

 Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in 
administrative expenses) xxx xxx 

IFRS 16.53(d) 

 Total amount recognised in profit or loss xxx xxx  

     
23.4.3 Cash outflow for leases  
 The Group had total cash outflows for leases of Rs. xxx in 20X9 (Rs. xxx in 20X8). The 

Group also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of Rs. xxx 
in 20X9 (Rs. xxx in 20X8). The future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet 
commenced are disclosed in Note 31.2.5. 

IFRS 16.53(g) 
IFRS 

16.59(b)(iv) 
IAS 7.43 

     
23.4.4 Variable lease payments  
 The Group has lease contracts for machinery that contains variable payments based on 

the number of units to be manufactured. These terms are negotiated by management 
for certain machinery that is used to manufacture products without steady customer 
demand. Management’s objective is to align the lease expense with the units 
manufactured and revenue earned. The following provides information on the Group’s 
variable lease payments, including the magnitude in relation to fixed payments: 

IFRS 
16.59(b)(i) 

IFRS 16.B49 

      

  Fixed 
payments 

Variable 
payments 

Total 
 

 20X9 Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Fixed rent xxx - xxx  
 Variable rent with minimum payment xxx - xxx  
 Variable rent only  xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx  

      
      
 20X8 Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Fixed rent xxx - xxx  
 Variable rent with minimum payment xxx - xxx  
 Variable rent only  xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx  

   
 A 5% increase in units produced for the relevant products would increase total lease 

payments by 1%. 
 

   
23.4.5 Extension and termination options IFRS 

16.59(b)(ii) 
IFRS 16.B50 

 The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. 
These options are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the 
leased-asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business needs. Management exercises 
significant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options 
are reasonably certain to be exercised (see Note 3.16). 

 

   
 Set out below are the undiscounted potential future rental payments relating to periods 

following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included 
in the lease term: 
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  Reference 
  Within five 

years 
More than 
five years 

Total 
 

 20X8 Rupees Rupees Rupees  
 Extension options expected not to be exercised xxx xxx xxx  
 Termination options expected to be exercised xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx  

 20X9     

 Extension options expected not to be 
exercised 

xxx xxx xxx  

 Termination options expected to be exercised xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx  

   
23.5 Short-term running finance       

        

23.5.1 Bank A – Secured  

 This represents utilized amount of running finance facility with a sanctioned limit of Rs. 
xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). The facility carries mark up at the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 1% per 
annum of the utilized amount, payable on quarterly basis. The facility is secured against 
first charge on Plant and machinery of the Group. 

IFRS 7.7 
 

 
   
23.5.2 Bank B – Secured  
 This represents utilized amount of running finance facility with a sanctioned limit of Rs. 

xxx arranged during the year by the Group. The facility carries mark up at the rate of 3 
months KIBOR + 1% per annum of the utilized amount, payable on quarterly basis. The 
facility is secured against the Group's investment in Foreign Land Company Limited. The 
total sanctioned limit of short term running finance facility is Rs. xxx (20X8: xxx) out 
which Rs. xxx (20X8:xxx) is unutilized as at the reporting date. 

IFRS 7.7 

 4th Schd VI(3) 

  

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

23.6 Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss       

        

 Foreign exchange forward contracts   xxx  -   

 Embedded derivatives   xxx  -   

    xxx  -  

   

 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments reflect the negative change in fair 
value of those foreign exchange forward contracts that are not designated in hedge 
relationships, but are, nevertheless, intended to reduce the level of foreign currency 
risk for expected sales and purchases.  

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

23.7 Derivatives designated as hedging instruments       

        

 Foreign exchange forward contracts   xxx  xxx  

 Commodity forward contracts   xxx  -  

 Interest rate swaps   xxx  -  

    xxx  xxx  

        

 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments reflect the negative change in fair value 
of foreign exchange forward contracts, designated as cash flow hedges to hedge highly 
probable future purchases in US$. This also includes the change in fair value of 
commodity forward contracts entered into during 20X8. Refer note 45 for details on 
hedging activities and derivatives.  
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  Reference 

   
23.8 Change in liabilities arising from financing activities IAS 7.44A, 

IAS 7.44C  

  
1 

January 
20X9 

Cash 
flows 

Foreign 
exchange 
movement 

Changes 
in 

fairvalue 

New 
leases 

Other 
31 

December 
20X9 

IAS 7.44B, IAS 
7.44D 

 

Current loans and 
borrowings excluding 
current lease 
liabilities xxx (xxx) xxx - - xxx xxx  

 
Current lease 
liabilities xxx (xxx) - - xxx xxx xxx  

 

Non-current loans and 
borrowings excluding 
non-current lease 
liabilities xxx xxx - - xxx (xxx) xxx  

 
Non-current lease 
liability xxx  - - xxx - xxx  

 Derivatives - xxx - - xxx - xxx  

 
Total liabilities from 
financing activities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

          

  
1 

January 
20X8 

Cash 
flows 

Foreign 
exchange 
movement 

Changes 
in 

fairvalue 

New 
leases 

Other 
31 

December 
20X9 

 

 
Current loans and 
borrowings xxx (xxx) xxx - - xxx xxx  

 
Current lease 
liabilities xxx (xxx) - - xxx xxx xxx  

 
 

Non current loans and 
borrowings xxx xxx - - xxx (xxx) xxx  

 
Non current lease 
liability xxx  - - xxx (xxx) xxx  

 Derivatives - xxx - xxx - - xxx  

 
Total liabilities from 
financing activities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

          

 

The other column includes the effect of reclassification of non-current portion of loans 
and borrowings including lease liabilities to current due to the passage of time and the 
effect of accrued but not yet paid interest on interest bearing loans and borrowings, 
including lease liabilities. The Group classifies the interest paid as cash flows from 
operating activities.   
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24. Deferred tax liability 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 12.74  An entity shall offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if: 
  
 (a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 

liabilities; and 
  
 (b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 

the same taxation authority on either: 
  
 (i) the same taxable entity; or 
  
 (ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and 

assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 

  
IAS 12.81  The following shall also be disclosed separately: 
  
 (d) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared to the previous 

accounting period; 
  
 (e) the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax 

losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the 
statement of financial position; 

  
 (g) in respect of each type of temporary difference, and in respect of each type of unused 

tax losses and unused tax credits: 
  
 (i) the amount of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the statement 

of financial position for each period presented; 
  
 (ii) the amount of the deferred tax income or expense recognised in profit or loss, 

if this is not apparent from the changes in the amounts recognised in the 
statement of financial position; 
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       Reference 
24. Deferred tax liability        

         
 The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income tax in the same 

jurisdiction, and the law allows net settlement. Therefore, they have been offset in the 
statement of financial position as follows: 

IAS 12.74  
  

 
           
        Restated   
       20X9  20X8   
     Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Deferred tax liability    xxx  xxx   
 Deferred tax asset    (xxx)  (xxx)   

       xxx  xxx   

           

  

24.1  Analysis of change in deferred tax     IAS 12.81(g) 

  
Statement of Financial 

Position 
Statement of Profit or 

loss  

  
20X9 20X8 20X9 20X8 

 

  ………………………………..Rupees………………………………..  

 
Accelerated depreciation for tax 
purposes 

(xxx) (xxx) xxx (xxx) 
  

 
Revaluations of investment 
properties to fair value 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 
  

 
Revaluations of property, plant 
and equipment (xxx) - - -   

 
Revaluations of equity instruments 
to fair value through profit or loss (xxx) (xxx) xxx (xxx)   

 
Revaluations of financial asset at 
fair value through OCI xxx xxx - -  

 Revaluation of forward contracts xxx - (xxx) -   

 
Revaluation of hedged items to fair 
value (xxx) - xxx -  

 Share based payments xxx xxx xxx -  

 Post-employment benefits xxx xxx (xxx) (xxx)  

 Revaluation of cash flow hedges xxx xxx xxx -  

 
Expected credit losses of debt 
instruments xxx xxx (xxx) xxx  

 
Contract liabilities for customer 
loyalty points xxx xxx - -  

 Leases xxx xxx (xxx) (xxx)  

 
Losses available for offsetting 
against future taxable income xxx xxx (xxx) (xxx)  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx   

       

24.2  The total deferred tax asset for unused tax losses on December 31, 20X9 will expire on 
December 31, 2020. 

IAS 12.81(e) 

   

24.3 Deferred tax asset in respect of tax credit for investments in new ventures amounting to 
Rs.xxx (20X8:xxx) has not been recognized because it is not probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the Group can utilize the deferred tax asset. 

IAS 12.81(e) 

   

24.4  A change in the corporation income tax rate from 32 % to 30% per cent was enacted on 
July 01, 20X8, effective from the same date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities on 
temporary differences are measured at 30%.  

IAS 12.81(d) 
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25. Employee benefit obligations 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.125  An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the future, and 

other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those assets and liabilities, the notes 
shall include details of: 

  
 (a) their nature, and 
  
 (b) their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 
  
IAS 19.135  An entity shall disclose information that: 
  
 (a) explains the characteristics of its defined benefit plans and risks associated with them 

(see paragraph 139); 
  
 (b) identifies and explains the amounts in its financial statements arising from its defined 

benefit plans (see paragraphs 140–144); and 
  
 (c) describes how its defined benefit plans may affect the amount, timing and uncertainty 

of the entity’s future cash flows (see paragraphs 145–147). 
  
IAS 19.136  To meet the objectives in paragraph 135, an entity shall consider all the following: 
  
 (a) the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure requirements; 
  
 (b) how much emphasis to place on each of the various requirements; 
  
 (c) how much aggregation or disaggregation to undertake; and 
  
 (d) whether users of financial statements need additional information to evaluate the 

quantitative information disclosed. 
  
IAS 19.137  If the disclosures provided in accordance with the requirements in this Standard and other 

IFRSs are insufficient to meet the objectives in paragraph 135, an entity shall disclose 
additional information necessary to meet those objectives. For example, an entity may 
present an analysis of the present value of the defined benefit obligation that distinguishes 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the obligation. Such a disclosure could distinguish: 

  
 (a) between amounts owing to active members, deferred members, and pensioners. 
  
 (b) between vested benefits and accrued but not vested benefits. 
                           
 (c) between conditional benefits, amounts attributable to future salary increases and other 

benefits. 
   
IAS 19.138  An entity shall assess whether all or some disclosures should be disaggregated to distinguish 

plans or groups of plans with materially different risks. For example, an entity may 
disaggregate disclosure about plans showing one or more of the following features: 

  
 (a) different geographical locations. 
  

 (b) different characteristics such as flat salary pension plans, final salary pension plans or 
post-employment medical plans. 

  

 (c) different regulatory environments. 
  

 (d) different reporting segments. 
  

 (e) different funding arrangements (e.g. wholly unfunded, wholly or partly funded). 
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25. Employee benefit obligations Continued… 

  
IAS 19.139  An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) information about the characteristics of its defined benefit plans, including: 
  
 (i) the nature of the benefits provided by the plan (e.g. final salary defined benefit plan 

or contribution-based plan with guarantee). 
  
 (ii) a description of the regulatory framework in which the plan operates, for example 

the level of any minimum funding requirements, and any effect of the regulatory 
framework on the plan, such as the asset ceiling (see paragraph 64). 

  
 (iii) a description of any other entity’s responsibilities for the governance of the plan, 

for example responsibilities of trustees or of board members of the plan. 
  
 (b) a description of the risks to which the plan exposes the entity, focused on any unusual, 

entity-specific or plan-specific risks, and of any significant concentrations of risk. For 
example, if plan assets are invested primarily in one class of investments, e.g. property, 
the plan may expose the entity to a concentration of property market risk. 

  
 (c) a description of any plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. 
  
IAS 19.140  An entity shall provide a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for 

each of the following, if applicable: 
  
 (a) the net defined benefit liability (asset), showing separate reconciliations for: 
  
 (i) plan assets. 
  
 (ii) the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 
  
 (iii) the effect of the asset ceiling. 
  
 (b) any reimbursement rights. An entity shall also describe the relationship between any 

reimbursement right and the related obligation. 
  
IAS 19.141    Each reconciliation listed in paragraph 140 shall show each of the following, if applicable: 
  
 (a) current service cost. 
  
 (b) interest income or expense. 
  
 (c) remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset), showing separately: 
  
 (i) the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest in (b). 
  
 (ii) actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (see 

paragraph 76(a)). 
  
 (iii) actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (see 

paragraph 76(b)). 
  
 (iv) changes in the effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling, 

excluding amounts included in interest in (b). An entity shall also disclose how it 
determined the maximum economic benefit available, ie whether those benefits 
would be in the form of refunds, reductions in future contributions or a combination 
of both. 

  
 (d) past service cost and gains and losses arising from settlements. As permitted by 

paragraph 100, past service cost and gains and losses arising from settlements need not 
be distinguished if they occur together. 

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 157 

25. Employee benefit obligations Continued… 

 (e) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
  
 (f) contributions to the plan, showing separately those by the employer and by plan 

participants. 
  
 (g) payments from the plan, showing separately the amount paid in respect of any 

settlements. 
  
 (h) the effects of business combinations and disposals. 
  
IAS 19.142     An entity shall disaggregate the fair value of the plan assets into classes that distinguish the 

nature and risks of those assets, subdividing each class of plan asset into those that have a 
quoted market price in an active market (as defined in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement) and 
those that do not. For example, and considering the level of disclosure discussed in 
paragraph 136, an entity could distinguish between: 

  
 (a) cash and cash equivalents; 
  
 (b) equity instruments (segregated by industry type, company size, geography etc); 
  
 (c) debt instruments (segregated by type of issuer, credit quality, geography etc); 
  
 (d) real estate (segregated by geography etc); 
  
 (e) derivatives (segregated by type of underlying risk in the contract, for example, interest 

rate contracts, foreign exchange contracts, equity contracts, credit contracts, longevity 
swaps etc); 

  
 (f) investment funds (segregated by type of fund); 
  
 (g) asset-backed securities; and 
  
 (h) structured debt. 
  
IAS 19.143    An entity shall disclose the fair value of the entity’s own transferable financial instruments 

held as plan assets, and the fair value of plan assets that are property occupied by, or other 
assets used by, the entity.   

  
IAS 19.144    An entity shall disclose the significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation (see paragraph 76). Such disclosure shall be in 
absolute terms (eg as an absolute percentage, and not just as a margin between different 
percentages and other variables). When an entity provides disclosures in total for a grouping 
of plans, it shall provide such disclosures in the form of weighted averages or relatively 
narrow ranges. 

  
IAS 19.145    An entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption (as disclosed under 

paragraph 144) as of the end of the reporting period, showing how the defined benefit 
obligation would have been affected by changes in the relevant actuarial assumption 
that were reasonably possible at that date. 

  
 (b) the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analyses required by (a) 

and the limitations of those methods. 
  
 (c) changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the 

sensitivity analyses, and the reasons for such changes. 
  
IAS 19.146    An entity shall disclose a description of any asset-liability matching strategies used by the 

plan or the entity, including the use of annuities and other techniques, such as longevity 
swaps, to manage risk. 
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25. Employee benefit obligations Continued… 

IAS 19.147    To provide an indication of the effect of the defined benefit plan on the entity’s future cash 
flows, an entity shall disclose: 

  
 (a) a description of any funding arrangements and funding policy that affect future 

contributions. 
  
 (b) the expected contributions to the plan for the next annual reporting period. 
  
 (c) information about the maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation. This will include 

the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation and may include other 
information about the distribution of the timing of benefit payments, such as a maturity 
analysis of the benefit payments. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(28) 

In the case of provident fund, contributory pension fund or any other contributory 
retirement fund, maintained by the company a statement that, investments in collective 
investment schemes, listed equity and listed debt securities out of aforementioned funds 
have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Act and the 
conditions specified thereunder;  
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25. Employee benefit obligations     Reference 

       

 

The Group offers a defined post-employment gratuity benefit to permanent management 
and non-management employees. The gratuity fund is governed under the Trusts Act, 
1882, Trust Deed and Rules of Fund, Companies Act, 2017, the Income Tax Ordinance, 
2001 and the Income Tax Rules, 2002. Responsibility for governance of plan, including 
investment decisions and contribution schedule lie with Board of Trustees of the Fund. 

IAS 19.135(a), 
IAS 19.139(a) 

       

25.1 Risks on account of defined benefit plans  

   

 

The Group faces the following risks on account of defined benefit plans: 
 
Final salary risk - The risk that the final salary at the time of cessation of service is 
greater than what the Group has assumed. Since the benefit is calculated on the final 
salary, the benefit amount would also increase proportionately. 
 
Asset volatility - Most assets are invested in risk free investments of 3, 5 or 10 year SSC’s, 
RIC’s, DSC’s or Government Bonds. However, investments in equity instruments is subject 
to adverse fluctuations as a result of change in the market price. 

 
Discount rate fluctuation -  The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set 
with reference to corporate bond yields. A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase 
plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the 
current plans’ bond holdings. 
 
Investment risks - The risk of the investment underperforming and not being sufficient 
to meet the liabilities. This risk is mitigated by closely monitoring the performance of 
investment.   
 
Risk of insufficiency of assets - This is managed by making regular contribution to the 
Fund as advised by the actuary. 

IAS 19.135(a), 
IAS 19.139(b) 

       

25.2 Funding      

       

 

The gratuity plan is fully funded by the Group. The funding requirements are based on 
the gratuity fund’s actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of 
the plan. The funding is based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes for 
which the assumptions may differ from the assumptions used in determining defined 
benefit liability. Employees are not required to contribute to the plan. 

IAS 19.147(a) 

       

25.3 Valuation results      

       

 

The latest actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plans was carried out as at December 
31, 20X9, using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Details of the defined benefit plans 
are presented below.  

        

25.4 Balance sheet reconciliation      IAS 19.135(b), 
IAS 19.140, IAS 

19.141  
       

    20X9  20X8 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees 

       

 Present value of the defined benefit obligation   xxx  xxx 

 Fair value of plan assets   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Deficit   xxx  xxx  

 Unrecognized asset   -  -  

 Net liability recognized in balance sheet   xxx  xxx  
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       Reference 

25.5 Movement in liability recognized in balance sheet 

   

 

 

IAS 19.135(b), 
IAS 19.140, IAS 

19.141 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Net liability at beginning of the year   xxx  xxx 

 Expense / (income) for the year   xxx  xxx  

 
Remeasurement (gain) / loss to Other Comprehensive 

Income   
xxx 

 
xxx 

 

 Discontinued operations   (xxx)  -  

 Net liability at end of the year   xxx  xxx  

        

25.6 Movement in defined benefit obligation       

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Balance at January 1   xxx  xxx IAS 19.140 

        

 Included in profit or loss:       

 Current service cost   xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(a) 

 Past service cost   xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(d) 

 Interest cost   xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(b) 

    xxx  xxx  

 Included in other comprehensive income:       

 Actuarial loss arising from        

 ˍ demographic assumptions   xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(c)(ii) 

 ˍ financial assumptions   xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(c)(iii) 

 ˍ experience adjustment    xxx  xxx IAS 19.141(c)(iii) 

    xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx IAS 19.140 

        

25.7 Movement in fair value of plan assets      IAS 19.135(b), 
IAS 19.140, IAS 

19.141 
    20X9  20X8 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees 

 As at  beginning of the year   xxx  xxx 

 Interest income   xxx  xxx  

 Contributions by the Group   xxx  xxx  

 Return on plan assets excluding interest income 25.12  xxx  xxx  

 Discontinued operations   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 As at end of the year   xxx  xxx  

   

25.8 Charge for the year IAS 19.135(b),  

       

    20X9  20X8 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Current service cost   xxx  xxx  

 Past service cost   xxx  xxx  

 Net Interest cost   xxx  xxx  

        

25.9 Principal actuarial assumptions used       IAS 19.144 

    20X9  20X8 

  Note  %  % 

 Discount rate       

 Expected rate of return on plan assets - per annum   x%  x%  

 Expected rate of increase in mortality - per annum   x%  x%  

 Expected rate of increase in future salaries - per annum   x%  x%  
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  Reference 

 

The expected return on plan assets was determined by considering the expected returns 
available on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on 
fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet 
date.  

        

25.10 Break up of plan assets      IAS 19.142 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Having quoted market price:       

 Units of mutual funds   xxx  xxx  

 Listed equity securities   xxx  xxx  

 Not having quoted market price:       

 Fixed income debt securities   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

25.11 Expected future costs       

   

 Expected future contributions for the year ending December 31, 2020 is Rs. xxx. IAS 19.147(b) 

      

25.12 Remeasurement recognized in Other Comprehensive Income    IAS 19.141(c) 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Gain / (Loss) from change in demographic assumptions   xxx  xxx  

 (Loss) / Gain from change in financial assumptions   xxx  xxx  

 Remeasurement of obligation   xxx  xxx  

 Actual Return on plan assets   xxx  xxx  

 Expected Return on plan assets   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Remeasurement of plan assets   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

       

25.13 The sensitivity analysis is prepared using same computation model and assumptions as 
used to determine defined benefit obligation based on Projected Credit Unit Method. 
There is no change from prior year in respect of methods and assumptions used to prepare 
sensitivity analysis. The impact of 1% change in following variables on defined benefit 
obligation is as follows: 

IAS 19.145 

       

    
Increase in 
assumption 

 Decrease in 
assumption  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Discount rate   xxx  xxx  

 Long term salary increases   xxx  xxx  

 Long term mortality rate increases   xxx  xxx  

 Withdrawal rates : Light   xxx  xxx  

 Withdrawal rates : Heavy / Moderate   xxx  xxx  

        

25.14 Maturity profile      IAS 19.147(c) 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 1-5 years   xxx  xxx  

 6-10 years   xxx  xxx  

 11-15 years   xxx  xxx  

 16-20 years   xxx  xxx  

 after 20 years   xxx  xxx  

 weighted average duration   xxx  xxx  
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26. Provisions 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 37.84  For each class of provision, an entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period; 
  
 (b) additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions; 
  
 (c) amounts used (ie incurred and charged against the provision) during the period; 
  
 (d) unused amounts reversed during the period; and 
  
 (e) the increase during the period in the discounted amount arising from the passage of time 

and the effect of any change in the discount rate. 
  
 Comparative information is not required. 
  
IAS 37.85  An entity shall disclose the following for each class of provision: 
  
 (a) a brief description of the nature of the obligation and the expected timing of any 

resulting outflows of economic benefits; 
  
 (b) an indication of the uncertainties about the amount or timing of those outflows. Where 

necessary to provide adequate information, an entity shall disclose the major 
assumptions made concerning future events, as addressed in paragraph 48; and 

  
 (c) the amount of any expected reimbursement, stating the amount of any asset that has 

been recognised for that expected reimbursement. 
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          Reference 

26. Provisions          

      20X9   20X8  

      (Rupees)   (Rupees)  

           

 Property restoration     xxx   xxx IAS 1.77 

 Warranties     xxx   xxx IAS 1.77 

 Legal claim     xxx   xxx IAS 1.77 

      xxx   xxx  

           

 Movement in provision during the year        

              

      
 Property 
restoration 

Warranties Legal    Total 

 

     Note  ………………………. (Rupees) …………………………  

           

 As at January 01, 20X8   xxx xxx xxx   xxx IAS 37.84(a) 

 
Additional provision charged 
to property and equipment 

  xxx - -   xxx  

 
Charged/(credited) to profit 
or loss 

         

 Provided during the year   - xxx xxx   xxx IAS 37.84(b) 

 Utilized during the year   (xxx) (xxx) -   (xxx) IAS 37.84(c) 

 Unused amounts reversed   - (xxx) -   (xxx) IAS 37.84(d) 

 Unwinding of discount   xxx - -   xxx IAS 37.84(e) 

 
Net provision recognized in 
profit or loss 33 & 34 

 
xxx xxx xxx  

 
xxx  

 As at December 31, 20X9   xxx xxx xxx   xxx  

              

 Classification of provisions          

 Non-current    xxx xxx xxx   xxx  

 Current      xxx xxx -   xxx  

       xxx xxx xxx   xxx  

       

26.1 Property restoration    

 

Property restoration provisions relate to restoration of leased retail stores to their original 
condition at the end of the respective lease terms. A provision has been recognised for 
the present value of the estimated expenditure required to remove any leasehold 
improvements. These costs have been capitalised as part of the cost of leasehold 
improvements. These provisions are expected to be utilised over the period to the end of 
each specific lease (up to 10 years). 

IAS 37.85 

   

26.2  Warranties  

 

The provision for warranties relates mainly to products sold during 20X8 and 20X9. A 
provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on products sold based on past 
experience of the level of repairs and returns. It is expected that most of these costs will 
be incurred in the next year. Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranties 
were based on current sales levels and current information available about returns based 
on the two-year warranty period for all products sold. The Company expects to incur the 
majority of the liability over the next year. 

IAS 37.85 

       

26.3  Legal         

   

26.3.1  The Group is one of many co-defendants in litigation relating to products previously 
manufactured which contained red clay. Provision was assessed by management by 
reviewing individual claims and discussing the Group’s position with their legal advisers. 
The provision at the reporting date reflects the expected costs of potential future 

IAS 37.85 
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          Reference 

judgments against the Group. The liability is inherently uncertain due to the existence or 
amount of individual claims being in dispute. The actual future costs could be materially 
higher or lower than this estimate, depending on the progress of the claims that are 
ongoing.  

   

26.3.2 During the construction work on office building of the Group, the surrounding walls of 
adjacent property owned by M/s Glass Property Company Limited were damaged. Based 
on the negotiations with M Glass Property Company Limited, the Group has agreed to 
repair the surrounding walls. In this regard the Group has recognised a provision of Rs. xxx 
based on the estimated cost to be incurred on repairs. The work for repairs will be 
completed by June 20X9 and accordingly the liability against the provision will be paid off. 
The Group’s construction contractor responsible for the damage has agreed to reimburse 
Rs. xxx to the Group for the costs of repairing surrounding walls, however, the Group has 
not yet recognized any asset in this respect. 

IAS 37.85 
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27. Deferred income - Government grants 

 

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 20.39  The following matters shall be disclosed: 
  
 (a) the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of 

presentation adopted in the financial statements; 
  
 (b) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements and 

an indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly 
benefited; and 

  
 (c) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that 

has been recognised. 
  

 

   Reference 

27. Deferred income - Government grants   

   

 Grant for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and feasibility study  
During the year, the Group received a grant of Rs. xxx from Mercury Grant Fund to 
acquire specialized robotic machine and prepare a feasibility study for the 
development of advanced ceramics manufacturing zone in the country. The amount 
received for specialized robotic machine had been initially recognized in non-current 
liabilities as a deferred grant income. 
 
The Group has acquired the specialized robotic machine in accordance with the terms 
of the grant agreement. Therefore, the deferred grant income is being amortised over 
the useful life of the specialized robotic machine and as a result an amount for Rs. 
xxx (20X8: nil) has been recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The grant relating preparation of feasibility study for development of advanced 
ceramics manufacturing zone is included in deferred government grant as required 
research on the development of development of advanced ceramics manufacturing 
zone has not yet been completed at the reporting date.  Subsequent to the year end, 
the Group completed this work and recognised the amount of Rs. xxx as income in 
March 20X0. 

IAS 20.39(b)(c) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Government assistance 
In November 20X9 management of the Group attended an exhibition in ME Land to 
promote the Group’s latest developed products. In order to promote overseas 
customers’ interest in the Group's products, the local government provided free 
support to the management which involved helping the Group to promote its products 
to the attendees. No amount was recognised for this government assistance, as this 
form of assistance cannot reasonably have a value placed on it. 

 
 

IAS 20.39(b) 
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28. Trade and other payables 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.8  The carrying amounts of each of the following categories, as defined in IFRS 9, shall be 

disclosed either in the statement of financial position or in the notes: 
  
 (f) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.; 
  
IAS 20.39  The following matters shall be disclosed: 
  
 (a) the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of 

presentation adopted in the financial statements; 
  
 (b) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements and 

an indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly 
benefited; and 

  
 (c) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that 

has been recognised. 
  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(27)    

Following items shall be disclosed as separate line items:  

 (i) Payable to provident fund, contributory pension fund or any other contributory 
retirement fund;  

  
 (ii) Deposits, accrued liabilities and advances;  
  
 (iii) Loans from banking companies and other financial institutions, other than related 

parties;  
  
 (iv) Loans and advances from related parties including sponsors and directors along with 

purpose and utilization of amounts; and   
  
 (v) Loans and advances shall be classified as secured and unsecured 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(28)    

In the case of provident fund, contributory pension fund or any other contributory 
retirement fund, maintained by the company a statement that, investments in collective 
investment schemes, listed equity and listed debt securities out of aforementioned funds 
have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Act and the 
conditions specified thereunder; 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(29)    

In respect of security deposit payable, following shall be disclosed:  

  
 (i) Bifurcation of amount received as security deposits for goods/services to be 

delivered/provided, into amounts utilizable for company business and others;  
  
 (ii) Amount utilized for the purpose of the business from the security deposit in accordance 

with requirements of written agreements, in terms of section 217 of the Act; and  
  
 (iii)  Amount kept in separate bank account; 
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       Reference 

28. Trade and other payables       

    20X9  20X8  

     Note  Rupees   Rupees   

 Trade creditors   28.1  xxx  xxx IAS 1.77,  IFRS 7.8 

 
Deposits, accrued liabilities and advances – 
Unsecured   28.2  

xxx  xxx 
 4th Schd 

VI(27)(ii)(v) 

 Accrued markup    xxx  xxx IAS 1.77  

 Advances from customers – Unsecured   xxx  xxx  4th Schd VI(27)(v) 

 
Current portion of deferred income – 
government grants 27  

xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.77, 69(d) 

 Payable to employees’ provident fund 28.4  xxx  xxx 4th Schd VI(27)(i) 

 Workers' profit participation fund  28.5  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.77 

 Workers' welfare fund  28.6  xxx  xxx IAS 1.77 

 General sales tax payable    xxx  xxx  IAS 1.77 

 Withholding tax    xxx  xxx  IAS 1.77 

       xxx  xxx   

            
28.1 Trade creditors include balances amounting to Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) payable to 

related parties.  

        

28.2 Deposits, accrued liabilities and advances    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

            

 Advances   28.2.1  xxx  xxx   

 Accrued liabilities      xxx  xxx  

 Security deposits    28.3  xxx  xxx   

       xxx  xxx   

   
28.2.1 Advances represent, Rs. xxx and Rs. xxx payable to a director and the parent 

company, respectively. These amounts relate to the expenditure incurred by the 
director and the parent company on the Group's behalf. 

4th Schd VI(27)(iv) 
 

  

        

28.3 Bifurcation of security deposits    20X9  20X8 4th Schd VI(29)(i)  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

            

 Utilizable security deposits   28.3.1   xxx    xxx    

 Non-utilizable security deposits    28.3.2   xxx    xxx    

        xxx    xxx    

   
28.3.1 During the year, the Group utilized Rs. xxx for the purpose of the business from the 

security deposit in accordance with requirements of written agreements, in terms of 
section 217 of the Companies Act, 2017. 

4th Schd VI(29)(ii) 
 

  
   
28.3.2 This includes security deposit of Rs. xxx received from a contractor against 

construction of building, kept in separate bank account maintained for that purpose 
as required under Section 217(2) of the Companies Act 2017. It is non-utlizable and 
kept intact. 

4th Schd VI(29)(iii) 
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   Reference 
28.4

  
 

All investments out of provident fund have been made in the in collective investment 
schemes, listed equity and listed debt securities in accordance with the provisions of 
section 218 of the Companies Act, 2017 and the rules formulated for the purpose. 

4th Schd VI(28) 

        

28.5 Movement in workers profit participation fund during the year    

        

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

            

 As at January 01     xxx  xxx   

 Expense recognised during the year    xxx  xxx  

 Payments made during the year    (xxx)  (xxx)   

 As at December 31    xxx  xxx   

   

28.6 Movement in workers welfare fund during the year    

        

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

            

 As at January 01     xxx  xxx   

 Expense recognised during the year    xxx  xxx  

 Payments made during the year    (xxx)  (xxx)   

 As at December 31    xxx  xxx   
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29. Contract liabilities 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.77  An entity shall disclose, either in the statement of financial position or in the notes, further 

subclassifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the 
entity’s operations. 

  
IFRS 15.116(a)  An entity shall disclose all of the following:: 
  
 (a) the opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities 

from contracts with customers, if not otherwise separately presented or disclosed; 
  

 

       Reference 

29. Contract liabilities       

      Restated  

    20X9  20X8 IFRS 15.116(a) 

     Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Long-term advances for equipment   xxx  xxx  

 Short-term advances for installation services   xxx  xxx  

 Customer loyalty points 29.1  xxx  xxx  

 Advances from customers – Unsecured   xxx  xxx  

 Current provisions - service-type warranties   xxx  xxx  

       xxx  xxx   

            

29.1 Customer loyalty points       

           

 As at January 1   xxx  xxx  

 Deferred during the year   xxx  xxx  

 Recognised as revenue during the year   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 As at December 31   xxx  xxx  

        

 Current   xxx  xxx  

 Non-current   xxx  xxx  

       xxx  xxx   

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 170 

30. Current tax liability 

  

Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(34) 

Management assessment of sufficiency of tax provision made in the company’s financial 
statements shall be clearly stated along with comparisons of tax provision as per accounts 
viz a viz tax assessment for last three years; 

 

          Reference 

30. Current tax liability           

         Restated  

       20X9  20X8  

   Note  Rupees  Rupees  

           

 Provision for current income tax 39  xxx  xxx  

 Advance income tax   (xxx)  (xxx)  

       xxx  xxx  

        

 

In determining the income tax liabilities, management is required to estimate the 
deductibility of certain expenses. Though, the Group has significant open tax 
assessments at the reporting date, management believes that the tax positions are 
sustainable and provision for current tax for the year is sufficient. 

4th Schd VI(34) 

     
 

 Year 
Provision as 
per financial 
statements 

Assessed 
amount of 

tax 
liability 

Difference  
between 
provision 

and 
assessed 
amount 

 

 
 Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 20X3 xxx xxx xxx  

 20X4 xxx xxx xxx  

 20X5 (xxx) - (xxx)  

  xxx xxx xxx   
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31. Contingencies and commitments 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  

IAS 37.86  Unless the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote, an entity shall disclose for 
each class of contingent liability at the end of the reporting period a brief description of 
the nature of the contingent liability and, where practicable: 

  
 (a) an estimate of its financial effect, measured under paragraphs 36–52; 
  
 (b) an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow; and 
  
 (c) the possibility of any reimbursement. 
  
IAS 16.74(c)  The financial statements shall also disclose: 
  
 (c) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment; and 
  
IAS 38.122(e)  An entity shall also disclose: 
  
 (e) the amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 
  
IAS 40.75(h)  contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, 

maintenance or enhancements. 
  
IAS 41.49        An entity shall disclose:              
  
 (b) the amount of commitments for the development or acquisition of biological assets; 
  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(30)   

In describing legal proceedings, under any court, agency or government authority, whether 
local or foreign,  include  name of the court, agency or authority in which the proceedings 
are pending, the date instituted, the principal parties thereto, a description of the factual 
basis of the proceeding and the relief sought. 
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  Reference 

31. Contingencies and commitments  

   

31.1 Contingencies  

   

 
The Group has following contingent liabilities in respect of legal and other claims 
arising in the ordinary course of business. 

IAS 37.86 

   

31.1.1 Claims not acknowledged as debt  
   
 Customers claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts amounted to Rs. xxx 

at year end (20X8: Rs xxx). 
IAS 37.86 

   

31.1.2 Corporate guarantees  

   

 

The Group has issued a corporate guarantee amounting to Rs. xxx  (20X8: Rs xxx) in 
favour of its subsidiary company Dairy Queen Limited in connection with financing 
arrangements with a financial institution. The financing facility is expected to be 
settled by June 2X15 and accordingly, the guarantee issued by the Group will be 
released by June 2X15. 

IAS 37.86 

   

31.1.3 Claims subject to legal proceedings 

IAS 37.86, 4th 
Schd VI(30) 

  

 
The details of claims by and against the Group which are currently subject to the legal 
proceedings are detailed below: 

   

 

Name of the 
court, agency 
or authority 

Description of the factual basis 
of the proceeding and relief 

sought 

Principal 
parties 

Date 
instituted 

 

   

 Appellate 
Tribunal Inland 
Revenue (ATIR) 

The Group had received demands 
for tax year 20X6 to 20X7 from the 
taxation authority aggregating to 
Rs. xxx in respect of tax short 
withheld on incentives paid to 
dealers. As per the taxation 
authorities, these payments were 
in the nature of prices on sales 
promotions to dealers and hence 
subject to withholding of tax @ 20% 
under Section 156 of the Income 
Tax Ordinance (ITO), 2001. The 
Group maintains that such 
incentives to dealers attract tax @ 
10% under Section 156A of the ITO, 
2001. The Group is contesting the 
case at Appellate Tribunal Inland 
Revenue (ATIR) level and based on 
the advice of its legal advisor, the 
Group is confident that the 
ultimate outcome of the matter 
would be in its favour and 
therefore no provision has been 
made in this respect in these 
financial statements. 

Group and 
Federal 
Board of 
Revenue 

September 30, 
20X7 
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     Reference 

 

Name of the 
court, agency 
or authority 

Description of the factual basis 
of the proceeding and relief 

sought 

Principal 
parties 

Date instituted 

 

   

 Civil Court  YaYa Limited has filed a petition 
against the Group with the Civil 
Court, Green City on the plea 
that the Group has not provided 
the goods in accordance with the 
terms of the agreement resulting 
in business interruption. YaYa 
Limited has claimed damages 
amounting to Rs. xxx which have 
not been acknowledged by the 
Group. The management, based 
on opinion of its tax consultant 
believes that there is reasonable 
probability that the matter will 
be decided in favor of the Group. 
Pending the resolution of the 
matter stated above, no 
provision has been made in these 
financial statements. 

Group and 
YaYa 

Limited 
(customer)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

August 5, 20X6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
   
31.1.4 The Group recognised a contingent liability of Rs.xxx in connection with the acquisition 

of PVC King Limited. 
IFRS 12.23(b) 

        

31.2 Commitments   20X9  20X8   
    Rupees  Rupees   

31.2.1 Commitments in respect of capital and revenue 
expenditures       

 Property, plant and equipment  xxx  xxx IAS 16.74(c) 

 Intangible assets xxx  xxx IAS 38.122(e) 

 
Investment property – contractual obligations for future 
repairs and maintenance xxx  xxx 

IAS 40.75(h) 

 Biological assets acquisition xxx  xxx IAS 41.49(b) 

  xxx  xxx  

      
31.2.2 Guarantees issued by banks on behalf of the Group xxx  xxx   

       
31.2.3 Letters of credit issued by various banks on behalf of the 

Group in ordinary course of the business(outstanding at year 
end) 

     

 xxx 
 

xxx   

       
31.2.4 Commitments under Ijarah Agreement IFAS 2.9.1 
 The future aggregate payments under Ijarah arrangement are as follows  
      
  20X9  20X8  
  Rupees  Rupees  

 Not later than 1 year xxx  xxx  
 Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years xxx  xxx  
 Later than 5 years xxx  xxx  

  xxx  xxx  

   
31.2.5 The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as at 31 December 

20X9. The future lease payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are Rs. xxx 
within one year, Rs. xxx within five years and Rs. xxx thereafter.  
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32. Revenue from contracts with customers 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 15.110       The objective of the disclosure requirements is for an entity to disclose sufficient 

information to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. To 
achieve that objective, an entity shall disclose qualitative and quantitative information 
about all of the following: 

  
 (a) its contracts with customers (see paragraphs 113–122); 
  
 (b) the significant judgements, and changes in the judgements, made in applying this 

Standard to those contracts (see paragraphs 123–126); and 
  
 (c) any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer in 

accordance with paragraph 91 or 95 (see paragraphs 127–128). 
  
IFRS 15.114  An entity shall disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with customers into 

categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows are affected by economic factors. An entity shall apply the guidance in paragraphs 
B87–B89 when selecting the categories to use to disaggregate revenue. 

  
IFRS 15.115  In addition, an entity shall disclose sufficient information to enable users of financial 

statements to understand the relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated revenue 
(in accordance with paragraph 114) and revenue information that is disclosed for each 
reportable segment, if the entity applies IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 

  
IFRS 15.116  An entity shall disclose all of the following: 
  
 (a) the opening and closing balances of receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities 

from contracts with customers, if not otherwiseseparately presented or disclosed; 
  
 (b) revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in the contract liability 

balance at the beginning of the period; and 
  
 (c) revenue recognised in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or 

partially satisfied) in previous periods (for example, changes in transaction price).  
  
IFRS 15.117  An entity shall explain how the timing of satisfaction of its performance obligations (see 

paragraph 119(a)) relates to the typical timing of payment (see paragraph 119(b)) and the 
effect that those factors have on the contract asset and the contract liability balances. The 
explanation provided may use qualitative information. 

  
IFRS 15.118  An entity shall provide an explanation of the significant changes in the contract asset and 

the contract liability balances during the reporting period. The explanation shall include 
qualitative and quantitative information. Examples of changes in the entity’s balances of 
contract assets and contract liabilities include any of the following: 

  
 (a) changes due to business combinations; 
  
 (b) cumulative catch-up adjustments to revenue that affect the corresponding contract 

asset or contract liability, including adjustments arising from a change in the measure 
of progress, a change in an estimate of the transaction price (including any changes in 
the assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) or a 
contract modification; 

  
 (c) impairment of a contract asset; 
  
 (d) a change in the time frame for a right to consideration to become unconditional (ie for 

a contract asset to be reclassified to a receivable); and 
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32. Revenue from contracts with customers Continued… 

  
 (e) a change in the time frame for a performance obligation to be satisfied (ie for the 

recognition of revenue arising from a contract liability). 
  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(31)   

Following items shall be disclosed as deduction from turnover as separate line items: 

   
 (i) trade discount; and  
     
 (ii) sales and other taxes directly attributed to sales. 

 

  Reference 

32. Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

   

32.1 Disaggregation of Revenue  

   

 
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with 

customers: 
IFRS 15.114-115 

   

  Reportable Segments 

Total 

 

  

Dairy 
Products 
business 
segments 

PVC 
Business 
Segment 

Ceramics 
Business 
Segment 

Cement 
Business 
Segment 

(Discontinued) 

 

 20X9 ……………………………………..Rupees……………………………………..  

 Type of good or service       

 Sale of PVC equipment xxx - - - xxx  

 Sale of dairy products xxx - - - xxx  

 Sale of ceramics - - xxx - xxx  

 Sale of cement - - - xxx xxx  

 Installation services - xxx - - xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Less: Trade Discount (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 4th Schd VI(31)(i) 

 Less: Sales tax (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 4th Schd VI(31)(ii) 

 Total revenue from customers (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

        

 Geographical markets       

 Pakistan xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 United Arab Emirates xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Saudi Arabia xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Iran xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Lebanon xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Others xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

        

 Timing of revenue recognition       

 Goods transferred at point in time xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Services transferred over time - xxx - - xxx  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
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    Reference 

  Reportable Segments 

Total 

 

 

 
Dairy Products 

business 
segments 

PVC 
Business 
Segment 

Ceramics 
Business 
Segment 

Cement 
Business 

Segment(Di
scontinued) 

 

 20X8 ……………………………………..Rupees……………………………………..  

 Type of good or service       

 Sale of PVC equipment xxx - - - xxx  

 Sale of dairy products xxx - - - xxx  

 Sale of ceramics - - xxx - xxx  

 Sale of cement - - - xxx xxx  

 Installation services - xxx - - xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 
Less: Trade Discount 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 
4th Schd 

VI(31)(ii) 

 
Less: Sales tax 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 
4th Schd 

VI(31)(ii) 

 Total revenue from customers (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

        

 Geographical markets       

 Pakistan xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 United Arab Emirates xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Saudi Arabia xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Iran xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Lebanon xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Others xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

        

 Timing of revenue recognition       

 Goods transferred at point in time xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Services transferred over time - xxx - - xxx  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

   

32.2 Reconciliation with Segment Information 
IFRS 15.114-

115 

   

  Reportable Segments Total  

 

 Dairy 
Products 
business 
segments 

PVC 
Business 
Segmen

t 

Ceramic
s 

Business 
Segmen

t 

Cement 
Business 
Segment(
Discontinu

ed) 

 

 20X9 ……………………………………..Rupees……………………………………..  

        

 External customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Inter-segment xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Inter-segment adjustments (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

        

 20X8       

        

 External customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Inter-segment xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Inter-segment adjustments (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

 Total revenue from customers xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
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       Reference 

32.3 Contract Balances      IFRS 15.116(a) 

  
Note 

31/12/20X9 31/12/20X8 1/1/20X8  

  Rupees Rupees Rupees  

 Trade receivables 15 xxx xxx xxx  

 Contract assets 16 xxx xxx xxx  

 Contract liabilities  29 (xxx) (xxx) (xxx)  

  xxx xxx xxx  

      

 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days. 
The acquisition of a subsidiary resulted in increase in trade receivables of Rs. xxx in 
20X9 (20X8: Rs. nil). In 20X9, Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) was recognised as provision for 
expected credit losses on trade receivables. 
 
Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from installation services as 
receipt of consideration is conditional on successful completion of installation. Upon 
completion of installation and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as 
contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables. The significant increase in contract 
assets in 20X8 is the result of the increase in ongoing installation services at the end of 
the year. Contract assets decreased in 20X9 as there are fewer ongoing installation 
services at the end of the year. In 20X9, Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) was recognised as 
provision for expected credit losses on contract assets. 
 
Contract liabilities include long-term advances received to deliver special PVC 
equipment and short-term advances received to render installation services as well as 
transaction price allocated to unexpired service warranties, and loyalty points not yet 
redeemed. The outstanding balances of these accounts increased in 20X9 and 20X8 due 
to the continuous increase in the Group’s customer base. 
 
The significant increase in contract liabilities in 20X8 was mainly due to the Rs. xxx 
long-term advances received from customers during the year. In 20X9, Rs. xxx (20X8: 
Rs. xxx) was recognised as interest on long-term advances increasing the contract 
liabilities’ balance. The acquisition of a subsidiary also resulted in increase in contract 
liabilities of Rs. xxx in 20X9 (20X8: Rs. Nil). 
 
Set out below is the amount of revenue recognized from: 

IFRS 15.117 
IFRS 15.118 

 
 
 

IFRS 15.117 
IFRS 15.118 

 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 15.117 
IFRS 15.118 

   20X9 20X8  

   Rupees Rupees  

 
Amounts included in contract liabilities at the beginning of 
the year xxx xxx 

 
IFRS 15.116(b) 

 Performance obligations satisfied in previous years xxx xxx IFRS 15.116(c) 

      

32.4 Right of return assets and refund liabilities    

   Restated  

   20X9 20X8  

   Rupees Rupees  

 Right of return assets  xxx xxx IFRS 15.B21(c) 

 Refund liabilities:    IFRS 15.B21(b) 

 Arising from retrospective volume rebates  xxx xxx  

 Arising from rights of return  xxx xxx  

   xxx xxx  
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     Reference 
32.5 Performance obligations     
      

 Information about the Group’s performance obligations are summarised below: IFRS 15.119 
      

 PVC Equipment and Ceramics      

 

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the equipment and payment is 
generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery. Some contracts provide customers 
with a right of return and volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration 
subject to constraint. 
 
The performance obligation to deliver PVC equipment with a manufacturing lead time 
of two years has two alternative payment options. The customer can pay the 
transaction price equal to the cash selling price upon delivery of the equipment or pay 
a lower transaction price upon signing the contract. There is a significant financing 
component for those contracts where the customer elected to pay in advance. 
Customers are entitled to loyalty points which results in allocation of a portion of the 
transaction price to the loyalty points. Revenue is recognised when the points are 
redeemed. 
 
In some contracts, a one-year warranty beyond fixing the defects that existed at the 
time of sale is provided to customers. The warranty is accounted for as a separate 
performance obligation and a portion of the transaction price is allocated against it. 

 

      
 Dairy Products     

 

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and payment is 
generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery. Some contracts provide customers 
with a right of return and volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration 
subject to constraint. 
 
Customers are entitled to loyalty points which results in allocation of a portion of the 
transaction price to the loyalty points. Revenue is recognised when the points are 
redeemed. 
 
In addition, the Group updates its estimates of the points that will be redeemed on a 
quarterly basis and any adjustments to the contract liability balance are charged 
against revenue. 

 

      
 Installation Services     

 

The performance obligation is satisfied over-time and payment is generally due upon 
completion of installation and acceptance of the customer. In some contracts, short-
term advances are required before the installation service is provided. 

 

      
 Procurement services     

 

There are contracts with customers to acquire, on their behalf, special PVC equipment 
produced by foreign suppliers. The Group is acting as agent in these arrangements. The 
performance obligation is satisfied and payment is due upon receipt of the equipment 
by the customer. 

 

      

 
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied 
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are, as follows: 

IFRS 15.120 

   20X9 20X8 IFRS 15.120(b)(i) 
   Rupees Rupees  

 Within one year  xxx xxx  
 More than one year  xxx xxx  

   xxx xxx  
   

 

The remaining performance obligations expected to be recognised in more than one 
year relate to the delivery of special PVC equipment that is to be satisfied within two 
years and the customer loyalty programme. The customer loyalty points have no 
expiration and redemptions can go beyond two years. All the other remaining 
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within one year. 

IFRS 
15.120(b)(ii) 
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33. Cost of sales 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.97  When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature and 

amount separately. 
  

IAS 1.99      An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a 
classification based on either their nature or their function within the entity, whichever 
provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 

  
IAS 1.104     An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on the nature 

of expenses, including depreciation and amortisation expense and employee benefits 
expense. 

  

IAS 2.36(d)    The financial statements shall disclose: 
  
 (d) the amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the period; 
  

IAS 37.84(b)   For each class of provision, an entity shall disclose: 
  
 (c) additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions; 
  
IAS 19.53      An entity shall disclose the amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans. 
  

IAS 19.135    An entity shall disclose information that: 
  
 (b) identifies and explains the amounts in its financial statements arising from its defined 

benefit plans (see paragraphs 140–144); and 
  

 
Disclosure requirements under IFAS 
  

IFAS 2.7     Ujrah payments under an Ijarah should be recognised as an expense in the income statement 
on the straight line basis over the Ijarah term unless another systematic basis is 
representative of the time pattern of the users’ benefit. 

  
IFAS 2.9.3 a general description of the Musta’jir’s (lessee’s) significant Ijarah arrangements including, 

but not limited to restrictions imposed by Ijarah arrangements such as those concerning 
dividends, additional debt and further Ijarah. 
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       Reference 

33. Cost of sales      
IAS 1.99, IAS 

1.104 

      Restated  

    20X9  20X8   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

         

 Salaries, wages and benefits  33.1  xxx  xxx  IAS 1.97, 104 

 Cost of raw material consumed   xxx  xxx IAS 2.36(d) 

 Provision for warranties  26  xxx  xxx IAS 37.84(b) 

 Ujrah payments 33.2  Xxx  - IFAS 2.7  

 Repairs and maintenance   xxx  xxx IAS 1.97, 104 

 Utilities and communication   xxx  xxx IAS 1.97, 104 

 Depreciation  5,6 & 8  xxx  xxx IAS 1.97, 104 

 Amortization 7  xxx  xxx IAS 1.97, 104 

 Miscellaneous   xxx  xxx IAS 1.97, 104 

 Opening work in progress   xxx  xxx  

 Closing work in progress   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Cost of goods manufactured   xxx  xxx  

 Opening stock of finished goods   xxx  xxx  

 Closing stock of finished goods   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Cost of goods sold   xxx  xxx  

 Cost of services   xxx  xxx  

 Cost of sales   xxx  xxx   

   

33.1 This includes contributions to defined contribution plans of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) and 
expense recognized in respect of defined benefit gratuity fund of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx). 

IAS 19.53, IAS 
19.135(b) 

   

33.2 During the year, the Group entered into an Ijarah Agreement with XYZ Finance 
Corporation for acquisition of an injection moulding machine. Under the agreement, the 
term of Ijarah is 5 years and Ujrah payments of Rs. xxx are payable semi-annually in 
arrears. 

IFAS 2.9.4 
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34. Administrative, marketing and distribution expenses 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.97  When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature and 

amount separately. 
  

IAS 1.99      An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a 
classification based on either their nature or their function within the entity, whichever 
provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 

  
IAS 1.104     An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on the nature 

of expenses, including depreciation and amortisation expense and employee benefits 
expense. 

  
IAS 19.53        An entity shall disclose the amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plan. 
  
IAS 19.135      An entity shall disclose information that: 
  
 (b) identifies and explains the amounts in its financial statements arising from its defined 

benefit plans (see paragraphs 140–144); and 
  
IAS 36.126      An entity shall disclose the following for each class of assets: 
    
 (a) the amount of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the period and the 

line item(s) of the statement of comprehensive income in which those impairment losses 
are included. 

    
 (b) the amount of reversals of impairment losses recognised in profit or loss during the 

period and the line item(s) of the statement of comprehensive income in which those 
impairment losses are reversed. 

  
IAS 37.84(b)   For each class of provision, an entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions; 
  
IAS 38.126     An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount of research and development expenditure 

recognised as an expense during the period. 
  
IFRS 2.51       To give effect to the principle in paragraph 50, the entity shall disclose at least the 

following: 
  
 (a) the total expense recognised for the period arising from share-based payment 

transactions in which the goods or services received did not qualify for recognition as 
assets and hence were recognised immediately as an expense, including separate 
disclosure of that portion of the total expense that arises from transactions accounted 
for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions; 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(32)   

The aggregate amount of auditors’ remuneration, showing separately fees, expenses and 
other remuneration for services rendered as auditors and for services rendered in any other 
capacity and stating the nature of such other services. In the case of joint auditors, the 
aforesaid information shall be shown separately for each of the joint auditors; 

  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(33)   

In case, donation to a single party exceeds Rs. 500,000, name of donee(s) shall be disclosed 
and where any director or his spouse has interest in the donee(s), irrespective of the 
amount, names of such directors along with their interest shall be disclosed; 
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       Reference 

34. Administrative and general expenses      IAS 1.99, IAS 
1.104 

      Restated  

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Salaries, wages and benefits  34.1  xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.97, IAS 

1.104 

 Research and development expenditure   xxx  xxx IAS 38.126 

 Depreciation 5,6 & 8   xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.97, IAS 

1.104 

 Amortization 7  xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.97, IAS 

1.104 

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx IAS 36.126(a) 

 
Direct operating expenses of investment 
property   xxx  xxx 

IAS 40.75(f)(ii) 

 Auditors’ remuneration 34.2  xxx  xxx 4th Schd VI(32) 

 Donations 34.3  xxx  xxx 
IAS 1.97, IAS 

1.104 

 Provision for legal claims  26  xxx  xxx IAS 37.84(b) 

    xxx  xxx  

          
34.1 This includes  

- contributions to defined contribution plans of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) 
- expense recognized in respect of defined benefit pension fund of Rs. xxx (20X8: 

Rs. xxx) and 
- expense recognized for equity settled share based payment transactions of Rs. 

xxx (20X8: Rs.xxx). 

 
IAS 19.53, 

 IAS 19.135(b), 
 

IFRS 2.51(a) 

          

34.2 Auditors’ remuneration   20X9  20X8 4th Schd VI(32) 

    Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Audit services         

 Annual audit fee    xxx  xxx   

 Out of pocket expenses   xxx  xxx   

      xxx  xxx   

 Non-audit services        

 Certifications for regulatory purposes   xxx  xxx   

 Tax advisory services   xxx  xxx   

      xxx  xxx   

      xxx  xxx   

34.3 Donations 4th Schd VI(33) 
    

34.3.1 Donation of Rs. xxxx was given to Hospital H, for its free medical treatment of 
residents of Soan Valley.  

  

    

34.3.2 Included in donation is Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) donated to Naik NGO (a related party). 
The following directors interest in the NGO is limited to the extent of their 
involvement as directors. 

  

   

 Ms. Meme    

 Ms. Amna   
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       Reference 

35. Marketing and distribution expenses      IAS 1.99, IAS 
1.104 

    20X9  20X8  
  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Salaries, wages and benefits  35.1  xxx  xxx  

 Depreciation   xxx  xxx  

 Sales promotion and advertising   xxx  xxx  

 Travelling and transportation   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

          

35.1 This includes contributions to defined contribution provident fund of Rs. xxx (20X8: 
Rs. xxx) and expense recognized in respect of defined benefit gratuity fund of Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx). 

IAS 1.99, IAS 
1.104 

         

    20X9  20X8 IAS 1.104 
    Rupees  Rupees  

36. Other operating expenses       

        

        

 Workers Profit Participation Fund    xxx  xxx  

 Workers Welfare Fund   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
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37. Other income 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.20  An entity shall disclose the following items of income, expense, gains or losses either in the 

statement of comprehensive income or in the notes: 
  
 (a) net gains or net losses on: 
  

 (i)    financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
showing separately those on financial assets or financial liabilities designated as 
such upon initial recognition or subsequently in accordance with paragraph 6.7.1 of 
IFRS 9, and those on financial assets or financial liabilities that are mandatorily 
measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 (eg financial 
liabilities that meet the definition of held for trading in IFRS 9). For financial 
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, an entity shall show 
separately the amount of gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
and the amount recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 (v) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
 

 

(vi) financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
 

 

(vii) investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other   
comprehensive income in accordance with paragraph 5.7.5 of IFRS 9. 

 
 

(viii)financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income in 
accordance with paragraph 4.1.2A of IFRS 9, showing separately the amount of gain 
or loss recognized in other comprehensive income during the period and the amount 
reclassified upon derecognition from accumulated other comprehensive income to 
profit or loss for the period. 

  
IAS 21.52  An entity shall disclose: 
  

 (a) the amount of exchange differences recognised in profit or loss except for those arising 
on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with 
IFRS 9; and 

  

 (b) net exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in a separate component of equity, and a reconciliation of the amount of such exchange 
differences at the beginning and end of the period. 

  

IAS 40.75  An entity shall disclose: 
  

 (f) the amounts recognised in profit or loss for: 
  

 (i)  rental income from investment property; 
  

 (ii)  direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from 
investment property that generated rental income during the period; 

  

 (iii) direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from 
investment property that did not generate rental income during the period; and 

  

 (iv)  the cumulative change in fair value recognised in profit or loss on a sale of 
investment property from a pool of assets in which the cost model is used into a 
pool in which the fair value model is used (see paragraph 32C) 

  

IAS 20.39  The following matters shall be disclosed: 
  

 (a) the accounting policy adopted for government grants, including the methods of 
presentation adopted in the financial statements; 

 

 (b) the nature and extent of government grants recognised in the financial statements and 
an indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly 
benefited; and 
 

 (c) unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attaching to government assistance that 
has been recognised. 
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       Reference 

37. Other income        

    20X9  20X8   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

         

 
Dividend income from equity instruments at fair 
value through OCI   xxx  - 

 
IFRS 7.20(a)(vii) 

 Rental income   xxx  xxx IAS 40.75(f) 

 Finance income 37.1  xxx  xxx IFRS 7.20(b) 

 Written off trade receivables recovered   xxx  xxx  

 
Net unrealised gain on investment property carried 
at fair value    xxx  xxx 

 IAS 40.75(f) 

 
Net Gain/(loss) on derivative instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss 37.2  xxx  xxx 

IFRS 7.20(a)(i) 

 
Fair value gain on equity instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss   xxx  xxx 

 
IFRS 7.20(a)(i) 

 
Gain (loss) on sale of debt instruments at fair value 
through OCI   xxx  (xxx) 

 
IFRS 7.20(a)(viii) 

 
Impairment loss on debt instruments at fair value 
through OCI   (xxx)  (xxx) 

 
 

 
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment    xxx  xxx 

IAS 1.97          
IAS 16.68 

 
Ineffectiveness on forward commodity contracts 
designated as cash flow hedges   (xxx)  (xxx) 

IFRS 7.24(b) 

 Gain/(loss) on disposal of intangible assets   xxx  xxx IAS 38.133  

 Insurance claim   xxx  xxx  

 
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plant and 
equipment   xxx  xxx 

IAS 36.126 (b) 

 
Gain on fair value measurements of biological 
assets   xxx  xxx 

 

 Net foreign exchange gains/ (losses)    xxx  xxx IAS 21.52(a) 

 Government grants 27  xxx  xxx IAS 20.39(b) 

    xxx  xxx   

        

 37.1 Finance income       

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Effect of discounting of interest free loan 23.3  xxx  xxx  

 
Interest income from debt instruments at fair value 
through OCI   xxx  xxx 

 
IFRS 7.20(b) 

 
Interest income from debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost   xxx  xxx IFRS 7.20(b) 

 Finance income   xxx  xxx  

        

37.2 This net gain on derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to 
foreign exchange forward contracts that did not qualify for hedge accounting. 
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38. Finance costs 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.20 An entity shall disclose the following items of income, expense, gains or losses either in the 

statement of comprehensive income or in the notes: 
  
 (b) total interest income and total interest expense (calculated using the effective interest 

method) for financial assets or financial liabilities that are not at fair value through 
profit or loss; 

 

         Reference 

38. Finance costs        

       Restated  

     20X9  20X8 IFRS 7.20 

    Note  Rupees  Rupees   

           

 Unwinding of discount on interest free loan 23.3  xxx  xxx  

 Interest arising from revenue contracts   xxx  xxx IFRS 15.65 

 Mark-up on long term borrowings   xxx  xxx  IFRS 7.20 (b) 

 Mark-up on short term borrowings   xxx  xxx  IFRS 7.20 (b) 

 
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost   xxx  xxx 

 

 Interest on lease liabilities 23  xxx  xxx  IFRS 16.53(b) 

 Bank charges     xxx  xxx   

     xxx  xxx   
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39. Income tax expense 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 12.79  The major components of tax expense (income) shall be disclosed separately. 
  
IAS 12.80  Components of tax expense (income) may include: 
  
 (a) current tax expense (income); 
  
 (b) any adjustments recognised in the period for current tax of prior periods; 
  
 (c) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to the origination and reversal of 

temporary differences; 
  
 (d) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates or the 

imposition of new taxes; 
  
 (e) the amount of the benefit arising from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or 

temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce current tax expense; 
  
 (f) the amount of the benefit from a previously unrecognised tax loss, tax credit or 

temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce deferred tax expense; 
  
 (g) deferred tax expense arising from the write-down, or reversal of a previous write-down, 

of a deferred tax asset in accordance with paragraph 56; and 
  
 (h) the amount of tax expense (income) relating to those changes in accounting policies and 

errors that are included in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 8, because they cannot 
be accounted for retrospectively. 

  
IAS 12.81  The following shall also be disclosed separately: 
  
 (a) the aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are charged or credited 

directly to equity (see paragraph 62A); 
  
 (ab) the amount of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income 

(see paragraph 62 and IAS 1 (as revised in 2007)); 
  
 (b) [deleted] 
  
 (c) an explanation of the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit 

in either or both of the following forms: 
  
 (i) a numerical reconciliation between tax expense (income) and the product of 

accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s), disclosing also the basis 
on which the applicable tax rate(s) is (are) computed; or 

  
 (ii) a numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the applicable 

tax rate, disclosing also the basis on which the applicable tax rate is computed; 
  
 (d) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared to the previous 

accounting period; 
  
 (e) the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax 

losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the 
statement of financial position; 

  
 (f) the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint arrangements, for which 
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised (see paragraph 39); 
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39. Income tax expense Continued… 
 

 (g) in respect of each type of temporary difference, and in respect of each type of unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits: 

  
 (i) the amount of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of 

financial position for each period presented; 
  
 (ii) the amount of the deferred tax income or expense recognised in profit or loss, if this 

is not apparent from the changes in the amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position; 

  
 (h) in respect of discontinued operations, the tax expense relating to: 
  
 (i)   the gain or loss on discontinuance; and 
  
 (ii)  the profit or loss from the ordinary activities of the discontinued operation for the 

period, together with the corresponding amounts for each prior period presented; 
  
 (iii) the amount of income tax consequences of dividends to shareholders of the entity 

that were proposed or declared before the financial statements were authorised for 
issue, but are not recognised as a liability in the financial statements; 

  
 (j) if a business combination in which the entity is the acquirer causes a change in the 

amount recognised for its pre-acquisition deferred tax asset (see paragraph 67), the 
amount of that change; and 

  
 (k) if the deferred tax benefits acquired in a business combination are not recognised at the 

acquisition date but are recognised after the acquisition date (see paragraph 68), a 
description of the event or change in circumstances that caused the deferred tax 
benefits to be recognised. 
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       Reference 

39. Income tax expense       

      Restated   

    20X9  20X8   

  Note  Rupees  Rupees   

 Current tax 39.1  xxx  xxx IAS 12.79 

 Deferred tax  39.2  xxx  xxx IAS 12.79 

    xxx  xxx   

        

39.1 Major components of current tax expense       

        

 Charge for current year   xxx  xxx IAS 12.80(a) 

 Adjustment for prior years   xxx  xxx IAS 12.80(b) 

    xxx  xxx  

        

39.2 Major components of deferred tax expense       

        

 Origination and reversal of temporary differences   xxx  xxx IAS 12.80(c) 

 Reduction in tax rate   (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 12.80(d) 

 
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 
used to reduce current tax expense   xxx  xxx 

IAS 12.80(e) 

 
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses 
used to reduce deferred tax expense   xxx  xxx 

IAS 12.80(f) 

 

Change in recognized deductible temporary 
differences due to unavailability of future taxable 
profit   xxx  xxx 

IAS 12.80(g) 

 Deferred tax relating to change in accounting policy   xxx  xxx IAS 12.80(h) 

 Deferred tax relating to correction of errors   xxx  xxx IAS 12.80(h) 

    xxx  xxx  

         

39.3 Tax expense on discontinuing operations      IAS 12.81(h) 

        

 
Tax expense on ordinary activities of discontinued 
operations   xxx  xxx 

IAS 
12.81(h)(ii) 

 
Tax expense on remeasurement to fair value less 
cost to sell and sale of discontinued operations   xxx  xxx 

IAS 12.81(h)(i) 

    xxx  xxx  
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       Reference 

39.4 Tax expense on items recognized in other 
comprehensive income      

IAS 12.81(ab), 
IAS 1.91 

      Restated  

    20X9  20X8  

    Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx  

 Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (asset)   xxx  xxx  

 Net (gain)/loss on cash flow hedges   xxx  (xxx)  

 Net change in costs of hedging   xxx  -  

 Net loss on debt instruments at fair value through OCI   xxx  -  

 
Net (gain)/loss on equity instruments designated 
at fair value through OCI   xxx  (xxx) 

 

 Equity-accounted investees – share of OCI   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

        

39.5 Tax expense on recognized directly in equity      IAS 12.81(a) 

        

 Share-based payments   xxx  xxx  

    

39.6 The current tax expense for the year is calculated using corporation tax rate of xx% 
(20X8: xx%). The tax rate was enacted through the Finance Act, 20X8, where by the 
tax rate was reduced from xx% to xx%. A change in the corporation tax rate from xx% 
to xx% percent was enacted on xxx, effective from the same date. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities on temporary differences are measured at xx%.    

IAS 12.81(d) 

     

39.7 Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting 
profit 

   

IAS 12.81(c)(i) 
IAS 12.(84), IAS 

12.85 

     20X9  20X8  

     (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

 Profit before tax (Rupees)   xxx  xxx   

 
Tax at the applicable tax rate of xx% (20X8: xx%)   xxx  xxx 

IAS 
12.81(d),12.85 

 Effect of amounts subject to fixed/final taxes   xxx  xxx  

 Tax effect of income that is exempt or taxable at 
reduced rates 

  

(xxx)  (xxx) 

 

 Tax effects of:       

 Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 
reported net of tax 

  
(xxx)  (xxx) 

 

 Non-deductible expenses   xxx  xxx  

 Tax incentives    xxx  xxx   

 Recognition of tax effects of previously 
unrecognized tax losses 

 
(xxx)  (xxx) 

IAS 12.80(f) 

 Change in recognized deductible temporary 
differences due to unavailability of future 
taxable profit 

 

(xxx)  (xxx) 

IAS 12.80(e) 

 Prior year income tax charge   xxx  xxx   IAS 12.80 (b)  

     xxx  xxx   
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40. Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 

  
IAS 1.97  When items of income or expense are material, an entity shall disclose their nature and 

amount separately. 

  
IAS 1.98(e)  Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items of income and 

expense include: 

  

 (e) discontinued operations; 

  
IAS 7.40  An entity shall disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both obtaining and losing control of 

subsidiaries or other businesses during the period each of the following: 

  

 (a) the total consideration paid or received; 

  

 (b) the portion of the consideration consisting of cash and cash equivalents; 

  

 (c) the amount of cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiaries or other businesses over 
which control is obtained or lost; and 

  

 (d) the amount of the assets and liabilities other than cash or cash equivalents in the 
subsidiaries or other businesses over which control is obtained or lost, summarised by 
each major category. 

  
IAS 12.81  The following shall also be disclosed separately: 

  

 (h) in respect of discontinued operations, the tax expense relating to: 

  

 (i) the gain or loss on discontinuance; and 

  

 (ii) the profit or loss from the ordinary activities of the discontinued operation for the 
period, together with the corresponding amounts for each prior period presented; 

  

IAS 33.68  An entity that reports a discontinued operation shall disclose the basic and diluted amounts 

per share for the discontinued operation either in the statement of comprehensive income 

or in the notes. 

  

IFRS 5.30       An entity shall present and disclose information that enables users of the financial 

statements to evaluate the financial effects of discontinued operations and disposals of non-

current assets (or disposal groups). 

  

IFRS 5.33       An entity shall disclose: 

  

 (a) a single amount in the statement of comprehensive income comprising the total of: 

  

 (i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and 

  

 (ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to 
sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued 
operation. 

  

 (b) an analysis of the single amount in (a) into: 

  

 (i) the revenue, expenses and pre-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations; 



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 192 

40. Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations Continued… 

 (ii) the related income tax expense as required by paragraph 81(h) of IAS 12. 

  

 (iii) the gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on 
the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation; 
and 

  

 (iv) the related income tax expense as required by paragraph 81(h) of IAS 12. 

  

 The analysis may be presented in the notes or in the statement of comprehensive income. 

If it is presented in the statement of comprehensive income it shall be presented in a section 

identified as relating to discontinued operations, ie separately from continuing operations. 

The analysis is not required for disposal groups that are newly acquired subsidiaries that 

meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale on acquisition (see paragraph 11). 

  

 (c) the net cash flows attributable to the operating, investing and financing activities of 

discontinued operations. These disclosures may be presented either in the notes or in the 

financial statements. These disclosures are not required for disposal groups that are newly 

acquired subsidiaries that meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale on acquisition 

(see paragraph 11). 

  

 (d) the amount of income from continuing operations and from discontinued operations 

attributable to owners of the parent. These disclosures may be presented either in the notes 

or in the statement of comprehensive income. 

  

IFRS 5.41     An entity shall disclose the following information in the notes in the period in which a non-

current asset (or disposal group) has been either classified as held for sale or sold: 

  

 (a) a description of the non-current asset (or disposal group); 

  

 (b) a description of the facts and circumstances of the sale, or leading to the expected 
disposal, and the expected manner and timing of that disposal; 

  

 (c) the gain or loss recognised in accordance with paragraphs 20–22 and, if not separately 
presented in the statement of comprehensive income, the caption in the statement of 
comprehensive income that includes that gain or loss; 

  

 (d) if applicable, the reportable segment in which the non-current asset (or disposal group) 
is presented in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
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  Reference 

40. Profit from discontinued operations   

                 

 

On September 6, 20X9, the Group sold its entire cement manufacturing and trading 
segment. Management committed to a plan to sell this segment last quarter of previous 
year, following a strategic decision to place greater focus on the Group’s key 
competencies – i.e. the manufacture of PVC equipment, ceramics and dairy products. 
Accordingly, the cement manufacturing and trading segment was previously classified 
as held‑for‑sale or as a discontinued operation in the financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 20X8.  

IFRS 5.30, IFRS 
5.41(a)–(b),(d) 

                
40.1 Results of discontinued operation 

    
IAS 1.97, IAS 

1.98(e) 

              20X9  20X8  

            Note  (Rupees)  (Rupees)  

        

 Revenue   xxx  xxx IFRS 5.33(b)(i) 

 Expenses   xxx  xxx IFRS 5.33(b)(i) 

 Results from operating activities   xxx  xxx IFRS 5.33(b)(i) 

 Income tax   (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 12.81(h)(ii) 

 Results from operating activities, net of tax   xxx  xxx IFRS 5.33(b)(i) 

 Gain on sale of discontinued operation   xxx  - IFRS 5.33(b)(iii) 

 Loss recognised on the remeasurement to fair value less costs -  (xxx) IFRS 5.33(b)(iii) 

 
Income tax on remeasurement to fair value less cost 
to sell and gain on sale of discontinued operation   (xxx)  (xxx) 

IFRS 5.33(b)(iv), 
IAS 12.81(h)(i) 

 Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   xxx  xxx IFRS 5.33(a) 

 Basic earnings (loss) per share    xx  xx IAS 33.68 

 Diluted earnings (loss) per share   xx  xx IAS 33.68 

     

 Amount included in accumulated OCI      IFRS 5.38 

 Fair value reserve of equity investments – non listed   -  xxx  

 Deferred tax on fair value reserve   -  xxx  

 Reserve of disposal group held for sale   -  xxx  

      
40.2 Allocation of profit/loss between owners of the parent and NCI    IFRS 5.33(d) 

                 

 Profit from discontinued operations      

 Owners of the Group  xxx  xxx  

 NCI  xxx  xxx  

   xxx  xxx  

 Profit from continuing operations      

 Owners of the Group  xxx  xxx  

 NCI  xxx  xxx  

   xxx  xxx  
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     Reference 
      

40.3 Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operation    IFRS 5.33(c) 

       

 Net cash used in operating activities  (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Net cash from investing activities  xxx  -  

 Net cash flows for the year  xxx  (xxx)  

      
     
40.4 Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group   IAS 7.40(d) 

    20X9  

    Rupees  

 Property, plant and equipment   xxx  

 Inventories   xxx  

 Trade and other receivables   xxx  

 Cash and cash equivalents   xxx IAS 7.40(c) 

 Deferred tax liabilities   (xxx)  

 Trade and other payables   (xxx)  

 Net assets and liabilities   xxx  

 Consideration received   xxx IAS 7.40(a)–(b) 

 Cash and cash equivalents disposed of   (xxx)  

 Net cash inflows   xxx  

      

   20X9 20X8  

   Rs./share Rs./share  

 Earnings per share from discontinued operation    IAS 33.68 

 Basic earnings per share   xxx xxx  

 Diluted earnings per share   xxx xxx  

      

 
To calculate the EPS for discontinued operations, the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares and profit and loss for both the basic and diluted EPS is as per Note 41.   
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41. Earnings per share 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 33.70  An entity shall disclose the following: 

  

 (a) the amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, 
and a reconciliation of those amounts to profit or loss attributable to the parent entity 
for the period. The reconciliation shall include the individual effect of each class of 
instruments that affects earnings per share. 

  

 (b) the weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic and diluted earnings per share, and a reconciliation of these denominators to each 
other. The reconciliation shall include the individual effect of each class of instruments 
that affects earnings per share. 

  

 (c) instruments (including contingently issuable shares) that could potentially dilute basic 
earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share because they are antidilutive for the period(s) presented. 

  

 (d) a description of ordinary share transactions or potential ordinary share transactions, 
other than those accounted for in accordance with paragraph 64, that occur after the 
reporting period and that would have changed significantly the number of ordinary 
shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the period if those 
transactions had occurred before the end of the reporting period. 

  

IAS 33.73  If an entity discloses, in addition to basic and diluted earnings per share, amounts per share 

using a reported component of the statement of comprehensive income other than one 

required by this Standard, such amounts shall be calculated using the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares determined in accordance with this Standard. Basic and diluted 

amounts per share relating to such a component shall be disclosed with equal prominence 

and presented in the notes. An entity shall indicate the basis on which the numerator(s) is 

(are) determined, including whether amounts per share are before tax or after tax. If a 

component of the statement of comprehensive income is used that is not reported as a line 

item in the statement of comprehensive income, a reconciliation shall be provided between 

the component used and a line item that is reported in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

  

IAS 33.73A    If an entity discloses, in addition to basic and diluted earnings per share, amounts per 
share using a reported component of 
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  Reference 

41. Earnings per share   

         

41.1 Basic earnings per share  

   

 
The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the profit attributable to 
ordinary shareholders and weighted‑average number of ordinary shares outstanding.  

         

41.1.1 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic) IAS 33.70(a) 

  20X9 20X8  

  
Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations Total 

Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations Total  

  ……………………………………………….Rupees……………………………………………….  

 

Profit (loss) for the year, 
attributable to the owners of 
the Company xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 
Dividends on non‑ redeemable 
preference shares xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 
Profit (loss) attributable to 
ordinary shareholders xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

         

   

41.1.2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) IAS 33.70(b) 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  No.  No.   

 Issued ordinary shares at 1 January   xxx  xxx   

 Effect of treasury shares held   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Effect of share options exercised   xxx  xxx  

 Effect of shares issued    xxx  xxx  

 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares at 
31 December   xxx  xxx  

        

41.2 Diluted earnings per share      

       

 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the following profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and weighted‑average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

      

41.2.1 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted) IAS 33.70(a) 

   

  20X9 20X8  

  
Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations 

Total 
Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations 

Total  

  ……………………………………………….Rupees……………………………………………….  

 

Profit (loss) for the year, 
attributable to the owners of 
the Company (Basic) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 
Interest expense on convertible 
notes, net of tax (xxx) - (xxx) (xxx) - (xxx)   

 
Profit (loss) attributable to 
ordinary shareholders (Diluted) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   
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  Reference 

41.2.2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) IAS 33.70(b) 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  No.  No.   

 Weighted‑average number of ordinary shares (basic)   xxx  xxx   

 Effect of share options on issue   xxx  xxx  

 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 
at 31 December   xxx  xxx  

        

 

At 31 December 20X9, xxx options (20X8: xxx) were excluded from the diluted weighted‑ 
average number of ordinary shares calculation because their effect would have been 
anti‑dilutive. The average market value of the Company’s shares for the purpose of 
calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market prices for the 
year during which the options were outstanding. 

IAS 33.70(b) 
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42. Employee share option scheme 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 2.44  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to 

understand the nature and extent of share-based payment arrangements that existed during 
the period. 

  
IFRS 2.45  To give effect to the principle in paragraph 44, the entity shall disclose at least the 

following: 
  
 (a) a description of each type of share-based payment arrangement that existed at any time 

during the period, including the general terms and conditions of each arrangement, such 
as vesting requirements, the maximum term of options granted, and the method of 
settlement (eg whether in cash or equity). An entity with substantially similar types of 
share-based payment arrangements may aggregate this information, unless separate 
disclosure of each arrangement is necessary to satisfy the principle in paragraph 44. 

  
 (b) the number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for each of the 

following groups of options: 
  
 (i) outstanding at the beginning of the period; 
  
 (ii) granted during the period; 
  
 (iii) forfeited during the period; 
  
 (iv) exercised during the period; 
  
 (v) expired during the period; 
  
 (vi) outstanding at the end of the period; and 
  
 (vii) exercisable at the end of the period. 
  
 (c) for share options exercised during the period, the weighted average share price at the 

date of exercise. If options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the period, the 
entity may instead disclose the weighted average share price during the period. 

  
 (d) for share options outstanding at the end of the period, the range of exercise prices and 

weighted average remaining contractual life. If the range of exercise prices is wide, the 
outstanding options shall be divided into ranges that are meaningful for assessing the 
number and timing of additional shares that may be issued and the cash that may be 
received upon exercise of those options. 

  
IFRS 2.47  If the entity has measured the fair value of goods or services received as consideration for 

equity instruments of the entity indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted, to give effect to the principle in paragraph 46, the entity shall disclose 
at least the following: 

  
 (a) for share options granted during the period, the weighted average fair value of those 

options at the measurement date and information on how that fair value was measured, 
including: 

  
 (i)  the option pricing model used and the inputs to that model, including the weighted 

average share price, exercise price, expected volatility, option life, expected 
dividends, the risk-free interest rate and any other inputs to the model, including 
the method used and the assumptions made to incorporate the effects of expected 
early exercise; 

  
 (ii)  how expected volatility was determined, including an explanation of the extent to 

which expected volatility was based on historical volatility; and 
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42. Employee share option scheme Continued… 

 (iii) whether and how any other features of the option grant were incorporated into the 
measurement of fair value, such as a market condition. 

  
 (b) for other equity instruments granted during the period (i.e. other than share options), 

the number and weighted average fair value of those equity instruments at the 
measurement date, and information on how that fair value was measured, including: 

  
 (i)  if fair value was not measured on the basis of an observable market price, how it 

was determined; 
  
 (ii)  whether and how expected dividends were incorporated into the measurement of 

fair value; and 
  
 (iii) whether and how any other features of the equity instruments granted were 

incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
  
 (c) for share-based payment arrangements that were modified during the period: 
  
 (i) an explanation of those modifications; 
  
 (ii) the incremental fair value granted (as a result of those modifications); and 
  
 (iii) information on how the incremental fair value granted was measured, consistently 

with the requirements set out in (a) and (b) above, where applicable. 
  
IFRS 2.48  If the entity has measured directly the fair value of goods or services received during the 

period, the entity shall disclose how that fair value was determined, e.g. whether fair value 
was measured at a market price for those goods or services. 

  
IFRS 2.49  If the entity has rebutted the presumption in paragraph 13, it shall disclose that fact, and 

give an explanation of why the presumption was rebutted. 
  
IFRS 2.50  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to 

understand the effect of share-based payment transactions on the entity’s profit or loss for 
the period and on its financial position. 

  
IFRS 2.51  To give effect to the principle in paragraph 50, the entity shall disclose at least the 

following: 
  
 (a) the total expense recognised for the period arising from share-based payment 

transactions in which the goods or services received did not qualify for recognition as 
assets and hence were recognised immediately as an expense, including separate 
disclosure of that portion of the total expense that arises from transactions accounted 
for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions; 

  
 (b) for liabilities arising from share-based payment transactions: 
  
 (i) the total carrying amount at the end of the period; and 
  
 (ii) the total intrinsic value at the end of the period of liabilities for which the 

counterparty’s right to cash or other assets had vested by the end of the period 
(e.g. vested share appreciation rights). 

  
IFRS 2.50  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to 

understand the effect of share-based payment transactions on the entity’s profit or loss for 
the period and on its financial position. 
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  Reference 

42. Employee share option scheme  

         
42.1 Description of scheme  

         

 

On January 1, 20X3 and January 1, 20X4, the Group established share option 
programmes that entitle key management personnel to purchase shares in the 
Company. On 1 January 20X5, a further grant on similar terms was offered to key 
management personnel and senior employees. Under these programmes, holders of 
vested options are entitled to purchase shares at the market price of the shares at 
grant date. Currently, these programmes are limited to key management personnel 
and other senior employees. The key terms and conditions related to the grants under 
these programmes are as follows; all options are to be settled by the physical delivery 
of shares. 

IFRS 2.44–45(a), 
IFRS 2.50 

 
     

 Grant date/ 
employees 
entitled 

Number of 
instruments 

Vesting conditions Contractual 
life of options 

 

 
     

 
Key management:     

 
On 1 January 20X3 xxx 3 year service from grant date 5 years  

 
On 1 January 20X4 xxx 3 year service from grant date 8 years  

 
On 1 January 20X5 xxx 3 year service from grant date 8 years  

 
     

 
Senior employees:     

 
On 1 January 20X5 xxx 3 year service from grant date 8 years  

 
     

42.2 Measurement of fair value   

 The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using the 
Black‑Scholes formula. Service conditions attached to the arrangements were not 
taken into account in measuring fair value. 

IFRS 2.46, 
47(a)(i), (iii) 

 
     

 The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the 
equity‑settled share‑ based payment plans were as follows. 

IFRS 2.47(a)(i) 

 
  20X9 20X8  

 

  
Key 

Management 
Senior 

Employees 
 

 
Fair value at grant date Rs. xxx Rs. xxx  

 
Share price at grant date Rs. xxx Rs. xxx  

 
Exercise price Rs. xxx Rs. xxx  

 
Expected volatility (weighted‑average) xx% xx%  

 
Expected life (weighted‑average) x years x years  

 
Expected dividends x% x%  

 
Risk‑free interest rate (based on government bonds) x% x%  

 
    

 Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the 
Company’s share price, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the 
expected term. The expected term of the instruments has been based on historical 
experience and general option holder behaviour. 

IFRS 2.47(a)(ii) 
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      Reference 

42.3 Reconciliation of outstanding share options     IFRS 2.45(b) 

  20X9 20X8  

  

No. of 
options 

Weighted 
Avg. Exercise 

Price 
(Rupees) 

No. of 
options 

Weighted 
Avg. Exercise 

Price 
(Rupees) 

 

 Outstanding at 1 January xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(i) 

 Forfeited during the year (xxx) xxx (xxx) xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(iii) 

 Exercised during the year (xxx) xxx (xxx) xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(iv) 

 Granted during the year xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(ii) 

 Outstanding at 31 December xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(vi) 

 Exercisable at 31 December xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 2.45(b)(vii) 

       

 

The options outstanding at December 31, 20X9 had an exercise price in the range of 
Rs. x to Rs. x (20X8: Rs. x to Rs. x) and a weighted‑average contractual life of x years 
(20X8: x years). 

IFRS 2.45(d) 

       

 
The weighted‑average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised 
in 20X9 was Rs.xx (20X8: no options exercised). 

IFRS 2.45(c) 
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43. Operating segments 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 8.16  Information about other business activities and operating segments that are not reportable 

shall be combined and disclosed in an ‘all other segments’ category separately from other 

reconciling items in the reconciliations required by paragraph 28. The sources of the revenue 

included in the ‘all other segments’ category shall be described 

  

IFRS 8.20  An entity shall disclose information to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the nature and financial effects of the business activities in which it engages and the 

economic environments in which it operates. 

  
IFRS 8.21  To give effect to the principle in paragraph 20, an entity shall disclose the following for 

each period for which a statement of comprehensive income is presented: 

  

 (a) general information as described in paragraph 22; 

  

 (b) information about reported segment profit or loss, including specified revenues and 
expenses included in reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, segment liabilities 
and the basis of measurement, as described in paragraphs 23–27; and 

  

 (c) reconciliations of the totals of segment revenues, reported segment profit or loss, 
segment assets, segment liabilities and other material segment items to corresponding 
entity amounts as described in paragraph 28. 

  

 Reconciliations of the amounts in the statement of financial position for reportable 

segments to the amounts in the entity’s statement of financial position are required for 

each date at which a statement of financial position is presented. Information for prior 

periods shall be restated as described in paragraphs 29 and 30. 

  

IFRS 8.22  An entity shall disclose the following general information: 

  

 (a) factors used to identify the entity’s reportable segments, including the basis of 
organisation (for example, whether management has chosen to organise the entity 
around differences in products and services, geographical areas, regulatory 
environments, or a combination of factors and whether operating segments have been 
aggregated); 

  

 (aa)  the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria in paragraph 
12. This includes a brief description of the operating segments that have been 
aggregated in this way and the economic indicators that have been assessed in 
determining that the aggregated operating segments share similar economic 
characteristics; and 

  

 (b) types of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenues. 

  

IFRS 8.23  An entity shall report a measure of profit or loss for each reportable segment. An entity 

shall report a measure of total assets and liabilities for each reportable segment if such 

amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker. An entity shall also 

disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified amounts are included 

in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, or 

are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker, even if not included 

in that measure of segment profit or loss: 

  

 (a) revenues from external customers; 
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43. Operating segments Continued… 

 (b)  revenues from transactions with other operating segments of the same entity; 

  

 (c)  interest revenue; 

  

 (d)  interest expense; 

  

 (e)  depreciation and amortisation; 

  

 (f)  material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with paragraph 97 of IAS 
1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as revised in 2007); 

  

 (g)  the entity’s interest in the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for 
by the equity method; 

  

 (h)  income tax expense or income; and 

  

 (i)  material non-cash items other than depreciation and amortisation. 

  

 An entity shall report interest revenue separately from interest expense for each reportable 

segment unless a majority of the segment’s revenues are from interest and the chief 

operating decision maker relies primarily on net interest revenue to assess the performance 

of the segment and make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment. In that 

situation, an entity may report that segment’s interest revenue net of its interest expense 

and disclose that it has done so. 

  

IFRS 8.24  An entity shall disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified 

amounts are included in the measure of segment assets reviewed by the chief operating 

decision maker or are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker, 

even if not included in the measure of segment assets: 

  

 (a)  the amount of investment in associates and joint ventures accounted for by the equity 
method, and 

  

 (b) the amounts of additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, 
deferred tax assets, net defined benefit assets (see IAS 19 Employee Benefits) and rights 
arising under insurance contracts. 

  

IFRS 8.28  An entity shall provide reconciliations of all of the following: 

  

 (a)  the total of the reportable segments’ revenues to the entity’s revenue. 

  

 (b)  the total of the reportable segments’ measures of profit or loss to the entity’s profit or 
loss before tax expense (tax income) and discontinued operations. However, if an entity 
allocates to reportable segments items such as tax expense (tax income), the entity 
may reconcile the total of the segments’ measures of profit or loss to the entity’s profit 
or loss after those items. 

  

 (c) the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if the segment assets 
are reported in accordance with paragraph 23. 

  

 (d) the total of the reportable segments’ liabilities to the entity’s liabilities if segment 
liabilities are reported in accordance with paragraph 23. 

  

 (e) the total of the reportable segments’ amounts for every other material item of 
information disclosed to the corresponding amount for the entity. 
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43. Operating segments Continued… 

  

 All material reconciling items shall be separately identified and described. For example, the 

amount of each material adjustment needed to reconcile reportable segment profit or loss 

to the entity’s profit or loss arising from different accounting policies shall be separately 

identified and described. 

  

IFRS 8.32  An entity shall report the revenues from external customers for each product and service, 

or each group of similar products and services, unless the necessary information is not 

available and the cost to develop it would be excessive, in which case that fact shall be 

disclosed. The amounts of revenues reported shall be based on the financial information 

used to produce the entity’s financial statements. 

  

IFRS 8.33  An entity shall report the following geographical information, unless the necessary 

information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive: 

  

 (a) revenues from external customers  

  

 (i) attributed to the entity’s country of domicile and  

  

 (ii) attributed to all foreign countries in total from which the entity derives revenues. If 
revenues from external customers attributed to an individual foreign country are 
material, those revenues shall be disclosed separately. An entity shall disclose the 
basis for attributing revenues from external customers to individual countries. 

  

 (b) non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-
employment benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts  

  

 (i) located in the entity’s country of domicile and  

  

 (ii) located in all foreign countries in total in which the entity holds assets. If assets in 
an individual foreign country are material, those assets shall be disclosed 
separately. 

  

 The amounts reported shall be based on the financial information that is used to produce 

the entity’s financial statements. If the necessary information is not available and the cost 

to develop it would be excessive, that fact shall be disclosed. An entity may provide, in 

addition to the information required by this paragraph, subtotals of geographical 

information about groups of countries. 

  

IFRS 8.34     An entity shall provide information about the extent of its reliance on its major customers. 

If revenues from transactions with a single external customer amount to 10 per cent or more 

of an entity’s revenues, the entity shall disclose that fact, the total amount of revenues 

from each such customer, and the identity of the segment or segments reporting the 

revenues. The entity need not disclose the identity of a major customer or the amount of 

revenues that each segment reports from that customer. For the purposes of this IFRS, a 

group of entities known to a reporting entity to be under common control shall be considered 

a single customer. However, judgement is required to assess whether a government 

(including government agencies and similar bodies whether local, national or international) 

and entities known to the reporting entity to be under the control of that government are 

considered a single customer. In assessing this, the reporting entity shall consider the extent 

of economic integration between those entities. 
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      Reference 

43. Operating segments      

       

43.1 Basis for segmentation      

       

 

The Group has the following four strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. 
These divisions offer different products and services, and are managed separately 
because they require different technology and marketing strategies. 
The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment. 

IFRS 8.20–22 

    

 Reportable segments Operations  

    

 
PVC Business Segment Manufacturing and sale of PVC, PVC pipes and 

fittings  

 Ceramics Business Segment Manufacturing and sale of ceramics  

 
Cement Business Segment 

(Discontinued) 
Manufacturing and sale of cement 

 

 
Dairy Products Business Segment Manufacturing, processing and sale of dairy 

products  

    

 

The other activities of the Group i.e. rental of investment properties, investments in 
trading securities and construction of storage units did not meet the quantitative 
threshold for reportable segments in 20X9 and 20X8. Therefore, these have been 
reported together as all the other segments. 

IFRS 8.16 

   

 The pricing for inter-segment transactions in determined on an arm’s length basis. IFRS 8.27(a) 

   

43.2 Information about reportable segments  

   

 Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment profit (loss) 
before tax is used to measure performance because management believes that this 
information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments 
relative to other entities that operate in the same industries. 

 

   

  Reportable Segments 

Total 

 

 

 Dairy 
Products 
business 
segments 

PVC 
Business 
Segment 

Ceramics 
Business 
Segment 

Cement 
Business 

Segment(Di
scontinued) 

All other 
segments 

IFRS 8.16 

 20X9 ……………………………………..Rupees……………………………………..  

 
External revenues 

xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 
IFRS 8.23(a),IFRS 

8.32 

 Inter-segment revenue xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(b) 

 Segment revenue xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Segment profit before tax xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b), 23 

 Interest income xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(c) 

 Interest expense (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IFRS 8.23(d) 

 
Depreciation and 
amortization 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 
IFRS 8.23(e) 

 
Share of profit of equity-
accounted investee - - - - xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(g) 

 
Impairment losses on non-
financial assets - (xxx) - - - (xxx) IFRS 8.23(i) 

 

Reversal of impairment 
losses on nonfinancial 
assets - xxx - - - xxx IFRS 8.23(i) 

         

 Segment assets xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b) 

 Equity-accounted investees xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.24(a) 

 Capital expenditure xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.24(b) 

 Segment liabilities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b) 

         

 



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 206 

  Reference 

  Reportable Segments 

Total 

 

 

 Dairy 
Products 
business 
segments 

PVC 
Business 
Segment 

Ceramics 
Business 
Segment 

Cement 
Business 

Segment(Di
scontinued) 

All other 
segments 

IFRS 8.16 

 20X8 ……………………………………..Rupees……………………………………..  

 External revenues xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(a),32 

 Inter-segment revenue xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(b) 

 Segment revenue xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Segment profit before tax xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b), 23 

 Interest income xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(c) 

 Interest expense (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) IFRS 8.23(d) 

 
Depreciation and 
amortization 

(xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) 
IFRS 8.23(e) 

 
Share of profit of equity-
accounted investee - - - - xxx xxx IFRS 8.23(g) 

 
Impairment losses on non-
financial assets - (xxx) - - - (xxx) IFRS 8.23(i) 

 

Reversal of impairment 
losses on nonfinancial 
assets - xxx - - - xxx IFRS 8.23(i) 

         

 Segment assets xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b) 

 
Equity-accounted 
investees xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.24(a) 

 Capital expenditure xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.24(b) 

 Segment liabilities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx IFRS 8.21(b) 

         

43.3 Reconciliation of information on reportable segments to financial statements IAS 12.81 

       

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Revenue      IFRS 8.28(a) 

 Total revenue for reportable segments   xxx  xxx   

 Revenue for other segments   xxx  xxx  

 Elimination of inter‑segment revenue   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Elimination of discontinued operations   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Consolidated revenue   xxx  xxx  

        

 Profit before tax      IFRS 8.28(b) 

 Total profit before tax for reportable segments   xxx  xxx  

 Profit before tax for other segments   xxx  xxx  

 Elimination of inter‑segment profit   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Elimination of discontinued operation   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 Unallocated amounts:       

 – Other corporate expenses   (xxx)  (xxx)  

 – Share of profit of equity‑accounted investees   xxx  xxx  

 Consolidated profit before tax from continuing operations   xxx  xxx  

        

 Assets      IFRS 8.28(c) 

 Total assets for reportable segments   xxx  xxx  

 Assets for other segments   xxx  xxx  

 Equity‑accounted investees   xxx  xxx  

 Other unallocated amounts   xxx  xxx  

 Consolidated total assets   xxx  xxx  
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       Reference 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

        

 Liabilities      IFRS 8.28(d) 

 Total liabilities for reportable segments   xxx  xxx  

 Liabilities for other segments   xxx  xxx  

 Other unallocated amounts   xxx  xxx  

 Consolidated total liabilities   xxx  xxx  

        

 Other material items       

 Interest income   xxx  xxx IFRS 8.28(e) 

 Interest expense   xxx  xxx  

 Capital expenditure   xxx  xxx  

 Depreciation and amortization   xxx  xxx  

 Impairment losses on non‑financial assets   xxx  xxx  

 Reversal of impairment losses on non‑financial assets   xxx  xxx  

        

43.4 Geographic information      IFRS 8.33(a)(b) 

        

 The geographic information analyses the Group’s revenue and non‑current assets by the 
Company’s country of domicile and other countries. In presenting the geographic 
information, segment revenue has been based on the geographic location of customers 
and segment assets were based on the geographic location of the assets. 

 

    20X9  20X8  

  Note  Rupees  Rupees  

 Revenue       

 Pakistan (Domicile country)   xxx  xxx  

 United Arab Emirates (UAE)   xxx  xxx  

 Saudi Arabia   xxx  xxx  

 Iran   xxx  xxx  

 Lebanon   xxx  xxx  

 Other countries    xxx  xxx  

 Cement business segment (Discontinued)    (xxx)  (xxx)  

    xxx  xxx  

 Non-current assets   
   

 

 Saudi Arabia   xxx  xxx  

 Iran   xxx  xxx  

 Lebanon   xxx  xxx  

 Other countries    xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  

        

43.5 Revenue from major customer      IFRS 8.34 

        

 Revenues from one customer of the Group’s PVC business segment represents 
approximately Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) of the Group’s total revenues 
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44. Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 24.17  An entity shall disclose key management personnel compensation in total and for each of 

the following categories: 

  

 (a) short-term employee benefits; 

  

 (b) post-employment benefits; 

  

 (c) other long-term benefits; 

  

 (d) termination benefits; and 

  

 (e) share-based payment. 

  
 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd IV(B)     

“Executive" means an employee, other than the chief executive and directors, whose basic 
salary exceeds twelve hundred thousand rupees in a financial year; 

  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(35)   

Complete particulars of the aggregate amount charged by the company shall be disclosed 
separately for the directors, chief executive and executives together with the number of 
such directors and executives such as:  

  
 (i) fees;  
     
 (ii) managerial remuneration;  
     
 (iii) commission or bonus, indicating the nature thereof;   
  
 (iv) reimbursable expenses which are in the nature of a perquisite or benefit;  
  
 (v) pension, gratuities, company's contribution to provident, superannuation and other staff 

funds, compensation for loss of office and in connection with retirement from office;  
  
 (vi) other perquisites and benefits in cash or in kind stating their nature and, where 

practicable, their approximate money values; and  
  
 (vii) amount for any other services rendered 
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  Reference 

44. Remuneration of chief executive, directors and executives  IAS 24.17, 
4th Schd 

VI(35) 
    

  20X9 20X8   

  
Chief 

Executive 
Directors Executives 

Chief 
Executive 

Directors Executives  

  …….…….…….…….…….Rupees…….…….…….…….…….……. 
 

 
Short-term employee 
benefits       

  

 Managerial remuneration xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
 

Fees - xxx - - xxx - 
  

 
Bonus xxx - xxx xxx - xxx 

  

 
Housing and utilities xxx - xxx xxx - xxx 

 

 Post-employment benefits       
 

 
Group’s contribution to the 
Provident fund xxx - xxx xxx - xxx 

  

 Other long-term benefits xxx xxx xxx   xxx 
 

 Termination benefits xxx xxx xxx - - xxx 
 

 Share-based payments xxx - xxx xxx - xxx 
 

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 Number of persons (including 
those who worked part of the 
year) 1 4 228 1 4 210 

  

   

 

Chief Executive, Chief financial officer, General Manager Marketing and General Manager 
Operations are provided with the Group’s maintained cars. The approximate value of this 
benefit is Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx).  

4th Schd 
VI(35)(vi) 
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45. Hedging activities and derivatives 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.21A  An entity shall apply the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 21B–24F for those risk 

exposures that an entity hedges and for which it elects to apply hedge accounting. Hedge 

accounting disclosures shall provide information about: 

  

 (a) an entity’s risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage risk; 

  

 (b) how the entity’s hedging activities may affect the amount, timing and uncertainty of its 
future cash flows; and 

  

 (c) the effect that hedge accounting has had on the entity’s statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity. 

  

IFRS 7.21B  An entity shall present the required disclosures in a single note or separate section in its 

financial statements. However, an entity need not duplicate information that is already 

presented elsewhere, provided that the information is incorporated by cross-reference from 

the financial statements to some other statement, such as a management commentary or 

risk report, that is available to users of the financial statements on the same terms as the 

financial statements and at the same time. Without the information incorporated by cross-

reference, the financial statements are incomplete. 

  

IFRS 7.21C  When paragraphs 22A–24F require the entity to separate by risk category the information 

disclosed, the entity shall determine each risk category on the basis of the risk exposures 

an entity decides to hedge and for which hedge accounting is applied. An entity shall 

determine risk categories consistently for all hedge accounting disclosures. 

  

IFRS 7.21D  To meet the objectives in paragraph 21A, an entity shall (except as otherwise specified 

below) determine how much detail to disclose, how much emphasis to place on different 

aspects of the disclosure requirements, the appropriate level of aggregation or 

disaggregation, and whether users of financial statements need additional explanations to 

evaluate the quantitative information disclosed. However, an entity shall use the same level 

of aggregation or disaggregation it uses for disclosure requirements of related information 

in this IFRS and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

  

IFRS 7.22B  To meet the requirements in paragraph 22A, the information should include (but is not 

limited to) a description of: 

  

 (a) the hedging instruments that are used (and how they are used) to hedge risk exposures; 
  
 (b) how the entity determines the economic relationship between the hedged item and the 

hedging instrument for the purpose of assessing hedge effectiveness; and 
  
 (c) how the entity establishes the hedge ratio and what the sources of hedge ineffectiveness 

are. 
  

IFRS 7.22C  When an entity designates a specific risk component as a hedged item (see paragraph 6.3.7 

of IFRS 9) it shall provide, in addition to the disclosures required by paragraphs 22A and 22B, 

qualitative or quantitative information about: 

  

 (a) how the entity determined the risk component that is designated as the hedged item 
(including a description of the nature of the relationship between the risk component 
and the item as a whole); and 
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45. Hedging activities and derivatives Continued… 

  

 (b) how the risk component relates to the item in its entirety (for example, the designated 
risk component historically covered on average 80 per cent of the changes in fair value 
of the item as a whole). 

  

IFRS 7.23B  To meet the requirement in paragraph 23A, an entity shall provide a breakdown that 

discloses: 

  

 (a) a profile of the timing of the nominal amount of the hedging instrument; and 

  

 (b) if applicable, the average price or rate (for example strike or forward prices etc) of the 
hedging instrument. 

  

IFRS 7.24B  An entity shall disclose, in a tabular format, the following amounts related to hedged items 

separately by risk category for the types of hedges as follows:: 

  

 (a) for fair value hedges: 

  

 (i) the carrying amount of the hedged item recognised in the statement of financial 
position (presenting assets separately from liabilities); 

  

 (ii) the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on the hedged item 
included in the carrying amount of the hedged item recognised in the statement of 
financial position (presenting assets separately from liabilities); 

  

 (iii) the line item in the statement of financial position that includes the hedged item; 

  

 (iv) the change in value of the hedged item used as the basis for recognising hedge 
ineffectiveness for the period; and 

  

 (v) the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments remaining in the statement 
of financial position for any hedged items that have ceased to be adjusted for hedging 
gains and losses in accordance with paragraph 6.5.10 of IFRS 9.  

  

 (b) for cash flow hedges and hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation: 

  

 (i) the change in value of the hedged item used as the basis for recognising hedge 
ineffectiveness for the period (ie for cash flow hedges the change in value used to 
determine the recognized hedge ineffectiveness in accordance with paragraph 
6.5.11(c) of IFRS 9); 

  

 (ii) the balances in the cash flow hedge reserve and the foreign currency translation 
reserve for continuing hedges that are accounted for in accordance with paragraphs 
6.5.11 and 6.5.13(a) of IFRS 9; and 

  

 (iii) the balances remaining in the cash flow hedge reserve and the foreign currency 
translation reserve from any hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no 
longer applied. 
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     Reference 

45. Hedging activities and derivatives    

      

 The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The 
primary risks managed using derivative instruments are foreign currency risk, 
commodity price risk, and interest rate risk. 

IFRS 7.21A 

          

45.1 Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments  

          

 The Group uses foreign currency-denominated borrowings and foreign exchange 
forward contracts to manage some of its transaction exposures. The foreign exchange 
forward contracts are not designated as cash flow hedges and are entered into for 
periods consistent with foreign currency exposure of the underlying transactions, 
generally from one to 24 months. 

 

          

45.2 Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments  

          

45.2.1 Cash flow hedges  

          

 Foreign Currency Risk  

 Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow 
hedges of forecast sales and forecast purchases in US dollar. These forecast transactions 
are highly probable, and they comprise about 25% of the Group’s total expected sales 
in US dollars and about 65% of its total expected purchases in US dollars. The foreign 
exchange forward contract balances vary with the level of expected foreign currency 
sales and purchases and changes in foreign exchange forward rates. 

IFRS 
7.22B(a) 

   

 Commodity Price Risk  

 The Group purchases PVC on an ongoing basis as its operating activities in the PVC 
equipment division require a continuous supply of PVC for the production of its PVC 
equipment. The increased volatility in PVC over the past 12 months has led to the 
decision to enter into commodity forward contracts. 
 
These contracts, which commenced on July 1, 20X8, are expected to reduce the 
volatility attributable to price fluctuations of PVC. Hedging the price volatility of PVC 
purchases is in accordance with the risk management strategy outlined by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging 
instruments as the terms of the foreign exchange and commodity forward contracts 
match the terms of the expected highly probable forecast transactions (i.e., notional 
amount and expected payment date). The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 
for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk of the foreign exchange and 
commodity forward contracts are identical to the hedged risk components. To test the 
hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method and compares 
the changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes in fair 
value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks. 
 
The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: 
 
•  Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and the hedging 

instruments 
 
•  Different indexes (and accordingly different curves) linked to the hedged risk of the 

hedged items and hedging instruments 
 
•  The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the 

hedging instruments and hedged items 
 
•  Changes to the forecasted amount of cash flows of hedged items and hedging 

instruments 

IFRS 
7.22B(a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 
7.22B(b) 

IFRS 
7.22B(c) 

IFRS 7.22C 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 
7.22B(c) 
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  Reference 

 The Group is holding the following foreign exchange and commodity forward contracts:  

         

  
Maturity 

IFRS 
7.23(B) 

  
Less than 
1 month 

1 to 3 
months 

3 to 6 
months 

6 to 9 
months 

9 to 12 
months 

Total  

 As at 31/12/20X9        

         

 

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts (highly probable forecast 
sales)       

 

 Notional amount (Rs.) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 Average forward rate (PKR/USD) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx -   

          

 

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts (highly probable forecast 
purchases)       

 

 Notional amount (Rs.) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx   

 Average forward rate (PKR/USD) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx -   

          

 Commodity forward contracts        

 Notional amount (Tonnes) - - xxx xxx - xxx  

 Notional amount (Rs.) - - xxx xxx - xxx  

 
Average hedged rate (Rs. per 
tonne) - - 

xxx xxx 
- - 

 

         

 As at 31/12/20X8        

         

 

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts (highly probable forecast 
sales)       

 

 Notional amount (Rs.) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Average forward rate (PKR/USD) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx -  

         

 

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts (highly probable forecast 
purchases)       

 

 Notional amount (Rs.) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Average forward rate (PKR/USD) xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx -  

         

 The impact of the hedging instruments on the statement of financial position is as follows: IFRS 7.24A 

         

  

Notional 
Amount 

Carrying 
Amount 

Line item in 
the statement 
of financial 
position 

Change in fair value 
used to measure 
ineffectiveness 

 

  (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees)  

 As at 31 December 20X9      

 
Foreign exchange forward 
contracts 

xxx xxx Other current financial 
assets 

xxx  

 
Foreign exchange forward 
contracts 

xxx (xxx) Other current financial 
liabilities 

(xxx)  

 
Commodity forward contracts xxx (xxx) Other current financial 

liabilities 
(xxx)  

 As at 31 December 20X8      

 
Foreign exchange forward 
contracts xxx xxx 

Other current financial 
assets xxx 

 

 
Foreign exchange forward 
contracts xxx (xxx) 

Other current financial 
liabilities (xxx) 
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  Reference 

 The impact of hedged items on the statement of financial position is as follows:  

    

  December 31, 20X9 December 31, 20X8 IFRS .24B (b) 

  

Change in fair 
value used 

for measuring 
ineffectivene

ss 

Cash flow 
hedge 
reserve 

Cost of 
hedging 
reserve 

Change in 
fair value 
used for 

measuring 
ineffective

ness 

Cash flow 
hedge 
reserve 

Cost of 
hedging 
reserve 

 

  …………………………………………Rupees…………………………………………  

 Highly probable forecast sales xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx -  

 Highly probable forecast purchases (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) -  

 PVC purchases (xxx) (xxx) (xxx) - - -  

         

 
The effect of the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
is as follows: 

 

         

  

Total 
hedging 

gain/(loss) 
recognised 

in OCI 

Ineffective
-ness 

recognised 
in profit or 

loss 

Line item 
in the 

statement 
of profit 
or loss 

Cost of 
hedging 

recognise
d in OCI 

Amount 
reclassifie
d from OCI 
to profit or 

loss 

Line item 
in the 

statement 
of profit 
or loss 

IFRS 7.24C(b) 

  Rupees Rupees  Rupees Rupees   

 
Year ended 31 December 
20X9       

 

 
Highly probable forecast 
sales xxx - - xxx (xxx) Revenue 

 

 
Highly probable forecast 
purchases (xxx) - - (xxx) - - 

 

 PVC purchases (xxx) xxx 

Other 
operating 
expenses (xxx) - - 

 

         

 
Year ended 31 December 
20X8       

 

 
Highly probable forecast 
sales xxx - - - (xxx) Revenue 

 

 
Highly probable forecast 
purchases (xxx) - - - xxx 

Cost of 
sales 

 

         

45.2.2 Fair value hedge  

         

 

At December 31, 20X9, the Group had an interest rate swap agreement in place with a 
notional amount of Rs. xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) whereby the Group receives a fixed rate of 
interest of xxx% and pays interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR+xx% on the notional 
amount. The swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its 
fixed rate xxx% secured loan. 
 

IFRS 7.22B 

 

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: 
  
•  Different interest rate curve applied to discount the hedged item and hedging instrument 
  
•  Differences in timing of cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument 
  
•  The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the 

hedging instrument and hedged item  
 

IFRS 7.22C 
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  Reference 

 

The impact of the hedging instruments on the statement of financial position as at December 
31, 20X9 is, as follows: 

IFRS 7.24A 

         

  
Notional 
Amount 

Carrying 
Amount 

Line item in the 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Change in fair 
value used to 

measure 
ineffectiveness 

 

  (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees)  

       

 
Interest rate swap xxx xxx Other current 

financial liability 
xxx  

       

 

The impact of the hedged item on the statement of financial position as at December 31, 
20X8 is, as follows: 

 

         

  
Carrying 
Amount 

Accumul
ated fair 

value 
adjustm

ents 

Line item in the 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Change in fair 
value used to 

measure 
ineffectiveness 

 

  (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees)  

       

 
Fixed-rate borrowing xxx xxx Loans and 

borrowings 
xxx  

       

 The ineffectiveness recognised in the statement of profit or loss was immaterial.  
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46. Financial risk management 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.31  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is 

exposed at the end of the reporting period. 

  

IFRS 7.32  The disclosures required by paragraphs 33–42 focus on the risks that arise from financial 

instruments and how they have been managed.  These risks typically include, but are not 

limited to, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

  

IFRS 7.33  For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall disclose: 

  

 (a) the exposures to risk and how they arise; 

  

 (b) its objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk and the methods used to 
measure the risk; and 

  

 (c) any changes in (a) or (b) from the previous period. 

  

IFRS 7.34     For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall disclose: 

  

 (a) summary quantitative data about its exposure to that risk at the end of the reporting 
period.  This disclosure shall be based on the information provided internally to key 
management personnel of the entity (as defined in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures), 
for example the entity’s board of directors or chief executive officer. 

  

 (b) the disclosures required by paragraphs 35A–42, to the extent not provided in (a). 

  

 (c) concentrations of risk if not apparent from (a) and (b). 

  

IFRS 7.35     If the quantitative data disclosed as at the end of the reporting period are unrepresentative 

of an entity’s exposure to risk during the period, an entity shall provide further information 

that is representative. 

  

IFRS 7.35A    An entity shall apply the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 35F–35N to financial 

instruments to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied. However: 

  

 (a) for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, paragraph 35J(a) applies to 
those trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables on which lifetime expected 
credit losses are recognized in accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9, if those 
financial assets are modified while more than 30 days past due; and 

  

 (b) paragraph 35K(b) does not apply to lease receivables. 

  

IFRS 7.35B   The credit risk disclosures made in accordance with paragraphs 35F–35N shall enable users 

of financial statements to understand the effect of credit risk on the amount, timing and 

uncertainty of future cash flows. To achieve this objective, credit risk disclosures shall 

provide: 

  

 (a) information about an entity’s credit risk management practices and how they relate to 
the recognition and measurement of expected credit losses, including the methods, 
assumptions and information used to measure expected credit losses; 
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46. Financial risk management Continued… 

  

 (b) quantitative and qualitative information that allows users of financial statements to 
evaluate the amounts in the financial statements arising from expected credit losses, 
including changes in the amount of expected credit losses and the reasons for those 
changes; and 

  

 (c) information about an entity’s credit risk exposure (ie the credit risk inherent in an 
entity’s financial assets and commitments to extend credit) including significant credit 
risk concentrations. 

  

IFRS 7.35C   An entity need not duplicate information that is already presented elsewhere, provided that 

the information is incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to other 

statements, such as a management commentary or risk report that is available to users of 

the financial statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same 

time. Without the information incorporated by cross-reference, the financial statements 

are incomplete. 

  

IFRS 7.35D   To meet the objectives in paragraph 35B, an entity shall (except as otherwise specified) 

consider how much detail to disclose, how much emphasis to place on different aspects of 

the disclosure requirements, the appropriate level of aggregation or disaggregation, and 

whether users of financial statements need additional explanations to evaluate the 

quantitative information disclosed. 

  

IFRS 7.35E   If the disclosures provided in accordance with paragraphs 35F–35N are insufficient to meet 

the objectives in paragraph 35B, an entity shall disclose additional information that is 

necessary to meet those objectives. 

  

IFRS 7.35F   An entity shall explain its credit risk management practices and how they relate to the 

recognition and measurement of expected credit losses. To meet this objective an entity 

shall disclose information that enables users of financial statements to understand and 

evaluate: 

  

 (a)  how an entity determined whether the credit risk of financial instruments has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, including, if and how: 

  

 (i) financial instruments are considered to have low credit risk in accordance with 
paragraph 5.5.10 of IFRS 9, including the classes of financial instruments to which 
it applies; and 

  

 (ii) the presumption in paragraph 5.5.11 of IFRS 9, that there have been significant 
increases in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 
30 days past due, has been rebutted; 

  

 (b) an entity’s definitions of default, including the reasons for selecting those definitions; 

  

 (c) how the instruments were grouped if expected credit losses were measured on a 
collective basis; 

  

 (d) how an entity determined that financial assets are credit-impaired financial assets; 

  

 (e) an entity’s write-off policy, including the indicators that there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery and information about the policy for financial assets that are 
written-off but are still subject to enforcement activity; and 

  

 (f)  how the requirements in paragraph 5.5.12 of IFRS 9 for the modification of contractual 
cash flows of financial assets have been applied, including how an entity: 
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46. Financial risk management Continued… 

  

 (i)  determines whether the credit risk on a financial asset that has been modified while 
the loss allowance was measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses, has improved to the extent that the loss allowance reverts to being measured 
at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses in accordance with 
paragraph 5.5.5 of IFRS 9; and 

  

 (ii) monitors the extent to which the loss allowance on financial assets meeting the 
criteria in (i) is subsequently remeasured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses in accordance with paragraph 5.5.3 of IFRS 9. 

  

IFRS 7.35G   An entity shall explain the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used to apply the 

requirements in Section 5.5 of IFRS 9. For this purpose an entity shall disclose: 

  

 (a)  the basis of inputs and assumptions and the estimation techniques used to: 

  

 (i)  measure the 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses; 
  

 (ii)  determine whether the credit risk of financial instruments has increased 
significantly since initial recognition; and 

  

 (iii)  determine whether a financial asset is a credit-impaired financial asset. 

  

 (b) how forward-looking information has been incorporated into the determination of 
expected credit losses, including the use of macroeconomic information; and 

  

 (c) changes in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
reporting period and the reasons for those changes. 

  

IFRS 7.35H   To explain the changes in the loss allowance and the reasons for those changes, an entity 

shall provide, by class of financial instrument, a reconciliation from the opening balance to 

the closing balance of the loss allowance, in a table, showing separately the changes during 

the period for: 

  

 (a) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses; 

  

 (b) the loss allowance measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses for: 

  

 (i)  financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets; 

  

 (ii)  financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 
purchased or originated credit-impaired); and 

  

 (iii)  trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables for which the loss allowances 
 are measured in accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9. 

  

IFRS 7.35I      To enable users of financial statements to understand the changes in the loss allowance 

disclosed in accordance with paragraph 35H, an entity shall provide an explanation of how 

significant changes in the gross carrying amount of financial instruments during the period 

contributed to changes in the loss allowance. The information shall be provided separately 

for financial instruments that represent the loss allowance as listed in paragraph 35H(a)–(c) 

IFRS 7 and shall include relevant qualitative and quantitative information. Examples of 

changes in the gross carrying amount of financial instruments that contributed to the 

changes in the loss allowance may include: 

  

 (a) changes because of financial instruments originated or acquired during the reporting 
period; 
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46. Financial risk management Continued… 

  

 (b) the modification of contractual cash flows on financial assets that do not result in a 
derecognition of those financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9; 

  

 (c) changes because of financial instruments that were derecognized (including those that 
were written-off) during the reporting period; and 

  

 (d) changes arising from whether the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-
month or lifetime expected credit losses. 

  

IFRS 7.35J      To enable users of financial statements to understand the nature and effect of modifications 

of contractual cash flows on financial assets that have not resulted in derecognition and the 

effect of such modifications on the measurement of expected credit losses, an entity shall 

disclose:  

  

 (a) the amortised cost before the modification and the net modification gain or loss 
recognised for financial assets for which the contractual cash flows have been modified 
during the reporting period while they had a loss allowance measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses; and 

  

 (b) the gross carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of financial assets that have 
been modified since initial recognition at a time when the loss allowance was measured 
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses and for which the loss allowance 
has changed during the reporting period to an amount equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses. 

  

IFRS 7.35K      To enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of collateral and other 

credit enhancements on the amounts arising from expected credit losses, an entity shall 

disclose by class of financial instrument: 

  

 (a) the amount that best represents its maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 
enhancements (eg netting agreements that do not qualify for offset in accordance with 
IAS 32). 

  

 (b) a narrative description of collateral held as security and other credit enhancements, 
including: 

  

 (i)  a description of the nature and quality of the collateral held; 

  

 (ii)  an explanation of any significant changes in the quality of that collateral or credit 
enhancements as a result of deterioration or changes in the collateral policies of 
the entity during the reporting period; and 

  

 (iii) information about financial instruments for which an entity has not recognised a 
loss allowance because of the collateral. 

  

 (c) quantitative information about the collateral held as security and other credit 
enhancements (for example, quantification of the extent to which collateral and other 
credit enhancements mitigate credit risk) for financial assets that are credit-impaired 
at the reporting date. 

  

IFRS 7.35L      An entity shall disclose the contractual amount outstanding on financial assets that were 

written off during the reporting period and are still subject to enforcement activity. 
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46. Financial risk management Continued… 

  

IFRS 7.35M      To enable users of financial statements to assess an entity’s credit risk exposure and 

understand its significant credit risk concentrations, an entity shall disclose, by credit risk 

rating grades, the gross carrying amount of financial assets and the exposure to credit risk 

on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. This information shall be provided 

separately for financial instruments: 

  

 (a)  for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses; 

  

 (b)  for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses and that are: 

  

 (i)  financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets; 

  

 (ii) financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not 
purchased or originated credit-impaired); and 

  

 (iii) trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables for which the loss allowances 
are measured in accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9. 

  

 (c) that are purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets.  

  

IFRS 7.35N     For trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables to which an entity applies 

paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9, the information provided in accordance with paragraph 35M may 

be based on a provision matrix (see paragraph B5.5.35 of IFRS 9). 

  

IFRS 7.36      For all financial instruments within the scope of this IFRS, but to which the impairment 

requirements in IFRS 9 are not applied, an entity shall disclose by class of financial 

instrument:  

  

 (a) the amount that best represents its maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period without taking account of any collateral held or other credit 
enhancements (eg netting agreements that do not quality for offset in accordance with 
IAS 32); this disclosure is not required for financial instruments whose carrying amount 
best represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

  

 (b) a description of collateral held as security and other credit enhancements, and their 
financial effect (eg quantification of the extent to which collateral and other credit 
enhancements mitigate credit risk) in respect of the amount that best represents the 
maximum exposure to credit risk (whether disclosed in accordance with (a) or 
represented by the carrying amount of a financial instrument). 

  

IFRS 7.38     When an entity obtains financial or non-financial assets during the period by taking 

possession of collateral it holds as security or calling on other credit enhancements (e.g. 

guarantees), and such assets meet the recognition criteria in other Standards, an entity 

shall disclose: 

  

 (a) the nature and carrying amount of the assets obtained; and 
  
 (b) when the assets are not readily convertible into cash, its policies for disposing of such 

assets or for using them in its operations. 
  

IFRS 7.39     An entity shall disclose: 

  

 (a) a maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities (including issued financial 
guarantee contracts) that shows the remaining contractual maturities. 
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46. Financial risk management Continued… 

  

 (b) a maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities. The maturity analysis shall include 
the remaining contractual maturities for those derivative financial liabilities for which 
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows 
(see paragraph B11B). 

  

 (b) a description of how it manages the liquidity risk inherent in (a) and (b). 

  

IFRS 7.40     Unless an entity complies with paragraph 41, it shall disclose: 

  

 (a) a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk to which the entity is exposed at the 
end of the reporting period, showing how profit or loss and equity would have been 
affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at that 
date;  

  

 (b) the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis; and 

  

 (c) changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used, and the reasons 
for such changes. 

  

IFRS 7.41     If an entity prepares a sensitivity analysis, such as value-at-risk, that reflects 

interdependencies between risk variables (e.g. interest rates and exchange rates) and uses 

it to manage financial risks, it may use that sensitivity analysis in place of the analysis 

specified in paragraph 40.  The entity shall also disclose: 

  

 (a) an explanation of the method used in preparing such a sensitivity analysis, and of the 
main parameters and assumptions underlying the data provided; and 

  

 (b) an explanation of the objective of the method used and of limitations that may result in 
the information not fully reflecting the fair value of the assets and liabilities involved. 

  

IFRS 7.42     When the sensitivity analyses disclosed in accordance with paragraph 40 or 41 are 

unrepresentative of a risk inherent in a financial instrument (for example because the year-

end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year), the entity shall disclose that 

fact and the reason it believes the sensitivity analyses are unrepresentative. 
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    Reference  

46. Financial risk management    

      

 Financial risk factors and risk management framework  

   

 The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on having cost efficient funding as well 
as to manage financial risk to minimize earnings volatility and provide maximum return to 
shareholders. 
Risk management is carried out by the Group's Finance and Planning Department under 
policies approved by the Senior Management. 

 IFRS 7.31 

         
 a) Market Risk  
   
 i) Foreign currency risk  
         

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
This exists due to the Group's exposure resulting from outstanding import payments, foreign 
commercial transactions, net investment in foreign subsidiaries, foreign currency loan 
liabilities and related interest payments. A foreign exchange risk management policy has 
been developed and approved by the management. The policy allows the Group to take 
currency exposure for limited periods within predefined limits while open exposures are 
rigorously monitored. The Group ensures to the extent possible that it has options available 
to manage exposure, either through forward contracts, options or prepayments, etc. 
subject to the prevailing foreign exchange regulations. 
 
At December 31, 20X9, if Pakistani Rupee had weakened / strengthened   by 1% against the 
US Dollars with all other variables held constant, consolidated post tax profit for the year 
would have been lower / higher by Rs. xxx, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses / 
gains on translation of US Dollar denominated liabilities. 

IFRS 7.33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.40, 
IFRS 7. B24 

 

         
 ii) Interest rate risk        
         

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk 
arises from short and long-term borrowings and obligations under finance lease. These are 
benchmarked to variable rates which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 
The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a regular basis by monitoring interest rate 
trends to determine whether they should enter into hedging alternatives. 
The Group manages its interest rate exposure through floating to fixed rate interest swaps 
on its foreign currency borrowings. 

IFRS 7.33 

 
Exposure to interest rate risk The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest‑bearing 
financial instruments as reported to the management of the Group is as follows 

IFRS 7.34(a) 

         
      20X9  20X8  
      (Rupees) (Rupees)  

 Fixed rate instruments        
 Financial assets     xxx xxx  
 Financial liabilities     xxx xxx  

      xxx xxx  
 Effect of interest rate swaps     xxx xxx  

      xxx xxx  

         
 Variable rate instruments        
 Financial liabilities     xxx xxx  
 Effect of interest rate swaps     xxx xxx  

      xxx xxx  
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  Reference 

 

As at December 31, 20X9, if interest rates on Group's borrowings had been 1% higher / lower 
with all other variables held constant, consolidated post tax profit for the year would have 
been lower / higher by Rs. xxx, mainly as a result of interest exposure on variable rate 
borrowings. 

 IFRS 7.40 

   
 ii) Other price risk  
   

 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from currency 
risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market. 
 
The Group is affected by the price volatility of certain commodities. Its operating activities 
require the ongoing purchase and manufacture of PVC equipment and therefore require a 
continuous supply of PVC. The Group is exposed to changes in the price of PVC on its 
forecast PVC purchases. The Group’s Board of Directors has developed and enacted a risk 
management strategy for commodity price risk and its mitigation. Based on a 12-month 
forecast of the required PVC supply, the Group hedges the purchase price using forward 
commodity purchase contracts. The forward contracts do not result in physical delivery of 
PVC, but are designated as cash flow hedges to offset the effect of price changes in PVC. 
The Group hedges approximately 45% of its expected PVC purchases considered to be highly 
probable. 
 
As at December 31, 20X9, if year-end price of PVC had been 1% higher / lower with all other 
variables held constant, consolidated post tax profit for the year would have been lower / 
higher (after netting effect of hedging) by Rs. xxx, mainly as a result of exposure to 
fluctuation in PVC prices. 
 
The Group is exposed to equity price risk, which arises from investments measured at fair 
value. The management of the Group monitors the proportion of equity securities in its 
investment portfolio based on market indices. Material investments within the portfolio are 
managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Risk 
Management Committee. 
 
All of the Group’s listed equity investments are listed on either the Bullish Stock 
Exchange(BSE). For such investments classified as fair value through OCI, a 2% increase in 
the BSE-100 Index at the reporting date would have increased equity by Rs.xxx after tax. 
For such investments classified as at fair value through profit or loss, the impact of a 2% 
increase in the BSE-100 Index at the reporting date on profit or loss and equity would have 
been an increase of Rs.xxx in consolidated profit or loss and equity. 

IFRS 7.33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.40 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.40 

   
 b) Credit Risk  
   

 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 
instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit 
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing 
activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange 
transactions and other financial instruments. 
 
Trade receivables and contract assets 
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established 
policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality 
of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit 
limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables 
and contract assets are regularly monitored and any shipments to major customers are 
generally covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance obtained from 
reputable banks and other financial institutions. At 31 December 20X9, the Group had 55 
customers (20X8: 65) that owed it more than Rs. xxx each and accounted for approximately 
51% (20X8: 56%) of all the receivables and contract assets outstanding. There were five 
customers (20X8: seven customers) with balances greater than Rs. xxx accounting for just 
over 10% (20X8: 12%) of the total amounts of receivable and contract assets. 
 

IFRS 7.31, 
IFRS 7.33, 
IFRS 7.35B 

 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.34(c) 
IFRS 7.B8 
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  Reference 

 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to 
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for 
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical 
region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other 
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the 
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year 
and are not subject to enforcement activity. The Group does not hold collateral as security. 
The letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance are considered integral part of 
trade receivables and considered in the calculation of impairment. 
 
At December 31, 20X9, 60% (20X8: 65%) of the Groups trade receivables are covered by 
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance. These credit enhancements obtained 
by the Group resulted in a decrease in the ECL of Rs. xxx as at December 31, 20X9 (20X8: 
Rs. xxx). The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables 
and contract assets as low, as its customers are located in several jurisdictions and 
industries and operate in largely independent markets. 
 
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade 
receivables and contract assets using a provision matrix: 

IFRS 
7.35F(c) 

IFRS 
7.35F(e) 

IFRS 7.35K 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS 7.35M 
IFRS 7.35N 

   

 31/12/20X9 
Contract 
Assets 

Trade Receivables  

  
  

Current 
<30 
days 

30-60 
days 

61-90 
days 

>91 
days 

Total 
 

    ………………………………Rupees………………………………  

 
Expected credit loss 
rate(%) x% x% x% x% x% x%  

 

 

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 

 Expected credit loss xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

          

            

 31/12/20X8 
Contract 
Assets 

Trade Receivables  

  
  

Current 
<30 
days 

30-60 
days 

61-90 
days 

>91 
days 

Total 
 

    ………………………………Rupees………………………………  

 
Expected credit loss 
rate(%) x% x% x% x% x% x%  

 

 

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 

 Expected credit loss xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

          

 

Debt Investments 
 
All of the entity’s debt investments at amortised cost and FVOCI are considered to have low 
credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 
months expected losses. Management consider ‘low credit risk’ for quoted bonds to be an 
investment grade credit rating (Very Good and Good) by the Good Credit Rating Agency. 
Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low risk of default 
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term. 
 
Other financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits, long term and short term loans 
and advances, and other receivables. 
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Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) include quoted 
debt securities. The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is recognised in profit or 
loss and reduces the fair value loss otherwise recognised in OCI. The loss allowance for debt 
investments at FVOCI as at 31 December 20X9 as follows: 

Reference 

  20X9 20X8  

  (Rupees) (Rupees)  

 Balance as at 1 January xxx xxx  

 Allowance for impairment for the year xxx xxx  

 Balance as at 31 December xxx xxx  

   

 Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets recognised in profit or loss IAS 1.82(ba) 

      

   20X9 20X8  

  Note Rupees Rupees  

 
Impairment losses for trade receivables and other 
receivable 

15 xxx xxx 
 

 Impairment losses for contract assets  16 xxx xxx  

 Impairment losses on financial assets at FVOCI  xxx xxx  

 
Impairment losses on debt instruments at amortised 
cost other than trade receivables and contract assets 

12.5.9, 
17 

xxx xxx 
 

 Net impairment losses on financial assets  xxx xxx  

      

 
As at December 31, 20X9, the maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying 
amount of the financial assets as detailed below. 

IFRS 
7.34(a), 

IFRS 7.36(a) 

    20X9 20X8  

    (Rupees) (Rupees)  

       

 Quoted debt instruments   xxx xxx  

 Long term loans and advances   xxx xxx  

 Short term loans and advances   xxx xxx  

 Short term Deposits   xxx xxx  

 Trade and other receivables   xxx xxx  

    xxx xxx  

 c) Liquidity Risk  

   

 

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities.               
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. Due to dynamic nature of the business, the Group maintains flexibility in funding 
by maintaining committed credit lines available.  
The Group's liquidity management involves projecting cash flows and considering the level 
of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against 
internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining debt financing plans. 

IFRS 7.31, 
IFRS 7.33, 

IFRS 7.39(c) 

   

 

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to contractual maturity dates. The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows 

IFRS 
7.39(a)(b) 
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  Reference 

            

     20X9 20X8  

  

   Up to 
one 
year 

After 
one 
year 

Total Up to 
one 
year 

After 
one 
year 

Total  

     ………………………………Rupees………………………………  

 Long term financing xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Trade and other payables xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Short term financing xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Derivative financial liabilities        

 Lease liabilities xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Unpaid dividend xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Unclaimed dividend xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx xxx  
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47. Fair value measurements of financial instruments  

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 7.25  Except as set out in paragraph 29, for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities 

(see paragraph 6), an entity shall disclose the fair value of that class of assets and liabilities 
in a way that permits it to be compared with its carrying amount. 

  
IFRS 7.26  In disclosing fair values, an entity shall group financial assets and financial liabilities into 

classes, but shall offset them only to the extent that their carrying amounts are offset in 
the statement of financial position. 

  
IFRS 7.29  Disclosures of fair value are not required: 
  
 (a)  when the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value, for example, for 

financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables and payables; 
  
 (b) [deleted] 
  
 (c) [deleted] 
  
 (d) for lease liabilities. 
  
IFRS 13.91  An entity shall disclose information that helps users of its financial statements assess both 

of the following: 
  
 (a)  for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring 

basis in the statement of financial position after initial recognition, the valuation 
techniques and inputs used to develop those measurements. 

  
 (b)  for recurring fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), 

the effect of the measurements on profit or loss or other comprehensive income for the 
period. 

  
IFRS 13.93  To meet the objectives in paragraph 91, an entity shall disclose, at a minimum, the following 

information for each class of assets and liabilities (see paragraph 94 for information on 
determining appropriate classes of assets and liabilities) measured at fair value (including 
measurements based on fair value within the scope of this IFRS) in the statement of financial 
position after initial recognition: 

  
 (a)  for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, the fair value measurement 

at the end of the reporting period, and for non-recurring fair value measurements, the 
reasons for the measurement. Recurring fair value measurements of assets or liabilities 
are those that other IFRSs require or permit in the statement of financial position at the 
end of each reporting period. Non-recurring fair value measurements of assets or 
liabilities are those that other IFRSs require or permit in the statement of financial 
position in particular circumstances (eg when an entity measures an asset held for sale 
at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations because the asset’s fair value less costs to sell is lower 
than its carrying amount). 

  
 (b) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, the level of the fair value 

hierarchy within which the fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety 
(Level 1, 2 or 3). 

  
 (c)  for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that are measured at 

fair value on a recurring basis, the amounts of any transfers between Level 1 and Level 
2 of the fair value hierarchy, the reasons for those transfers and the entity’s policy for 
determining when transfers between levels are deemed to have occurred (see paragraph 
95). Transfers into each level shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers 
out of each level. 
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47. Fair value measurements of financial instruments Continued… 

  
 (d)  for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 2 and 

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation technique(s) and the 
inputs used in the fair value measurement. If there has been a change in valuation 
technique (e.g. changing from a market approach to an income approach or the use of 
an additional valuation technique), the entity shall disclose that change and the 
reason(s) for making it. For fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy, an entity shall provide quantitative information about the 
significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement. An entity is not 
required to create quantitative information to comply with this disclosure requirement 
if quantitative unobservable inputs are not developed by the entity when measuring fair 
value (e.g. when an entity uses prices from prior transactions or third-party pricing 
information without adjustment). However, when providing this disclosure an entity 
cannot ignore quantitative unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value 
measurement and are reasonably available to the entity. 

  
 (e) for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy, a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances, disclosing 
separately changes during the period attributable to the following: 

  
 (i)  total gains or losses for the period recognised in profit or loss, and the line item(s) 

in profit or loss in which those gains or losses are recognised. 
  
 (ii)  total gains or losses for the period recognised in other comprehensive income, and 

the line item(s) in other comprehensive income in which those gains or losses are 
recognised. 

  
 (iii) purchases, sales, issues and settlements (each of those types of changes disclosed 

separately). 
  
 (iv) the amounts of any transfers into or out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the 

reasons for those transfers and the entity’s policy for determining when transfers 
between levels are deemed to have occurred (see paragraph 95). Transfers into 
Level 3 shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out of Level 3. 

  
 (f)  for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy, the amount of the total gains or losses for the period in (e)(i) included in 
profit or loss that is attributable to the change in unrealised gains or losses relating to 
those assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period, and the line item(s) 
in profit or loss in which those unrealised gains or losses are recognised. 

  
 (g)  for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of 

the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation processes used by the entity 
(including, for example, how an entity decides its valuation policies and procedures and 
analyses changes in fair value measurements from period to period). 

  
 (h) for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy: 
  
 (i)  for all such measurements, a narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair value 

measurement to changes in unobservable inputs if a change in those inputs to a 
different amount might result in a significantly higher or lower fair value 
measurement. If there are interrelationships between those inputs and other 
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement, an entity shall also provide 
a description of those interrelationships and of how they might magnify or mitigate 
the effect of changes in the unobservable inputs on the fair value measurement. To 
comply with that disclosure requirement, the narrative description of the sensitivity 
to changes in unobservable inputs shall include, at a minimum, the unobservable 
inputs disclosed when complying with (d). 
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47. Fair value measurements of financial instruments Continued… 

  
 (ii) for financial assets and financial liabilities, if changing one or more of the 

unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions would 
change fair value significantly, an entity shall state that fact and disclose the effect 
of those changes. The entity shall disclose how the effect of a change to reflect a 
reasonably possible alternative assumption was calculated. For that purpose, 
significance shall be judged with respect to profit or loss, and total assets or total 
liabilities, or, when changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, total equity. 

  
 (i)  for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, if the highest and best use of 

a non-financial asset differs from its current use, an entity shall disclose that fact and 
why the non-financial asset is being used in a manner that differs from its highest and 
best use. 

  
IFRS 13.97  For each class of assets and liabilities not measured at fair value in the statement of 

financial position but for which the fair value is disclosed, an entity shall disclose the 
information required by paragraph 93(b), (d) and (i). However, an entity is not required to 
provide the quantitative disclosures about significant unobservable inputs used in fair value 
measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy required by paragraph 
93(d). For such assets and liabilities, an entity does not need to provide the other disclosures 
required by this IFRS. 

  
IFRS 13.99  An entity shall present the quantitative disclosures required by this IFRS in a tabular format 

unless another format is more appropriate. 
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  Reference 

47. Fair value measurements of financial instruments  

 

 
Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the 
Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that are reasonable 
approximations of fair values: 
 

 
IFRS 7.25, 
IFRS 7.29 

47.1 Fair value of financial instruments  Restated  

  20X9 20X8  

  
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

 

  ……………………..Rupees……………………..  

 Financial assets      

 Loans and advances xxx xxx - -  

 Non-listed equity investments xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Listed equity investments xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Quoted debt instruments xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Foreign exchange forward contracts xxx xxx - -  

 
Foreign exchange forward contracts in cash 
flow hedges 

xxx xxx xxx xxx 
 

 Total xxx xxx xxx xxx  
       

 Financial liabilities      

 Floating rate loans and borrowings xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 Fixed rate borrowings xxx xxx xxx xxx  

 
Foreign exchange forward contracts – Non 
Hedge 

xxx xxx - - 
 

 Derivatives in effective hedges xxx xxx xxx xxx  

  xxx xxx xxx xxx  
   

 

The management assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade 
receivables, trade payables, short term running finances and other current liabilities 
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments. 

IFRS 
13.93(d) 

IFRS 13.97 
IFRS 7.29 

  
 

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:  
   

 Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate receivables/borrowings  

 

These are evaluated by the Group based on parameters such as interest rates, specific 
country risk factors, individual creditworthiness of the customer and the risk 
characteristics of the financed project. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken into 
account for the estimated losses of these receivables. The fair values of the Group’s 
interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using the DCF method using 
discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. 
The own non-performance risk as at December 31, 20X9 was assessed to be insignificant. 

 

   

 Quoted debt instruments  

 
The fair values of the quoted notes and bonds are based on price quotations at the 
reporting date.  

 

   

 Unquoted debt instruments and other financial liabilities  

 

The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans from banks and other financial liabilities, as 
well as other non-current financial liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows 
using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining 
maturities. In addition to being sensitive to a reasonably possible change in the forecast 
cash flows or the discount rate, the fair value of such instruments is also sensitive to a 
reasonably possible change in the growth rates. The valuation requires management to use 
unobservable inputs in the model, of which the significant unobservable inputs are 
disclosed in the tables below. Management regularly assesses a range of reasonably 
possible alternatives for those significant unobservable inputs and determines their impact 
on the total fair value. 
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  Reference 

 Non-listed equity investments  

 

The fair values of the non-listed equity investments have been estimated using a DCF model. The 
valuation requires management to make certain assumptions about the model inputs, including 
forecast cash flows, the discount rate, credit risk and volatility. The probabilities of the various 
estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are used in management’s estimate 
of fair value for these non-listed equity investments. 

 

   

 Listed equity investments  

 
There is an active market for the Group’s listed equity investments and quoted debt 
instruments. 

 

   

 Derivative financial instruments  

 

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally 
financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Interest rate swaps, foreign exchange 
forward contracts and commodity forward contracts are valued using valuation techniques, which 
employ the use of market observable inputs. The most frequently applied valuation techniques 
include forward pricing and swap models using present value calculations. The models incorporate 
various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward 
rates, yield curves of the respective currencies, currency basis spreads between the respective 
currencies, interest rate curves and forward rate curves of the underlying commodity. Some 
derivative contracts are fully cash collateralised, thereby eliminating both counterparty risk and 
the Group’s own non-performance risk. As at December 31, 20X9, the marked-to-market value of 
other derivative asset positions is net of a credit valuation adjustment attributable to derivative 
counterparty default risk. The changes in counterparty credit risk had no material effect on the 
hedge effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in hedge relationships and other 
financial instruments recognised at fair value. 

 

   

47.2 Measurement hierarchy of financial instruments   

   

 

The following table shows the fair values of financial assets, including their levels in the 
fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 
The group does not have a financial liability measured at fair value. 

IFRS 13.93(a)–
(b), IFRS 

13.97, IFRS 
13.99 

   

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  

 As at December 31, 20X9 ……………………..Rupees……………………..  

 Financial Assets      

 Derivative financial assets - - - -  

 Foreign exchange forward contracts - US dollars - xxx - xxx  

       

 Listed equity investments      

 Power sector xxx - - xxx  

 Telecommunications sector xxx - - xxx  

       

 Non-listed equity investments      

 Power sector - - xxx xxx  

 Electronics sector - - xxx xxx  

       

 Quoted debt instruments      

 Government bonds xxx - - xxx  

 Corporate bonds - consumer products sector xxx - - xxx  

 Corporate bonds - technology sector xxx - - xxx  

       

 Financial Liabilities      

 Derivative financial liabilities      

 Interest rate swaps - xxx - xxx  

 Foreign exchange forward contracts - xxx - xxx  

 Commodity derivative (PVC) - xxx - xxx  
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Reference 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  

 As at December 31, 20X8 ……………………..Rupees……………………..  

 Financial Assets      

 Derivative financial assets      

 
Foreign exchange forward contracts - US 
dollars - xxx - xxx 

 

       

 Listed equity investments      

 Power sector xxx - - xxx  

 Telecommunications sector xxx - - xxx  

       

 Non-listed equity investments      

 Power sector - - xxx xxx  

 Electronics sector - - xxx xxx  

       

 Quoted debt instruments      

 Government bonds xxx - - xxx  

 
Corporate bonds - consumer products 
sector xxx - - xxx 

 

       

 Financial Liabilities      

 Derivative financial liabilities      

 Foreign exchange forward contracts - xxx - xxx  

       

       

47.3 Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs   

       

 

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and 
Level 3 fair values, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. 

IFRS 13.93(d), 
13.93(h)(i), 
13.93(h)(ii) 
, IFRS 13.97 

       

 

Type Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservabl
e inputs 

Range Sensitivity of the 
input to fair value 

 

 

Non-listed 
equity 
investments 
- power 
sector 

DCF method Long-term 
growth rate 
for cash flows 
for 
subsequent 
years 

20X9: 3.1% - 
5.2% (4.2%) 
20X8: 3.1% - 
5.1% (4%) 

5% (20X8: 5%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the growth rate 
would result in an 
increase (decrease) 
in fair value by 
Rs.xxx (20X8: Rs. 
xxx) 

 

 

  Long-term 
operating 
margin 

20X9: 5.0% - 
12.1% (8.3%) 
20X8: 5.2% - 
12.3% (8.5%) 

15% (20X8: 12%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the margin would 
result in an increase 
(decrease) in fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx) 

 

 

  WACC 20X9: 11.2% - 
14.3% (12.6%) 
20X8: 11.5% - 
14.1% (12.3%) 

1% (20X8: 2%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the WACC would 
result in a decrease 
(increase) in fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx) 

 

 

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 233 

 

Type  Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs 

Range Sensitivity of the 
input to fair value 

Reference 

 

  Discount for 
lack of 
marketability 

20X9: 5.1% - 
15.6% (12.1%) 
20X8: 5.4% - 
15.7% (12.3%) 

2% (20X8: 3%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the discount 
would decrease 
(increase) the fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx). 

 

 

Non-listed 
equity 
investments 
- electronics 
sector 

DCF method Long-term 
growth rate 
for cash flows 
for 
subsequent 
years 

20X9: 4.4% - 
6.1% (5.3%) 
20X8: 4.6% - 
6.7% (5.5%) 

3% (20X8: 3%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the growth rate 
would result in an 
increase (decrease) 
in fair value by Rs. 
xxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) 

 

 

  Long-term 
operating 
margin 

20X9: 10.0% - 
16.1% (14.3%) 
20X8: 10.5% - 
16.4% (14.5%) 

5% (20X8: 4%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the margin would 
result in an increase 
(decrease) in fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx) 

 

 

  WACC 20X9: 12.1% - 
16.7% (13.2%) 
20X8: 12.3% - 
16.8% (13.1%) 

1% (20X8: 2%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the WACC would 
result in a decrease 
(increase) in fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx) 

 

 

  Discount for 
lack of 
marketability 

20X9: 5.1% - 
20.2% (16.3%) 
20X8: 5.3% - 
20.4% (16.4%) 

1.5% (20X8: 2%) 
increase (decrease) 
in the discount 
would decrease 
(increase) the fair 
value by Rs. xxx 
(20X8: Rs. xxx). 

 

       

 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has 
determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the 
investments. 

 

      

47.4 Transfers between hierarchy levels   

      

 There were no transfers amongst the levels during the year. IFRS 13.93(c) 
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     Reference 

47.5 Reconciliation of level 3 fair values   

   

 
The following table shows reconciliation of fair value measurement of non-listed equity 
investments classified as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI: 

IFRS 13.93(e) 

       

   Power Electronics Total  

   ……………………Rupees……………………  

       

 Balance as at January 1,20X8  xxx xxx xxx 
IFRS 

13.93(e)(ii) 

 Remeasurement recognised in OCI  xxx xxx xxx 
IFRS 

13.93(e)(iii) 

 Purchases  - - -  

 Sales  - - -  

 Balance as at January 1,20X9  xxx xxx xxx  

 Remeasurement recognised in OCI  xxx (xxx) (xxx)  

 Purchases  xxx xxx xxx  

 Sales  - (xxx) (xxx)  

 Balance as at December 31,20X9  xxx xxx xxx  
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48. Capital management 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.134  An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate 

the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. 

  

IAS 1.135  To comply with paragraph 134, the entity discloses the following: 

  

 (a) qualitative information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, 
including: 

  

 (i) a description of what it manages as capital; 

  

 (ii) when an entity is subject to externally imposed capital requirements, the nature of 
those requirements and how those requirements are incorporated into the 
management of capital; and 

  

 (iii) how it is meeting its objectives for managing capital. 

  

 (b) summary quantitative data about what it manages as capital. Some entities regard some 
financial liabilities (e.g. some forms of subordinated debt) as part of capital. Other 
entities regard capital as excluding some components of equity (e.g. components arising 
from cash flow hedges). 

  

 (c) any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period. 

  

 (d) whether during the period it complied with any externally imposed capital requirements 
to which it is subject. 

  

 (e) when the entity has not complied with such externally imposed capital requirements, 
the consequences of such non-compliance. 

  

 The entity bases these disclosures on the information provided internally to key 

management personnel. 
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    Reference 

48. Capital management     

      

 The Group's objective when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to 

continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefit for 

other stake holders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 

capital.                  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of 

changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 

may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue new shares.                   

The management seeks to maintain a balance between higher returns that might be 

possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a 

sound capital position.                          

The Group's strategy is to ensure compliance with the Prudential Regulations issued by 

the State Bank of Pakistan and is in accordance with agreements executed with financial 

institutions so that the total long term borrowings to equity ratio does not exceed the 

lender covenants. The total long term borrowings to equity ratio as at December 31, 20X9 

and 20X8 are as follows: 

 IAS 1.134, 
IAS 1.135 

    20X9 20X8  

    (Rupees) (Rupees)  

       

 Debt    xxx xxx  

 Equity   xxx xxx  

    xxx xxx  

 Gearing ratio   xx% xx%  

       

 

The Group finances its operations through equity, borrowings and management of working 
capital with a view to maintaining an appropriate mix between various sources of finance 
to minimize risk. 
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49. Number of employees 

  
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
4th Schd VI(1)(iv) General information about the company comprising the following:  
  
 (iii) Number of persons employed as on the date of financial statements and average number 

of employees during the year, separately disclosing factory employees 
 

    Reference 

49. Number of employees    

  20X9 20X8 4th Schd VI(1)(iv) 

  No. No.  

 Total employees of the Group at the year end xxx xxx  

 Average employees of the Group during the year xxx xxx  

     

 Employees working in the Group’s factory at the year end xxx xxx  

 Average employees working in Group’s factory during the year  xxx xxx  

 
 

  50. Plant capacity and production 

  
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
4th Schd VI(1)(iii) General information about the company comprising the following: 
  
 (ii) The capacity of an industrial unit, actual production and the reasons for shortfall; 

 

      Reference 
 
50. Plant capacity and production  

 
   

    20X9 20X8 4th Schd VI(1)(iii) 

      No. No.   

 Installed capacity     xxx xxx   

          

 Actual production     xxx xxx   

          

 Difference is due to the current supply/demand situation in the market.   
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51. Related party transactions 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 24.18  If an entity has had related party transactions during the periods covered by the financial 

statements, it shall disclose the nature of the related party relationship as well as 

information about those transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, 

necessary for users to understand the potential effect of the relationship on the financial 

statements. These disclosure requirements are in addition to those in paragraph 17. At a 

minimum, disclosures shall include: 

  

 (a) the amount of the transactions; 

  

 (b) the amount of outstanding balances, including commitments, and: 

  

 (i)  their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured, and the nature of 
the consideration to be provided in settlement; and 

  

 (ii)  details of any guarantees given or received; 

  

 (c) provisions for doubtful debts related to the amount of outstanding balances; and 

  

 (d) the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from 
related parties. 

  

IAS 24.19  The disclosures required by paragraph 18 shall be made separately for each of the following 
categories: 

  
 (a) the parent; 
  
 (b) entities with joint control of, or significant influence over, the entity; 
  
 (c) subsidiaries; 
  
 (d) associates; 
  
 (e) joint ventures in which the entity is a joint venturer; 
  
 (f) key management personnel of the entity or its parent; and 
  
 (g) other related parties. 
  

 
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  
CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(1)(v) 

General information about the company comprising the following:  

  
 (v) Names of associated companies or related parties or undertakings, with whom the 

company had entered into transactions or had agreements and / or arrangements in 
place during the financial year, along with the basis of relationship describing common 
directorship and percentage of shareholding; 

 

  



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 239 

  Reference 

51. Related party transactions  

   

 

Related parties comprise subsidiaries, associated companies, companies where 
directors also hold directorship, retirement benefits fund and key management 
personnel. Details of transactions with related parties during the year, other than 
those which have been disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, are as 
follows: 

 

   

 

Name of the related 
party 

Relationship and 
percentage 

shareholding 

Transactions 
during the 

year and year 
end balances 

20X9 
(Rupees) 

 

20X8 
(Rupees) 

 

4th Schd VI(1)(v) 

       
 Parent Company:     IAS 24.19 

 
Heavenly Company 
Limited 

Parent company 
holds 100% (20X8: 
100%) share capital  

Loan provided  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(a)  

  Loan received  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Interest 
expense  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Shares issued  xxx  
             

-    IAS 24.18(a) 

   Dividend paid  xxx  
             

-    IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Expenses 
incurred  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Amount due at 
the year end  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(b) 

       

 Subsidiary Company:      

 Dairy Queen Limited 

Subsidiary 
company 
with 46% (20X8: 
46%) share holding 

Guarantee 
given  xxx   xxx  IAS 24.18(a)  

       

 
Associated 
Companies:      

 
Pak Land Company 
Limited 

Associated 
company 
by virtue of 
common 
directorship 

Loan provided xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

  

Expenses 
incurred on 
behalf xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Sale of goods xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Debts written 
off xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Provision for 
doubtful debts xxx xxx 

 
IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Amount due at 
the year end xxx xxx IAS 24.18(b) 

 
Pak Zameen Company 
Limited   

Associated 
company by virtue 
of common 
directorship Loan provided xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   
Amount due at 
the year end xxx xxx IAS 24.18(b) 
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      Reference 

       

 

Name of the related 
party 

Relationship and 
percentage 

shareholding 

Transactions 
during the 

year and year 
end balances 

20X9 
(Rupees) 

 

20X8 
(Rupees) 

 

 

 

Blue Land Company 
Limited 

Associated company 
by virtue of common 
directorship Loan received xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Interest 

expense xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Amount due at 

the year end xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(b) 

 

Foreign Land 
Company Limited  

Associated company 
by holding 25% 
(20X8:25%) share 
capital Loan provided xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Dividend 

income xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Provision for 

doubtful debts xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(a) 

   Interest income xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Sale of goods xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Amount due at 

the year end xxx xxx 
 

IAS 24.18(b) 

 

Jupiter Limited Associated company 
by virtue of common 
directorship Advance given - xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

 
  Amount due at 

the year end xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(b) 

 

NGO Associated company 
by virtue of common 
directorship Donations xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

       

 Joint venture:      

 
JCE (Private) Limited Jointly controlled 

entity 
Dividend 
income xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

       

 
Key management 
personnel: 

 
   

 

 

Board of Directors 
(executive and non-
executive), all 
members of Group’s 
and Group Management 
Team 

Key management  

Total 
compensation xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

 Ms. Amna  Director Loan provided xxx xxx IAS 24.18(a) 

   Markup earned xxx xxx  

 
  Amount due at 

the year end xxx xxx 
IAS 24.18(b) 

       

 
Other related 
parties: 

 
   

 

 

Staff retirement 
benefit plan - Provident 
fund 

Other related 
party Contributions by 

the Company xxx xxx 

IAS 24.18(a) 

 

Staff retirement 
benefit plan – Gratuity 
fund 

Other related 
party Contributions by 

the Company xxx xxx 
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52. Corresponding figures 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.41  If an entity changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial statements, it 

shall reclassify comparative amounts unless reclassification is impracticable. When an entity 
reclassifies comparative amounts, it shall disclose (including as at the beginning of the 
preceding period): 

  
 (a) the nature of the reclassification; 
  
 (b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and 
  
 (c) the reason for the reclassification. 
  
IAS 1.42  When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity shall disclose: 
  
 (a) the reason for not reclassifying the amounts, and 
  
 (b) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had been 

reclassified. 
 

            Reference 

52. Corresponding figures            

                  

 The fourth schedule to the Companies Act, 2017 has introduced certain presentation 
and classification requirements for the elements of financial statements. The 
preparation and presentation of these financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 20X9 is in accordance with requirements in Companies Act, 2017. 
Accordingly, the corresponding figures have been rearranged and reclassified, 
wherever considered necessary, to comply with the requirements of Companies Act, 
2017. Following major reclassifications have been made during the year: 

  IAS 1.41 

 

 

 

                  

 
Description  Reclassified from  Reclassified to  

20X7 
Balance 
(Rupees) 

 

             

 

 
Unpaid dividend 

 
 

Trade and other 
payables 

 

 
Unpaid Dividend 

(presented on face 
of statement of 

financial position) 

 
 

xxx 

  

 

 
Unclaimed dividend 

 
 

Trade and other 
payables 

 

 
Unclaimed dividend 
(presented on face 

of statement of 
financial position) 

 
 

xxx 
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53. Events after the end of the reporting date 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 10.19     If an entity receives information after the reporting period about conditions that existed at 

the end of the reporting period, it shall update disclosures that relate to those conditions, 
in the light of the new information.  

  
IAS 10.21     If non-adjusting events after the reporting period are material, non-disclosure could 

influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements. 
Accordingly, an entity shall disclose the following for each material category of non-
adjusting event after the reporting period: 

  
 (a) the nature of the event; and 
  
 (b) an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 

 

   Reference 

53. Events after the end of the reporting date  

                  

53.1 On February 5, 2020 the officer's block was seriously damaged by fire. Insurance 
claims have been put in hand but the cost of refurbishment is currently expected to 
exceed these by Rs. xxx. 

IAS 10.21 

   

                  

53.2 On March 10, 2020 the directors voted to declare a dividend of Rs. xx per share 
Because the obligation arose in 2020, a liability is not shown in the statement of 
financial position at December 31, 20X9. 

IAS 10.21, IAS 
1.107 

   

 

 

54. Authorisation of financial statements 

  
IAS 10.19     If an entity receives information after the reporting period about conditions that existed at 

the end of the reporting period, it shall update disclosures that relate to those conditions, 
in the light of the new information.  

  
IAS 10.21     If non-adjusting events after the reporting period are material, non-disclosure could 

influence the economic decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements. 
Accordingly, an entity shall disclose the following for each material category of non-
adjusting event after the reporting period: 

  
 (a) the nature of the event; and 
  
 (b) an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 

 

  Reference   

54. Authorisation of financial statements  

                  

 
These financial statements were approved by the Group’s board of directors and 
authorised for issue on March 23,2020. 

IAS 10.17 

 

 

Chief Executive Director Chief Financial Officer 
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Alternative Disclosures 

This section presents alternative methods of presentation and disclosures allowed under IFRS for certain areas: 

1.  Analysis of expenses in the statement of comprehensive income 

1. Analysis of expenses 

  

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.99      An entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a classification 

based on either their nature or their function within the entity, whichever provides information 
that is reliable and more relevant. 

  
IAS 1.104     An entity classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional information on the nature of 

expenses, including depreciation and amortisation expense and employee benefits expense. 
 

a.  Analysis of expenses by nature 

In the illustrative, disclosures for analysis of operating expenses is presented by function. Alternatively, operating 
expenses may be classified by nature of expenses. Extracts from the financial statements with this alternative 
method of presentation would be as follows: 

  Statement of profit or loss (Extracts)   20X9  20X8 
 IAS 1.10(b), CA 2017 

[2.33(b)] 
 Note  Rupees  Rupees  IAS 1.51(d) 

        
Revenue from contracts with customers   xxx  xxx  IAS 1.82(a) 
Other income    xxx  xxx  IAS 1.99 
        

Changes in inventories of finished goods and 
work in progress   (xxx)  (xxx) 

 

IAS 1.99 
Raw materials and consumables used   (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 1.99 
Salaries, wages and benefits   (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 1.99 
Research and development expenditure   (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 1.99 
Depreciation and amortization expense   (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 1.99 
Other expenses   (xxx)  (xxx)  IAS 1.99 

Total expenses   (xxx)  (xxx)   

Profit before tax   xxx  xxx   
Income tax expense   (xxx)  (xxx)   

Profit for the year   xxx  xxx   
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b.  Analysis of expenses by function 

In the illustrative, disclosures for analysis of operating expenses by function is presented through cost of sales, 

administrative expenses and distribution and marketing expenses. Alternatively, in line with the minimum 

presentation requirements of paragraph IAS 1.99, operating expenses may be classified by function into only two 

classifications i.e., cost sales and administrative general and marketing expenses. Extracts from the financial 

statements with this alternative method of presentation would be as follows: 

       Reference 
 Statement of profit or loss (Extracts)   20X9  20X8 IAS 1.10(b), CA 

2017 [2.33(b)] 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees IAS 1.51(d) 

        

        

 Revenue from contracts with customers   xxx  xxx IAS 1.82(a) 

 Cost of sales    (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 1.99,IAS 
2.36(d) 

 Gross profit   xxx  xxx IAS 1.85 

 Administrative, general and marketing expenses   (xxx)  (xxx) IAS 1.99 

 Other income   xxx  xxx IAS 1.85 

 

 Notes to the financial statements….(Extracts) Reference 

        

34. Administrative, general and marketing expenses        

    20X9  20X8 
IAS 1.10(b), CA 
2017 [2.33(b)] 

  Note  Rupees  Rupees IAS 1.51(d) 

        

 

Included in the administrative, general and 
marketing expenses of Rs. xxxx (20X8: Rs. xxx) 
are the following significant items:      

 

        

 Salaries, wages and benefits    xxx  xxx  

 Research and development expenditure   xxx  xxx IAS 38.126 

 Depreciation   xxx  xxx  

 Amortization   xxx  xxx  

 
Impairment of trade, other receivables and 
advances   xxx  xxx 

IFRS 7.20(e) 

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment   xxx  xxx IAS 36.126(a) 

 
Reversal of Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment   xxx  xxx 

IAS 36.126(b) 

 Auditors’ remuneration   xxx  xxx  

 Donations   xxx  xxx  

 Provision for legal claims    xxx  xxx IAS 37.84(b) 

 Sales promotion and advertising   xxx  xxx  

 Travelling and transportation   xxx  xxx  

    xxx  xxx  
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2. Donations (Other operating expenses) 
 

2. Donations (Other operating expenses) 

  
Companies Act specified disclosure requirements 
  

CA 2017 
4th Schd VI(33)   

In case, donation to a single party exceeds 10% per cent of company’s total amount of 
donation or Rs. 1, million whichever is higher, name of donee(s) shall be disclosed and where 
any director or his spouse has interest in the donee(s), irrespective of the amount, names 
of such directors along with their interest shall be disclosed; 

 
In the illustrative it has been assumed that, the directors are interested in the donee. In case, donation is paid to 
an organisation in which none of the directors have any interest, the relevant disclosure would be as follows: 
 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)     Reference 
          
 Donations did not include any amount paid to any person or organization in which 

a director or his/her spouse had any interest. 
4th Schd VI(33) 

 
3. Key accounting estimates and judgments (Accounting Policies) 
 

3. Key accounting estimates and judgements 

  
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IAS 1.122  An entity shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other notes, the 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see paragraph 125), that management 
has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

  
IAS 1.125  An entity shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the future, and 

other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those assets and liabilities, the notes 
shall include details of: 

  
 (a) their nature, and 
  
 (b) their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period. 
  

 
Sources of estimation uncertainty may vary from year to year. It is expected that companies will reassess whether 
disclosures made in a previous year remain relevant, to avoid accumulating clutter in accounts. The following 
example illustrates the outcome of such an exercise. 
 

Notes to the financial statements (Extracts)     Reference 

         

 
During the year, Management reassessed the critical estimates and critical 
judgements and resolved that the following were no longer considered critical. 

  

   

 Provision for expected credit losses against trade receivables  

   

 The level of provision for expected credit losses against trade receivables has 
decreased significantly from previous years and hence is no longer a critical 
estimate as the range of possible outcomes resulting from various assumptions 
applied by management are now not considered material. This was previously 
considered a critical estimate due to the higher than normal trade receivables 
balances in 20X6. 

IAS 1.122 
IAS 1.125 
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4. Alternative method of adopting IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 
 
Disclosure requirements of the IFRS 
  
IFRS 9.7.2.15 Despite the requirement in paragraph 7.2.1, an entity that adopts the classification and 

measurement requirements of this Standard (which include the requirements related to 
amortised cost measurement for financial assets and impairment in Sections 5.4 and 5.5) 
shall provide the disclosures set out in paragraphs 42L–42O of IFRS 7 but need not restate 
prior periods. The entity may restate prior periods if, and only if, it is possible without the 
use of hindsight. If an entity does not restate prior periods, the entity shall recognise any 
difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the beginning 
of the annual reporting period that includes the date of initial application in the opening 
retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) of the annual reporting 
period that includes the date of initial application. 

  
  
IFRS 15  
Appendix C 

C3 An entity shall apply this Standard using one of the following two methods: 

  
 (a) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented in accordance with IAS 8 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, subject to the 
expedients in paragraph C5 

  
 (b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard 

recognised at the date of initial application in accordance with paragraphs C7–C8. 
  
 C7    If an entity elects to apply this Standard retrospectively in accordance with paragraph 

C3(b), the entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying this 
Standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other 
component of equity, as appropriate) of the annual reporting period that includes the 
date of initial application. Under this transition method, an entity may elect to [Refer: 
Basis for Conclusions paragraphs BC445J–BC445L] apply this Standard retrospectively 
only to contracts that are not completed contracts [Refer: paragraph C2(b)] at the 
date of initial application (for example, 1 January 2018 for an entity with a 31 
December year-end). 

  
 C7A  An entity applying this Standard retrospectively in accordance with paragraph C3(b) 

may also use the practical expedient described in paragraph C5(c), either: 
  
 (a) for all contract modifications that occur before the beginning of the earliest period 

presented; or  
  
 (b) for all contract modifications that occur before the date of initial application. 
  
 If an entity uses this practical expedient, the entity shall apply the expedient 

consistently to all contracts and disclose the information required by paragraph C6. 
  
 C8    For reporting periods that include the date of initial application, an entity shall provide 

both of the following additional disclosures if this Standard is applied retrospectively 
in accordance with paragraph C3(b): 

  
 (a) the amount by which each financial statement line item is affected in the current 

reporting period by the application of this Standard as compared to IAS 11, IAS 18 
and related Interpretations that were in effect before the change; and 

  
 (b) an explanation of the reasons for significant changes identified in C8(a). 
  
  
  
IFRS 16  
Appendix C 

C5   A lessee shall apply this Standard to its leases either: 

  
 (a) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented applying IAS 8 Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; or 
 



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements for Public Interest Companies 

 

 
  From the Desk of Technical Services | 247 

Disclosure requirements of the IFRS Continued… 
  
 (b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard 

recognised at the date of initial application in accordance with paragraphs C7–C13. 
  
 C7 If a lessee elects to apply this Standard in accordance with paragraph C5(b), the lessee 

shall not restate comparative information. Instead, the lessee shall recognise the 
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the date 
of initial application. 

  
 C8 If a lessee elects to apply this Standard in accordance with paragraph C5(b), the lessee 

shall: 
  
 (a) recognise a lease liability at the date of initial application for leases previously classified 

as an operating lease applying IAS 17. The lessee shall measure that lease liability at 
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. 

  
 (b) recognise a right-of-use asset at the date of initial application for leases previously 

classified as an operating lease applying IAS 17. The lessee shall choose, on a lease-by-
lease basis, to measure that right-of-use asset at either:  

  
 (i) its carrying amount as if the Standard had been applied since the commencement 

date, but discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of 
initial application; or 

  
 (ii) an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or 

accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of 
financial position immediately before the date of initial application. 

  
 apply IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, 

unless the lessee applies the practical expedient in paragraph C10(b). 
  
 C11 If a lessee elects to apply this Standard in accordance with paragraph C5(b), for leases 

that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application shall be the carrying 
amount of the lease asset and lease liability immediately before that date measured 
applying IAS 17. For those leases, a lessee shall account for the right-of-use asset and 
the lease liability applying this Standard from the date of initial application. 

  
 C12 If a lessee elects to apply this Standard in accordance with paragraph C5(b), the lessee 

shall disclose information about initial application required by paragraph 28 of IAS 8, 
except for the information specified in paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8. Instead of the 
information specified in paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8, the lessee shall disclose:   

  
 (a) the weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities 

recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial application; and 
  
 (b) an explanation of any difference between: 
  
 (i) operating lease commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 at the end of the annual 

reporting period immediately preceding the date of initial application, discounted 
using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application as described 
in paragraph C8(a); and 

  
 (ii) lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial 

application.   
  
 (c) If a lessee uses one or more of the specified practical expedients in paragraph C10, it 

shall disclose that fact. 
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This alternative method illustrates the key changes to Group’s consolidated financial statements had the Group 

elected to adopt IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method and IFRS 9 by not restating the 

comparative information. 

The Group has an option to adopt IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 using either full retrospective method or the modified 

retrospective method. An entity that elects the modified retrospective method would apply IFRS 15 and IFRS16 

retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised as an adjustment to the 

opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity) at the date of initial application.  

Unlike IFRS 15 and IFRS 16, IFRS 9 does not differentiate between a ‘full’ and ‘modified retrospective’ adoption 
method. An entity has to apply IFRS 9 retrospectively, in accordance with IAS 8, except when otherwise specified 
in paragraphs IFRS 9.7.2.4–7.2.26 and IFRS 9.7.2.28, and accordingly has a choice of whether or not to restate 
comparative information. IFRS 9 allows an entity to restate prior periods if, and only if, it is possible without the 
use of hindsight. The date of initial application remains unchanged, even when an entity elects to restate 
comparative information.  
 
The following would be the key changes to the Group’s consolidated financial statements had the Group elected to 
adopt IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method and had not restated the comparative 
information when adopting IFRS 9. These changes are illustrated below: 
 

 The comparative information for each of the primary financial statements would not have been restated and 
would have been presented based on the requirements of previous standards (i.e., IAS 39, IFRS 7, IAS11, IAS 
18, IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-
Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease). The Group 
would also not have needed to present a statement of financial position as at 1 January 20X8 (i.e., no third 
balance sheet). 
 

 The cumulative effect of initially applying the standard would have been recognised as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) as at 1 January 20X9 in 
the statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X9. The narrative in Note 3.27, describing 
the changes and impact of adopting IFRS 15, IFRS 16 and IFRS 9 would have changed accordingly (i.e., the 
information required by IAS 8.28(f) would not be disclosed). 
 

 In addition, the amount by which each financial statement line item was affected in the current reporting 
period as a result of applying IFRS 15 and the explanation of the reasons for significant changes, as required by 
IFRS 15.C8, would have been disclosed. 
 

 In addition, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the 
statement of financial position as at 1 January 20X9, and an explanation of any difference between the 
discounted operating lease commitments as at 31 December 20X8 and the lease liabilities as at 1 January 20X9, 
as required by IFRS 16.C12, would have been disclosed. 

 
While not illustrated below, the following changes in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group would also have been needed: 
 

 The summary of significant accounting policies section in Note 3 would have included the significant accounting 
policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions under the previous standard and interpretations. A description 
would have been provided to distinguish between the accounting policies, judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that applied before and those that applied after 1 January 20X9. 

 
The disclosures for the comparative period in the notes to the consolidated financial statements would have 
followed the requirements of the previous standard and interpretations, while the disclosures required by the new 
standards (i-e IFRS 15, IFRS 16, IFRS 9 and related amendments to IFRS 7) would not have been included in 
comparative information. 
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